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Maturity Principal Rate of 
(August 1) Amount Interest Yield Price 

2013 $475,000 0.25% 0.25% 100.000% 
2014 550,000 0.35 0.35 100.000 
2015 550,000 1.00 0.50 101.181 
2016 555,000 1.00 0.70 101.000 
2017 570,000 1.50 0.85 102.788 
2018 580,000 1.50 1.10 102.083 
2019 575,000 1.75 1.35 102.436 
2020 590,000 2.00 1.60 102.773 
2021 850,000 4.00 1.85 116.618 
2022 330,000 4.00 2.10 116.099 
2023 345,000 4.00 2.25 116.118 
2024 360,000 4.00 2.35 115.118* 
2025 375,000 4.00 2.45 114.128* 
2026 390,000 2.60 2.70 98.881 
2027 400,000 4.00 2.65 112.179* 
2028 415,000 4.00 2.75 111.218* 
2029 430,000 3.00 3.00 100.000 

* Priced to first optional call date, August 1,2023. 
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REGARDING USE OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

AUTHORIZED INFORMATION AND REPRESENTATIONS 

No dealer, broker, sales representative or other person has been authorized by The City of Lincoln, 
Nebraska (the "City") to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained 
in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be 
relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does not 
constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 
2013 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, 
solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and other sources 
that are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be 
construed as a representation by Ameritas Investment Corp., as underwriter (the "Underwriter"). The 
Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The 
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its 
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of 
this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such 
information. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and 
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstance, 
create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City since the date hereof. 

The Underwriter intends to offer the Series 2013 Bonds initially at the offering prices set forth on the 
cover page of this Official Statement, which may subsequently change without any requirement of prior 
notice. 

REGISTRATION EXEMPTION 

The Series 2013 Bonds have not been registered with the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in reliance upon an 
exemption contained in the Securities Act. In making an investment decision, investors must rely upon 
their own examination of the City, the City'S solid waste management facilities and the terms of the 
offering, including the merits and risks involved. No federal or state securities commission or regulatory 
authority has recommended the Series 2013 Bonds. Moreover, none of the foregoing authorities has 
confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Official Statement. Any representation to the 
contrary is a criminal offense. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Official Statement contains "forward-looking statements." These forward-looking statements 
include statements about the City's future plans and strategies, and other statements that are not historical 
in nature. These forward-looking statements are based on the current expectations of the City. When 
used in this Official Statement, the words "plan," "expect," "estimate," "budget," "intend," "anticipate," 
"should," "will," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward­
looking statements involve future risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and experience to 
differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in forward-looking 
statements. These future risks and uncertainties include those discussed in the "BONDHOLDERS' 
RISKS" section of this Official Statement. The City undertakes no obligation to update any forward­
looking statements contained in this Official Statement to reflect future events or developments. 
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SERIES 2013 

INTRODUCTION 

This Official Statement is provided by The City of Lincoln, Nebraska (the "City") to furnish information 
about the City, its municipally owned and operated solid waste management facilities (the "Enterprise"), 
and its $8,340,000 Solid Waste Management Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 (the "Series 
2013 Bonds"). The Series 2013 Bonds are being issued pursuant to Ordinance No. 18774 duly passed by 
the Council on July 31, 2006 and approved by the Mayor on August 2, 2006, as amended and 
supplemented from time to time including, but not limited to, Ordinance No. 19825, passed by the 
Council on February 11, 2013 and approved by the Mayor on February 14, 2013 (collectively, the 
"Ordinance"). The Series 2013 Bonds, together with all additional solid waste management revenue or 
revenue refunding bonds hereinafter issued by the City pursuant to the Ordinance and outstanding 
thereunder, are secured by a first lien on and payable solely from the Net Revenues (hereinafter defined) 
of the Enterprise, which have been pledged to the payment of the principal or redemption price of and 
interest on the Series 2013 Bonds pursuant to the Ordinance. 

The City will use the proceeds of the Series 2013 Bonds, together with other legally available funds of the 
City, to (a) provide a portion of the funds needed to make certain improvements to the Enterprise, (b) 
fund an escrow for the purpose of paying and redeeming in full the City's Solid Waste Management 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, dated August 17, 2006, in the aggregate principal amount outstanding of 
$2,800,000 (the "Refunded Bonds") on August 1, 2013 (the "Redemption Date"), (c) make a deposit 
into the 2013 Account in the reserve fund established for the Series 2013 Bonds, and (d) pay expenses 
incident to the issuance ofthe Series 2013 Bonds. 

Any descriptions of and references to the Series 2013 Bonds, the Ordinance, related transaction 
documents and other matters do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and are qualified in their 
entirety by reference to the complete texts thereof, copies of which are available for inspection at the 
offices of the Underwriter at its offices in Lincoln, Nebraska. Definitions of initially capitalized terms 
used in this Official Statement and a summary of the Ordinance may be found in "APPENDIX D -
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE." 

AUTHORITY 

The Series 2013 Bonds are authorized pursuant to the provisions of Sections 15-244 and 18-1803 to 18-
1805, inclusive, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, as amended, Article IX, Section 44, of the City'S 
Home-Rule Charter and the Ordinance. The Ordinance permits the issuance of solid waste management 
revenue refunding bonds (the "Refunding Bonds") and additional solid waste management revenue 
bonds (the "Additional Bonds") on a parity with the Series 2013 Bonds. See "APPENDIX D -
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE - Refunding Bonds" and " -
Additional Bonds." 



SECURITY 

The Series 2013 Bonds, together with any Refunding Bonds and Additional Bonds hereinafter issued by 
the City in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance (collectively, the "Bonds"), are payable 
solely from and secured by a pledge of the Net Revenues. The Ordinance defines (a) "Net Revenues" as 
Revenues less Operation and Maintenance Expenses plus Depreciation, determined in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental operations such as the Enterprise; 
(b) "Revenues" as (1) all income and revenues derived from the use or operation of the Enterprise, 
including investment and rental income, sale of useable materials and any net proceeds from business 
interruption insurance, plus (2) the proceeds of the occupation tax imposed by Section 8.32.150 of the 
Lincoln Municipal Code, plus (3) such other revenues and income as shall be determined to be 
appropriate in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental 
operations such as the Enterprise, but excluding any amounts received from the sale of assets of the 
Enterprise; (c) "Operation and Maintenance Expenses" as the necessary expenditures for operating and 
maintaining the Enterprise and shall include expenditures generally classified as operating expenses in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental operations such as 
the Enterprise; and (d) "Depreciation" as depreciation and amortization expenses with respect to the 
Enterprise, classified as such in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary 
governmental operations such as the Enterprise. Upon the issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds and the 
establishment of an escrow with respect to the Refunded Bonds, the Series 2013 Bonds will be the 
only outstanding indebtedness payable from and secured by a lien on the Net Revenues. The full 
faith and credit of the City is not pledged to the payment of the Bonds. 

The Ordinance establishes a 2013 Reserve Account for the Series 2013 Bonds and requires the deposit 
therein of an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement for the Series 2013 Bonds. The "Reserve 
Requirement" with respect to a Series of Bonds is defined to be the lower of (a) the maximum annual 
principal and interest requirements on such Series of Bonds or (b) 125% of the average annual principal 
and interest requirements on such Series of Bonds; provided that the amount required to be deposited into 
a Reserve Account in the Reserve Fund in connection with the issuance of any Series of Bonds shall not 
exceed 10% of the original principal amount of such Series of Bonds (adjusted as required by the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") for any original issue discount or original issue 
premium). The Ordinance requires the creation of similar reserve accounts for Additional Bonds and 
Refunding Bonds hereinafter issued pursuant to the Ordinance. 

Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City has also agreed that it will include in the resolution approving the 
City's annual budget pursuant to its Charter, a designation and appropriation of General Fund cash 
balances to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses in an amount sufficient to produce Net Revenues 
equal to 110% of the annual Debt Service due and payable in such Fiscal Year if and to the extent the Net 
Revenues in such Fiscal Year are less than 125% of the annual Debt Service due and payable in such 
Fiscal Year and to the extent that such General Fund cash balances are available. 

The foregoing and other material covenants of the City, including, without limitation, provisions as to 
rates and charges for solid waste management provided through the Enterprise, the issuance of Additional 
Bonds or Refunding Bonds, annual independent audits of records, and disposition of properties of the 
Enterprise, as contained in the Ordinance for the security of the registered owners of the Bonds, are set 
forth in "APPENDIX D - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE." 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

Sources of Funds: 

Principal Amount of Series 2013 Bonds 
Plus: Net Original Issue Premium 

2006 Account in Reserve Fund 
Bond Fund with Respect to Refunded Bonds 

Total Sources: 

Uses of Funds: 

General 

2013 Project Costs 
2013 Account in Reserve Fund 
Deposit to Escrow Account for Refunded Bonds 
Costs ofIssuance (including Underwriter's discount) 
Total Uses: 

PLAN OF FINANCING 

$8,340,000.00 
518,684.40 
400,000.00 
137,422.94 

$9.396,107.34 

$5,700,000.00 
695,140.00 

2,856,407.34 
144,560.00 

$9.396,10734 

The proceeds of the Series 2013 Bonds will be used to (a) pay for certain extensions, enlargements, 
improvements and betterments to the Enterprise including, without limitation, the costs of the Bluff Road 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Phase 12 expansion, ongoing Phase 5 closure costs at the Bluff Road 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfill and paving projects related to the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill (collectively, the "2013 Project"), (b) fund an escrow for the purpose of paying and redeeming 
in full the Refunded Bonds, (c) fund a debt service reserve for the Series 2013 Bonds, and (d) pay the 
costs of issuing the Series 2013 Bonds. Accumulated Revenues from the Enterprise will be used to pay 
the remaining costs ofthe 2013 Project. 

The Refunding 

On the date of issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds, a portion of the net proceeds thereof, will be deposited 
into an escrow account (the "Escrow Account") to be held under an Escrow Agreement between the City 
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Minneapolis, Minnesota (the "Escrow Agent"). Such 
deposit will be used to purchase on such date of issuance direct obligations of the United States of 
America ("Government Securities") which will be held in the Escrow Account. 

The Government Securities will mature on such dates and in such amounts as shall provide funds which, 
together with other funds in the Escrow Account, will be sufficient to pay when due the principal amount 
or redemption price of and all interest due on the Refunded Bonds through and including the Redemption 
Date and to pay and redeem on the Redemption Date all of the then outstanding Refunded Bonds. 

After the issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds and the deposit of a portion of the proceeds thereof and other 
moneys with the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, the Refunded Bonds will be payable 
from the maturing principal of the Government Securities, together with the earnings thereon and other 
moneys held for such purpose by the Escrow Agent. Under the Escrow Agreement, the Government 
Securities and the moneys held by the Escrow Agent are irrevocably pledged to the payment of the 
Refunded Bonds and the interest thereon and may be applied only to such payment, and the Refunded 
Bonds will no longer be deemed outstanding for purposes of the Ordinance. 
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Verification of Mathematical Computations 

Upon delivery of the Bonds, Chris D. Berens, CPA, P.C., a firm of independent certified public 
accountants, will deliver to the Underwriter a report verifying the mathematical accuracy of certain 
computations relating to (a) the adequacy of the maturing principal amount of the securities held in the 
Escrow Account, interest earned thereon and certain uninvested cash to pay the principal and redemption 
price of, and interest on, the Refunded Bonds as such principal and redemption price and interest become 
due and payable, and (b) the mathematical computations supporting the conclusion that the Bonds are not 
"arbitrage bonds" under Section 148 of the Code. Such verification of the accuracy of the computations 
will be based upon information supplied by the Underwriter and on interpretations of the Code provided 
by Bond Counsel. 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table sets forth the debt service requirements for the Series 2013 Bonds for each of the 
years ending August 31 : 

Year Principal Interest Total 

2013 $475,000.00 $75,850.43 $550,850.43 
2014 550,000.00 198,127.50 748,127.50 
2015 550,000.00 196,202.50 746,202.50 
2016 555,000.00 190,702.50 745,702.50 
2017 570,000.00 185,152.50 755,152.50 
2018 580,000.00 176,602.50 756,602.50 
2019 575,000.00 167,902.50 742,902.50 
2020 590,000.00 157,840.00 747,840.00 
2021 850,000.00 146,040.00 996,040.00 
2022 330,000.00 112,040.00 442,040.00 
2023 345,000.00 98,840.00 443,840.00 
2024 360,000.00 85,040.00 445,040.00 
2025 375,000.00 70,640.00 445,640.00 
2026 390,000.00 55,640.00 445,640.00 
2027 400,000.00 45,500.00 445,500.00 
2028 415,000.00 29,500.00 444,500.00 
2029 430,000.00 12,900.00 442,900.00 

TOTALS $8.340,000 00 $2,004,520.43 $10.344,520.43 

THE ENTERPRISE 

Introduction 

The Enterprise provides comprehensive integrated solid waste management programs for residents of the 
City and Lancaster County, Nebraska (the "County"). The City does not own or operate any refuse 
hauling trucks nor has the City entered into any contracts with private-sector haulers as a means of 
controlling or stabilizing the City's waste stream. Forty-one refuse haulers currently have licenses to 
operate in the City. The ten largest refuse haulers accounted for 52% of the Enterprise's total receipts in 
fiscal year 2011-12 and 51 % of the Enterprise's total receipts in fiscal year 2010-11. The City's corporate 
limits encompass approximately 80 square miles and the land area in the County totals approximately 840 
square miles. The Enterprise's solid waste management programs also serve the communities of Bennet, 
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Davey, Denton, Firth, Hickman, Hallam, Malcolm, Panama, Raymond, Roca, Sprague and Waverly, all 
of which are located within the County. The City's popUlation increased an estimated 7.2% between the 
years 2006 and 2011, from 244,653 in 2006 to 262,341 in 2011. The County's population increased an 
estimated 7.2% over the same time period, from 270,288 in 2006 to 289,800 in 2011. 

Solid Waste Management Plan 2040 

The development of a Solid Waste Management Plan for the City and Lancaster County (the "Solid 
Waste Plan 2040") began mid-year 2012. The Solid Waste Plan 2040 will provide a guide for policy 
decisions regarding solid waste management systems, facilities and programs for approximately the next 
30 years. The development of a comprehensive, integrated solid waste management plan was identified as 
a key strategy in the Lincoln-Lancaster County 2040 Comprehensive Plan (LPlan 2040), adopted in 
October 2011. A Needs Assessment was completed to establish a basis for the development of the long­
term, comprehensive, integrated solid waste management plan. The Needs Assessment is available on the 
City's website at www.lincoln.ne.gov.using the keyword solid waste plan. 

Strategies for solid waste management include (a) developing standards for future commercial and 
industrial development to ensure proper space for separation and handling of recyclables and solid waste 
and amending zoning ordinances to encourage new commercial centers to provide space for recycling 
drop-off facilities, (b) reducing urban acreage developments which could impact future landfill and 
electric system operations, (c) developing a 20-year comprehensive integrated solid waste management 
plan for the City and County, (d) creating a County-wide, integrated, environmentally safe and 
conservation-oriented recycling and waste management system, (e) minimizing the use of energy in solid 
waste management processes, and (f) continuing the development of the City's Landfill Gas Collection 
and Control Project. 

The Solid Waste Plan 2040 is being guided by the Public Works and Utilities Department, the Lincoln­
Lancaster County Health Department and a 20-member Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee 
will review the components of the plan, evaluate community input, provide guidance and feedback and 
propose changes. 

Enterprise Components 

The Enterprise includes a permitted municipal solid waste landfill (including an active landfill gas 
collection system), a permitted construction and demolition waste landfill, a small vehicle transfer station, 
a yard waste composting facility, and a recycling drop-off program, each of which are discussed below. 

Municipal Solid Waste Landfill. The Enterprise's permitted municipal solid waste landfill is located at 
6001 Bluff Road and operates as the "Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill" under NDEQ Permit 
NE0120995. The permit is effective from September 29,2008 to May 15,2013. A total of 171 acres are 
permitted for the disposal of solid waste. The City anticipates obtaining renewal of the permit for an 
additional five years. The capacity of the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill will be 25,201,000 
cubic yards, excluding liner and final cover systems upon the permit renewal. The Bluff Road Municipal 
Solid Waste Landfill began operation in October, 1988 and, as of August 31, 2012, had an estimated 
remaining capacity of 50%, which is equivalent to an estimated remaining life of approximately 25 years. 
The Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill received 282,380 tons of solid waste in fiscal year 2011-
12. Construction of an active gas collection system was completed in September 2011 and on November 
8, 2011 the City and Lincoln Electric System ("LES") entered into an agreement by Executive Order 
#84554 whereby LES will pay the City $1.10/MMBTU (adjusted annually). The minimum delivery and 
purchase obligations are currently anticipated to begin in September 2013. The term of the agreement is 
20 years, with an option to renew for an additional 15 years. 
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Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill. The Enterprise's permitted construction and demolition 
waste landfill is located at 5101 North 48th Street and operates as the "North 48th Street Construction and 
Demolition Waste Landfill" under NDEQ Permit NE0203921. The permit is effective from September 
25, 2008 to July 15, 2013. A total of 121 acres will be permitted for disposal of construction and 
demolition waste and the capacity of the site will be 2,259,000 cubic yards, excluding the final cover 
system. The City anticipates obtaining renewal of the permit for an additional five years. The North 48th 
Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill began operation in 1986 and, as of August 31,2012, 
had an estimated remaining capacity of 50%, which is equivalent to an estimated remaining life of 
approximately 18 years. The North 48th Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill received 
105,130 tons of material in fiscal year 2011-12. 

Small Vehicle Transfer Station. The Enterprise's small vehicle transfer station also exists at 510 I North 
48th Street. It does not require a permit to operate. The small vehicle transfer station began operation in 
1990. The small vehicle transfer station accepts all vehicles having a one-ton rating (cars, passenger 
vehicles, or cargo vehicles) or less, with a cargo height of 5 feet or less; and trailers with a flatbed 
carrying size of 60 square feet or less, with a cargo height of 5 feet or less; or any combination of 
acceptable vehicles and trailers. The small vehicle transfer station accepted 7,143 tons of waste from 
approximately 23,000 vehicles (excluding wood waste and yard waste also collected at the facility) in 
fiscal year 2011-12. 

Yard Waste Composting Facility. The Enterprise composts yard waste at 6001 Bluff Road in addition to 
operating the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill. The yard waste composting facility does not 
require a permit to operate. The composting of yard waste began in October, 1992 in response to the 
requirements imposed by the Integrated Solid Waste Management Act (Chapter 13, Article 20, Reissue 
Revised Statutes of Nebraska, as amended). The yard waste composting operation processed 17,443 tons 
of material (including wood waste) in fiscal year 2011-12. 

Recycling Drop-Off Program. The Enterprise includes recycling drop-offs at 33 locations within the 
County, 23 of which are located within the City limits. Multiple materials are collected at 29 of the 
locations and four of the locations, all of which are located within the City limits, collect newspapers 
only. The materials collected through the recycling drop-off program include aluminum cans, tin cans, 
cardboard, glass, mixed paper, newspaper and #1 through #5 plastics. A total of 6,022 tons of material 
was collected and recycled through the recycling drop-off program in fiscal year 2011-12. 

Collection of Banned Materials 

Separate collection areas exist at both the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill and the Small 
Vehicle Transfer Station for items that are banned from land disposal. Those collection areas accept 
scrap tires, waste appliances, scrap metals, used oils and discarded lead-acid batteries. In fiscal year 
2011-12, 53 tons of scrap tires, 270 tons of waste appliances and scrap metals, and 2,885 gallons of used 
oils were accepted and processed through contracted recyclers and a local metal recycler. Freon was 
removed from 225 waste appliances during this same period. 

Licensure Requirements 

Waste haulers collecting and conveying certain types of solid wastes and operating within the corporate 
limits of the City are required by Section 8.32 of the Lincoln Municipal Code to obtain a license from the 
Director of the Lincoln-Lancaster County Health Department on an annual basis. All waste hauler 
licenses expire on May 31 sl of each calendar year. There are currently 41 waste haulers who have licenses 
to operate in the City. The ten licensed waste haulers recording the largest amount of activity in fiscal 
year 2011-12 with the Enterprise's disposal facilities accounted for 52% of the total financial transactions 
in fiscal year 2011-12 and 51 % of the total financial transactions in fiscal year 2010-11. 
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Special Programs and Activities 

The Lincoln-Lancaster County Health Department conducts several solid waste related programs and 
activities. These programs include nuisance complaint (related to solid waste) investigation, special 
waste permitting, household hazardous waste and conditionally exempt small quantity generator 
collection events and public education, cleanup of emergency response incidents, and neighborhood 
clean-ups and illegal dumping prevention. The funding for these programs is derived, in part, from the 
Solid Waste Management Revenue Fund, which is an enterprise fund comprised of revenue generated 
from (a) a per ton tipping fee on all refuse disposed of in the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill, 
(b) the Occupation Tax (hereinafter defined), (c) other fees authorized by the City Council, and (d) 
revenue received from the sale of materials and disposal of assets. 

Rates and Charges 

The current rates, fees and charges for the Enterprise were imposed by Resolution No. A-83985, passed 
by the City Council on August 21, 2006 and approved by the Mayor on August 24, 2006. A rate increase 
imposed by Resolution No. A-86945, passed by the City Council on August 8, 2012 and approved by the 
Mayor on August 10, 2012, will be effective September 1, 2013 and will increase the per ton rate at the 
Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill from $14.00 per ton to $16.00 per ton (from $4.55 per cubic 
yard to $5.20 per cubic yard). Current rates (in accordance with A-83985) fees and charges are as 
follows: 

SCHEDULE A -- Small Vehicle Transfer Station 

FLAT FEE SCHEDULE 

The following rates shall be applied to all vehicles having a one-ton rating or less, with a cargo height of 
5 feet or less; and trailers with a flatbed carrying size of 60 square feet or less, with a cargo height of 5 
feet or less using a Small Vehicle Transfer Station: 

Cars per vehicle trip ................................................................................................. $3.00 
Passenger Vehicles per vehicle trip ......................................................................... $9.00 
Cargo Vehicles per vehicle trip ............................................................................. $11.00 
Trailers per vehicle trip ......................................................................................... $11.00 
Any above vehicle and trailer per vehicle trip ....................................................... $14.00 

Any uncovered load will be assessed an additional amount equal to 50% of the charge for such load. 
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SCHEDULE B - Municipal Solid Waste Landfill 

COMPUTED (WEIGHED) RATE SCHEDULE 

The following rate shall be applied to all vehicles greater than a one-ton rating, trailers with a flatbed 
carrying size of greater than 60 square feet, and all vehicles and trailers regardless of weight or size with a 
cargo height of greater than 5 feet using the Municipal Solid Waste Landfill on a load weight basis as 
follows: 

$14.00 Per Ton 

The minimum charge shall be equal to the per ton rate of$14.00. For periods that the scale is inoperative, 
the rate charged shall be $4.55 per cubic yard. Any uncovered load will be assessed an additional amount 
equal to 50% of the computed charge for such load. The minimum fee for uncovered loads shall be 
$50.00. 

SCHEDULE C - Compost Facility 

FLAT FEE SCHEDULE 

The following rates shall be applied to all vehicles having a one-ton rating or less, with a cargo height of 
5 feet or less; and trailers with a flatbed carrying size of 60 square feet or less, with a cargo height of 5 
feet or less using the Compost Facility: 

Cars per vehicle trip ................................................................................................ $3.00 
Passenger Vehicles per vehicle trip ......................................................................... $6.00 
Cargo Vehicles per vehicle trip ............................................................................. $11.00 
Trailers per vehicle trip ......................................................................................... $11.00 
Any above vehicle and trailer per vehicle trip ....................................................... $14.00 

Any uncovered load will be assessed an additional amount equal to 50% of the charge for such a load. 

COMPUTED (WEIGHED) RATE SCHEDULE 

The following rate shall be applied to all vehicles greater than a one-ton rating, trailers with a flatbed 
carrying size of greater than 60 square feet and all vehicles and trailers regardless of weight or size with a 
cargo height of greater than 5 feet using the Compost Facility on a load weight basis as follows: 

$15.75 Per Ton 

The minimum charge shall be equal to the per ton rate of $15.75. For periods that the scale is inoperative, 
the rate charged shall be $8.00 per cubic yard. Any uncovered load will be assessed an additional amount 
equal to 50% of the computed charge for such load. The minimum fee for uncovered loads shall be 
$50.00. 
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SCHEDULE D - Construction and Demolition Debris Landfill 

FLAT RATE SCHEDULE 

The following rates shall be applied to all vehicles having a one-ton rating or less, with a cargo height of 
5 feet or less; and trailers with a flatbed carrying size of 60 square feet or less, with a cargo height of 5 
feet or less using the Construction and Demolition Debris Landfill: 

Cars per vehicle trip ................................................................................................ $4.00 
Passenger Vehicles per vehicle trip ......................................................................... $4.00 
Cargo Vehicles per vehicle trip ............................................................................... $4.00 
Trailers per vehicle trip ........................................................................................... $4.00 
Any above vehicle and trailer per vehicle trip ......................................................... $4.00 

COMPUTED (WEIGHED) RATE SCHEDULE 

The following rate shall be applied to all vehicles greater than a one-ton rating, trailers with a flatbed 
carrying size of greater than 60 square feet, all vehicles and trailers regardless of weight or size with a 
cargo height of greater than 5 feet using the Construction and Demolition Debris Landfill on a load 
weight basis: 

$4.00 Per Ton 

The minimum charge shall be equal to the per ton rate of $4.00. For periods that the scale is inoperative, 
the rate charged shall be $4.00 per cubic yard. 

SCHEDULE E - Special Wastes 

1. Special Wastes as defined by Municipal Code 8.32.080 

1 a. Special Wastes landfilled directly with other refuse at time 
of disposal.. ................................................................. Schedule B per ton rate plus 

$5.00 per permit administrative fee 

Minimum Charge (1 ton rate plus $5.00) ..................................................... $19.00 

1 b. Special Wastes requiring segregation from other refuse 
at time of disposal (including, but not limited to, 
asbestos containing materials) .................................... Schedule B per ton rate plus 

$25.00 per load special handling fee 

Minimum Charge (1 ton rate plus $25.00) ................................................... $39.00 

1 c. Cars, Passenger Vehicles, Cargo Vehicles and Trailers as defined in 
Schedule A with Special Wastes ........................... Applicable Schedule A fee plus 

$5.00 per permit administrative fee 
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SCHEDULE F - Special Fees 

1. All whole and processed tires (portions of tires) 

1 a. Car passenger tire or light truck tire ....................................................... $3.00 each 
plus applicable Schedule A or Schedule B fees 

1 b. Heavy (over-the-road) truck tire .............................................................. $6.50 each 
plus applicable Schedule A or Schedule B fees 

1 c. Farm or industrial (off-road) tire ........................................................... $11.50 each 
plus applicable Schedule A or Schedule B fees 

2. All appliances prohibited from land disposal. 

Appliances .............................................................................................. $5.00 each 
plus applicable Schedule A or Schedule B fees 

3. The following fee shall be assessed for wastes which are unacceptable, including but not limited 
to out of county wastes, or prohibited from land disposal, if they are found to exist in a load and 
the vehicle driver refuses to remove the waste or place the waste in designated areas. 

Unacceptable waste loads rejected ....................................... $50.00 per occurrence 

Occupation Tax 

Section 8.32.150 of the Lincoln Municipal Code generally imposes (a) an occupation tax of $7.00 on each 
ton of refuse collected by a refuse hauler within Lancaster County, Nebraska but outside the corporate 
limits of the City and which is deposited in the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill and (b) an 
occupation tax of $7.00 on each ton of refuse collected by a refuse hauler within the corporate limits of 
the City, regardless of where it is deposited ((a) and (b) collectively, the "Occupation Tax"). The 
Occupation Tax, however, may not be imposed upon (1) refuse destined for deposit at any location 
outside the State of Nebraska, (2) building rubbish or demolition debris lawfully being deposited into the 
North 48th Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill, or (3) liquid waste, as defined in Section 
8.32.040 of the Lincoln Municipal Code. Section 8.32.150 of the Lincoln Municipal Code requires that 
all revenue derived from the Occupation Tax be used exclusively for funding solid waste management 
programs, including the payment of principal and interest on solid waste management revenue bonds 
issued by the City. In Waste Connections of Nebraska, Inc. v. City of Lincoln, Nebraska, 269 Neb. 855, 
697 N.W.2d 256 (2005), the Nebraska Supreme Court unanimously affirmed the City's authority to levy 
the Occupation Tax. 

Ordinance 19756 passed by City Council on August 8, 2012 and approved by the Mayor on August 10, 
2012 and Ordinance 19818 passed by City Council on December 17,2012 and approved by the Mayor on 
December 20,2012 will increase the Occupation Tax rate from $7.00 per ton to $9.00 per ton effective 
September 1, 2013. 
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Closure and Post-Closure Activities 

State and federal laws require the City to close its permitted landfills once their capacity has been 
reached. The City is required to monitor and maintain the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill for 
30 years subsequent to its closure and monitor and maintain the North 48th Street Construction and 
Demolition Waste Landfill for 5 years subsequent to its closure. Although certain closure and post­
closure care costs will be paid only near or after the date that each landfill stops accepting waste, the City 
reports a portion of these costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfill capacity used as 
of each balance sheet date. The City, in a review conducted by the Nebraska Department of 
Environmental Quality (NDEQ) in 2012, was demonstrated to be in compliance with the financial 
assurance requirements specified in NDEQ Title 132, Integrated Solid Waste Management Regulations, 
for calendar year 2012, through application of the Local Government Financial Test. 

As of August 31,2012, the City had incurred a liability of approximately $10,534,000 for the Bluff Road 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfill, which represents the total closure and post-closure care costs reported to 
date therefor based on the use of an estimated 50% of the total landfill capacity thereof. The remaining 
estimated liability for the Bluff Road Municipal Solid Waste Landfill is approximately $10,385,000, 
which will be recognized as the remaining capacity (estimated to be 25 years) of the Bluff Road 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfill is used. 

As of August 31, 2012, the City had incurred a liability of approximately $500,000 for the North 48th 
Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill, which represents the total closure and post-closure 
care costs reported to date therefor based on the use of an estimated 50% of the total landfill capacity. 
The remaining estimated liability for the North 48th Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill is 
approximately $494,000, which will be recognized as the remaining capacity (estimated to be 18 years) of 
the North 48th Street Construction and Demolition Waste Landfill is used. 

The estimated costs of closure and post-closure care are subject to change based on the effects of 
inflation, revisions to applicable laws, changes in technology, the sequence of landfill development and 
closure and other variables. In addition to constructing engineered capping and cover systems, other 
activities that are required to continue during closure and post-closure periods include, without limitation, 
landfill gas monitoring and control, groundwater monitoring, and management of leachate and storm 
water. Site security is also maintained and acceptable vegetation is maintained through mowing and weed 
control efforts. If necessary, remedial actions are also taken to address environmental concerns that occur 
during the closure and post-closure periods. 

The City owns a solid waste disposal area which discontinued operations in 1990. Although exempt from 
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Solid Waste Disposal Facility Criteria issued October 9, 1991, 
the City adheres to certain closure and post-closure care requirements under prior legislation, including 
the construction and maintenance of final cover, monitoring of ground water quality and landfill gas 
migration and general site maintenance. As of August 31, 2012, a liability for closure and post-closure 
care costs was reported for the discontinued landfill in the amount of approximately $4,402,000. As with 
the permitted landfills, these closure and post-closure costs were reported as an operating expense in each 
financial reporting period. 

-11-



Employee Information 

The Enterprise has 33.17 employees as of the date of this Official Statement. All employees, with the 
exception of one manager who is not represented by any bargaining unit, are represented by the Public 
Association of Governmental Employees (PAGE), the Lincoln City Employees Association (LCEA) or 
the Lincoln "M" Class Employees Association (LMCEA). In addition to Social Security, the City has a 
contributory retirement plan for its employees, including employees of the Enterprise. The plan is a 
straight money purchase plan. Employee forfeitures are used to reduce the employer's contribution. All 
past service costs and vested benefits are fully funded. The total retirement expense for employees of the 
Enterprise, including Social Security, was $182,262 for the fiscal year ended August 31,2012. 

Those employees of the City charged with the management functions of the Enterprise, their areas of 
responsibility and related experience are as follows: 

Miki Esposito Director of Public Works & Utilities 
Years of Related Experience: 2 
Years with City of Lincoln: 4 

Fran Mejer Public Works & Utilities Business Manager 
Years of Related Experience: 21 
Years with City of Lincoln: 21 

Karla Welding Superintendent of Solid Waste Operations 
Years of Related Experience: 18 
Years with City of Lincoln 27 
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FIVE-YEAR STATEMENT OF HISTORICAL OPERATIONS 

The following table sets forth the historical operations of the Enterprise for each of the fiscal years ended 
August 31: 

Net Net Debt Debt Fiscal Year 
Ended 

August 31 

Annual 
Solid Waste 

in Tons 
Revenue 
Per Ton 

Operating Operating Service Service 

2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 

(I) 

(2) 

(J) 

Revenues(l)(2) Costs (3) Revenue Requirement Coverage 

398,614 
332,248 
352,089 
383,040 
404,953 

$21.42 
23.07 
20.95 
19.88 
19.13 

$8,537,520 
7,664,336 
7,377,385 
7,615,130 
7,745,565 

$5,540,292 
5,491,789 
5,768,077 
6,253,133 
6,376,120 

$2,997,228 $345,825 
2,172,547 343,225 
1,609,308 340,425 
1,361,997 342,425 
1,369,445 344,025 

Revenues are: (a) total operating revenues, including tipping fees; plus (b) total non-operating revenues, including 
occupation taxes and investment income but excluding gains or losses realized from the disposal of capital assets; 
plus (c) such other revenues and income as are determined to be appropriate in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles for proprietary governmental operations such as the Enterprise. 
Includes occupation taxes imposed upon refuse haulers who collected refuse within the corporate limits of the City 
but disposed of such refuse at landfills not owned by the City and averaged $150,965 from 2008 to 2012. 
Depreciation, closure and post closure care costs, and capital contributions not included. 

PROJECTED OPERATING RESULTS 
AND DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 

8.7 
6.3 
4.7 
3.9 
3.9 

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

August 31 

Annual 
Solid Waste 

in Tons 
Revenue 
Per Ton 

Net 
Operating 

Revenues (I) Costs (2) 

Net Debt Debt 
Operating Service Service 
Revenue Requirement(3) Coverage(3) 

2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 

(I) 

(2) 

(J) 

(a) 

(b) 

(e) 

(d) 

(e) 

(I) 

$19.43 $7,869,957 $6,441,919 $1,428,038 $779,52ic) 1.83 404,953 
404,953 
404,953 
404,953 
404,953 

23.05 9336448(a) , , 6,451,812 2,884,636 1 031 31 Oed) , , 2.80 
23.01 9,320,032 6,648,172 2,671,860 1,401,091(e) 1.91 
25.82 10458660(b) , , 6,850,588 3,608,072 1,593,807(1) 2.26 
25.82 10,458,660 7,059,260 3,399,400 1,598,601 2.13 

Revenues are: (a) total operating revenues, including tipping fees; plus (b) total non-operating revenues, including 
occupation taxes and investment income but excluding gains or losses realized from the disposal of capital assets; 
plus (c) such other revenues and income as are determined to be appropriate in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles for proprietary governmental operations such as the Enterprise. 
Depreciation, closure and post closure care costs, and capital contributions not included. 
Component for Series 2013 Bonds based on preliminary estimates of rates and maturities. 
$2.00/ton tipping fee increase and a $2.00/ton occupation tax increase for the fiscal year ending 2014. These 
increases have been approved by City Council. 
$2.00/ton tipping fee increase and a $2.00/ton occupation tax increase proposed for the fiscal year ending 2016. 
Increase due to issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds. 
Increase due to $2,050,000 bond issue proposed in the fiscal year ending 2014. 
Increase due to $4,200,000 bond issue proposed in the fiscal year ending 2015. 
Increase due to $2,150,000 bond issue proposed in the fiscal year ending 2016. 
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The foregoing projections have been prepared by the business office of the Public Works and Utilities 
Department. The proposed rate increase for fiscal year ending 2014 has been approved by the City 
Council. The proposed rate increase for fiscal year ending 2016 and the proposed bond issues for the 
fiscal years ending 2014, 2015 and 2016 have not been approved by City Council. The City currently 
anticipates that such proposed bond issues will be used for the purposes of providing for extensions, 
enlargements and improvements to the Enterprise. 

There can be no assurance that the financial results achieved by the City in the future will be similar to 
historical and projected results contained herein. See "BONDHOLDERS' RISKS-Summary Financial 
Information" elsewhere in this Official Statement. 

BONDHOLDERS' RISKS 

This section provides a general overview of certain risk factors which should be considered. in addition 
to the other matters set forth in this Official Statement. in evaluating an investment in the Series 2013 
Bonds. This section is provided for convenience and is not meant to be a comprehensive or definitive 
discussion of the risks associated with an investment in the Series 2013 Bonds. and the order in which this 
information is presented does not necessarily reflect the relative importance of various risks. 

Prospective purchasers if the Series 2013 Bonds are advised to consider the following factors. among 
others. and to review this entire Official Statement, including the appendices hereto, to obtain 
information essential to the making of an informed investment decision. Anyone or more of the risk 
factors discussed below, among others, could lead to a decrease in the market value and/or in the 
marketability of the Series 2013 Bonds or adversely affect the ability of the City to make timely payments 
of principal of or interest on the Series 2013 Bonds. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently 
known to the City or that the City currently believes are immaterial may also impair its operations or 
financial condition. 

General 

The Series 2013 Bonds are revenue obligations of the City secured by a first lien on and payable solely 
from the Net Revenues of the Enterprise. No representation or assurance can be given that the City will 
realize Net Revenues in amounts sufficient to pay the principal or redemption price of and interest on the 
Series 2013 Bonds. The realization of future Net Revenues is dependent upon, among other things, the 
capabilities of the management of the Enterprise, competition from other refuse haulers, and future 
changes in economic and other conditions that are unpredictable and cannot be determined at this time. 

Summary Financial Information 

Certain summarized historical and projected financial information of the Enterprise is summarized in this 
Official Statement, including Appendix A hereto. There can be no assurance that the financial results 
achieved by the City in the future will be similar to historical or projected results contained therein. Such 
future results will vary from historical and projected results, and actual variations may be material. 
Therefore, the historical and projected operating results of the Enterprise contained in this Official 
Statement cannot be viewed as a representation that the City will be able to generate sufficient revenues 
in the future to make timely payment of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on its debt 
obligations, including the Series 2013 Bonds. 
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Factors Affecting the Net Revenues of the Enterprise 

One or more of the following factors or events, or the occurrence of other unanticipated factors or events, 
could adversely affect the Net Revenues of the Enterprise to an extent that cannot be determined at this 
time: 

Competition and Demand for Services. The City does not own or operate any refuse hauling trucks nor 
has the City entered into any contracts with private-sector haulers as a means of controlling or stabilizing 
the City's waste stream. Forty-one refuse haulers currently have licenses to operate in the City. The ten 
largest refuse haulers accounted for 52% of the Enterprise's total receipts in fiscal year 2011-12 and 51 % 
of the Enterprise's total receipts in fiscal year 2010-11. For the fiscal years ended August 31, 2012 and 
2011, approximately 5% and 6%, respectively, of the refuse collected in the City was transported to 
facilities other than the City's and the City collected no tipping fee. Because tipping fees accounted for 
approximately 51 % of the Enterprise's revenues for the year ended August 3 I, 20 12, a substantial 
percentage increase in refuse transported to facilities not owned by the City could have a detrimental 
impact on the financial status of the Enterprise. However, because all refuse haulers collecting refuse 
within the corporate limits of the City are subject to the Occupation Tax regardless of where such refuse 
is transported, the Occupation Tax can be used to stabilize the Revenues of the Enterprise. 

Government Regulation. Various health and safety regulations and standards apply to the Enterprise and 
are enforced by various state and local departments and agencies. Violations of certain health and safety 
standards could result in closure of some or all of the facilities comprising the Enterprise. The Enterprise 
is currently in compliance with all existing health and safety regulations; however, it is possible that such 
standards may change and the City cannot guarantee that the facilities comprising the Enterprise will meet 
any such changed standards or that the City will not be required to expend significant sums in order to 
comply with such changed standards. 

Environmental Regulation. The Enterprise is subject to continuing environmental regulation. Federal, 
state and local standards and procedures that regulate the environmental impact of solid waste 
management facilities are subject to change. These changes may arise from continuing legislative, 
regulatory and judicial action regarding such standards and procedures. Consequently, there is no 
assurance that facilities in operation will remain subject to the regulations currently in effect, will always 
be in compliance with further regulations or will always be able to obtain all required operating permits. 
An inability to comply with environmental standards could result in reduced operating levels or the 
complete shutdown of some or all of the facilities comprising the Enterprise. See "THE ENTERPRISE 
- Closure and Post-Closure Activities." 

Waste Diversion Efforts. A significant rise in waste diversion efforts, including waste reduction, 
recycling and composting could reduce demand for the City's landfills which could materially adversely 
affect the Net Revenues. 

Absence of Credit Enhancement 

No form of credit enhancement will be or has been obtained in connection with the Series 2013 Bonds. 
No form of revenues other than the Net Revenues derived by the City from the Enterprise will be 
available for the payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Series 2013 Bonds. 

Enforcement of Remedies 

Enforcement of the remedies under the Ordinance may be limited or restricted by state and federal laws 
relating to bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyances, and rights of creditors and by application of general 
principles of equity affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights and liens securing such rights, and the 
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exercise of judicial authority by state or federal courts, and may be subject to discretion and delay in the 
event of litigation or statutory remedy procedures. The legal opinion to be delivered concurrently with 
the delivery of the Series 2013 Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the Ordinance by 
limitations imposed by state and federal laws, rulings and decisions affecting remedies, and by general 
principles of equity and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the 
rights of creditors. In the event of a default, no assurance can be given that the exercise of remedies 
provided in the Ordinance will provide proceeds sufficient to make timely payments of the principal or 
redemption price of and interest on the Series 2013 Bonds. 

Future Legislation 

President Obama has released legislative and budget proposals that would, among other things, subject 
interest on tax-exempt bonds (including the Series 2013 Bonds and other tax-exempt obligations of the 
City) to a federal income tax for taxpayers with incomes above certain thresholds. Additional proposals 
affecting tax-exempt interest may be considered from time to time which could limit the availability of or 
eliminate federally tax-exempt interest on tax-exempt bonds. Neither house of Congress has passed any 
such proposal, and it is not possible to predict whether President Obama's, or another proposal with 
similar effects, will be enacted into law. If enacted into law, such a proposal could adversely affect the 
ability of the City to finance and/or refinance projects on favorable tax-exempt terms. Prospective 
purchasers of the Series 2013 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or 
proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no 
opinion. 

Secondary Market 

There can be no guarantee that there will be a secondary market for the Series 2013 Bonds or, if a 
secondary market exists, that the Series 2013 Bonds can be sold for any particular price. Occasionally, 
because of general market conditions or because of adverse history or economic prospects connected with 
a particular issue, secondary marketing practices in connection with a particular issue are suspended or 
terminated. Additionally, prices of issues for which a market is being made will depend upon then­
prevailing circumstances. Such prices could be substantially different from the original purchase price. 

THE SERIES 2013 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2013 Bonds will initially be issued in fully registered, book-entry form only (see "Book­
Entry System" under this heading) in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof; be 
dated the date of delivery (the "Date of Original Issue"); bear interest from the Date of Original Issue 
payable on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing August 1,2013; mature on August 1 in 
the years and in the principal amounts and bear interest at the rates (calculated on the basis of a 360-day 
year consisting of twelve, 30-day months) set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. Each 
installment of interest shall be payable by check or draft mailed by Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, the bond registrar and paying agent for the Series 2013 Bonds (the "Registrar"), on the due 
date thereof (or on the next business day if such due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or bank holiday 
applicable to the Registrar) to the registered owner of a Series 2013 Bond as shown on the bond 
registration records maintained by the Registrar as of the Record Date (hereinafter defined). The 
principal of each Series 2013 Bond is payable only upon the surrender of such Series 2013 Bond to the 
Registrar. The "Record Date" for each installment of interest shall be the 15th day (whether a business 
day or not) of the calendar month next preceding the interest payment date. 
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Book-Entry System 

General. The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, will act as secuntles 
depository for the Series 2013 Bonds. The ownership of one fully registered Series 2013 Bond for each 
maturity, as set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement, each in the aggregate principal amount 
of such maturity, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee for DTC. Ownership 
interests in the Series 2013 Bonds will be available to purchasers only through a book-entry system 
maintained by DTC (the "Book-Entry System"). A description of DTC, the Book-Entry System and 
definitions of initially capitalized terms used herein are found in "APPENDIX F - BOOK-ENTRY 
SYSTEM." 

Risk Factors. Beneficial Owners of the Series 2013 Bonds may experience some delay in their receipt of 
distributions of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Series 2013 Bonds because such 
distributions will be forwarded by the Registrar to DTC, credited by DTC to its Direct Participants, and 
then credited to the accounts of the Beneficial Owners either directly or indirectly through Indirect 
Participants. 

Because transactions in the Series 2013 Bonds can only be effected through DTC, DTC Participants and 
certain banks, the ability of a Beneficial Owner to pledge Series 2013 Bonds to persons or entities that do 
not participate in the Book-Entry System, or otherwise to take actions in respect of such Series 2013 
Bonds, may be limited due to the lack of physical certificates. Beneficial Owners will not be recognized 
by the Registrar as registered owners for purposes of the Ordinance, and Beneficial Owners will be 
permitted to exercise the rights of registered owners only indirectly through DTC and DTC Participants. 

Optional Redemption 

Series 2013 Bonds maturing on or prior to August 1, 2023 are not subject to redemption prior to their 
stated maturities. Series 2013 Bonds maturing on or after August I, 2024 are subject to redemption prior 
to maturity at the option of the City in whole or in part, at any time on or after August 1, 2023 in such 
principal amounts and from such maturity or maturities as the City shall specify and by lot in integral 
multiples of $5,000 within a maturity at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount then 
being redeemed, together with accrued interest on such principal amount to the date fixed for redemption. 

Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption 

Notice of redemption will be mailed by first class mail by the Registrar no fewer than 30 days prior to the 
redemption date to the registered owner of each Series 2013 Bonds, all or a portion of which is called for 
redemption. Each notice of redemption shall designate the Series 2013 Bonds to which such notice 
relates, the Date of Original Issue of such Series 2013 Bonds, the redemption date, the redemption price, 
the place or places of redemption (including the name and address of the Registrar), the CUSIP number 
(if any) of the maturity, and, if less than all of such maturity, the distinctive certificate numbers of the 
Series 2013 Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed and, in the case of any Series 2013 Bonds to be 
redeemed in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. Each such 
notice shall also state that on the redemption date there will become due and payable on each of such 
Series 2013 Bonds, or portions thereof, the redemption price thereof, together with interest accrued to the 
date fixed for redemption, and that from and after such redemption date, interest thereon shall cease to 
accrue, and shall require that such Series 2013 Bonds be then surrendered at the address of the Registrar 
specified in the redemption notice. Failure of any owner to receive notice or any defect in any such notice 
shall not affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for redemption. 

So long as DTC is effecting book-entry transfers of the Series 2013 Bonds, the Registrar will provide the 
notices of Series 2013 Bonds to be redeemed to DTC. It is expected that DTC will, in tum, notify the 
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DTC Participants and that the DTC Participants, in turn, will notifY or cause notification to be given to 
the Beneficial Owners. Any failure on the part of DTC or a DTC Participant, or failure on the part of a 
nominee of a Beneficial Owner of a Bond (having been mailed notice from the Registrar, a DTC 
Participant or otherwise) to notifY the Beneficial Owner of the Bond so affected, will not affect the 
validity of the redemption of such Bond. 

Interchangeability and Transfer 

The Series 2013 Bonds, upon surrender thereof to the Registrar with a written instrument of transfer 
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the registered owner or its duly authorized attorney, may, at 
the option of the registered owner thereof, be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of 
Series 2013 Bonds in registered form of the same series, rate of interest, maturity and of any authorized 
denom ination. 

In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging or transferring the Series 2013 Bonds is exercised, the 
City shall execute and the Registrar shall deliver the Series 2013 Bonds in accordance with the 
Ordinance. For every such transfer or exchange of Series 2013 Bonds, the Registrar shall require the 
payment by the registered owner requesting such transfer or exchange of any tax or other governmental 
charges payable with respect thereto, and may charge a sum not exceeding the actual cost for each new 
Bond. 

Neither the City nor the Registrar is required to make any such exchange or registration of transfer of 
Series 2013 Bonds during the period between a Record Date and the next succeeding interest payment 
date or, in the case of any proposed redemption of Series 2013 Bonds, after notice of the redemption of 
such Series 2013 Bonds or any portion thereof shall have been given pursuant to the Ord inance. 

The foregoing procedures do not apply to Beneficial Owners, whose transfer and exchange privileges will 
be governed by the procedures described under "THE SERIES 2013 BONDS - Book-Entry System" 
herein so long as the Series 2013 Bonds are held in book-entry format. 

RATINGS 

Moody's Investors Service has assigned the Series 2013 Bonds the rating of "Aa2" and Standard & 
Poor's has assigned the Series 2013 Bonds the rating of "AA+." Such ratings reflect only the views of 
such organizations, and an explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained from Moody's 
Investors Service, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007, telephone (212) 553-0300, and 
Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, 55 Water Street, New York, New York, 10041, telephone (212) 438-
2124. 

Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such information and materials and investigations, studies 
and assumptions furnished to and obtained and made by the rating agencies. The debt ratings are not a 
recommendation to purchase, sell or hold a security, inasmuch as they do not comment as to market price 
or suitability for a particular investor. There can be no assurance that the above ratings will remain for 
any given period of time or that they may not be lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely by either or 
both rating services if they deem circumstances are appropriate. Any downward change in, suspension or 
withdrawal of either or both ratings may have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Series 
2013 Bonds. 
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TAX MATTERS 

The following is a summary of the material federal and State of Nebraska income tax consequences of 
holding and disposing of the Series 2013 Bonds. This summary is based upon laws, regulations, rulings 
and judicial decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change (possibly on a retroactive basis). 
This summary does not discuss all aspects of federal income taxation that may be relevant to investors in 
light of their personal investment circumstances or describe the tax consequences to certain types of 
owners subject to special treatment under the federal income tax laws (for example, dealers in securities 
or other persons who do not hold the Series 2013 Bonds as a capital asset, tax-exempt organizations, 
individual retirement accounts and other tax deferred accounts, and foreign taxpayers), and, except for the 
income tax laws of the State of Nebraska, does not discuss the consequences to an owner under any state, 
local or foreign tax laws. The summary does not deal with the tax treatment of persons who purchase the 
Series 2013 Bonds in the secondary market. Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax 
advisors regarding federal, state, local and other tax considerations of holding and disposing of the Series 
2013 Bonds. 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

In the opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Lincoln, Nebraska, Bond Counsel, under the law existing as of the 
issue date of the Series 2013 Bonds: 

Federal and Nebraska Tax Exemption. The interest on the Series 2013 Bonds (including any original 
issue discount properly allocable to an owner thereof) is excludable from gross income for federal income 
tax purposes and is exempt from income taxation by the State of Nebraska. 

Alternative Minimum Tax. Interest on the Series 2013 Bonds is not an item of tax preference for 
purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, but 
is taken into account in determining adjusted current earnings for the purpose of computing the alternative 
minimum tax imposed on certain corporations. 

Bank Qualification. The Series 2013 Bonds have not been designated as "qualified tax-exempt 
obligations" for purposes of Section 265(b) of the Code. 

Bond counsel's opinions are provided as of the date of the original issue of the Series 2013 Bonds, subject 
to the condition that the City comply with all requirements of the Code that must be satisfied subsequent 
to the issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has covenanted to comply with all such 
requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause the inclusion of interest on 
the Series 2013 Bonds in gross income for federal and the State of Nebraska income tax purposes 
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds. Bond Counsel is expressing no opinion 
regarding other federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the Series 2013 Bonds but 
has reviewed the discussion under the heading "TAX MATTERS." 

Other Tax Consequences 

Original Issue Discount. For federal income tax purposes, original issue discount ("OlD") is the excess 
of the stated redemption price at maturity of a Series 2013 Bond over its issue price. The issue price of a 
Series 2013 Bond is the first price at which a substantial amount of the Series 2013 Bonds of that maturity 
have been sold (ignoring sales to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the 
capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). Under Section 1288 of the Code, 010 on 
tax-exempt bonds accrues on a compound basis. The amount of 010 that accrues to an owner of a Series 
2013 Bond during any accrual period generally equals (1) the issue price of that Series 2013 Bond, plus 
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the amount of OlD accrued in all prior accrual periods, multiplied by (2) the yield to maturity on that 
Series 2013 Bond (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and 
properly adjusted for the length of the accrual period), minus (3) any interest payable on that Series 2013 
Bond during that accrual period. The amount of OlD accrued in a particular accrual period will be 
considered to be received ratably on each day of the accrual period, will be excludable from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes, and will increase the owner's tax basis in that Series 2013 Bond. 
Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors concerning the calculation and accrual of 
OlD. 

Original Issue Premium. If a Series 2013 Bond is issued at a price that exceeds the stated redemption 
price at maturity of the Series 2013 Bond, the excess of the purchase price over the stated redemption 
price at maturity constitutes "premium" on that Series 2013 Bond. Under Section 171 of the Code, the 
purchaser of that Series 2013 Bond must amortize the premium over the term of the Series 2013 Bond 
using constant yield principles, based on the purchaser's yield to maturity. As premium is amortized, the 
owner's basis in the Series 2013 Bond and the amount of tax-exempt interest received will be reduced by 
the amount of amortizable premium properly allocable to the owner. This will result in an increase in the 
gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes on sale or disposition of 
the Series 2013 Bond prior to its maturity. Even though the owner's basis is reduced, no federal income 
tax deduction is allowed. Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors concerning the 
calculation and accrual of bond premium. 

Sale, Exchange or Retirement of Series 2013 Bonds. Upon the sale, exchange or retirement (including 
redemption) of a Series 2013 Bond, an owner of the Series 2013 Bond generally will recognize gain or 
loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of cash and the fair market value of any 
property received on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Series 2013 Bond (other than in respect of 
accrued and unpaid interest) and such owner's adjusted tax basis in the Series 2013 Bond. To the extent a 
Series 2013 Bond is held as a capital asset, such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and will be long­
term capital gain or loss if the Series 2013 Bond has been held for more than 12 months at the time of 
sale, exchange or retirement. 

Reporting Requirements. In general, information reporting requirements will apply to certain payments 
of principal, interest and prem ium paid on the Series 2013 Bonds, and to the proceeds paid on the sale of 
the Series 2013 Bonds, other than certain exem pt recipients (such as corporations and foreign entities). A 
backup withholding tax will apply to such payments if the owner fails to provide a taxpayer identification 
number or certification of foreign or other exempt status or fails to report in full dividend and interest 
income. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to an owner will be allowed as a credit 
against the owner's federal income tax liability. 

Collateral Federal Income Tax Consequences. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2013 Bonds should 
be aware that ownership of the Series 2013 Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax 
consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and 
casualty insurance companies, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, 
certain S corporations with "excess net passive income," foreign corporations subject to the branch profits 
tax, life insurance companies, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued 
indebtedness to purchase or carry or have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to the Series 2013 
Bonds. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding these tax consequences. Purchasers of Series 2013 
Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the applicability of these tax consequences and other federal 
income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series 2013 Bonds, including 
the possible application of state, local, foreign and other tax laws. 
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The City has entered into an undertaking (the "Undertaking") for the benefit of the holders of the Series 
2013 Bonds to provide certain financial information and operating data to the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board ("MSRB") annually and to provide notice to the MSRB of certain events, in order to 
assist the Underwriter with complying with its obligations under Rule 15c2-12 ("Rule") of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. See "APPENDIX E-FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
UNDERTAKING." 

A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking will not constitute an event of default with respect 
to the Series 2013 Bonds, although any holder would have any available remedy at law or in equity, 
including seeking specific performance by court order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations 
under the Undertaking. Any such failure must be reported in accordance with the Rule and must be 
considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale 
of the Series 2013 Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the 
transferability and liquidity of the Series 2013 Bonds and their market price. The City believes it has 
complied, in all material respects, with its previous undertakings under the Rule. 

LITIGATION 

There is not now pending any litigation restraining or enjoining the issuance or delivery of the Series 
2013 Bonds or questioning or affecting the validity of the Series 2013 Bonds or the proceedings and 
authority under which they are to be issued. None of the creation, organization or existence of the City or 
the title of the members of the Councilor other officers of the City to their respective offices is being 
contested or questioned. 

There is no litigation pending that in any manner questions the right of the City to pass the Ordinance 
pursuant to which the Series 2013 Bonds are being issued. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

All legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Series 2013 Bonds are subject to the 
approval of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed on by Rodney M. 
Confer, City Attorney. Certain of the fees of Bond Counsel are contingent upon the issuance and sale of 
the Series 2013 Bonds. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The financial statements and schedules of (a) the Enterprise for the years ended August 31, 2012 and 
2011, included in "APPENDIX B - SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS," and (b) the City for the year ended August 31, 2011 with summarized financial 
information as of August 31,2010, included in "APPENDIX C - CITY OF LINCOLN GENERAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" to this Official Statement have been audited by BKD LLP, independent 
auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein. 
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UNDERWRITING 

The Series 2013 Bonds are being purchased by Ameritas Investment Corp. (the "Underwriter"). The 
Underwriter has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase the Series 2013 Bonds from the City at 
a price of $8,783,624.40, which is the $8,340,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2013 Bonds 
plus a net original issue premium of $518,684.40 and less an underwriting discount of $75,060.00 for its 
services in underwriting the Series 2013 Bonds. The Series 2013 Bonds may be offered and sold to 
certain dealers (including underwriters and other dealers depositing such Bonds into investment trusts) at 
prices lower than such public offering prices. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

All estimates and assumptions herein have been made on the basis of the best information available and 
are believed to be reliable, but no representations whatsoever are made that such estimates or assumptions 
are current or will be realized. So far as any statements herein involve matters of opinion, whether or not 
expressly so stated, they are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact. 

The information set forth in this Official Statement should not be construed as representing all of the 
conditions affecting the City or the Series 2013 Bonds. 

This Official Statement is issued by the City. 

THE CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
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APPENDIX A 

THE CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
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THE CITY OF LINCOLN 

General 

Lincoln, the capital of Nebraska, is located in southeastern Nebraska near the center of population of the state. The City was 
originally incorporated in 1869. It is approximately midway between Chicago and Denver. It has an area of 90.85 square 
miles, and in its growth and development has annexed five other municipalities so that the City includes most of the urban 
area of Lancaster County. It enjoys a unique position in Nebraska as the center of the state governmental and educational 
activities. 

Population 

The 1980 population of the City was 171,932; the 1990 population was 191,972; the 2000 population was 225,588; and the 
2010 population was 258,379, a 14.5 percent increase over the 2000 count. The 2010 count represents 90.5 percent of the 
population of Lancaster County, the county in which the City is located. 

City Government 

The City, operating under a home rule charter, has a mayor-council form of government with an elected full-time chief 
executive, the Mayor, and an elected legislative body, the Council. composed of seven members. Three are elected at large 
and four by district on a nonpartisan basis for a term of four years. The administration of City government is performed under 
the direction of the Mayor by administrative departments. 

City government has a broad range of responsibilities, including electric, water, and sanitary sewer systems, and an 
impressive park and playground system of over 6,503 acres maintained for public use, nine public swimming pools, and five 
public golf courses. The City has cooperated actively with the county government in several joint governmental buildings, 
and in other specific areas of responsibility, including health, planning, civil defense, data processing, tax collection, parks, 
and jail facilities. There are cooperative agreements with the United States government on parks and flood control, with the 
University of Nebraska on planning and property transfer, with the area Watershed District on flood control, and with the 
Lincoln School District on recreation. 

Transportation 

The Lincoln metropolitan area is served by Interstate 80, and U.S. Highways 2, 6, 34, and 77. 

Lincoln is served by two commercial airports with daily shuttle service available between locations. The Lincoln Municipal 
Airport is located less than 10 minutes from downtown and has daily departures to Chicago, Denver, Dctroit, and 
Minneapolis. Eppley Airfield, located in east Omaha, is 65 minutes from downtown Lincoln and offers service from mUltiple 
airlines. Together the two airports offer more than 100 arrivals and departures daily. The Lincoln Municipal Airport also 
offers General Aviation services. The General Aviation runway is 8,649 feet long, and the runway is lit dusk to dawn. 

Railroad transportation facilities include those of Burlington Northern/Santa Fe, Union Pacific, and AMTRAK. Ground 
transportation is furnished by Greyhound/Black Hills Stage Lines and local StarTran bus services. 

Government Center 

The State Capitol, an architectural achievement located in Lincoln, is considered one of the most impressive in all the 50 
states. Other state governmental facilities in the City include the Nebraska Educational Telecommunications facility, the 
Nebraska Game and Parks Commission headquarters, the Lincoln Regional Center (state hospital), and the Nebraska Penal 
Complex. 

Federal agencies in Lincoln include regional offices of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (Mid-West Regional Technical 
Service Center), the Immigration & Naturalization Service and the Veterans Administration, as well as the state offices of 
other federal agencies. There is also a U.S. Veterans Medical Facility. 

Lancaster County offices are also located in Lincoln, the county seat. 



Education 

The University of Nebraska, with approximately 24,000 students, Nebraska Wesleyan University, with approximately 2,100 
students, Union College, with approximately 900 students, Kaplan University, with approximately 930 students and Southeast 
Community College, with approximately 10,300 students and with a number of facilities for both full-time and part-time 
occupational training, are located in the City of Lincoln. The City'S modern and progressive school system, with an 
enrollment of over 35,000 is served by 6 high schools, II middle schools, and 37 elementary schools. Lincoln is home to 
nearly 30 private and parochial schools. Lincoln's private school offerings range from pre-K to high school institutions. 
Affiliations include Roman Catholic, Lutheran, SDA, and nondenominational Christians. 

Building Permits and Property Values 

LAST TEN YEARS 

COMMERCIAL I RESIDENTIAL I 

CONSTRUCTION CONSTRUCTION 
FISCAL # # 
YEAR PERMITS VALUE PERMITS VALUE 

201 I 1,320 $ 223,215,672 2,336 $ 155,181,140 
2010 1,234 241 ,509,266 2,225 116,914,465 
2009 1,196 199,331,086 1,794 104,316,385 
2008 1,064 274,267,477 2,261 149,678,215 
2007 994 293,968,408 2,820 202,786,768 
2006 1,088 263,006,153 3,150 195,885,622 
2005 1,092 204,677 ,969 3,387 277 ,158,200 

2004 1,061 258,670,339 3,846 321,126,701 

2003 1,036 269,298,229 3,913 315,662.242 

2002 1,013 245,476,386 3,405 262,293,941 

City of Lincoln, Building and Safety Department. 

Lancaster County Assessor. 

Police and Fire Protection 

PROPERTY VALUE 2 
COMMERCIAL RESIDENTIAL 

$ 4,477,256,5 I 9 $ 10,648,151,681 

4,438,463,100 10,546,474,527 
4,382,749,195 10,839,440,027 
4,246,365,596 10.723,170,809 
4,236,340,817 10,402,515,684 
3,814,534,869 9.083.290.211 
3,694,097,147 8.727,702,573 
3,598,787,015 8,402,403,364 

3,094,988,486 7,255.640,292 

2,855,200,333 7.048,688,380 

$ 

Lincoln has fourteen fire stations manned by 283 firefighters and three police stations with 321 police officers. 

City Employee Information 

TOTALS 

15,125,408,200 
14,984,937,627 
15,222,189,222 
14,969,536,405 
14,63R,856.50 I 
12.897.825,ORO 
12,421,799,720 

12.001.190,379 

IO,3S0.62R,77R 

9,903.888,713 

For the 2011-2012 fiscal year, contracts have been signed with all of our unions. Unions include: the Lincoln Police Union 
(LPU) representing police officers; the International Association of Firefighters (IAF) representing firefighters, the 
Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU) representing transit workers, the Public Association of Government Employees (PAGE) 
representing labor, trades, and clerical personnel, the City Employees Association (CEA) representing supervisory, highly 
technical, and professional personnel, and the Lincoln M Class Employees Association (LMCEA) representing upper 
management, administration and professional personnel. All contracts expire at the end of August, 2012. 

Since the inception of labor contracts in 1970, the City of Lincoln has been able to handle its labor relations in such a manner 
as to avoid interruptions, although it has been necessary to use the facilities of the Nebraska Commission of Industrial 
Relations on issues involving the International Association of Firefighters, International Brotherhood of Police Officers, and 
the Public Association of Government Employees. 
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SELECTED ECONOMIC INDICATORS 

LINCOLN SMSA (LANCASTER COUNTY) 
NONAGRICULTURAL WAGE AND SALARY EMPLOYMENT 

MAY 31,2011 NOVEMBER 30,2011 

Number Percent Number Percent 

EmElo~ed of Total EmElo~ed of Totul 

Industry Manufacturing: 

Durable Goods 8,130 4.6 8,064 4.5 
Nondurable Goods 4,833 2.8 4,768 2.7 

Total Industry Manufacturing 12,963 7.4 12,832 7.2 
Nonmanufacturing: 

Natural Resource & Construction 6,621 3.8 6,493 3.7 
Transportation, Communications & Utilities 10,491 6.0 10,711 6.0 
Wholesale Trade 4,028 2.3 4,150 2.3 
Retail Trade 18,370 10.5 19,346 10.9 
Information 2,130 1.2 2,184 I.3 
Finance, Insurance & Real Estate 13,327 7.6 13,354 7.5 
Services (except domestic) 67,979 38.8 69,100 39.1 
Government 39,201 22.4 38,948 22.0 

Total Nonmanufacturing 162,147 92.6 164,286 92.8 
TOTAL 175,110 100.0 177,118 100.0 

Lincoln is proud to have some of the nation's leading industrial companies as local employers, including Goodyear Tire and 
Rubber Company, Burlington Northern Railroad, Archer-Daniels-Midlands Company, Kawasaki Motors Corporation USA, 
and Square D. 

LINCOLN SMSA (LANCASTER COUNTY LABOR FORCE DATA 2011-2002) 
(For the Calendar Year Indicated) 

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

Civilian Labor Force 160,683 157,933 159,298 159,943 157,887 157,632 157,999 158,444 156,940 153,021 

Unemployment 6,130 6,802 7,015 4,899 4,462 4,592 5,643 5,346 5,841 5,007 

Percent of Labor Force 3.8 4.3 4.4 3.1 2.8 2.9 3.6 3.4 3.7 3.3 

Employment 154,553 151,130 152,283 155,044 153,425 153,040 152,355 153,098 151,100 148,013 

STATE OF NEBRASKA 

Percent of Labor Force 
Unemployment 4.2 4.7 4.7 3.3 3.0 3.2 3.9 3.8 3.8 3.6 

Source: State of Nebraska, Department of Labor 
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DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS 
LAST TEN YEARS 

Per Capita 

Personal School 

Year Population Income 2 Enrollment 3 

2011 258,379 $ 36,530 

2010 254,001 35,896 

2009 251,624 37,361 34,973 

2008 248,744 37,990 34,061 

2007 241,167 36,838 33,466 

2006 239,213 35,441 32,934 

2005 238,625 33,799 32,505 

2004 236,146 33,024 32,270 

2003 235,565 32,098 31,889 

2002 231,800 31,208 31,867 

Sources: 

I Lincoln/Lancaster Planning Department. 

2 U.S. Dept. of Commerce Bureau of Economic Analysis. 

Per Capital Income is based on Lincoln Metropolitan Statistical Area, which includes 

all of Lancaster and Seward Counties 

Per Capita Income for 2010 and 2011 is unavailable. 

3 Lincoln Public Schools. 

Median age from the 2010 census was 31.8. Education statistics per the 2010 Census indicate that 92.4% of the population 25 
years and older has a high school degree or greater with 35.2% of the same population holding a Bachelor's degree or greater. 

LINCOLN UTILITY CUSTOMERS LAST 
TEN YEARS 

Water Gas Electricity 

Year Customers Customers Customers 

2011 79,184 94,231 128,373 

2010 78,740 93,916 129,322 

2009 77,973 93,679 128,115 

2008 77,532 93,419 126,978 

2007 76,816 93,301 124,878 

2006 75,919 92,824 123,376 

2005 74,649 92,152 121,508 

2004 73,059 91,046 119,456 

2003 72,260 89,642 116,974 

2002 69,704 89,085 114,388 

Source: Indicated Utility Companies 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL STATISTICS 

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION 
I 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Streets Culture Health 
Fiscal General Public And And Economic And Mass Debt 
Year Government Safet~ Hishwa~s Recreation O~~ortunit~ Welfare Transit Service Totals 

2011 $ 36,622,362 69,537,057 18,335,078 21,794,585 15,811,914 21,993,415 15,088,883 26,439,462 225,622,756 

2010 35,865,006 64,679,523 19,832,223 21,483,873 15,359,628 21,652,729 12,034,413 17,032,401 207,939,796 

2009 34,428,477 63,984,484 16,445,304 22,449,569 11,321,242 20,349,757 9,575,670 16,990,105 195.544,608 

2008 35,278,575 61,147,903 16,482,240 21,686,564 14,685,668 21,053,132 10,707,601 14,427,795 195,469,478 

2007 33,946,258 60,953,651 17,430,452 21,719,544 11,670,315 20,378,863 14,877,357 11.589,720 192.566,160 

2006 34,666,641 60,064,604 16,928,575 20,938,212 12,623,307 25,566,267 8,901,327 11,016,269 190,705,202 

2005 32,532,685 58,669,932 17,064,845 21,669,847 14,870,592 19,126,931 8,306,921 10,562,993 182,804.746 

2004 30,884,544 55,272,920 13,633,902 22,308,940 14,728,510 18.544,667 10,525,090 7,914,521 173,813,094 

2003 28,938,852 50,933,285 12,317,663 19,935,823 16,469,645 17,614,751 7,996,019 8,507,223 162,713,261 

2002 27,237,134 49,913,169 10,833,055 16,974,798 14,017,601 17,989,603 12,691,837 7,411,878 157,069,075 

Includes General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service Funds, 

GENERAL REVENUES BY SOURCE 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Taxes And Permits Reimbursement 

Fiscal Special Inter- And For Investment 

Year Assessment Governmental Fees Services Earnings Other Totals 

20 II $ 144,632,640 71,532,824 18,524,372 7,521,366 5,454,877 11,279,552 258,945,631 

2010 131,562,303 61,640,301 16,432,219 7,004,334 5,197,259 6,467,138 228,303,554 

2009 130,360,416 75,099,973 17,119,002 6,600,299 5,791,391 7,818,015 242,789,096 

2008 130,094,818 73,830,720 18,013,104 6,5 I 1,457 6,806,258 7,667,778 242,924,135 

2007 125,328,388 63,928,043 19,126,239 6,491,112 10,371,565 7,052,107 232,297,454 

2006 121 ,857,986 60,757,501 18,423,079 7,063,192 4,082,196 7,886,377 220,070,331 

2005 II 9 ,318,079 63,180,171 16,535,049 6,936,334 4,327,311 12,028,417 222,325,361 

2004 114,756,962 58,619,699 15,593,326 6,322,870 5,207,711 10,188,520 210 ,689 ,08 8 

2003 107,114,577 52,773,424 12,679,623 6,097,336 4,353,336 8,234,138 191 ,252,434 

2002 105,139,052 59,029,609 12,449,879 5,605,557 4,606,825 10,325,634 197,156,556 

Includes General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service Funds. 
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SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COLLECTIONS 

LAST TEN YEARS I 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

August 31 

2011 
2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 
2002 

Special Assessment 
Collections 

Including Interest 

$ 1,103,720 
1,136,150 
1,Q71,238 
1,418,936 
1,448,146 
1,667,037 
1,413,582 
2,104,925 
1,814,191 
1,867,653 

Special assessment collections are not tracked by levy year, therefore the portion of collections during any year that apply to any 
particular levy cannot be determined. 

Authority to Levy Taxes 

Article IX, Section 3 of the Home Rule Charter of the City provides that the City shall have power to levy a lax each year for 
general revenue purposes upon all property subject to taxation; provided that the maximum amount of taxes that can be levied 
by the City in anyone year for general revenue purposes shall not exceed an amount known as the City tax limit. The City tax 
limit is a tax ceiling established by using the September I, 1966 City dollar tax limit as an initial tax limit, and increasing that 
tax limit each year following 1966 by 7% so that in each fiscal year thereafter, the amount of the City tax limit shall be the 
amount of the city tax limit for the previous year, plus 7% thereof. In addition, the City also has the power to levy taxes each 
year sufficient to pay any judgment existing against the City and the interest on bonded debt and the principal on any bonded 
debt maturing during the fiscal year or within six months thereafter, as well as taxes authorized by state law. The City is also 
authorized to receive all taxes collected and distributed pursuant to state law and in lieu of tax payments imposed by law. The 
20 II tax levy for the 2011-2012 fiscal year is $100,174,806 below the legal limit, a tax rate per $100 valuation of .31580. The 
assessed value upon which the 20 II levy is based is $15,900,828,813. By charter, only 90% of the property tax levy may be 
appropriated. 

For the 2011-2012 fiscal year the City is subject to a state imposed lid on the appropriation of "restricted funds", that are 
revenues received from property tax, sales tax, state aid, in-lieu of tax and highway allocation fees. Bonded indebtedness, 
capital improvements, and costs associated with inter local agreements are exempt from the lid. For 2011-2012 the City can 
also use authority equal to the greater of 2.5% or the amount of real growth in the tax base that was .12%. An additional 1% 
can be authorized by a 75% vote of the City Council but was not utilized for the 2011-2012 budget. The 2011-2012 budget is 
approximately $18.3 million below the state imposed lid limit. 
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PROPERTY TAX LEVIED AND COLLECTED 
LAST TEN YEARS 

The fiscal year of the City begins September I and ends August 31. Taxes are levied in October. First installments of real 
estate taxes are delinquent the following April I, second installments delinquent August I; personal property taxes are 
delinquent April I and August I. Delinquent taxes bear 14 percent interest. The figures below include interest and penalties. 
The figures below do not include motor vehicle in lieu of ad valorem taxes. 

CollectedAs Of August 31 Accumulated Collections 
Tax Taxes After Lev~ As Of Au~ust 31,2011 
Year Levied Amount Percent Amount Percent 

2011 $ 45,718,972 $ 44,206,917 96.69 % $ 44,206,917 96.69 % 
2010 45,197,040 $ 43,791,366 96.89 45,170,841 99.94 
2009 45,884,670 44,385,970 96.73 45,867,726 99.96 
2008 45,052,028 43,526,689 96.61 45,039,392 99.97 
2007 43,291,440 41,815,295 96.59 43,284,921 99.98 
2006 40,930,818 39,549,553 96.63 40,927,221 99.99 
2005 38,755,995 37,488,504 96.73 38,749,283 99.98 
2004 36,994,112 35,696,288 96.49 36,902,819 99.75 
2003 35,007,926 33,648,496 96.12 34,916,463 99.74 
2002 33,731,282 32,482,000 96.30 33,720,019 99.97 

TEN LARGEST TAXPAYERS 

Listed below are the ten largest taxpayers in the City of Lincoln as reported by the County Assessor. These taxpayers each 
pay less than five percent of the total taxes levied. 

Percentage 

2011 Of Total 

Assessed Assessed 

Taxpayers Type of Business Valuations Valuation 

B & J Partnership Ltd. Building Management $ 78,862,600 0.50% 

Burlington Northern Railroad 71,668,442 0.45% 

Kawasaki Manufacturing 70,126,972 0.44% 

Ameritas Life Insurance Corp Insurance 61,017,194 0.38% 

WEA Gateway LLC Retail Management 56,997,083 0.36% 

BryanLGH Hospital 53,953,361 0.34% 

Pfizer Animal Health 47,060,705 0.30% 

Nebco ConstructionlDevelopment 46,160,673 0.29% 

Chateau Van Dorn LLC Real Estate Development 45,364,619 0.29% 

Black Hills Utility Holdings Gas Utility 45,124,751 0.28% 

$ 576,336,400 3.63% 
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CITY SALES TAX INFORMATION 

The City had a one percent (1%) sales and use tax through June 30, 1985. Effective July 1,1985 the sales and use tax was 
raised to one and one half percent (1.5%). These taxes are administered and collected for the City by the State of Nebraska. 
The State receives three percent (3%) for their service. The City has had a sales tax since 1969. 

Property and 
Fiscal Motor Vehicle 
Year Taxes 
201 I $ 31,449,267 
2010 3 I ,486,553 
2009 33,783,984 
2008 32,181,660 
2007 31,454,763 
2006 28,366,526 
2005 26,727,618 
2004 24,546,532 
2003 22,780,085 
2002 23,353,4 14 

SALES AND USE TAX COLLECTIONS 
LAST TEN YEARS 

Year Ended 

August 31 Amount 

20 II $ 57,959,545 

2010 54,925,013 

2009 54,255,376 

2008 55,733,297 

2007 53,960,485 

2006 54,270,346 

2005 53,78 1,209 

2004 51,869,477 

2003 48,657,268 

2002 45,393,491 

GENERAL FUND TAX COLLECTIONS 
LAST TEN YEARS 

Sales and Sundry Taxes 
Use Taxes Taxes In Lieu 

57,959,545 30,957 1,755,098 
54,925,013 11,895 1,620,43 I 
54,255,376 8,143 1,540,752 

55,733,297 18,600 1,5 II ,404 
53,960,485 10,492 1,399,939 
54,270,346 9,526 1,315,038 

53,781,209 12,445 1,159,742 

5 I ,869,477 9,263 1,144,747 

48,657,268 10,876 1,199,507 

45,393,491 8,403 1,163,468 

8 

Occupation 
Taxes Total 

11,699,691 102,894,558 
10,467,534 98,5 I I ,426 
10,071,230 99,659,485 
9,670,060 99,115,021 
9,596,588 96,422,267 

8,936,502 92,897,938 

9,169,791 90,850,805 

9,037,78 I 86,607,800 

8,831,712 81,479,448 

9,097,442 79,016,218 



TAXABLE ASSESSED V ALVA TION 

LAST TEN YEARS 

Tax Real All 
Year Estate Other Total 

2011 $ 15,125,408,200 755,852,220 15,881,260,420 

2010 14,984,937,627 761,515,955 15,746,453,582 

2009 15,222,189,222 713,383,515 15,935,572,737 
2008 14,969,536,405 684,390,085 15,653,926,490 

2007 14,638,856,501 703 ,307 ,287 15,342,163,788 

2006 12,897,825,080 685,425,215 13,583,250,295 

2005 12,421,799,720 716,716,506 13,138,516,226 

2004 12,001,190,379 742,915,013 12,744,105,392 

2003 10,350,628,778 779,959,389 11,130,588,167 

2002 9,903,888,713 820,797,124 10,724,685,837 

I 
Property is assessed at actual value; therefore. the assessed values are equal to actual value. 

TOTAL PROPERTY TAX LEVIES 
ALL OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS 

LAST TEN YEARS 

Tax Year 
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

City of Lincoln 0.2879 0.2879 0.2879 0.2879 0.2833 0.3009 0.2950 0.2903 0.3145 0.3145 
School District No. I 1.2462 1.2537 1.2668 1.2719 1.2764 1.3142 1.3141 1.3011 1.2830 1.2732 
Lancaster County 0.2683 0.2683 0.2683 0.2755 0.2655 0.2841 0.2797 0.2683 0.2683 0.2583 
Educational Service Unit # 18 0.0145 0.0150 0.0150 0.0141 0.0141 0.0150 0.0150 0.0150 0.0150 0.0150 
Community Technical College 0.0600 0.0676 0.0722 0.0689 0.0689 0.0696 0.0655 0.0655 0.0655 0.0636 
Lower Platte South Natural Res. Dist. 0.0406 0.0410 0.0410 0.0418 0.0416 0.0422 0.0323 0.0323 0.0359 0.0365 
Railroad Tmnsportation Safety Dist. 0.0260 0.0260 0.0260 0.0260 0.0246 0.0260 0.0260 0.0248 0.0220 0.0221 
Lancaster County Correctional JPA City 0.0189 0.0194 0.0195 
Lancaster County Correctional JPA County 0.0106 0.0107 0.0106 
Agricultural Society of Lancaster County 0.0017 0.0016 0.0015 0.0016 0.0016 0.0018 0.0020 0.0030 0.0012 0.0024 
Lancaster County Fairgrounds 0.0038 0.0038 0.0038 0.0043 0.0037 0.0042 0.0042 0.0043 0.0050 0.0052 
Public Building Commission 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 0.0170 

1.9955 2.0120 2.0296 2.0090 1.9967 2.0750 2.0508 2.0216 2.0274 2.0078 

I 
The assessment rate is J 00% of market and the levy is expressed as the tax per $ J 00 of estimated market value. 
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DEBT MANAGEMENT 
OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS AS OF AUGUST 31, 2011 

Long-tenn debt is comprised of the following individual issues (in thousands of dollars); 

Origmal 
~ _-"",ss,",",,,,d ______ -"b~'"", ____ _ 
General Obligation Bonds: 

General Bunds 

R.220 
15~'595 

3.710 
9,950 

8.295 
8.2(Xl 

19290 

03/01/99 VurioUl. Purpose Scncs B 

07108103 Variou!> Purpo~e 

07108/03 Variou.~ Purpol-oc 

06/15/05 Stoml Sewer ComaructlOll 
06/27/07 Slonnwatcr Drainage and flood Mgml 

02J!OIl! 

06/21111 
Stormwater Bonds 
RdunJlOg 

"lbtalGcncral Bonds 

Tax Allocation Bonds' 

1.035 04121/04 Ta)( Allocation Bonds 
Tax Allocation Bond~ 5500 04/21/04 

365 

2R8 
2,20S 

60' 
388 

309 

42 
71 

474 

547 

200 
611 

3,375 

263 

08/15105 Tax Allocation Bonds 
J{)IOJlOfi Tax Allocation Bonds 
04105107 Tax Allocation Bomh 
06101107 Tax Allocation Bonds 

061O!l07 Tax AllocatIOn Bonds 

()o/l5107 fax Allocation Bonds 

07!l5IOX Tax AllocatIOn Bomh 

07/J5IOX Tax Allocal!on Bond~ 

071l5!OR Tax AllocatIOn Bond~ 
OR/ollOR Tax Allocation Bonds 

ORlOllOR Tax AllocatIOn Bond~ 

06/30109 Tax Allocation Bond~ 

07128109 Tax Allocation Bond~ 

04/O!1l1 Tax AHocauon Bonds 

TOlal Tax Allocation Bonds 

Tax Supported Bonds' 
35,000 03/17/04 Highway Allocation Fund 
27.000 12/05/06 Highway Allocation Fund 

Tolal Tax Supported Bonds 

Special Al>~S~ffient Bunds: 
R25 08118111 SpeCIal ASJ.esl>fficnt 
375 0811811 I Special Assesl>ment 

lota! Special Assessment Bonds 

We~t Ilaymarket Juint Public Agency 
3]:S 15 09/08/10 Facility Bonds Taxable Build America Bonds 
68,485 09fORIlO Facility Bond~ Taxable Build Affil:rICa Bonds 
IS,785 I2IOlfIO Facility Bonds Taxahle Build America Bonds 
S2,l80 12101/10 Facility Bond~ raxable Build America Bond!> 
32.035 
44290 
55,710 

]2/011!0 Recovery Zone EconomIc Development 
08/2411 I racillty Bond\ 
OR/24f! I Facility Bond!> 

Total West Haymarket jOin! PubliC Agency 

TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

Tax Supported Bonds: 

II,ORO 3fl3102 Antelope Valley Proje'l 

Revenue Bonds. 

39215 
IS,765 

IRJXX) 

10.710 
3,750 

11,R50 

6.660 

32,180 
40!X)() 

JO~'i 15 

4,905 

4,JOO 

1,040 

2.005 

10,775 

4,000 

()7111f0J Wa~lewaler Revenue 

07111/01 Wastewater Revenue 

OR/03/0S Wastewate! Revenue 

04/ I 8107 WaMewater Revenue 

04/18/07 Wastewater Revenue 

Tolal Wastewaler Bond~ 

11/22f02 Water Revenue 

11l22f02 Water Revenue 

05fOj/O] Waler Revenue 

I !I I 6/04 Water Revellue 

08/04109 Water Revenue 

OR/04109 Water Revenue 

Total Water Bond~ 

!2/1RIOI Pal king Revenue 
12/18101 Pal king Revenue 

12/29/10 Parkinf Revenue ... 

01/27111 Parking Revenue and Refundmg 
Tola! Parking Bonds 

08/17100 Solid Wa.\te Management Revenue 

148,190 10101/02 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds 
93,045 10/01/03 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond .. 
33205 ]()1O]f03 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds 
6].290 lOiO 1/05 Electric Revenue Bonds 
S3,71O IOfOliOS Electnc Revenue Bondl> 

) 83,2]0 05/15107 Electric Revenue and Refundmg Bond~ 
g 1,850 05!l5/07 E!ectnc Revenue and Refunding Bonds 

Total Eleclric Bonds 

lDTAL REVENUE BONDS 

3.000 - 4.250 

2.025 - 1750 

4.fXXI/4.125 
3.250 - 4.250 

4.625 - 5.fXX) 

2 (XX) -4.500 

0.2000 - 5.fXX) 

2.000 - ].200 
3000 -4.8{)() 

4.750 

5.100 

5.000 -5 .. 'i50 
5.240 

5.240 

5400 
4.t)()() 

4660 
4.660 
46J{) 

4.6!0 

700 
2.5{X) ·04fX) 

3.990 

2.(X)0 - 5JXlO 
4.000 - 5.000 

0.400 - 3.700 
4.200 

When Due 

Senal)999IO 20)1 

Senal 2(XM 10 20 J 7 

Term 2020 & 2023 
Serial 2fX)6 to 2025 

Serial 2008 to 2027 
Seflal 2013 10 2030 

Senal 20 II to 2022 

Serial 2fX)4 10 20! I 
Senal2004 to 2015 
Senal l006 to 20 I R 
SenaI2{)()8 to 2010 
ScnaI2(X1910 20lR 
SeriaI2(X)R 10 mix 
Serial 2007 to 2020 
SenaI2{X)7 tu 2014 

SermI2()09to l021 

SeIIU120()l)!0 20!7 

Sellal2(11J9lu 2022 

Serial2009!u 2022 
Serial 2009 10 2022 

Sena!20Jll020n 

Serial2011102023 

Serial 2011 102022 

Serial 2007 10 2023 
Serial 2008 10 2027 

Serial 2012102026 
Term 2031 

].500 - 4.45 Serial 202U Lo 2030 
4.7S0 15.000 Tem 2o:l5 & 2045 
4.fXX) . 5.000 SerIal 2020 - 2025 

5.4m IS.800 16.!Xln lerm 2(110 2035 2019 
6.7S0 

3.500 - SJXXI 
42501.'5000 

! .'leX) 5.wn 

2.000 5.(XX) 

4.025 1 S.!XXI 

4.000 - 5.1XX) 

4.000 - 4.500 

4,375 

2.750 - 5iX)O 

5.fX)() 

5.WO 

Term 2045 
SelJa] 202110 2(132 
Term 2lno & 2042 

Serial 2002 10 2016 

Serial 2004 10 2023 

Term 202.'5 & 2028 

Senal 2006 to 2030 
Serial 200~ 10 2029 

Term 2032 

Serial 2fX)SIo 2017 

Term 2022 
Serial 2004 to 2012 

1.fX10 - 5'{XX) Serial2{X)5 10 2025 

2.000·4.125 Serial 2nn 10 2029 

4.5!XXI l'crm2034 

:I.7S()· s.mo SClial 2{X)2 10 20J7 

512S 'lbm202J 

1.2.'50 2.RSO Scna! 20] 110 2014 

S{X)0/5.12.'5f'i.SOO Term 202tl &203! 

4.COO 4.250 

4.(XXI 5.fXlO 
3.000 5JXXl 

4.750 
5.fXX) 

4.7S0 
4.000 - 5.fXX) 
4.500 14.750 

Serial 2(X17 10 2021 

St'!riaJ 2004 10 2()25 
Serial 2004 to 2020 
Term 2028 
Serial 2029 to 20]2 
Term 2035 
Serial 2009 10 2035 
Tenn 2034 & 2037 
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Dale 
Callahle 

2007 
2013 

20!3 

20J5 

2017 

2020 
2019 

2llO' 
2010 

AnYlime 

Anytime 

2012 

Anytime 

Any!!me 

Allyllme 

AnytIme 

Anytime 

Anytllne 

Anytime 
Anyllme 

Anyhme 

Allyltme 

Anytime 

2UI4 
2016 

AnytIme 
AnYllme 
Anytime 
Anytime 
Anytime 

2021 

2021 

2012 

2013 

20n 

2015 

2017 
20]7 

2012 

2012 

2014 

2019 
2019 

20)1 

2011 

N/A 

202) 

20]3 

2012 
2014 
2014 
2015 
2015 
2010 
2010 

10Iele.\1 
Dale 

Semiannually 

Semiannually 

Semiannually 

Semiannually 

Semiannually 

ScmwnnuaJly 

Semiannually 

Semwnl1ually 

Semiannually 

200 
.').215 

3.710 
7.600 
7.265 
R,200 

19,290 

51.6()() 

160 
2.RRO 

210 

'XX 
1$4S 

SO] 

I{iO 

190 

17 

n\ 
~12 

4," 

,70 

609 

3.375 
263 

I] ,05~ 

3\,965 
23,240 

55,205 

825 
375 

1,200 

11S15 
0~.4XS 

IS,7RS 
52.IXO 
12.03S 
442YO 
5S}!{1 

100.000 

4!9,n6~ 

5,920 

2n~150 

15.765 
15,(Xl{) 

14,700 
3,750 

7.'5,025 

6.JRO 

n.600 

2.630 
11,030 

!O.5I.'5 

4.905 
n"l.920 

1.91:0 
1.040 
1.700 

lO.77.'5 
23,X.'5.'i 

3,020 

R1,ooO 
7R200 
33205 
61290 
S3,710 

176255 
81,8S0 

566,230 

712,650 



The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on all outstanding debt are as follows (in thousands of dollars); 

Fiscal Governmental Activities 
Year Ended General Obligation Bonds Tax SUE~rted Bonds CaEitai Leases 
Au~ust 31 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal ~ 

2012 $ 6,636 19,029 710 271 3,688 959 
2013 8,563 19,575 740 238 3,284 889 
2014 8,816 19,283 780 200 3,421 817 
2015 9,061 18,971 815 162 3,511 738 
2016 9,455 18,603 855 122 3,586 643 

2017 - 2021 47,260 87,656 2,020 51 9,322 2,051 
2022 - 2026 72,657 74,055 5,458 830 
2027 - 2031 55,835 59,699 1,255 68 
2032 - 2036 60,645 46,279 
2037 - 2041 73,345 29,401 
2042 - 2046 67,390 8,882 

$ 419,663 401,433 5,920 1,044 33,525 6,995 

Fiscal Business-T~~ Activities 
Year Ended Revenue Bonds Loans Pa~able CaEital Leases 
Ausust 31 Principal ~ Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2012 $ 28,020 34,879 195 116 258 24 
2013 27,010 33,539 307 112 198 18 
2014 28,255 32,258 312 107 205 13 
2015 29,500 30,887 318 101 152 
2016 30,845 29,481 323 96 98 

2017 - 2021 178,095 123,373 1,694 399 98 
2022 - 2026 117,595 86,452 1,839 254 
2027 - 2031 119,815 59,989 1.896 97 
2032 - 2036 119,470 29,412 107 1 
2037 - 2041 54,045 3,676 

$ 732,650 463,946 6,991 1,283 1,009 69 

Fiscal Major Ente!:Erise Funds 
Year Ended Wastewater S~stem Water Sl:stem Electric S~stem 
Ausust 31 Principal ~ Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2012 $ 3,075 3,620 5,380 2,905 18,680 27,267 
2013 3,287 3,500 3,310 2,647 19,610 26,333 
2014 3,397 3,370 3,425 2,506 20,595 25,353 
2015 3,522 3,217 3,555 2,354 21,620 24,323 
2016 3,648 3,057 3,690 2,191 22,675 23,271 

2017 - 2021 20,475 12,768 20,915 8,199 131,510 98,220 
2022 -2026 25,189 7,816 16,315 3,406 71,630 72,415 
2027 - 2031 18,611 2,161 4,240 1,266 90,790 55.355 
2032 - 2036 1,412 58 3.090 283 115,075 29,072 
2037 - 2041 54,045 3,676 

$ 82,616 39,567 63,920 25,757 566,230 385,285 

The City issues general obligation, special assessment, and revenue bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of major 
capital assets. Bonded indebtedness has also been entered into to advance refund several general obligation and revenue 
bonds. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government. Special 
assessment bonds are repaid from amounts levied against affected property owners, but in the unlikely event collections are 
not sufficient to make debt payments, the responsibility rests with the City to meet that obligation. For revenue bonds the 
government pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed assets to pay the debt service. 

Net assets of $2,666,408, $3,016,975, $10,291,693, and $85,335 are currently available in the debt service funds to service 
the General Obligation Bonds, Tax Supported Bonds, Tax Allocation Bonds, and Special Assessment Bonds, respectively. 
Revenue Bonds are funded partially from reserve accounts set up for debt repayment and partially from proceeds of daily 
operations. 

The City has entered into lease agreements for financing the acquisition of land, buildings, street lights, emergency 
ambulances and defibrillators, fire engines, golf equipment and computer equipment and software. These lease agreements 
qualify as capital leases for accounting purposes and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of their future 
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minimum lease payments as of the inception date. Assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 

Land 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Infrastructure 
Machinery and Equipment 
Construction In Progress 
Less Accumulated Depreciation, 

(where applicable) 

Total 

$ 

Governmental 
Activities 

1,774,450 
18,171,399 

219,925 
13,7 I 9,213 
2,946,000 

388,181 

(5,566,307) 

$ __ .-;3,-"1.:..::,6..:.;52",,,8.::..;6,-,,1_ 

$ 

Business-Type 
Activities 

210,000 

3,492,756 

(2,256,254) 

$ __ ----'-1..:.;.44...;.6"",5.::..;0c;:2_ 

Under the City'S Home Rule Charter, there is no legal debt limit. The various bond indentures contain significant limitations 
and restrictions on annual debt service requirements, minimum amounts to be maintained in various bond reserve funds, and 
minimum revenue bond coverage. 

The general obligation debt of all local governmental units which provide services within the City's boundaries and which 
debt must be borne by properties in the City (commonly called overlapping debt) as of August 31,20 II, is summarized below 
(unaudited): 

Estimated Direct And 
Debt Percentage Overlapping Debt 

Governmental Units Outstandin~ AEElicable I To The Cit~ 
Direct: 

City $ 419,663,000 100.0 % $ 419,663,000 

Overlapping: 
School District # I 362,755,000 99.5 360,941 ,000 

Lower Platte South N.R.D. 75.4 
Lancaster County 1,400,000 85.4 1,196,000 

Public Building Commission 41,660,000 85.4 35,578,000 

Lancaster County Correctional Facility 59,570,000 85.4 50,873,000 

Lancaster County Fairgrounds 8,480,000 85.4 7,242,000 

473,865,000 455,830,000 
Total $ 893,528,000 875,493,000 

The City has no direct liability for the School District, Lower Platte South N .RD., Lancaster County, Public Building 
Commission, Lancaster County Fairgrounds or Lancaster County Correctional Facility debt summarized above. This results 
in a per capita direct City debt of $1 ,624.21; a per capita direct and overlapping debt of $3,388.41; a ratio of direct City debt 
to 2011 actual valuation of 2.64 percent; and a ratio of direct and overlapping debt to 2011 actual valuation of 5.51 percent. 

In addition to the governmental units listed above, the Airport Authority of the City of Lincoln, Nebraska (the "Airport 
Authority"), a body politic and corporate separate and distinct from the City of Lincoln, provides services within the City'S 
boundaries and has overlapping general obligation indebtedness. As of June 30,2011, the Airport Authority had outstanding 
$9,080,000 in aggregate principal amount of its general obligation airport bonds. The Airport Authority anticipates that such 
bonds will be paid from revenues derived from its operations of the Lincoln Municipal Airport, but the Airport Authority is 
authorized to levy a property tax, at a rate not to exceed three and five-tenths cents ($.035) on each $100 of taxable valuation, 
on all the taxable property in the City. The Airport Authority has not levied a property tax since 1985 for any purpose, 
including airport operating expenses or debt service on its bonds. 

Debt Payment Record 

The City of Lincoln has never defaulted on its obligation to pay principal or interest on its indebtedness. 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2011 
2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 
2002 

Contingencies 

The City is a defendant in a number of lawsuits in its nonna! course of operations and management is of the opinion that 
ultimate settlement of such lawsuits will not have a materially adverse effect on the financial statements. 

RATIO OF ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE EXPENDITURES 
FOR GENERAL BONDED DEBT TO TOTAL GENERAL EXPENDITURES 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Total 
Total General 

Ratio Of 
Debt Service 

To Total 
Fiscal Debt Governmental General 

$ 

Year Princieal Interest 2 Service Exeenditures Exeenditures 

2011 $ 6,857,978 $ 5,147,840 $ 12,005,818 $ 225,622,756 
2010 7,457,532 5,676,933 13,134,465 207,939,796 
2009 8,036,544 5,814,071 13,850,615 195,544,608 
2008 6,824,828 5,979,172 12,804,000 195,469,478 
2007 5,617,536 4,986,687 10,604,223 192,566,160 
2006 5,770,794 4,670,734 10,441,528 190,705,202 
2005 5,421,699 4,860,926 10,282,625 182,804,746 
2004 4,934,224 2,893,437 7,827,661 173,813,094 
2003 5,435,370 2,986,634 8,422,004 162,713,261 
2002 4,921,172 2,421,303 7,342,475 157,069,075 

Includes: General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service Funds. 

Does not include fiscal and miscellaneous charges. 

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT IN RELATION TO POPULATION, ASSESSED 
VALUATION, AND REAL PROPERTY VALUATION 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Net Ratio of 
General General Net G.o. Assessed Net Debt Assessed 

Oblligation Oblligation Bonded Valuation To Assessed Valuation 

Bonded Sinking Bonded Debt Per Real And Valuation Of Taxable 
Debt Funds Debt POEulation I CaEita Personal Real & Personal 2 Real Pr0Eert~ 2 

119,663,000 $ 13,305,000 $ 106,358,000 258,379 $ 411.64 $ 15,881,260,420 0.67% $ 15. I 25 ,408 ,200 
118,383,000 13,480,000 104,903,000 254,001 413.00 15,746,453,582 0.67% 14,984,937,627 
125,181,000 13,604,000 1 I 1 ,577,000 251,624 443.43 15,935,572,737 0.70% 15,222,189,222 
128,581 ,000 12,962,000 115,619,000 248,744 464.81 15,653,926,490 0.74% 14,969.'536,405 
133,413,000 11,574,000 121,839,000 241,167 505.21 15,342,163,788 0.79% 14,638,856,501 
99,347,000 9,733,000 89,614,000 239,213 374.62 13,583,250,295 0.66% 12,897,825,080 

104,538,000 13,364,000 91,174,000 238,625 382.08 13,138,516,226 0.69% 12,421,799,720 

98,915,000 20,509,000 78,406,000 236,146 332.G2 12,744,105,392 0.62% 12,001,190,379 
61,759,000 17,083,000 44,676,000 235,565 189.65 11,130,588,167 0.40% 10,350,628,778 
56,997,000 15,847,000 41,150,000 231,800 177.52 10,724,685,837 0.38% 9,903,888,713 

Source: Lincoln/Lancaster Planning Department. Assessed valuation is 100% of actual 
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5.32 % 

6.32 
7.08 
6.55 
5.5 1 
5.48 
5.62 
4.50 
5.18 
4.67 

Ratio of 
Net Debt 

To Estimated 
Valuariun 

Of Taxable 
Real Property 

0.70% 
0.70% 
0.73% 
0.77% 
0.83% 
0.69% 
0.73% 
0.65% 
0.43% 
0.42% 



REVENUE BOND COVERAGE 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEAR 

Direct Net 

Gross Operating Available Debt Service Reguirements 

Revenue Exeenses Revenue Princieal Interest Total Covera~e 

Wastewater S~stem 
2011 $ 23,546,370 12,543,964 11,002,406 2,865,000 3,647,609 6,512,609 1.69 
2010 22,472,095 11,664,593 10,807,502 2,695,000 3,731,444 6,426,444 1.68 
2009 22,643,270 11,771,291 10,871,979 2,620,000 3,820,044 6,440,044 1.69 
2008 22,347,867 11,393,624 10,954,243 2,415,000 4,030,454 6,445,454 1.70 
2007 21,158,743 11,462,964 9,695,779 2,005,000 3,081,481 5,086,481 1.91 

2006 19,827,194 11,125,819 8,701,375 2,065,000 3,043,500 5,108,500 1.70 

2005 18,248,683 10,482,955 7,765,728 1,500,000 2,403,519 3,903,519 1.99 

2004 18,092,619 10,042,919 8,049,700 1,750,000 2,133,704 3,883,704 2.07 
2003 15,607,743 9,086,469 6,521,274 1,032,500 266,722 1,299,222 5.02 
2002 15,731,749 8,632,287 7,099,462 992,500 316,847 1,309,347 5A2 

Water S~stem 
2011 $ 30,629,506 15,455,027 15,174,479 6,310,000 3,191,857 9,501,857 1.60 
2010 26,515,467 14,091,292 12,424,175 6,050,000 3,458,097 9,508,097 1.31 
2009 27,838,187 14,995,077 12,843,110 5,795,000 3,128,414 8,923,414 1.44 

2008 27,257,184 14,425,521 12,831,663 5,555,000 3,376,201 8,931,201 1.44 

2007 29,386,495 14,351,136 15,035,359 5,340,000 3,612,001 8,952,00 I 1.68 

2006 29,014,999 13,808,214 15,206,785 5,130,000 3,834,30 I 8.964,301 1.70 

2005 27,153,937 13,145,665 14,008,272 4,895,000 3,517,932 8,412.932 1.67 

2004 24,557,918 12,477 ,486 12,080,432 3,115,000 2,411.632 5,526.632 2.19 

2003 22,094,721 11,631,496 10,463,225 3,010,000 2,898.489 5.908,489 1.77 

2002 22,894,652 11,474.433 11,420,219 2,880,000 2,110,590 4.990.590 2.29 

Golf 
2011 $ 2,766,603 2,683,690 82,913 365,000 14,783 379,783 0.22 
2010 2,779,424 2,562,064 217,360 350,000 28,783 378,783 0,57 
2009 3,133,238 2,516,538 616,700 335,000 41,848 376,848 1.64 
2008 2,933,843 2,402,983 530,860 325,000 54,035 379,035 lAO 
2007 2,926,985 2,463,827 463,158 315,000 65,060 380,060 1.22 
2006 2,993,961 2,467,141 526,820 305,000 74,973 379,973 1.39 
2005 3,135,875 2,568,462 567,413 295,000 83,823 378,823 1.50 
2004 2,899,670 2,467,141 432,529 290,000 91,653 381,653 1.13 
2003 2,648,552 2,408,947 239,605 280,000 98,513 378,513 0.63 
2002 2,673,078 2,141,707 531,371 305,000 75,628 380,628 lAO 

Parking Facilities l.2 

201 I $ 7,698,018 3,606,008 4,092,010 580,000 689,717 1,269,717 3.22 
2010 6,869,392 3,340,601 3,528,791 1,435,000 558,519 1,993,519 1.77 
2009 7,014,250 2,874,768 4,139,482 1,360,000 624,394 1,984,394 2.09 

2008 7,134,709 2,912,511 4,222,198 1,305,000 687,194 1,992,194 2.12 

2007 6,645,013 2,781,952 3,863,061 1,240,000 746,374 1,986,374 1.94 

2006 6,785,593 2,775,122 4,010,471 1,185,000 799,931 1,984,931 2.02 
2005 6,219,935 2,972,709 3,247,226 1,140,000 850,501 1,990,501 1.63 

2004 6,299,598 2,733,492 3,566,106 1,145,000 908,456 2,053,456 1.74 

2003 5,988,240 2,304,632 3,683,608 1,085,000 962,829 2,047,829 1.80 

2002 5,483,546 1,964,389 3,519,157 1,115,000 924,470 2,039,470 1.73 

Solid Waste Management 
201 I $ 7,615,130 6,253,133 1,361,997 210,000 132,425 342,425 3.98 

2010 7,377,385 5,768,077 1,609,308 200,000 140,425 340,425 4.73 

2009 7,664,336 5,491,789 2,172,547 195,000 148,225 343,225 6.33 

2008 8,537,520 5,540,292 2,997.228 190,000 155,825 345.825 8.67 

2007 8.020,390 5,290.802 2,729,588 185,000 160.825 345.825 H9 

Includes parking meter revenues that were deposited to the General Fund but are pledged per bond ordinance. 

Information in this table does not agree with information in the transmittal letter of the City'S CAFR because that information is 
calculated in accordance with specific requirements of the bond covenants. 
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CITY Of LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
GENERAL fUND 

SUMMARY CASH FLOW STATEMENT· CASH BASIS 
FOR LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

F.Y.2011 F.Y.2010 F.Y.2009 F.Y.2008 F.Y.2007 F.Y.2006 F.Y.2005 F.Y.2004 F.Y.2003 F.Y.2002 

Cash & Investment Balance -
September I of Year Indicated 14.)97,487 16,286,626 15,738,481 14,632,274 13,475,643 18,948,253 23,521,130 26,784,845 26,589,993 24,802,768 

Receipts: 

Property Tax 31,449,267 31,486,553 33,783,984 32,181,660 31,454,763 28,366,526 26,727,618 24,546,532 22,780,085 23,353,414 

City Sales & Use Tax 57,959,545 54,925,013 54,255.376 55,733,297 53,960,485 54.270,346 53,781,209 51,869,477 48,657.268 45,393,492 

Other Income 33,232,580 27,906,103 27,389,492 26,270,119 27 ,663,641 25.390,112 25,620,145 23,615,320 24,933,838 26,342,414 

Total Receipts 122,641,392 114.317,669 115,428,852 114,185,076 113,078,889 108,026,984 106,128,972 100,031,329 96.371,191 95,089,320 

Le~s Disbursements 120,296,470 I 16,(){)6,808 114,880,707 113,078,869 111,922,258 113.499,594 110,701,849 103,295,044 96,176.339 93.302,095 

Cash & Investmenl Balance _ 
August 31 of Year Indicated 16,942,409 14,597,487 16,286,626 15,738,481 14,632,274 13,475,643 18,948,253 23,521,130 26,784,845 26,589,993 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
GENERAL BONDED INDEBTEDNESS AND DEBT SERVICE fUND 

SUMMARY CASH fLOW STATEMENT - CASH BASIS 
FOR LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

f.Y.2011 F.Y.2010 F.Y.2009 f.Y. 2008 F.Y.2007 F.Y.2006 F.Y.2005 F.Y.2004 f.Y.2001 FY. 2002 

Cash Balance - September I 
of Year Indicated 2,94 I ,245 1,5JJ,968 4,201,889 4,057,088 2.761,491 1.164.608 3,570,557 2,915.997 1,440.537 1,099,198 

Receipts: 

Property Tax 5"117,610 5"517,878 5,689,007 5,709,454 5,460,690 2,973,4 10 5,607,615 5387.468 5,881,592 6,140.918 

Interest Income 28,131 60,063 131,475 153,977 84,935 86,812 83,286 48,595 32,298 53,873 

Bond Proceeds 20,236,484 6,597,635 9,436,083 

Other Income 116,758 124,279 173,446 1,003,173 1,927,112 2,935,603 149,038 691,340 240,1 JO 232,009 

Total Receipts 25,719,183 5,702,220 5,993,928 6,866,604 7,472,737 5,995,825 12,437,574 6,127,403 15,592,083 6,626,820 

Disbursements: 

Bonds Paid 2,720,000 4,110,000 4"120,000 4,260,000 3,950,000 4,250,000 3,850,000 3,215,0IX) 4,177.765 4,137,254 

Bonds Defeased 9,609,774 

Interest Paid 1,753,957 2,178,545 2,335,411 2,456.373 2,217,610 2,342,582 2,197,207 2,271,548 2,309,084 2,144,322 

Transfer to Trustee 21,746,822 6,504,876 

Other Disbursements 204,668 6,398 6,438 5,430 9,530 6,360 91,440 6,295 3,905 

Total Disbursements 26,425,447 6,294,943 6,661,849 6,721,803 6,177,140 6,598,942 12,643,523 5,492,843 16,096,623 6,285,481 

Equity Transfer 

Cash Balance - August 31 
of Year Indicated 2,234,981 2,941,245 3,533,968 4,201,889 4,057,088 2,761,491 3,364,608 3,570,557 2,915,997 1,440,517 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVOLVING FUND 

SUMMARY CASH FLOW STATEMENT - CASH BASIS 

FOR LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

EY.2011 EY. 2010 EY.2009 EY. 2(XIH EY 2(X17 FY. 2006 F.Y. 2(X15 EY.2004 FY. 2003 F Y. 2002 

Ca<;h & Investment Balance -
September I of Year Indicated 4,302,257 4,161,711 11,148,146 9,991,053 8,H46,OOO 7,583,251 7,H30,502 6,910,967 6,SH6,633 3,77H,207 

Receipt,,: 

Special Assessment Collections 996,209 984,301 954,672 1,235,621 1,257,112 1,476,284 1,208,686 1,654,695 1,271,575 1,360,347 

Interest on Special Assessments 106,379 148,383 112,749 179,258 188,349 189,927 204,108 267,298 346,725 294,H39 

City's Share of Costs 233,615 292,420 34,802 IH7,957 723,Q38 578,992 116,009 97.107 2,145.574 

Developers' Shure of Costs 4.617 

Bond Proceed, 1,2(Xl,(XXI 

Interest on Investment'i 60,248 135,149 335,273 453.2H2 340,274 254,H09 217,996 140.2Hl) 130555 137,143 

Miscellaneous 38,456 33,964 49,403 74,657 30,687 288,4H2 195,535 474,43H 

Total Receipts 2,634,907 1,560,253 1,437,496 1,902,125 2,023,095 2,718,715 2,240,469 2,466,773 2,041,497 4,416,958 

Disbursement ... : 

Construction Costs 2,081,765 1,113,691 861,203 742,698 766,768 1,066,513 1,796,239 1.399,323 1,560,456 1,090,434 

Bonds Paid 55,000 100,000 105,000 105,(XXI 110,000 

Equity Transfer 7,S54,OO9 

Interest Paid on Bonds & Notes 3,758,342 37.\81 3,425 10,420 17.\34 24,762 

Other Refunds & Expenses 337,877 306,016 8,719 2,334 IH,693 389,453 5H8,056 32,495 34,173 383,336 

Total Disbursement" 6,177,984 1,419,707 H,423,931 745,032 H78,042 1,455,966 2,4H7,720 1,547,238 1,717,163 1,608532 

Cash & Investment Balance-
August 31 of Year Indicated 759,180 4,302,257 4,161,711 11,148,146 9,991,053 H,H46,(XXI 7,5H3,251 7,H30,502 6,910,967 6,586,633 
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Independent Accountants' Report on Financial Statements 

The Honorable Mayor 
and Members of the City Council 

Solid Waste Management Fund 
City of Lincoln, Nebraska 

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the Solid Waste Management Fund of 
the City of Lincoln, Nebraska as of and for the years ended August 3 I, 20 I 2 and 2011, as listed in the 
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the City of 
Lincoln, Nebraska. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

As discussed in Note I, the financial statements present only the Solid Waste Management Fund and do 
not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Lincoln, Nebraska, as of 
August 31, 2012 and 2011, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Solid Waste Management Fund of the City of Lincoln, Nebraska as of August 31, 
2012 and 2011, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

February 8, 20 I 3 

experience BKD 



City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Statements of Net Assets 
August 31, 2012 and 2011 

Assets 

Current Assets 
Equity in pooled cash and investments 
Accounts receivable 
Accrued interest receivable 
Due from other City funds, net 
Due from other governments 

Total current assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Equity in pooled cash and investments 
Restricted assets 

Equity in pooled cash and investments 
Accrued interest receivable 
Due from other City funds 

Total restricted assets 

Capital Assets, Net 

Deferred Bond Issuance Costs 

Total noncurrent assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Accrued compensated absences 
Due to other governments 
Accrued interest payable 
Current portion of long-term debt 

Total current liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Other accrued liabilities 
Accrued closure/post-closure care costs 
Long-term debt 

Net Assets 

Total noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Restricted for capital projects 
Unrestricted 

Total net assets 

See Notes to Financial Statements 

2012 

$ 2,127,985 
1,027,780 

11,263 
78,088 

6,519 

3,251,635 

1,888,578 

406,344 
1,077 
7,811 

415,232 

22,430,829 

52,853 

24,787,492 

28,039,127 

219,058 
80,829 
94,129 
58,449 
9,604 

225,000 

687,069 

88,183 
15,436,000 
2,583,802 

18,107,985 

18,795,054 

19,912,011 
15,233 

(10,683,171 ) 

$ 9,244,073 

2011 

$ 4,914,336 
1,286,960 

22,174 
175,055 

4,305 

6,402,830 

399,245 
1,459 

14,114 

414,818 

22,340,099 

57,005 

22,811,922 

29,214,752 

547,087 
64,156 
99,106 
69,959 
10,338 

220,000 

1,010,646 

74,890 
14,632,000 
2,809,494 

17,516,384 

18,527,030 

19,267,574 
14,817 

(8,594,669) 

$ 10,687,722 
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City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets 
Years Ended August 31,2012 and 2011 

Operating Revenues 

Fees 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating Expenses 
Personal services 
Operation and maintenance 
Depreciation 
Estimated closure and post-closure care costs 

Total operating expenses 

Operating loss 

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense) 
Occupation tax 
Investment income (loss) 
Gain on disposal of capital assets 
Interest expense and fiscal charges 
Other 

Total net nonoperating revenues 

Deficit of Revenues Over Expenses Before Transfers 

Transfers Out to Other City Funds 

Decrease in Net Assets 

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 

$ 

2012 

5,084,270 $ 
609,458 

5,693,728 

2,255,989 
3,006,301 
1,924,210 

804,000 

7,990,500 

(2,296,772) 

2,048,615 
3,222 

36,632 
(127,103) 

5,587 

1,966,953 

(329,819) 

(1,113,830) 

(1,443,649) 

10,687,722 

2011 

5,074,836 
486,422 

5,561,258 

2,186,884 
3,057,166 
1,969,068 
1,142,000 

8,355,118 

(2,793,860) 

2,059,361 
(5,489) 

(J 35,379) 
7,508 

1,926,001 

(867,859) 

(1,009,083) 

(1,876,942) 

12,564,664 

Net Assets, End of Year $ 9,244,073 $ 10,687,722 

See Notes to Financial Statements 3 



City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended August 31,2012 and 2011 

2012 
Operating Activities 

Receipts from customers and users 
Payments to suppliers for goods and services 
Payments to employees 

$ 5,265,716 

Other receipts 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Noncapital Financing Activities 
Occupation tax receipts 
Transfers to other funds 
Payments from other funds 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 

Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Purchase of capital assets 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 
Principal payments of long-term debt 
Interest paid on long-term debt 
Other 

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities 

Investing Activities 
Purchases of investments 
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments 
Interest and other receipts 

Net cash provided by investing activities 

Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 

(3,011,299) 
(2,231,000) 

609,458 

632,875 

2,124,861 
(1,113,830) 

101,017 

1,112,048 

(2,347,956) 
36,632 

(220,000) 
( 124,375) 

5,587 

(2,650,112) 

(6,927,311) 
7,196,661 

34,453 

303,803 

(601,386) 

907,088 

305,702 

2011 

$ 4,885,292 
(3,135,883) 
(2,144,255) 

486,422 

91,576 

1,987,948 
(1,009,083) 

249,726 

1,228,591 

(4,207,912) 

(210,000) 
(132,775) 

7,508 

( 4,543,179) 

(3,297,734) 
4,985,286 

102,186 

1,789,738 

(1,433,274 ) 

2,340,362 

$ 907,088 

The table below summarizes the amount of cash and cash equivalents included within each financial statement line 
item caption on the Statements of Net Assets: 

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 
to the Statements of Net Assets 

Equity in pooled cash and investments - current 

Equity in pooled cash and investments - restricted 

See Notes to Financial Statements 

$ 281,003 

24,699 

$ 305,702 

$ 843,055 

64,033 

$ 907,088 
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City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Statements of Cash Flows - Continued 
Years Ended August 31,2012 and 2011 

2012 
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash 

Provided by Operating Activities 
Operating loss 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 

provided by operating activities 
Depreciation 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Accounts receivable 
Due from other City funds, net 
Due to/from other governments, net 
Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Accrued compensated absences 
Closure/post-closure care costs 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 

Supplemental Cash Flows Information 
Payables incurred for acquisition of capital assets 

Change in fair value of investments 

See Notes to Financial Statements 

$ (2,296,772) 

1,924,210 

182,933 
2,252 

(13,724) 
4,987 

30,242 
(5,253) 

804,000 

$ 632,875 

$ 110,015 

$ ( 19,938) 

2011 

$ (2,793,860) 

1,969,068 

( 192,069) 
2,769 

(6,859) 
(72,102) 
30,959 
11,670 

1,142,000 

$ 91,576 

$ 443,031 

$ (85,888) 
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Note 1: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2012 and 2011 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and Nature of Operations 

The Solid Waste Management Fund (the "Fund") is an enterprise fund of the City of Lincoln, 
Nebraska (the "City") that is used to account for operations related to the management of solid 
wastes generated within the City of Lincoln and Lancaster County. 

The solid waste operation facilities are owned by the City, and operated under the direction of the 
Mayor and the City Council. The authority to adopt the annual budget, to incur debt and to 
establish fees, rates and charges is vested in the City Council by the City charter. 

The financial statements present only the Fund and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the 
financial position of the City as of August 31, 2012 and 20 II, and the changes in its financial 
position and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Measurement Focus and Basis Of Accou nting 

The financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses 
are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. The Fund applies all applicable Financial 
Accounting Standards Board pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989 that do not 
conflict with or contradict pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 

The Fund first applies restricted net assets when an expense or outlay is incurred for purposes for 
which both restricted and unrestricted net assets are available. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses 
and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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Note 1: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Deposits and Investments 

The City Treasurer is responsible for the safekeeping of cash and invested funds of the Fund. The 
City is authorized to invest in "certificates of deposit, time deposits, and any securities in which the 
State investment officer is authorized to invest pursuant to the Nebraska Capital Expansion Act and 
the Nebraska State Funds Investment Act and as provided in the authorized investment guidelines 
of the Nebraska Investment Council in effect on the date the investment is made." Cash balances 
in excess of current requirements are invested along with cash from other City funds and the 
interest earned on these investments is allocated monthly to the various funds by the City Treasurer 
on a pro rata basis of using aggregate quarterly balances. 

For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, the Fund considers cash on hand and in the bank, as 
well as cash and equity in pooled cash and investments held by the City Treasurer, which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less, 
to be cash and cash equivalents. 

The Fund participates in a cash management pool managed by the City. The pool consists of bank 
deposits and investments. The Fund's interest in this pool is shown as equity in pooled cash and 
investments in the statements of net assets. Fair value of the equity in the pool is the same as the 
value of the pool shares determined using the fair value of the pool's underlying investment 
portfolio. 

Investments are carried at fair value. Investment income includes interest income and the net 
change for the year in the fair value of investments. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are stated at amounts billed to customers and include both fees and occupation 
taxes. Accounts receivable are issued monthly statements which are due on the last day of the 
month. Accounts unpaid by the due date are assessed a late fee of I % monthly. Management does 
not believe an allowance for doubtful accounts is necessary at August 31, 2012 and 20 II. At 
August 31, 2012 and 20 II, approximately 39% and 23% of accounts receivable were owed from 
two and one customers, respectively. 
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City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Capital Assets 

The cost of additions and replacements to land, buildings, improvements other than buildings and 
equipment in service is capitalized. Cost includes acquisition price, negotiation and appraisal 
services and payments to contractors. The cost of land, buildings, improvements and equipment 
along with the related accumulated depreciation is removed from the books at time of disposal and 
a gain or loss is recognized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to current 
expenses. Depreciation expense is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. Depreciation expense recognized on contributed assets is charged to operations 
in accordance with similar capital assets. 

Estimated Useful Lives 

Buildings 
Improvements other than buildings 
Machinery and equipment 

Deferred Bond Issuance Costs 

10 - 25 years 
10- 25 years 
5 - 10 years 

Costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the 
related debt using the bonds-outstanding method. 

Compensated Absences 

Employees earn vacation days at a variable rate based on years of service. In the event of 
termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation time up to a maximum allowed 
accumulation. Employees earn sick leave at the rate of approximately one day per month. Upon 
retirement, an employee is reimbursed for one-half or up to 65% of accumulated sick leave. In 
some cases payment may be placed in a medical spending account rather than reimbursing the 
employee directly. 

Vacation leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics are accrued as the 
benefits are earned if the leave is attributable to past service and it is probable that the Fund will 
compensate the employees for such benefits. Sick leave and other compensated absences with 
similar characteristics are accrued as the benefits are earned only to the extent it is probable that the 
Fund will compensate the employees for such benefits through cash payments conditioned on the 
employee's termination or retirement. Such accruals are based on current salary rates and include 
salary-related payments directly and incrementally associated with payments made for 
compensated absences on termination. 
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Note 1: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Other Post-Employment Benefits 

The Fund recorded a liability for the annual required contribution (ARC) of approximately $64,000 
and $51,000 as of August 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, in connection with GASB Statement 
No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. 
The complete disclosures required by GASB 45 are included in the City of Lincoln Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR). 

Net Assets 

Net assets are required to be classified into three components - invested in capital assets, net of 
related debt, restricted and unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - This component of net assets consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 
mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
improvements of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the 
portion of debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included in the calculation of invested 
capital assets, net of related debt. 

Restricted - This component of net assets consists of restrictions placed on net assets use through 
external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), contributors or law or 
regulations of other governments or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions 
or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted - This component of net assets consists of net assets that do not meet the definition of 
"restricted" or "invested in capital assets, net of related debt." 

Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 

As an enterprise fund, the Fund distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection 
with the Fund's principal ongoing operations. Operating revenues include all fees charged for the 
disposal of solid waste less occupation tax, and other revenues including those from the sale of 
recyclable materials and rental of property. Operating expenses include personnel costs, the cost of 
materials and services for operation and maintenance, depreciation on capital assets and closure 
and post-closure care costs. 

All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. Occupation tax, investment income, interest expense and gain/loss on disposal of assets 
are classified as nonoperating revenues or expenses. 
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Note 1: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2012 and 2011 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses - Continued 

Fund revenue is generated by a fee based on $14.00 per ton for refuse disposed of in the City's 
municipal solid waste landfill; an occupation tax of $7.00 for each ton of refuse collected within 
the corporate limits of the City of Lincoln by a refuse hauler, and on refuse collected outside the 
corporate limits of the City of Lincoln by a refuse hauler and disposed of in the City'S municipal 
solid waste landfill; other fees authorized by the City Council; and nonoperating revenues. 

Note 2: Deposits, Investments and Investment Return 

State statutes require banks either to provide a bond or to pledge government securities to the City 
Treasurer in the amount of the City's deposits. The Fund has been allocated a portion of the City's 
pooled cash and investments. Pursuant to legislation enacted in 20 I 0, the FDIC fully insured all 
noninterest-bearing transaction accounts beginning December 31, 20 I 0 through December 31, 
2012, at all FDIC-insured institutions. This legislation expired on December 31, 2012. Beginning 
January I, 2013, noninterest-bearing transaction accounts are subject to the $250,000 limit on 
FDIC insurance per covered institution. 

For interest-bearing cash accounts, the City'S cash deposits, including certificates of deposit, are 
insured up to $250,000 by the FDIC. Any cash deposits or certificates of deposit in excess of the 
$250,000 FDIC limits are covered by collateral held in a Federal Reserve pledge account or by an 
agent for the City and thus no custodial risk exists. No legal opinion has been obtained regarding 
the enforceability of any of the collateral arrangements. 

All of the Fund's cash and investments at August 31, 2012 and 2011, totaling $4,422,907 and 
$5,313,581, respectively, were comprised of an allocation of the City's pooled cash and 
investments. 
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City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2012 and 2011 

Note 3: Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended August 31, 2012 was as follows: 

Beginning 

Balance Increases Decreases 

Capital assets, not being depreciated: 

Land $ 1,540,452 $ $ 
Construction in progress 4,873,717 669,922 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 6,414,169 669,922 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 

Buildings 2,076,504 

Improvements other than buildings 28,149,23 I 90,990 

Machinery and equipment 6,215,385 1,254,028 1,188,774 

Total capital assets, being depreciated 36,441,120 1,345,0 18 1,188,774 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 

Buildings 1,173,374 89,853 

Improvements other than buildings 14,906,901 1,464,472 
Machinery and equipment 4,434,915 369,885 1,188,774 

Total accumulated depreciation 20,515,190 1,924,210 1,188,774 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 15,925,930 (579,192) 

Capital assets, net $ 22,340,099 $ 90,730 $ 

Ending 

Transfers Balance 

$ $ 1,540,452 

(5,104,060) 439,579 

(5,104,060) 1,980,03 I 

2,076,504 

5,104,060 33,344,281 

6,280,639 

5,104,060 41,701,424 

1,263,227 

16,371,373 

3,616,026 

21,250,626 

5,104,060 20,450,798 

$ $ 22,430,829 
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City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2012 and 2011 

Note 3: Capital Assets - Continued 

Capital asset activity for the year ended August 31,20 II was as follows: 

Beginning 

Balance Increases Decreases 

Capital assets, not being depreciated: 

Land $ 1,540,452 $ $ 
Construction in progress 246,046 4,627,671 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,786,498 4,627,671 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 
Buildings 2,069,721 6,783 
Improvements other than buildings 28,141,665 7,566 
Machinery and equipment 6,209,457 5,928 

Total capital assets, being depreciated 36,420,843 20,277 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 

Buildings 1,083,521 89,853 
Improvements other than buildings 13,403,586 1,503,315 
Machinery and equipment 4,059,015 375,900 

Total accumulated depreciation 18,546,122 1,969,068 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 17,874,721 (1,948,791) 

Capital assets, net $ 19,661,219 $ 2,678,880 $ 

Ending 

Transfers Balance 

$ $ 1,540,452 

4,873,717 

6,414,169 

2,076,504 
28,149,231 

6,215,385 

36,441,120 

1,173,374 

14,906,901 

4,434,915 

20,515,190 

15,925,930 

$ $ 22,340,099 

The fund has commitments under major construction contracts in progress of approximately 
$786,000 at August 31,2012. 
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Note 4: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Long-term Obligations 

Long-term liability activity for the years ended August 31, 2012 and 2011 was as follows: 

2012 
Beginning Ending 
Balance Additions Reductions Balance 

Bonds payable 

Revenue bonds, Series 2006 $ 3,020,000 $ $ 220,000 $ 2,800,000 

Deferred for issuance premium 9,494 692 8,802 

Net bonds payable 3,029,494 220,692 2,808,802 

Other liabilities 

Other accrued liabilities 173,996 107,422 99,106 182,312 

Closure/post-closure care costs 14,632,000 804,000 15,436,000 

Total long-term liabilities $ 17,835,490 $ 911,422 $ 319,798 $ 18,427,114 

2011 
Beginning Ending 
Balance Additions Reductions Balance 

Bonds payable 

Revenue bonds, Series 2006 $ 3,230,000 $ $ 210,000 $ 3,020,000 

Deferred for issuance premium 10,154 660 9,494 

Net bonds payable 3,240,154 210,660 3,029,494 

Other liabilities 

Other accrued liabilities 142,378 119,922 88,304 173,996 

Closure/post-closure care costs 13,490,000 1,142,000 14,632,000 

Total long-term liabilities $ 16,872,532 $ 1,261,922 $ 298,964 $ 17,835,490 

Due Within 
One Year 

$ 225,000 

225,000 

94,129 

$ 319,129 

Due Within 
One Year 

$ 220,000 

220,000 

99,106 

$ 319,106 

Other accrued liabilities include compensated absences and other post-employment benefits, 

During fiscal year 2006, $4,000,000 of revenue bonds were issued to finance improvements to the 
City's solid waste management facilities, Interest rates on the bonds range from 4,00% to 425% 
and interest is payable semi-annually. Annual principal installments are due August 1, increasing 
from $ 185,000 in 2007 to the final payment of $7 10,000 in 202 L The net revenues derived from 
the operations of the Fund are pledged as security for the revenue bonds. 
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Note 4: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Long-term Obligations - Continued 

The debt service requirements as of August 3 1,20 I 2 are as follows: 

Year Ending August 31 Principal Interest 

2013 $ 225,000 $ 115,225 
2014 235,000 106,225 
2015 245,000 96,825 
2016 255,000 87,025 
2017 270,000 76,825 

2018-2021 1,570,000 193,738 

$2,800,000 $ 675,863 

Note 5: Risk Management 

Total 

$ 340,225 
341,225 
341,825 
342,025 
346,825 

1,763,738 

$ 3,475,863 

The Fund participates in the City's self-insurance program administered by the City's Risk 
Management Division. The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage 
to, or destruction of assets; errors or omissions; injuries to employees and the public; or acts of 
God. The City has a self-insured retention for workers' compensation exposures up to $800,000 
per individual; building and contents exposures up to $50,000 per occurrence; general liability 
exposures up to $250,000 per occurrence; public officials exposures up to $250,000 per 
occurrence; auto liability exposures up to $250,000, and employee long-term disability. 

Workers' compensation, general liability, and public officials liability are covered by excess 
insurance which provides statutory limits above the City's retention. Auto liability is covered by a 
policy which provides a limit of $6 million. The Nebraska Political Tort Claims Act limits the 
City's liability for tort claims to $1 million per individual and $5 million per occurrence. Settled 
claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

Premium amounts are paid to the Insurance Revolving Fund, including an estimate of the liability 
for claims incurred but not yet reported as of August 31, 2012 and 2011. The Fund incurred 
insurance expense of approximately $48,000 in 2012 and $62,000 in 2011. 
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Note 6: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Closure and Post-closure Care Costs 

The City of Lincoln currently owns and operates both a municipal solid waste landfill and a 
construction and demolition debris landfill. State and federal laws require the City to close the 
landfills once capacity is reached and to monitor and maintain the site for thirty subsequent years 
on the municipal solid waste landfill and five subsequent years on the construction and demolition 
debris landfill. Although certain closure and post-closure care costs will be paid only near or after 
the date that the landfills stop accepting waste, the City reports a portion of these closure and post­
closure care costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfill capacity used as of each 
statement of net assets date. 

At August 31, 2012 and 2011, the City had established a closure/post-closure cost liability of 
$10,534,000 and $9,774,000, respectively, for the municipal solid waste landfill which represents 
the amount of estimated costs reported to date based on the approximately 50% and 50% of landfill 
capacity used to date, respectively. The remaining estimated liability for these costs is 
approximately $10.4 million, which will be recognized as the remaining capacity is used (estimated 
to be approximately 25 years). 

At August 31, 2012 and 2011, the City had established a closure/post-closure cost liability of 
$500,000 and $600,000, respectively, for the construction and demolition debris landfill which 
represents the amount of estimated costs reported to date based on the approximately 50% and 55% 
of landfill capacity used to date, respectively. The remaining estimated liability for these costs is 
approximately $494,000, which will be recognized as the remaining capacity is used (estimated to 
be approximately 18 years). 

The estimated costs of closure and post-closure care, as determined by an independent engineering 
consultant, are subject to changes such as the effects of inflation, revision of laws, changes in 
technology, actual sequence oflandfill development and closure and other variables. 

The City of Lincoln also owns a solid waste disposal area which discontinued operations in 1990. 
Although exempt from the u.S. Environmental Protection Agency Solid Waste Disposal Criteria 
issued October 9, 1991, the City still adheres to certain closure and post-closure care requirements 
under prior legislation, including the construction of final cover, monitoring of groundwater 
conditions and landfill gas migration and general site maintenance. At August 31, 2012 and 2011, 
a liability for closure and post-closure care costs is recorded in the amount of $4,402,000 and 
$4,258,000, respectively. If any unanticipated corrective action costs related to landfill gas 
migration or groundwater contamination are identified through current monitoring procedures, an 
additional accrued liability will be recorded once these costs can be reasonably estimated. 
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Note 7: 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31,2012 and 2011 

Pension Plan 

Employees are eligible after six months service and age 19 to be covered under the City's Money 
Purchase Pension Plan, established by City Ordinance, and administered by an insurance company. 
Enrollment in the program is mandatory at age 40 with five years service. Vesting occurs in 
increments between three and seven years of enrollment in the plan. The Plan is defined 
contribution plan requiring employees to contribute at a rate determined by the employees' 
bargaining unit and date of hire. The City contributes between $1.29 and $2.00 for every $1.00 
contributed by employees. Employee forfeitures are used to reduce employer contributions. 
Employees covered by the Plan may also make voluntary contributions. 

2012 2011 

Total payroll $ 1,533,898 $ 1,463,493 
Covered payroll 1,507,651 1,375,912 
Employee contributions 87,017 78,181 

Employee contributions as a percentage 
of covered payroll 5.77% 5.68% 

Employer contributions $ 171,991 $ 156,757 

Employer contributions as a percentage 
of covered payroll 11.41% 11.39% 

Note 8: Related Party Transactions 

The City provides certain administrative services to the Fund for which the Fund pays fees to the 
City. These fees amount to approximately $277,000 and $201,000 for the years ended August 31, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. 

The City of Lincoln General Fund has borrowed monies from the pooled cash and investment 
account. The Fund's allocated share of the borrowing was $84,238 and $185,256 as of August 31, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. Amounts due from other City funds for solid waste fees are $5,154 
and $5,881 as of August 31,2012 and 20 II. 
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MAYOR CHRIS BEUTLER 
lincoln,ne.gov February 1 7, 2012 

Office of the Mayor 
m South 10th Street 

Suite 301 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 Dear Citizens and Public Officials: 

402·441·7511 
fax: .402,441·1120 

fnaybr@liocoln,ne:g;oy ;,' 'l It is my pleasure to submit the City of Lincoln's Comprehensive Annual Financial 

"SJAi4J.; ~.\> 

LINCOLN 

Report for the fiscal year ended August 3 !, 2011, 

Ensuring both fiscal and operational accountability in our use of public resources is a 
priority for my Administration, and this report is essential to that eff()rt, This report 
provides a complete and accurate picture oftlle City'S financial status and fulfills ollr 
continuing disclosure responsibilities in accordance with governmental reporting 
standards, 

Our ability to manage the City's fiscal amlirs and provide a full disclosure of the 
City's fiscal condition is exhibited by the unqualified audit opinion that follows. I 
am proud to report that the 2010 report subm itted to the Government Finance 
Officers Association \vas recognized with the prestigious Certificate of Achievement 
for Excellence in Financial Reporting for the 28th consecutive year. This 
recognition is a credit to the City and a compliment to ollr dedicated Finance 
Department, 

I would like to thank the Finance Department employees for their commitment in 
dealing with these complex accounting issues and to all City departments for their 
cooperation in the preparation of tbis document 

Sincerely, 

Chris Beutler 
Mayor of Lincoln 
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February 17, 2012 

Finance Department 
Steve Hubka, Interim Finance Director 

m South 10th Street 
Suitt 103 

Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

MAYOR CHRIS BEUTlER 

402·441·7411 
fax: 402.441·8325 

lin(Qlll.ne.gov 

To the Honorable Mayor. Members of the City Council, and Citizens of the City of Lincoln: 

LINCOLN 

Both the City Charter and State law require an annual audit of the City's funds and accounts be made by a 
recognized indcperlCiem and qualified accollntam cnn:ring all financial transactlul1s. affairs, and financial 
condition of lhe , with Ihe audit report published within six months after the close uf the fiscal yeaI', 
Pursuant to this requirement, the Comprehensive /\nnua! Financial R('Port (CAFR) of the of Lincoln, 
~ebraska for the fiscaJ year cmh:d Augus! 31,20 II, is hereby submitted. 

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data found in this report. and the completeness and fairness of Ihe 
presentation, including all disclosures, r;:sts with management. In developing and evaluating tlw City's 
accounting s:vstem, consiueration is given to the adequacy of internal accounting controls. lntemal 
an:ouIl!ing controls arc designed tu providt: rt:usonabk, but not absolull.!, asslIrance regarding thl.! 
safeguarding of assl.!ts against loss, theft, or misllse, alld to ensme the reliability of financial records for 
preparing financial s!alCm~~n!s in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
Stales of America (GAAP) and maintaining accountability for assets, The concept uf reasonable a!;~mance 
recognizes that: (I) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to he derived: and (2) the 
vallmlion of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by managclm:'I1L 

In 2011, the City implemented GASH Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Repnrfing and Gmemmellta! Fund 
Type Definitions, as required for GAAP repnfling. As a result, the City'S General Fund, as n.'ported on page 
18, now indudes approximately $8,4 million of additional beginning fund balance frum what the City 
budgt:ting amI accolln!ing slrudme I:ullsiders to be other independent fllnd~, Management believes that this 
<:lidllgC decreases the usefulness of the financial reports, ill particular the Governmenlal Fund" Balance Sheet. 
In meier ro make comparisons to prior year information for our (mernal rcpeming purposes, reviewers will be 
required to reference other lower level statemt~ms and fc)otnotl,;$. 

A.s a recipieut of federal, state ami local fimmda! assistance, the C'ity is also responsible for ensuring that an 
adequate internal control structure is in place to ensure and document compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations related 10 these programs. The federal government, under the revised OM B Cir<:ular A- [33, 
requires local governments that expend '5500,000 or more in federal funds in any fiscal year to have a 
financial and compliance audit performed, As part of the City's Single Audit, tests were made of the Cily's 
imernal control structure over compliance and its cornpliance with applicable !m\$ and regulations, including 
those reiflled to major federal financial assistance prograrns. The Single Audit for the year ended 
August 3 J, 2011, disclosed no material internal control weaknesses. The independent accountants' reports 
arc included ill the Single Audit section found at the end of the CAFR. 

To the best of marmgemellt's knowledge and belief, the endosed data arc accurate in allm31erial respects and 
reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and financial activities of the ('ity. All 
disclosures necessary to enable the reader 10 gaill an understanding of the government's financial {leH\ ilies as 
specified by all currently effective s\otements of the Governmental Accntmting Standards Board have been 
included. 
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A finn of licensed certified public accountants has audited the City's financial statements. The goal of the 
independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City are free of 
material misstatement. The audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management; and evaluating the ovcrall financial statement presentation. The independent 
accountants concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering unqualified 
opinions that the City's financial statements for the fiscal year ended August 31. 2011. are fairly presented in 
confonnity with GAAP. 

Generally accepted accounting principles require that management provide a narrative introduction, 
overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the fonn of management's discussion 
and analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it. The City's MD&A can be found in the Financial Section immediately following the 
report of the independent accountants. 

Profile of the City 

The City of Lincoln, capital city of Nebraska, was originally incorporated on April 7, 1869. Lincoln is 
located in the southeastern comer of the state, is midway between Chicago and Denver, and is currently one 
of the fastest growing metro areas in the Midwest. It occupies a land area of approximately 90 square miles. 
serves a popUlation of over 258,000, and in its growth and development has annexed five other municipalities 
so that the City includes most of the urban area of Lancaster County. It enjoys a unique position in Nebraska 
as the center of the state's governmental and educational activities. 

The City operates under a Home Rule Charter and has a Mayor-Council fonn of government with an elected 
full-time chief executive, the Mayor, and an elected legislative body, the Council, composed of seven 
members. Three Council members are elected at large and four by district on a nonpartisan basis for a tenn 
of four years. All legislative powers of the City are exclusively vested in the Council, as well as the power to 
adopt the budget, set the tax levy, and equalize taxes and assessments. The Mayor is responsible for the 
proper conduct of the affairs of the City, with the administration of City government performed under the 
direction of the Mayor through administrative departments. 

The City of Lincoln provides a full range of services, including public safety (police and fire); the 
construction and maintenance of highways, streets, and other infrastructure; health; planning and zoning; golf 
courses, parks and recreation; urban development; mass transportation; ambulance transport; electric, water, 
and wastewater utilities; solid waste management; auditorium; parking facilities; and general administrative 
services. 

The City Council exercises budgetary and/or rate setting authority over the City Library and Lincoln Electric 
System (LES), neither of which are legally separate from the City and are thus included as part of the 
primary government. The Lincoln Water System, Lincoln Wastewater System, Emergency Medical 
Services, Solid Waste Management, Parking Facilities and Lots, Golf Courses. Pershing Municipal 
Auditorium, and Community Health Endowment are all part of administrative departments under the 
direction of the Mayor and are included as part of the primary government. The City is considered to be 
financially accountable for the West Haymarket loint Public Agency, and has included the Agency as part of 
the primary government as a blended component unit. Separately audited financial statements are available 
for LES, Lincoln Water System, Lincoln Wastewater System, Emergency Medical Services. Solid Waste 
Management, Parking Facilities, Community Health Pennanent Endowment Trust, and West Haymarket 
loint Public Agency. 

The annual budget serves as the basis for the City of Lincoln's financial planning and control. Following 
public hearings and not later than five days prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, the budget is legally 
adopted by resolution of the City Council. Appropriation controls are required at the department level, 
however, as a matter of policy and practice, appropriations generally are controlled at the next levcl of 
organization (division) or by fund within a department. The Mayor has the authority to transfer balances 
within a department as well as lower appropriations in any fund where actual revenues are less than 
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appropriated in order to avoid incun'ing a budget deficit for the year. Appropriation transfers between 
departments may only be authorized by resolution of the City Council. The Council may not make any 
appropriations in addition to those authorized in the annual budget, except in the event of an emergency 
threatening serious loss oflife, health, or property in the community. 

Economic Condition and Outlook 

Population growth is one of the best indicators of a community's economic well being. As such, the Lincoln 
metropolitan area's population growth during the past several years reflects a community that is economically 
viable and is strongly positioned to meet future challenges. 

The Lincoln metropolitan area population base (Lancaster County) continues to demonstrate a pattern of 
sustained growth. According to the U. S. Census figures, the Lincoln metropolitan area population grew by 
77.96 percent since 1960. Lancaster County's rate of growth between 2000 and 2010 has been 14.0 percent 
or approximately 1.36 percent per year. The 2010 popUlation of Lancaster County has been estimated to be 
in excess of285,000 persons. 

While such a growth rate may be modest by some standards, this healthy pace of expansion places Lincoln as 
one of the fastest growing communities in this region. Recent projections envision Lincoln to continue to 
grow at a rate of over 1 % per year. As importantly, the City of Lincoln continues to absorb about 90% of all 
growth in Lancaster County. 

Lincoln's unemployment rate at August 31, 2011, was 3.7%, well below the national average of 9.1 %, with 
employment strongest in the categories of government, educational & health services, and retail trade. 
Lincoln's current number of construction penn its is down 14% when compared to levels 5 years ago, with a 
corresponding decrease in the value of construction permits of over $80 million. 

To more aggressively pursue economic opportunities, the City, Lancaster County, and LES have partnered to 
hire an economic development coordinator to facilitate job creation in the private sector. In addition, the 
Mayor's Technology Council completed its technology audit, which led to a new strategic plan for economic 
development. 

Net sales and use tax revenue increased $2,633,412 or 4.8% from the previous fiscal year. In relation to this 
primary revenue source, the City is seeing slight signs of recovery from the negative economic factors that 
have affected the local and national economies. 

Long-Term Planning and Major Initiatives 

Urban Development 

The City anticipates approximately $19 million of public expenditures funded through various urban 
development projects and programs over the next three years. These projects are varied in type and size and 
are located in the Downtown and Haymarket areas, North 27th Street and Havelock business areas, Focus 
Area neighborhoods, the South Capitol blight area, the Antelope Valley project area, West 0, and in low­
moderate income neighborhoods throughout the City. 

Financing will be provided by a variety of sources, ineluding Tax Increment Financing (TIF), Parking 
Revenues, CDBG, HOME, Economic Development Initiative, Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) 
grants, Advanced Land Acquisition funds, Special Assessments, and General Fund. Funding is often 
combined with developer, grant or other private sector funds. 

The City's involvement will vary depending upon the project and could likely include property acquisition, 
relocation and dcmolition; housing rehabilitation and development; commercial development; and 
construction of public improvements including parking, sidewalks, infrastructure and streetscapes. 
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Ongoing and anticipated projects include: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Downtown Redevelopment Projects: 
I) Block 38 Catalyst One site. 
2) Civic Plaza project. 
3) West Haymarket Residential/Retail/Hotel 

project. 
4) North Haymarket Arts & Humanities Block. 
5) Block 85. 
6) Construction of Haymarket area parking 

garage. 

7) Telesis/Meadow Gold project. 
8) Haymarket Hotel and Tool House. 
9) N Street Corridor planning. 
10) P Street Retail Corridor planning. 
11) Centennial Mall project. 
12) 17th & QICredit Union project. 
13) Replace downtown meters with 

advanced technology. 

North 27th Street redevelopment efforts are focusing on 
assembly for redevelopment and new housing construction. 

the acquisition of blighted properties and 

Antelope Valley Redevelopment Projects: 
1) Plaza Parkway Triangle, phase 1- Assurity project site. 
2) 19th & K - W JS project site. 
3) 23 rd & P - Antelope Creek Village. 

Havelock Redevelopment on-going projects include streetscape improvements, commercial building 
facade improvements, and park improvements. 

University Place redevelopment of the former Green's Plumbing site. 

West 0 Street redevelopment projects and historic DLD marker project. 

NW Corridor redevelopment (West Cornhusker Highway). 

Innovation Campus redevelopment. 

84th and Havelock redevelopment. 

South Capitol redevelopment. 

56th and Arbor Road redevelopment. 

Focus area projects in Malone and South Capitol. 

II th Street streetscape. 

Prescott Street streetscape, 47th to 48th. 

Housing rehabilitation programs for quality, atTordable housing and home ownership: 
1) Continuation of First-time Homebuyer and Owner-Occupied Housing Rehabilitation Loan 

programs. 
2) Partner with NeighborWorks-Lincoln for their Home Ownership Zone in Antelope Valley. 
3) Partner with other non-profit and for-profit housing organizations for affordable housing projects in 

low-to-moderate income neighborhoods under the Mayor's Stronger Safer Neighborhoods Program. 
4) Manage the local affordable housing effort made possible by Federal Economic Stimulus Programs. 

• Real estate major acquisition, negotiation and relocation projects: 
I) For effective transportation: 
~ Antelope Valley transportation projects. ~ Pine Lake Road, 59th to Hwy 2. 
~ Antelope Valley redevelopment plan ~ 14th & Cornhusker Hwy safety project. 

catalyst projects. ~ North 1 ,t Street, Cornhusker Hwy to 
~ West Haymarket transportation projects. Superior Street. 
~ Yankee Hill Roadway, 70th to 84th Street. ~ RTSD Quiet Zone project. 
~ SW 40th Street overpass. ~ East Beltway preliminary acquisitions. 
~ 14th Street, Superior to A1vo Road. ~ South Beltway preliminary acquisitions. 
~ 56th Street, Old Cheney to Shadow Pines. ~ Arterial rehab, executive order, traffic 
~ Coddington & West Van Dorn signal, and Federal Infrastructure 

intersection improvements. Stimulus funded projects. 
~ Old Cheney Road, 70th to 84th Street. 
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• 

2) For environmental quality: 
../ Park sites city-wide. 
../ Antelope Valley storm water projects. 
../ Stevens Creek sanitary sewer Phase III, 

IV & V. 
../ Yankee Hill water main, 56th to 84th 

Street. 
../ 98th Street water main, Holdrege to Alvo. 

3) Relocation activities: 
../ North 27th Street projects . 
../ West Haymarket projects. 
,/' Antelope Valley projects. 

../ 56th & Arbor Road sewer and water 
district projects . 

../ Conservation easements and wetlands 
acquisitions . 

../ Additional projects made possible by 
Federal Infrastructure Stimulus funds . 

Workforce Investment Act funds received by the City provide employment skills to low-income adults 
and youth and also to individuals laid-off from area employers. Funding is providcd for GED, Adult 
Education and Literacy Activities, secondary and post-secondary education, and placement in work 
expelience and On-the-Job Training with an emphasis on high wage and high demand occupations. 

Serviccs are provided from the Career Center located in the Gold's Building. Partner agencies co­
located at the Center include Operation ABLE, Goodwill Industries. Vocational Rehabilition, Nebraska 
Department of Labor, and Experience Works. Over 20,000 individuals and 500 employers use the 
Center annually. 

Examples of specialized projects this year include: 
1) "The Metro SyNErgy" project in Lincoln and Omaha providing green building technology to 

unemployed and incumbent workers. 
2) A specialized work readiness class for youth which combines literacy and numeracy training, GED 

preparation and work readiness curriculum done in collaboration with Southeast Community 
College. 

3) Regional Innovation Network fostering collaboration of education, economic development and 
workforce development leaders in a twelve county southeast Nebraska area focusing training and 
job placement efforts to the target industries of: 
../ Agriculture & Life Sciences . 
../ Advanced Manufacturing . 
../ Transportation & Logistics . 
../ Health Services, and 

Business Services & InfOlmation Technology. 

West Haymarket Project 

The West Haymarket Redevelopment Project is a multi-facted endeavor to revitalize the 100 acres of 
underutilized property that lies on the western edge of Lincoln's downtown and Haymarket district. On May 
11,2010, the citizens of Lincoln voted to approve the issuance of arena bonds which signaled approval for 
the project to proceed. The project involves the relocation and elimination of existing railroad tracks and 
completion of other site preparation activities. the construction of a 16,000 seat civic arena. a community ice 
center, private retail and office space, a new Amtrak Station, residential units. surface and decked parking, 
public gathering areas, street and utility improvement, landscaping, trails and walkways, pedestrian bridges, 
and environmental enhancements. The overall project cost is estimated to be approximately $340 million. 

The West Haymarket Joint Public Agency (WHJPA) is the governmental agency responsible for oversight of 
the project, for issuing bonds, collecting revenue, and making bond payments over the course of the Project. 
Participants in the agency are the City and the Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska. 
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Beginning January 1, 2011, an occupation tax was imposed on car rental, hotel, restaurant and bar charges 
within the City of Lincoln. This revenue has been pledged to repayment of any outstanding WHJPA bonds. 

Antelope Valley Project 

The City of Lincoln, Lower Platte South Natural Resource District and the University of Nebraska-Lincoln 
have joined together through an interlocal agreement to form the loint Antelope Valley Authority (JAVA). 
JA V A is in the process of implementing the Antelope Valley project, which consists of stormwater, 
transportation and community revitalization strategies. 

The stormwater and transportation portions of the project are scheduled for substantial completion in 2012. 
Redevelopment projects have begun and will progress as flood control work is completed. The channel work 
needed for re-mapping of the floodplain was completed in 2010. 

Projects completed include Fleming Field, Lewis Fields; Military, Y Street, and Vine Street bridges and 
roadways; the BNSF overpass and roadway (Big T & East Leg Bridge and Roadway) near Devaney Center; 
channel work between Salt Creek and J Strcet; the BNSF railroad bridgc project over Antelope Creek; 
landscaping work on the Military, Y Street, Vine Street, Vine to Y, P to Vine, East Leg and Big T roadway 
projects and the BNSF overpass project; roadway construction between P and Y streets; and the J, P, Q, and 
o Street bridges and roadways. 

Work on the north/south roadway between K and P and the South Street bridge project began in 2011 and 
will be completed in 2012. 

The entire project is projected to cost $246 million, which includes all components of the Antelope Valley 
project: community revitalization, flood control, and transportation. 

Wastewater System 

The Lincoln Wastewater System is projecting a capital improvements program in the amount of 
approximately $61,738,000 over the 6-year period of fiscal year 2011-12 through fiscal year 2016-17. Of 
that total, approximately $29,685,000 will be financed by revenue bonds, approximately $4,470,500 will be 
financed by impact fees, $640,000 from TIF funding, with the remaining $26,942,500 to come from utility 
revenue fees. The majority of these dollars are needed for replacement and maintenance of existing 
infrastructure, new infrastructure to serve development in various basins throughout the City, and 
improvements to both the Theresa Street and Northeast treatment plants. 

Water Svstem 

The Lincoln Water System is projecting a capital improvements program in the amount of approximately 
$61,380,000 over the 6-year period of fiscal year 2011-12 through 2016-17. Of these dollars, approximately 
$20,575,000 will be financed through revenue bonds, approximately $4,510,000 will be financed from TIF 
funding, approximately $5,900,000 will be financed through impact fees, with the balance of $30,395,000 
coming from utility revenue fees. The major projects contributing to these total dollars include the 
installation of transmission lines, replacement mains, replacement and new wells, and additional storage 
reservoirs. 

Streets and Highways 

The 2012-2017 Streets and Highways capital improvements program and Transportation improvement 
program identify average annual expenditures of $26 million for the next six years. Funding for these 
projects includes $102 million in City revenues, $33 million in federal aid, and $21 million in other funds. 
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Infrastructure Impact Fees 

The City's growth in both population and employment have created demands for new residential and 
nonresidential development, which in tum creates the need for additional public facilities, including water 
and wastewater systems, arterial streets, and neighborhood parks and trails. The City's laws, taxes, fees, 
utility charges, and other forms of revenue generated from new development do not provide sufficient funds 
to finance these new facilities. 

In response to these funding needs the City of Lincoln passed an ordinance to provide for the imposition of 
impact fees to ensure that facilities are available to serve new growth and that new development bears its 
proportionate share of the cost of improvements to the City's facilities. Impact fees for all types of new 
construction have been set and adopted by the City Council and began June, 2003. 

Pension Costs 

The City cunently contributes $2 for every $1 contributed by employces in the civilian retirement plans. In 
an effort to control this significant budget item, the City and three of four civilian unions, as well as non 
union employees which includes Department Directors and Mayoral Aides, have agreed to change these 
plans to a $1.29 to $1 match for new employees hired after the effective date. The City is unable to legally 
change the match for current employees. The City anticipates saving 20 to 25 percent in retirement costs for 
each employee hired under this new anangement. 

Property Tax Collections 

As of August 31, 2011, current tax collections by the County Treasurer were 96.69% of the tax levy, a 
decrease of .20% from last year. Allocations of property tax levy by purpose are as follows: 

City Tax Levy by Purpose 2010-20 II 2009-2010 2008-2009 

General Fund .1739 .1772 .1806 
Library .0398 .0398 .0396 
Social Security .0141 .0097 .0129 
Police and Fire Pension .0261 .0251 .0201 
General Obligation Dcbt .0340 .0361 .0347 

.2879 .2879 .2879 
Parking Facilities 

The City of Lincoln operates the following parking garages: 

Facility Number of Stalls Date Opened 

Center Park 1,048 November, 1978 
Cornhusker Square 405 December, 1983 
University Square 436 April,1990 
Que Place 773 October, 1994 
Carriage Park 710 February, 1995 
Market Place 433 August, 2000 
Haymarket 420 August, 2002 

The City'S parking garages have been built to promote downtown redevelopment efforts by working with 
private industry in providing necessary parking to various businesses in the downtown area. 

Revenue generated by the parking facilities and on-street parking meters, as well as unappropriated street 
construction funds, are pledged for debt service of the 2001 Parking Revenue Bonds, the 2010B Parking 
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Revenue Bonds, and the 2011 Parking Revenue and Refunding Bonds. Comparative data for the past two 
fiscal years are presented in the following table: 

Operating Revenues 
Operating Income Before Depreciation 
Debt Service 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

Solid Waste Management 

2010-2011 

$ 7,124,602 
3,518,594 
1,944,138 

1.81 

2009-2010 

6,747,738 
3,407,137 
1,998,056 

1.71 

The City of Lincoln owns and operates a municipal solid waste landfill and a construction and demolition 
debris landfill that are subject to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency rule Solid Waste Disposal 
Facility Criteria. which establishes closure and postclosure care requirements. As of August 31, 2011, the 
City estimates that it will incur costs approximating $21 million to adhere to such requirements (sec Note 18 
of Notes to the Financial Statements). 

Water and Wastewater System 

The City's Wastewater Utility System showed an increase in operating revenues and an increase in operating 
income. Comparative data for the past two fiscal years is presented in the following table: 

Wastewater System 

Operating Revenues 
Operating Income 
Revenue Available For Debt Service 
Debt Service 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

2010-2011 

$22,973,653 
3.301,436 

11,002,406 
6,512,609 

1.69 

2009-2010 

21,703,427 
2,875,498 

10,807,502 
6,426,444 

1.68 

The City's Water Utility System showed an increase in operating revenues and an increase in operating 
income. Comparative data for the past two fiscal years is presented in the following table: 

Water System 

Operating Revenues 
Operating Income 
Revenue Available For Debt Service 
Debt Service 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

Lincoln Electric System (LES) 

2010-2011 

$28,559,484 
5,459,411 

15,174,479 
9,501,857 

1.60 

2009-2010 

25,135,127 
3,881,476 

12,424,175 
9,508,097 

1.31 

The City owns and operates its own electric utility system that is managed by an administrative board. 
Actions of the board with regard to rates, budgets, and long-term financing are subject to final review and 
approval by the City Council. In accordance with Section 4.24.090 of the Lincoln Municipal Code, LES 
operates on a January 1 - December 31, fiscal year. Audited financial infonnation as of and for LES' fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2010, is included in the City's August 31, 2011, financial statements. 

Certificate of Achievement 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Lincoln, Nebraska, for its 
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended August 31,2010. This was the twenty-eighth 
consecutive year that the City has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual 
financial report. This report must satisfy both accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America and applicable legal requirements. 
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A Certificate of Achievement is vatid for a period of nile year onl}, We believe our current cnmpn:hensi\(; 
annual financial report continues to meet the Certificme uf AchitTemen! Program's requirements and we an: 
submitting it to th ... ~ GFOJ\ to detennilll~ its digibtlity fur another certificate, 

The preparation of this report Oil a till1dy basis could not be accomplished without the efficient alld dedicated 
ser\'ices of the entire staff of the Finunce Departl11cnl. r would like to c.\press Ill) appreciation to al! 
rlH:mbers of the department whu assiskd alld contributed to its preparatiO!L I would also 1 ike 10 thank the 
;'vlny,)r and members of the City Council for Iheir interest and support in planning and conducting the 
financial operations of the City in a responsible and progrt'ssire flHUlllCr. 

Respedfully submitted. 

~~ 
Steve Hubka 
Interim Finance Director 
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Certificate of 
Achievement 
for Excellence 

in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Lincoln 

Nebraska 
For its Comprehensive Annual 

Financial Report 

tor the Fiscal Year Ended 

August 31,2010 

A Certificate of Achievement for Exceilenee in Financial 
Reporting is presented by the Government Finance Officers 

Association of the United States and Canada to 
government units and public employee retirement 

systems whose comprehensive annual financial 
reports (CAFRs) achieve the highest 
standards in government accounting 

and financial reporting. 

President 

Executive Director 
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B LLI' 

CPAs & Advisors 

1 (4n "0'" St'e('t, Stilte' leW) 

LI!K:oin, NE 6fl508 , 1461 

102413./600 Fax ,,02.473./698 www.bkd,com 

Independent Accountants' Report on Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Information 

The Honorable Mayor 
and Members of the City Council 

City of Lincoln, Nebraska 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lincoln, 
Nebraska (the City) as of and for the year ended August 31,2011, which collectively comprise the City of 
Lincoln's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the City's management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of Lincoln Electric System 
which represent 58%, 34% and 78%, respectively, of the total assets, net assets and revenues of the 
business-type activities. Those financial statements were audited by other accountants whose report 
thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Lincoln 
Electric System, is based solely on the report of the other accountants. The prior-year summarized 
comparative financial information in these statements has been derived from the City's basic financial 
statements as of and for the year ended August 31, 2010, and in our report dated February 23, 2011, we 
expressed unqualified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the report of the 
other accountants provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other accountants, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Lincoln, Nebraska as of August 31, 2011, and the respective changes in financial position and 
cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund and 
street construction fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 1, in 20 lithe City changed its method of accounting for fund balances through 
retroactive application to prior year's fmancial statements. 
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The accompanying management's discussion and analysis and the schedules of funding progress and 
employer contributions as listed in the table of contents are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements but are supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board. We and the other accountants have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally 
of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required 
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The accompanying introductory section and statistical 
section as listed in the table of contents have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 

February 17,2012 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The management of the City of Lincoln, Nebraska (the City) offers readers of the City's financial statements 
this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended 
August 31, 2011. Please consider this discussion in conjunction with the additional infOlmation provided in 
the Letter of Transmittal (beginning on page vii) and the transactions, events and conditions reflected in the 
City's financial statements (beginning on page 16). 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at August 31, 2011, by $ 1.599,891,832 (net assets). Of this 
amount, $321,043,795 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the government's ongoing 
obligations to citizens and creditors. 

The City's total net assets increased by $53,322,049. Of this amount, $27,824,537, or 52 percent, was 
an increase in governmental acti vities and $25,497,512, or 48 percent, related to business-type activities. 

As of August 31,2011, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$426,496,342, an increase of $239,607,770 in comparison with the prior year. Of this total fund balance, 
12 percent, or $50,502,001, is available for spending at the City's discretion (unrestricted fund balance). 

As of August 31, 2011, unrestricted fund balance for the general fund was $29,336,927, or 27 percent of 
total general fund expenditures. Due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 54, reference must 
be made to page 76 of this report for an accurate comparison with the prior year balance. 

The City's total bonded debt increased by $287,585,000 (33 percent) during the current fiscal year. The 
West Haymarket Joint Public Agency (JPA) issued $300,000,000 of bonded debt in the current year. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City'S basic financial statements. 
The City's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 
2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other 
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. 

GOVERNMENT -WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The govemrnent-wide financial statements arc designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
City's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City'S assets and liabilities, with the difference 
between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net assets changed during the year 
ended August 31, 20 II. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to 
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported 
in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected 
taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of thc City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). Thc govemrnental activities of the City include general administrative services, public safety, 
strcets and highways, health, planning and zoning, parks and recreation, libraries, aging services, job 
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programs, urban development, mass transportation, engineering, self-insurance, and fleet management. The 
business-type activities of the City include water, wastewater and electric utilities; ambulance transport; solid 
waste management; golf courses; auditorium; and parking. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 16-17 of this report. 

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds 
of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
Such information may be useful in evaluating the City's near-term financing requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is nalTower than that of the government-wide financial statements, 
it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented 
for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better 
understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental 
fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities. 

The City maintains thirty-one individual governmental funds. Infonnation is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues. expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General fund, the Street Construction fund, and the West Haymarket lPA 
fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a 
single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is 
provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund and most other governmental funds. A 
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the General and Street Construction major funds to 
demonstrate compliance with this budget. The West Haymarket lP A major fund is not required to adopt an 
annual budget so a budgetary comparison has not been provided. 

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 18-23 of this report. 

Proprietary funds - The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
The City uses enterprise funds to account for its parking facilities and lots; golf courses; auditorium; solid 
waste management; ambulance services; and wastewater, water, and electric systems. Internal service funds 
are used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City's various functions. The City uses 
internal service funds to account for its data processing, engineering, insurance, fleet management, municipal 
services center operations, telecommunications, and copy services. Because these services predominantly 
benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of infonnation as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate infonnation for the Water, 
Wastewater and Electric Systems, all of which are considered to be major funds of the City. Data from the 
other enterprise funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Internal service funds are also 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund 
data for these funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 24-26 of this report. 
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Fiduciary funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of patties outside the 
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the 
resources of those funds are not available to suppOtt the City's own programs. The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 27-28 of this report. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 
30-70 of this report. 

OTHER INFORMATION 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary infonnation concerning the City'S progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension benefits to its police and fire employees, and to provide other postemployment benefits. Required 
supplementary information can be found on page 71 of this report. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

As notcd earlicr, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In 
the case ofthc City, assets exceeded liabilities by $1,599,891,832 at August 31,2011. 

By far the largest portion of the City'S net assets (63 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., 
land, buildings, improvements, utility plant, infrastmcture, and machinery and equipment), less any related 
debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide 
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's 
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. 

Current and Other Assets 
Capital Assets 

Total Assets 
Long~ Term Liabilities Outstanding 
Other Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 
Net Assets: 
Invested in Capital Assets, 

1\ et of Related Debt 
Restricted 
UnrestTict~d 

Total Net Assets 

City Of Lincoln 
Condensed Statements of Net Assets 

August 31, 2011 and 2010 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities 

2011 
651,101,529 

713,530,269 
1.364,631,798 

504,062,995 

22.171,662 
526,234,657 

386.451,715 
235,695,091 
216,250,335 

838.397.141 

2010 

398,115,532 
622,796,373 

1,020,911,905 
189,192,032 
21,147,269 

210,339,301 

402,099,420 
121.155,820 
207,317,364 
810,572,604 

Activities 
2011 

247,265,929 

1,437,335,316 
1,684,601,245 

766,638,529 
156,468,025 
923,106,554 

622,950,944 
33,750,287 

104,793,460 
761,494,691 

2010 
246,650,963 

1,417,922,340 
1,664,573,303 

773,188,114 
155.388,010 
928,576,124 

598,053A16 
37,040,667 

100,903,096 
735,997,179 

2011 
898,367,458 

2,150,865.585 
3,049,233,043 
1,270,701,524 

178,639,687 

1,449,341,211 

1,009,402,659 
269,445,378 
321,043,795 

1,599,891,832 

Total 
2010 

644,766,495 
2,040,718,713 

2,685,485.208 
962,380,146 
176.535,279 

1,138,915,425 

1,080,152,836 
158,196.487 
308,220.460 

1,546,569,783 

An additional portion of the City'S net assets (17 percent) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on their use. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets (20 percent) may be used to meet 
the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

At August 31,2011, the City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net assets, both for 
the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities. 
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City Of Lincoln 
Condensed Statements of Activities 

For the );ears Ended August 31, 20 II and 2010 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities '[btal 

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
Revenues: 
Program Revenues: 

Charges for Services $ 46,426,307 41,701.425 335.205,232 313,690,349 381,631.539 355,391,774 
Operating Grants and Contributions 73.594,748 55,013,696 73.594,748 55,013,696 
Capital Grants and Contributions 7,982,667 16.17L192 4,645,062 5,767,531 12,627,729 21,938,723 

General Revenues: 
Property Tax 48,621.668 48.637,701 48,621.668 48,637,701 
Sales and Use Tax 57.996,100 55,362,688 57.996,100 55,362.6~8 

Occupation Tax 20,403.399 10.847,214 2.059,361 1,984,400 22,462.760 12,831,614 
Other Taxes 16.378,863 15,821.171 16.378,863 15,821,171 
Unrestricted Grants and Contributions 1 ,927.5~8 2.006,071 1,927.588 2,006,071 
Unrestricted Investment Earnings 1,370,358 1,926.976 1,564.708 1,673,103 2,935,066 3.600,079 
Other 2,309,497 793,365 343,835 893.109 2.653.332 1,686,474 

Total Revenues 277,011.195 248,281.499 343.818,198 324,008,492 620,829.393 572,289,991 

Expenses: 
General Government 40,059,839 36,991.820 40,059,839 36,991,820 
Public Safety 81.218,142 75,364,591 81.218,142 75,364.591 
Streets and Highways 39,840,551 38,150.193 39,840,551 38,150,193 
Culture and Recreation 26.578,448 25,713,710 26.578,448 25,713.710 
Economic OpPOltunity 16,336,855 17,198.314 16,336,855 17.198,314 
Health and Welfare 21.153,869 20.840,847 21.153,869 20,840.847 
Mass Transit 12,007,410 11.198,681 12,007,4 10 11,198,681 
Equipment Management 1,882,136 1.767,774 1.882,136 1,767.774 
Engineering Services 1,219.084 829,470 1,219,084 829,470 
Interest on Long-Term Debt 11,568,353 6,373.674 11,568.353 6.373,674 
Parking 5,632,973 5.475,157 5.632,973 5,475.157 
Golf Courses 3.414,074 3,165,446 3,414.074 3,165,446 
Auditorium 2,202,234 2.243,518 2.202,234 2,243.518 
Solid Waste Management 8.490,392 10,607,775 8,490.392 10,607,775 
Ambulance Transport 3,940.669 3.819,895 3.940,669 3,819.895 
Wastewater 23.135,157 22,265,579 23,135.157 22,265,579 
Water 26,084,158 23.469,948 26.084,158 23,469.948 
Electric 242,743,000 229,241,000 242,743.000 229,241,000 

Total Expenses 251.864,687 234,429,074 315,642.657 300.288,3IB 567.507,344 534,71 7.392 

Increase in Net Assets Before Transfers 25,146,508 13.852,425 28.175,541 23,720,174 53,322.049 37,572,599 
'Iransfers 2.678,029 2,581.647 (2,678.029) (2.581,647) 
Increase in Net Assets 27,824,537 16,434,072 25.497,512 21,138,517 53,322.049 37,572,599 
Net Assets - Beginning 810,572,604 794,138.532 735,997.179 7 J 4.858,652 1.546,569,783 1,508.997, J 84 
Net Assets - Ending $ 838,397.141 810.572,604 761,494,691 735,997.179 1,599.891.832 1,546,569.783 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
Governmental activitics increased the City's net assets by $27,824,537, accounting for 52 percent of the total 
growth in the net assets of the City of Lincoln, Key elements of this increase are as follows: 

• The City'S CUlTent year contribution to the Joint Antelope Valley Authority amounted to $6,462,467, of 
which a significant portion is federally funded. 

• Sales taxes increased by approximately $2.6 million (4.8 percent) during 2011 after showing an increase 
of 1.9 percent in the prior year. 

• Occupation taxes increased by approximately $9.5 million (88 percent) in the current year with the 
January, 2011 imposition of a 2 percent tax on bar and restaurant revenues and a 4 percent tax on car 
rental and hotel revenues, to be used to finance the JPA activities and repayment of the Agency's 
outstanding debt. 
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BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 

Business-type activities increased the City's net assets by $25,497,512, accounting for 48 percent of the total 
growth in the government's net assets, Key elements of this increase are as follows: 

• 

• 

Water System operating revenues increased by $3,424,357 (13,6 percent) from 2010, Effective 
February, 2011, there was a 5% user fee increase and metered sales were up 8 percent due to a dry fall 
and spring, Operating expense increased $1,846,422 (8,7 percent) due to increased personnel, energy 
and chemical costs. 

Wastewater System operating revenues increased $1.270,226 (5.9 percent) primarily due to a 5% user 
fee increase implemented with the billings starting in February, 2011. Sanitary sewer bills for residential 
customers are based on water usage during a two-month period during the winter and remain the same 
over the balance of the following ten-month period. Non-residential customers are billed for sanitary 
sewer based on their monthly water usage. Operating expenses increased $844,288 (4.5 percent) due to 
increased personnel and chemical costs. 
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• Lincoln Electric System operating revenue in 2010 was 6% higher than 2009. Retail revenue was 8 
percent higher due to the impact of a 2.4 percent increase on January 1,2010 and energy sales were up 
compared to the mild summer weather in 2009. Wholesale revenue increased 1 percent due to higher 
prices although energy sales decreased 8 percent. 

• LES recorded capital contributions of $1.7 million. 

• Lincoln Water and Wastewater Systems reported capital contributions of approximately $1.9 million and 
$1.1 million, respectively. 

• Lincoln Water and Wastewater Systems reported increased losses in nonoperating activities in 2011 due 
to higher interest expense and the reduction of interest income and insurance recoveries, respectively. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT'S FUNDS 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
lcgal requirements. 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's financing requirements. 
In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources 
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

As of August 31, 2011, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$426,496,342, an increase of $239,607,770 in comparison with the prior year. Of this total amount. 12 
percent constitutes unrestricted fund balance, which is available for spending at the City'S discretion. The 
remainder of fund balance is restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has 
already been committed to: 

• long-tern110ans receivable ($19,837,000), 

• pay debt service ($16,060,41 I), 

• capital construction and acquisition ($252,381,333), 

• West Haymarket Joint Public Agency activities ($9,640,388), 

• donor and grantor purposes ($5,832,975), 

• generating income for the purpose of funding health and health-related programs for the citizens of 
Lincoln ($56,077,332), and 

• a variety of other purposes ($16,164,902). 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At August 31, 2011, the unrestricted fund balance 
of the General Fund was $29,336,927, while total fund balance reached $41,753,836. As a measure of the 
General Fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unrestricted fund balance and total fund balance 
to total fund expenditures. Unrestricted fund balance represents 27 percent of total general fund 
expenditures, while total fund balance represents 38 percent of that same amount. 

The fund balance of the City's General Fund increased by $2,910,783 during 2011. For the current fiscal 
year, appropriated General fund balance, used as a funding source for the budget increased only 2.8 percent 
over 2010. General Fund balances as a future funding source are projected to decrease as the City reduces 
balances, measured at year end, to a goal of 15% of the projected General Fund budget five years in the 
future. 

The Street Construction Fund had a total fund balance of $36,478,568, which is to be used in the construction 
and maintenance of street and highways. The net increase in fund balance during 2011 in the Street 
Construction Fund was $4,150,021, the result of changes in the demand for JAVA funding. 

The West Haymarket JPA Fund had a fund balance of $225,432,904 which is to be used for funding 
improvements of the West Haymarket Redevelopment Project. This balance is the result of the settlement of 
$300,000,000 in current year bonds. 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of infom1ation found in the government-wide financial 
statements, but in more detail. 

Unrestricted net assets of the Wastewater System, Water System, Electric System, and other enterprise funds 
amounted to $18,186,672, $14,313,737, $75,913,000 and $(180,020), respectively, at August 31, 2011 
(December 31, 20 I 0 for LES). Factors concerning the finances of these funds have already been addressed 
in the discussion of the City's business-type activities. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budget were relatively minor (decrease of 
$(244,236) in appropriations) and can be briefly summarized as follows: 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

$(1,878,951) in miscellaneous changes in general government activities. 
$1,054,839 in increases allocated to public safety. 
$32,191 in increases to streets & highways. 
$65,859 in increases allocated to parks and recreation. 
$481,826 in increases allocated for General Fund transfers to other City funds. 

Variances between actual General Fund revenues and expenditures and the final amended budget included 
the following: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

$2,181,663 positive variance in real estate and personal property tax. Actual property collections were 
96.69% of the 2010 levy, while estimated tax revenue is based on 90% collections as provided by the 
City Charter. 
$1,642,531 positive variance in sales tax receipts. Collections exceeded projections that were based on 
prior years activity. 
$1,996,370 positive variance in miscellaneous general government expenditures. Significant savings 
were realized in several service line items that are reappropriated to cover ongoing future expenditures. 
$(1,140,687) negative variance in street lighting function expenditures. This variance was the result of 
additions related to both normal constmction as well as Antelope Valley Project constmctioll. 

eAPlT AL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

CAPITAL ASSETS 
The City's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type actiVIties as of 
August 31, 20 II, amounts to $2,150,865,585 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital 
assets includes land, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, streets, bridges, storm sewers, 
electric plant, and water and sewer plant. The total increase in the City'S investment in capital assets for 
2011 was 5.40 percent (a 14.57 percent increase for governmental activities and a 1.37 percent increase for 
business-type activities). 

Major capital asset events during 2011 included the following: 

• 

• 
• 

• 

A variety of street constmction widening and expansion projects for eXIst1l1g streets and bridges 
continued. Along with new construction of streets and drainage projects, construction-in-progress of 
infrastmcture as of August 31,2011 reached $88,140,000. 
The City's bus system, StarTran, purchased thirteen new buses at a cost of $4,642,638. 
The West Haymarket Joint Public Agency (JPA) has investment in capital assets of$80,856,914, which 
includes roads and utility work, arena design and initial construction, site preparation, land purchases, 
and environmental remediation. 
The City parking system's continued investment in a new downtown parking garage reached 
approximately $8.6 million. 
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Land $ 
Buildings 
Improvements Other Than Bui[dings 
Machinery and Equipment 
Cti1ity Plant 
[nfrastnlcture 
Constmction-in-progress 
Total 

City Of Lincoln 
Capital Assets (net of depreciation) 

August 31, 2011 and 2010 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities 

2011 2010 2011 2010 
69,850.907 63.866,125 24.144,286 21.950.552 
49,744.391 45.950,230 122.650,291 126,543.523 
37.876,9[6 38,[89,44[ 445,301,[14 446,114,577 
35.685,017 31.600,937 11.894,995 12,232,011 

753,770.00n 760,709,000 
352,448,061 354,568.639 
167,924,977 88,621.00 [ 79,574,630 50.372,677 
713,530.269 622,796.3 73 1,437,335.3 16 1,4[ 7,922.340 

Total 
2011 2010 

93,995.193 85.816.677 
172.394.682 172.493.753 
483. [78,030 484.304,018 

47.580.012 43,832,948 
753.770,000 760,709,000 
352,448,061 354,568,639 
247,499,607 138,993.678 

2,150.865,585 2,040.718,713 

Additional information on the City'S capital assets can be found in Note 7 of the notes to the financial 
statements on pagcs 46-48 of this report. 

LONG-TERM DEBT 
At August 31, 20 II, the City of Lincoln had total bonded debt outstanding of $1,158,233,000. Of this 
amount, $419,663,000 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City. The remainder of the 
City's debt represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds). 

General Obligation Bonds 

Tax Supported Bonds 

Revenue Bonds 

Tota[ 

$ 

$ 

City Of Lincoln 
Outstanding Bonded Debt 
August 31, 2011 and 2010 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 

Governmenta[ Business-type 

Activities Activities 

20[ 1 2010 20[[ 20[0 

4[9.663 118.383 

5,920 6.605 

732,650 745.660 
425,583 [24,988 732,650 745,6()O 

Tota[ 

20[ 1 2010 

419.6li3 1[8.383 

5,920 6.605 

732,650 745,660 

1.158.233 870,648 

The City's total bonded debt increased by $287,585,000 (33 percent) during the current fiscal year. This 
significant increase was the result of the JPA issuance of $300,000,000 in bonds to fund a portion of the 
Agency's constmction costs. 

The City maintains the following credit ratings: 

General Obligation Bonds 
West Haymarket JPA Bonds 
Antelope Valley Project Bonds 
Water Revenue Bonds 
Wastewater Revenue Bonds 

MBlA insured 
Underlying 

Parking Revenue Bonds 
Lincoln Electric System 

Revenue Bonds 
2005 Revenue Bonds 

FSA insured 
2007 Revenue Bonds 

FGIC insured 
Commercial Paper - tax exempt 

Moody's 
Investors 
Service 

Aaa 
Aal 
Aa2 
Aa2 

Aaa 
Aa2 
Al 

Aa2 

Aaa 
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Standard 
And 

Poor's 

AAA 
AAA 
AA 
AA 

AAA 
AA+ 

A 

AA 

AAA 

AAA 
AI+ 

Fitch 
Investors 
Service 

AA 

AAA 

AAA 
Fl+ 



Under the City's Home Rule Charter, there is no legal debt limit. 

Additional information on the City's long-tenn debt can be found in Note 9 of the notes to the financial 
statements on pages 50-55 of this report. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES 

• Property tax revenue required to fund the 2012 budget increased $4,046,259 or 9.83 percent from the 
prior year. Total change in the tax base is estimated at .12 percent, with an increase to the tax rate from 
.28788 to .31580, an increase of 9.7 percent over the prior year. 

• The adequacy of fees charged for City service cost recovery is examined each year and some fee 
increases are included in each annual budget. Without periodic increases in fees, amounts collected, or 
other revenue adjustments, inflationary and other cost increases would need to be covered by additional 
property tax revenue or the levels of service provided would need to be reduced. Revenue adjustments 
in 2012 include a "Return on Equity" payment from LES estimated at $5,896,643. 

• An increase of$1,376,028 in funding for the Police and Fire Pension Plan was added to fund nonnal cost 
and to provide resources to amortize the unfunded actuarial liability. 

• Sales tax collections for 2011 finished 2.92 percent ahead of projections. 2012 projections reflect a 1.20 
percent increase over 2011 actual collections. 

• The governor and state legislature eliminated in lieu of tax payments (State Aid) to municipalities, which 
results in a revenue decrease to the City of$I,840,672. 

• Staffing changes included in the 2011-2012 budget result in a decrease for all funds of 16.18 full-time 
equivalents. 

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City's budget for the 2012 fiscal year. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Lincoln's finances for all those 
with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the infornlation provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial infonnation should be addressed to the City of Lincoln, Finance 
Department, 555 South 10th Street, Lincoln, NE 68508. 

14 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT 01' NET ASSETS 

AUGUST 31, 2011 
With Summarized 1'inancial Information as of August 31, 20 10 

Governmental Business, Type 
Activities Activities 

ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 145,984381 24,986,970 
Investments 236,874,740 47,925,521 
Invested Securities Lending Collateral 
Receivables, (Net of Allowance for Uncollectibles) 33,828,857 46.178.527 
Internal Balances (1,351,694) 1.351,694 
Due from Other Governments 29,415.277 4,305 
In ventories 2,221,408 15,591,515 
Plant Operation Assets 13,070,000 
Prepaid I terns 700,370 Ll31,985 
Deferred Charges and Other Assets 6,162,166 12.745,574 
Restricted Assets: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,051,780 15,907,805 
Investments 37,160,000 68.149,585 
Receivables 222,448 

Investment in Joint Venture 159,054,244 
Capital Assets: 

Non-depreciable 237,775,884 103.718.916 
Depreciable (Net) 475.754385 1333.616,400 

Total Assets 1,364.631,798 I ,684,60 I .245 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities 12,214.633 42,253,871 
Accrued Liabilities 4.837,343 13,043.745 
Due to Other Governments 610,824 153.941 
Unearned Revenue 496.679 935,274 
Obligations under Securities Lending 
Notes Payable 90,000.000 
Accrued Interest Payable 4.012,183 10,081,194 
Noncurrent Liabilities: 

Payable within One Year 25,159509 33,747,222 
Payable in More Than One Year 478,903,486 732,891,307 

Total Liabilities 526,234.657 923.106,554 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 386,451,715 622,950.944 
Restricted for: 

Debt Service, Net of Related Debt 7,806.827 29,008,060 
Capital Projects 127,992.825 1,255,350 
Grantor Loan Programs 19.837,()()O 
Other 22,167,162 3.486,877 
Trust Donations: 

Expendable 1.653,945 
Nonexpcndable 160,000 

Health Care: 
Expendable 19,077 ,332 
Nonexpcndable 37.000,000 

Unrestricted 216,250,335 104,793,460 

Total Net Assets $ 838,397,141 761,494.691 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral pal1 of this statement. 
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Totals 
20ll 2010 

170,971.351 82,317,793 
284.800,261 148,704,783 

1,025,994 
80,007384 70,968,173 

29,419,582 27,971,533 
17,812,923 19,046.403 
13,070,000 14.091.000 

1,832.355 1,828,168 
18.907,740 16,633~'i43 

16,959,585 18.790.915 
105,309.585 90547,696 

222,448 248,717 
159.054,244 152,591,777 

341,494.800 224.810,355 
1,809370.785 1.815,908,358 

3.049,233,043 2,685,485.208 

54,468,504 51,829,414 
17,881,088 17,237.929 

764.765 819,392 
1,431,953 1,624,367 

1,025,994 
90,000,000 92,000.000 
14,093377 11.998,183 

58.906,731 55,039,710 
1,211.794,793 907,340,436 

1.449,341,211 1,138.915,425 

1.009,402.659 1,080.152.836 

36.814,887 34,868,834 
129,248,175 42,516.324 
19,837.000 19.566.000 
25,654,039 6,291,153 

j ,653,945 1,723.206 
160.000 160.000 

19.077,332 16,070,970 
37.000,000 37,000.000 

321 ,043,795 308,220.460 

1.599,891.832 1,546569.783 



CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31. 20 II 
With Summarized Finaneiallnfolmation j(,r the Year Ended August 31, 2010 

Functions/Programs 
Govenlmcntal Activities: 

General Government 
Public Safety 
Streds and Highways 
Culture and Recreation 
Economic Opportunity 
Health and Welfare 
Mass Transit 
Equipment Management 
Engineering Services 
Interest on Long· Term Debt 

Total Governmental Activities 

Business-Type Activities: 
Parking Lois 
Golf 
Parking Facilities 
Municipal Auditorium 
Solid Waste Management 
Emergency Medical Services 
Wastewater System 
Water Sy<;;tem 
Electric System 

Total Business-Type Activities 

Total 

Program Revenues 

Expenses 

S (40,059,839) 
(81,218,142) 
(39,R40,551 ) 
(26,578,448) 
(16.336.855) 
(21.153,869) 
(12.007,410) 
(1,882,136) 
(1,219.084 ) 

(11,568.353 ) 

(251.864.687) 

(313,810) 
(.1,414,074) 
(5,319,163) 
(2.202.234 ) 
(X.4'10,392) 
(3.940,669) 

123,135,157) 
(26,084,158) 

(242,743,000) 

(315.642.657) 

S (567,507.344) 

Charges ttlr 
Services 

21.544,375 
5.730,687 
4,087,358 
4,114,179 
2,269.303 
4,435.710 
1.619,140 
1.626,131 

995,088 
4,336 

46,426,307 

363,002 
2,759,8 I 0 
7,573,805 
1,606,199 
5,555.135 
4,565,087 

n,931,OI9 
18,474,175 

261,377,000 

335,105.232 

381,631,539 

General R~vcnucs: 
Property Tax 
Motor Vehicle Tax 
Wheel Tax 
Sales and Use Tax 
Sundry and In L jeu Tax 
Occupation Tax 
Unrestricted Grants and Contributions 
Unrestricted Inv~stmcnt Earnings 
Misccllan~ous General Revenues 

Transfers 

Total Getwra! Revenues and Transfers 

Change in Net Assets 

N~t Assets - Beginning 

Net Assets· Ending 

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions 

3.109.155 
4,675.131 

24.184,766 
2,880,002 

12,371,743 
14,R 15,283 
7,168.943 

4.289,725 

73,594,748 

73,594,748 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Capital 
Grants and 

Contributions 

1,021.934 
289.798 

4,612.774 
1,945,724 

5.000 
5.135 

102,302 

7.982,667 

4,583 

1,081.660 
1,905.819 
1.653,000 

4,645,061 

12.627,729 

Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Changes in Net Assets 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities 

Totals 

(14,384,375) 
(70,522,526) 

(6,955.653) 
( 17,638.543) 

( 1.695,809) 
(1,902,876) 
(3,119,327) 

(251,005) 
(21X.861) 

(7.171,990) 

(123,860,965 ) 

(123,860,965) 

48,621,668 
4.284,369 

12,031,376 
57,996,100 

63.118 
20,403.399 

1.927.588 
1.370,358 
2,309,497 
2,678,029 

151,685.502 

27.824,537 

X I 0.572,604 

838,397.141 

49,192 
(654.264) 
2,~59.225 

(596.035) 
(2.935,257) 

624,418 
877,522 

4,295.X36 
20,287,000 

24.207.637 

14,207,637 

2,059,361 

1,564.708 
343.835 

(2,678,029) 

1,289,875 

25.497.512 

735,997.179 

761,494,691 

2011 2010 

( 14,384,375) (I2,962,697) 
(70,522,526) (65.685,813) 

(6,955,053) (6,559,985) 
(17,638,543 ) (18,787,660) 

(1.695.809) 0,852.201 ) 
(1.901.876) (3,537.257) 
(3,119,327) (4,463.659) 

(251,005) (416,580) 
(218,861 ) (27,929) 

(7,171.990) (5,248,980) 

( 123,860.965) (121,542.761) 

4Y,192 82,370 
(654,264) (373,791 ) 

2,259,225 1,658,166 
(596.035) (648.807) 

(2,935.257) (5,294.467) 
624.418 595.929 
X77,522 1.283,437 

4,295,R36 3.443,725 
20,287,000 18,423,000 

24,207.637 19.169.562 

(99,653.328) (! 02,3 73, 199) 

48,621.668 48,637,701 
4,284.369 4.247.118 

12,031,376 1l ,519.622 
57,996,100 55.362,688 

63.118 54,431 
12,462,760 12,831,614 

1,927.588 2,006,071 
2,935.066 3,600,079 
2,653332 1,080.474 

152.975,377 139.945,798 

53,322.049 37,572.599 

1,546,569.783 1,508, <J97 ,184 

1,599,89I ,832 1.546,569,783 



ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Investments 
Receivables, (Net of Allowance for Uncollectibles) 
Due from Other Funds 
Due from Other Governments 
Inventories 
Prepaid Items 

Total Assets 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCKS 
Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable 
Contracts Payable 
Accrued Liabilities 
Due to Other Funds 
Due to Other Governments 
Unearned Revenue 
Deferred Revenue 

Total Liabilities 

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable 
Restricted 
Committed 
Assigned 
Unassigned 

Total Fund Balances 
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 

$ 

$ 

CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMEN'IAL FUNDS 
AUGUST 31, 2011 

Street West Haymarket 
General Constmction JPA 

Fund Fund Fund 

4,795,748 4,621,924 123,470,657 
22,850,931 24,333,175 105,940,874 

5,712,901 1,585,226 1,780,646 
1,934,706 5,342,235 

10,290,493 11,044,205 1,622,007 
472,182 450,225 

6,418,988 25,775 
52,475,949 47,376,990 232,839,959 

934,612 1,342,342 6,481, III 
146,436 

2,508,561 159,527 
5,714,045 210,877 32,441 

150,093 26,595 

1,414,802 9,012,645 893,503 
10,722,113 10,898,422 7,407,055 

6,891,170 450,225 25,775 
5.525.739 22,359,280 225,407,129 

13,750,394 13.669,063 
15,586,533 
41,753,836 36,478,568 225,432,904 
52,475,949 47,376,990 232,839,959 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Invesunent injoint venture is not a tlnancial resource and. therefore, is not reported in the funds. 
Other long-tertll assets are not available to pay for curt·ent-period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 

!ntemal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain services to individual funds. The assets 
and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in govemmental activities in the statement of net assets. 

Accrued pension contribution, long-term construction contracts and other liabilities require the use of unavailable 

tinancial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds, 
Long-tenn liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not 

reported in the nmds. 

Net assets of governmental activities 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

8,556,720 
95,784,386 
24,471,836 
3,104,817 
6,199,809 

488,615 
6,500 

138,612,683 

1,888,683 
324,019 

1,640.Q23 
6,744,955 

253,376 
317,762 

4,612,831 
15,781,649 

37,655,115 
77.046,702 

633,206 
7,636,067 
(140,056) 

122,831,034 
138,612,683 

Total 

141,445,049 
248,909,366 

33,550,609 
10,381,758 
29.156,514 

1,411,022 
6,451,263 

471.305,581 

10,646,748 
470,455 

4,308,111 
12,702,318 

430,064 
317,762 

15,933,781 
44,809,239 

45,022,285 
330,338,850 

633.206 
35,055.524 
15,446,477 

426,496,342 

691,479,451 

159,054,244 
15,933,781 

26,780,676 

(5,096,424) 

(476,250,929) 

S 838,397,141 
=~========= 



CITY OF LL"ICOLN, :\fEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 20 II 

Street West Haymarket Other 
General Construction JPA Governmental 

Fund Fund Fund Funds Total 
REVE:\fUES 
Taxes: 

Property $ 28,248,373 19,956,099 48,204,472 
Motor Vehicle 4,284,369 4,284,369 
Wheel 1,114,104 10,917,272 12,031,376 
Sales and Usc 57,996,100 57,996.100 
Sundry and In Lieu 48,455 12,796 61,251 
Occupation 13.282,814 7,653,744 20,936,558 

Special Assessment 425 1,118,089 1,118,514 
Intergovernmental 4,982,313 27,548,619 3.205,671 35,796,221 71,532,824 
Permits and Fees 4,939,346 2,628,295 10,956,731 18,524,372 
Reimbursement for Services 6,185,640 6,226 1,329,500 7,521,366 
Program Income 944,303 273,633 1,217,936 
Investment Earnings 156,933 (54,541) 5,352,485 5,454,877 
Donations 726,335 75 1.259,271 1,985,681 
Keno Proceeds 3,321,506 3,321,506 
Miscellaneous 2,181.411 779,577 1,793,441 4,754,429 

Total Revenues nlO:n,OS9 ~2,022,7S0 11,S05,71S 92,nS7,044 25S,945,b~ 1 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General Government 26,569,977 454,329 9,598,056 36,622,362 
Public Safety 60,131,286 9,405,771 69,537,057 
Streets and Highways 7,461,505 10,871,181 2.392 18,335,078 
Culture and Recreation 11,628,899 10.165,686 21,794,585 
Economic Opportunity 4,401,646 11,410,268 15,811.914 
Health and Welfarc 193,414 21,800,001 21.993,415 
Mass Transit 15,088,883 15,088,883 

Debt Service 6,806 10,801,422 15,631,234 26,439,462 
Capital Outlay 24,110,113 77.310,392 8,160,545 109,581,050 

Total Expenditures 110,393,533 ~4,9SI,294 SS,5b6.l43 !O!,2b2,836 335,2OJ,S06 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over (Under) Expenditures 12,638,556 (2,958,514) (76,762,425) (9,175,792) (76,258, I 75) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers In 6J~89,394 12,003,923 24,966,938 43,860,255 
Transfers Out (I 6,360,654) (4,945,556) (19,805,398) (41,1 11.608) 
Issuance of Debt 300,000,000 9,663,000 309,663,000 
Issuance of Refunding Debt 6,692,500 19,540,000 26,232,500 
PremiumslDiscounts on Debt Issued (6,427) 4,669,860 1,091,787 5,755,220 
Transfer To Bond Refunding Agent (7,075,474) (21,746,822) (28,822,296) 
Sale of Capital Assets 132,888 50,168 105,818 288,874 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) {9,727,773) 7,IOS,535 304,b69,SbO jj,SI5,32~ 3 I 5,Sb5,943 

Net Change in Fund Balances 2,910,783 4,150,02 I 227,907,435 4,639,531 239,607,770 

Fund Balances - Beginning of Year, 
Before Restatement 30,425,582 31,586,833 (2,474,53 I) 127,350,688 186,888,572 

Adjustment for Implementation ofGASB 54 8,417,471 741,714 (9,159,185) 

Fund Balances - Beginning of Year, 
After Restatement 38,843,053 32,328.547 (2,474,53 I) 118,191,503 186,888,572 

Fund Balances - Ending $ 41,753,836 36,478,568 225,432,904 122,831,034 426.496,342 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN 

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2011 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities 
are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, 
in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over 
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This 
is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the 
current period. 

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital 
contributions is to increase net assets. 

Revenues in the statement of activites that do not provide current 
financial resources are not repOlied as revenues in the funds: 
change in revenues in fund statements previously recognized 
in the statement of activities. 

The issuancc of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current 
financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the 
principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources 
of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect 
on net assets. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance 
costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, 
whereas these amounts are deterred and amortized in the statement of 
activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt and related items. 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds. 

Changes in the net pension obligation and the net OPEB obligation 
do not represent financial activity in governmental funds. 

Changes in thc interest in the underlying nct assets of the joint venture 
do not represent financial activity in governmental flmds. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of 
certain services to individual funds. The net expense of the internal 
service funds is reported within governmental activities. 

Change in net assets of governmental activities 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral pat1 of this statement. 
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$ 239,607,770 

83,105,689 

2,623,305 

1,580,917 

(298,039,633) 

(3,736,004 ) 

(1,393,535) 

6,462,467 

(2,386,439) 

$ ==2:=7=,8=24=,=53=7= 



CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA. 
GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2011 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative) 

Revenucs: 
Real Estate and Personal Property Tax $ 30,404,505 30,404,505 32,586,168 2,181,663 
Taxes Collcctcd by Others 56,317.014 56,317,014 57.959,545 1.642,531 
Sundry Taxes and In Lieu 33,612 33,612 56.055 22,443 
Occupation Taxes 11,764,425 11.764,425 11.982,166 217,741 
Intergovernmental 3,813,352 3,813,352 3,457,174 (356,178) 
Permits and Fees 3,258.531 3,258,531 3.190,409 (68,122) 
Reimbursement for Services 2,989,874 2,989,874 2,848,361 (141,513) 
Court Fees 594.000 594,000 596,781 2,781 
Recreation Receipts 2,116,281 2.116,281 2,128,295 12,014 
Investment Earnings 239.800 239,800 159,302 (80,498) 
Donations 723,722 723,722 725.032 1,310 
Rental Ineome 474.064 474,064 504,794 30,730 
Miscellaneous 2,156,816 2,156,816 2,138,925 ~17,891) 

Total Revenues 114,885,996 114,885,996 118.333,007 3,447,011 
Expenditures: 

General Government: 
Legislative 286,263 286,347 242.765 43,582 
Executive 1,126.728 1,130,843 1.068,484 62,359 
Financial Administration 2.764,538 2,756,371 2,508,454 247,917 
Law 2,456.102 2,470,458 2,455,480 14,978 
Personnel Administration 938,462 942,367 891,388 50,979 
Planning and Zoning 1,851.122 1,861,681 1.831,188 30,493 
Urban Development 897,704 989,714 774.367 215,347 
Misccllaneous 20,520,692 18,524,879 16.528,509 1,996,370 

Total General Government 30,841,611 28,962,660 26,300,635 2,662,025 
Public Safety: 

Police 32.946,001 32,976,027 31,759.280 1,216,747 
Fire 21,897,471 22,918,210 22.959,234 (41.024) 
Traffic Engineering 1,568,249 1,572,323 1,520.663 51,660 

Total Public Safety 56,411.721 57,466.560 56,239,177 1,227,383 
Streets and Highways: 

Street Maintenance 2,656.242 2,688,433 2,242,639 445,794 
Street Lighting 3.915,681 3,915,681 5,056,368 ~I, 140,687) 

Total Streets and Highways 6,571.923 6,604.114 7.299,007 ~694,893) 

Culture and Recrcation: 
Parks and Recreation 11,710,713 11,776,572 11,442,727 333,845 
Libraries 200,603 200,603 200,603 

Total Culture and Recreation 11,911.316 1l,977,175 11.643,330 333,845 
Economic Opportunity: 

Lincoln Area Agency on Aging 257,117 257.117 257,117 
Health and Welfare: 

Lincoln/Lancaster County Health 205,472 205,472 205,472 
Debt Service: 

Issuance and Management Costs 6,806 (6.806) 
Total Expenditures 106.199,160 105,473,098 101,951,544 3,521,554 

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures 8.686,836 9,412,898 16,381,463 6,968,565 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Transfers In 10,541.594 10.541,594 6.663,814 (3,877,780) 
Transfers Out (25,137,193) (25,619.019) (20,827,281 ) 4,791,738 
Proceeds from Issuance of Debt 6,692,500 6,692,500 6,692,500 
Discount on Debt Issued (6,427) (6,427) 
Transfer to Bond Refunding Agent (7,068, 178) (7.068,178) (7,068,178) 
Sale of Capital Assets 95,006 95,006 132,889 37,883 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) ~ 14,876,27l l (15,358,097) {14,412,6831 945,414 

Net Change in Fund Balances (6,189,435) (5,945,199) 1,968,780 7,913,979 

Fund Balances - Beginning 20,986,052 20,986,052 20,986.052 

Fund Balances - Ending $ 14,796,617 15,040,853 22,954,832 7,913,979 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral palt of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA. 
STREET CONSTRUCTION FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2011 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative2 

Revenues: 
Wheel Tax $ I,l 11.500 1,111.500 1,108.379 (3.121 ) 
Special Assessment 425 425 
Intergovernmental 9,044,276 9,044.276 17,601.301 8,557.025 
Pennits and Fees 280,049 280,049 
Reimbursement for Services 400,000 400,000 6,136 (393,864) 
Investment Earnings 50,000 50,000 118,426 68,426 
Miscellaneous 20.620 20.620 

Total Revenues 10,605,776 10,605,776 19,135,336 8,529,560 

Expenditures -- Streets and Highways: 
Personal Services 5,554,680 5,554.680 5,831.956 (277,276) 
Materials and Supplies 1,135, III 1,135,111 986,141 148,970 
Other Services and Charges 4,317,182 4,310,110 4,100.647 209.463 
Capital Outlay 87,127 112,127 40,820 71,307 

Total Expenditures 11,094.100 11,112.028 10,959.564 152.464 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over (Under) Expenditures (488,3242 (506,2522 8,175,772 8,682,024 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Transfers In 12,040,822 12,040.822 12,040.822 
Transfers Out (4,945,556) (4,945,556) (4,945,556) 
Sale of Capital Assets 50,168 50.168 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 7,095,266 7,095,266 7,145,434 50,168 

Net Change in Fund Balances 6,606,942 6,589,014 15,321,206 8,732,192 

Amount Budgeted on Project Basis (11.512,649) (11,512,649) (11,512,649) 

Fund Balances - Beginning 29,269,106 29,269,106 29,269,106 

Fund Balances - Ending $ 24,363,399 24,345,471 33,077,663 8,732,192 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
AUGUST 31, 201 I 

Business-T~2e Activities -- Ente!:21ise Funds Governmental 

Activities --
Lincoln Lincoln Lincoln Other Internal 

Wastewater Water Electric Enterprise Service 
System System System Funds Total Funds 

ASSETS 
Current As~et~: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 2,401,211 1,270,745 18,694,000 2,621.014 24,986.970 4.539,332 
Investments 36,769,000 11,156,521 47,925,521 25.125.374 
Restricted A . ..,seh: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 ,909,000 181.964 12,090.964 1.051,780 
Investments 3.328,000 3,328,000 

Receivables, (Net of Allowance for Uncollectibles) 2,542.929 2.745,516 19.937.000 3285,038 28,510,483 278,248 
Unbilled Revenues 2,386,904 3,848,140 11 ,433.000 17,668.044 
Due from Other Funds 1,214,046 314,208 509,284 2,037,538 1.935,140 
Due from Other Governments 4,305 4,305 258,763 
InventOlies 65.504 932,633 14,385,000 208.378 15,591.515 810,386 
Plant Operation Assets 13,070,000 13,070,000 
Prepaid Expenses 1.072.000 59,985 1,131,985 385,407 

Total Current A"el; 8,610,594 9,111.242 130,597.000 18,026,489 166,345.325 34,,84,430 
Noncurrent Assets: 

Restricted Assets: 
Cash and Cash Equi valents 30.000 3.786.841 3,816,841 
Investments 18,750,789 16,352,689 22,466,000 7,252,107 64,821,585 
Recei vables 124.867 89,967 7,614 222,448 
Due from Other Funds 304,852 304.852 

Total Restricted Assets 18,875,656 16,442,656 22,496,000 11.351.414 69,165,726 
Deferred Charges 704.520 587,005 11.058,000 396,049 12,745,574 135,576 
Capital Assets: 

Land 5,913,340 5,445,167 12.785,779 24,144.286 1.306,950 
Buildings 75.384.901 67,363,431 50,839,978 193,588,310 5,639,207 
Improvement> Other Than Buildings 254.651,742 324.805,770 35,953,374 615,410,886 1,159,425 
Machinery and Equipment 8,596,734 8,569,723 13.188,408 30,354,865 28.260,381 
Utility Plant 1.224,514,000 1,224,514,000 
Construction in Progress 6.189.533 1.511,081 58,267.000 13,607,016 79,574,630 388,182 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (97,384,087) ( 109.692.686) (470,744,000) (52.430.888) (730.251.661) (20,839,627) 
Total Capital Assets. Net 253,352,163 298,002,486 812.037,000 73,943,667 1,437,335,316 15,914.518 

Totall'ioncurrent Assets 272,932.339 315,032,147 845.591.000 85,691,130 1,519,246,616 16,050,094 
Total Assets 281,542,933 324,143,389 976,188,000 103,717.619 1,685,591,941 50.434,524 

LL\BILITIES 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable 319,901 449,849 13,920,000 4,300,121 18,989,871 1.097.429 
Construction Contracts 1.996.813 2.169,341 4,166,154 
Accrued Liabilities 473,855 71>3.871 11.469.000 337,019 13.043.745 419,431 
Accrued Compensated Absences 364.696 427,699 3J5,275 1,107,670 773,045 
Due to Other Funds 990,696 990,696 966.274 
Due to Other Governments 153,941 153.941 570 
Unearned Revenue 935,274 935,274 178,917 
Claims 6,724,159 
Accrued Interest 756,525 122.354 9,136.000 66,315 1O.08l.J94 71,934 
Commercial Paper Notes Payable 90,000,000 90,000.000 
Current Pm1ion of Capital Lease 258,306 258,306 117.597 
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 3,075J)92 5.380.000 18,680.000 1.080.000 28.215,092 
Other 23,264,000 23,264,000 

Total Current Liabilities 6.986.882 9,313,114 166.469,000 8,436,947 191,205,943 10,349,356 
Noncurrent Liabilities: 

Accrued Compensated Absences 194,408 395,957 87.010 677 .375 753,743 

Construction Contracts 1.796.829 193,636 1,990,465 

Claims 4,064,797 

Long-Term Debt, Net 81,138,410 59.884,016 547,604.000 25.637,751 714,264.177 

Capital Lease Payable 751,062 751,062 8.246.025 

Accmed Liabilities 138.352 196,J45 241,73J 576,228 239,927 

Accrued Landfill Closure/Postclosure Care Costs 14.632.000 14,632.000 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 83.267.999 60,669,754 547.604,000 41,349,';54 732,891,307 13,304.492 

Total Liabilities 90,254.881 69.982,868 714.073,000 49.786,50J 924,097 ,250 23,653,848 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 171.395.000 239.387,493 158.775.000 53.393,451 622,950,944 8,602,676 

RestJicted for: 
Debt Service 1.019.749 4J9.376 27,427,000 141,935 29,008,060 

Capital Projects 686.631 39,915 528,804 1,255,350 

Other 46.948 46,948 

Unrestricted 18,J86,672 14.3 13,737 75,913,000 (180.020) 108,233,389 18.178,000 

Total Net Assets S 191,288.052 254.160.521 262,115,000 53,931.118 761,494,691 26.780,676 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31,2011 

Business-TYEe Activities -- Ente!:Erise Funds Governmental 
Activities --

Lincoln Lincoln Lincoln Other Internal 
Wastewater Water Electric Enterprise Service 
S~stem Slstem Sl:stem Funds Total Funds 

Operating Revenues 
Charges for Services $ 22,973.653 28,559,484 261.377 ,000 4.565.087 317,475.224 52.320,810 
Fee, 7.820,398 7,820.398 
Parking Revenue 7,478,545 7.478,545 
Perfornlance Revenue 1,534.158 1,534,158 
Other Operating Revenue 588.197 588.197 

Total Operating Revenues 22.973,653 28,559,484 261 ,377 .000 21.986,385 334,896,522 52.320,810 

Operating Expenses 
Personal Services 7.915575 7,915.575 13508,727 
Contractual Services 5J)01,711 5,001.711 
Operation and Maintenance 11.094,850 13,304,010 16,051,000 6.069,119 46518,979 38,842.696 
Purchased Power 118.295,000 118,295,000 
Depreciation 7,128.253 7,645.046 37.283,000 3,835,786 55,892.085 2,450,247 
Administrative Costs 1.449.114 2,151,017 33,051.000 36,651.131 

Total Operating Expenses 19,672,217 23,100,073 204,680.000 22.822,191 270.274,481 54,801.670 

Operating Income (Loss) 3,301,436 5,459,411 56.697,000 (835,S06) 64,622.041 (2,480,860) 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Investment Earnings 158557 892.051 395,000 119.100 1.564,708 93_~54 

Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets (106,705) (106.705) 72,903 
Insurance Recovery 185,048 18,725 203.773 
Miscellaneous Revenue 448,772 448,772 
Occupation Tax 2,059.361 2.059.361 
Grants 3.658 3,658 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes (9,439.000) (9,439.00()) 
Amortization of Deferred Charges (38,904) (76,887) (861.00u) (23,570) (1 ,000.361 ) 
Interest Expense and Fiscal Charges (3,424,036) (2.907,198) (27,763,000) (727.875) (34.822,109) (167,338) 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (3.119.335) (2,088.376) (37.668,000) 1,787.808 (41,087,903) (S81) 

Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers IS2,lOl 3.371.035 19,029.000 952,002 23,534.138 (2,481,741) 

Capital Contributions 1,081.660 1,902,161 1.653,000 67.962 4.704,783 102540 
Transfers In 159.395 859,305 I,OIS,700 13,421 
Transfers Out (! ,730.0(0) (2.030,109) (3,760,109) (20,659) 

Change in Net Assets 1263,761 5,432,591 18,952,000 (150.S40) 25,497,512 (2,386,439) 

Net Assets - Beginning 190,024,291 248,727.930 243.163,000 54.081.958 735,997.179 29,167,115 

Net Assets - Ending $ 191,288,052 254,160_~21 262,115.000 53,931,118 761,494.691 26.780.676 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOL'I, '1EBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIE'IARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2011 

Business-Type Activities -- Enterprise Funds Governmental 
Adivitic5--

Lincoln Lincoln Lincoln Other Internal 
\Vastcwatcr Water Electric Entcrpris~ Service 

System Systcm System Funds Total Funds 

Cash Flows frolll Operating Activities 
Rec~ipls from Customers and Users S 23.334,696 27,792,022 271,646,000 20,004.326 342,777,044 12,297,69Q 
Receipts from lnterfund Services Provided 219,365 648,301 5,202,000 160,029 6,229,695 40,000,044 
Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services (3,344,814) (4,747,873) (160,171,000) (7,951,306) (176,214,993) (34,264525) 
Payments to Employees (7,277 ,590) (8, lO4,984) (23,YI6,OOO) (7,73 7 .3(8) (47,035,882) (l3,259,037) 
Payments for Interflmd Services Provided (1,702,040) (2,711,605) (3,066,000) (1,977,584) (9,457,229) (2,441,670) 
Other Receipts 45,000 588,197 633,197 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 11,229,617 12,875,861 89,740,000 3,086.354 116,931,832 2,332511 

Cash Flows from Nonc.pital Financing Activities 
Occupation Tax 1,987,948 1,987,948 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes (8,730,000) (8,730,000) 
Transfers trom Other Funds 62::,387 622.387 19,084 
Transfers to Other Funds (1,597,000) (2,030,109) (3,627.109) (1,652) 
Advances from General Fund 1,834553 1,834,553 1373,111 
Repayment of Advances from General Fund 11,544,671) 11,544,671 ) (1,494,027) 
Advances to Other Funds (167,758) (167,758) (lU68) 
Payments from Other Funds 54,320 68,777 290,122 413,219 438.964 
Other Miscellaneous Receipts 448,772 448,772 

l\et Cash Provided (Used) by l\oncapital Financing Activities S4,320 68,777 (10,327,000) 1,44L244 (8,762,659) 324,312 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Additions to Capital Assets (6,303,152) (3,994573) (43,585,000) (12,928,966) (66,811,691) (9,399,846) 
Proceeds from Sak of Capital Assets 13,842 13,842 202,40S 
Insurallc~ Recovery 185,048 18,725 203,773 
Transfer from Other Funds 247,502 247,502 5,000 
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt 4,021,999 20,561,084 24583,083 8,363,622 
Cost of Debt Issuance e82'()00) (20S,523) (547,523) (135,570) 
Net Cost of Retiring Plant (447,000) (447,000) 
Capital Contributions 414,160 1,177,971 1,653,000 3,245,131 
Principal Payments of Capital Lease (318,288) (318,288) 
Principal Payments of Long-Term Debt (2,865,000) 16,310,0(0) ( 17,820,000) (6,680,000) 133,675,000) 
Interest and Fiscal Charges Paid (3,512,090) (3,118,530) (28,342,000) (1,019,428) (35,992,048) (95,404) 

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities (8,059,035) (12,245,132) (88,823,000) (371,052) (109.498.219) (1,059,799) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Proceeds from Sak and Maturities of investments 5,108,370 8,023,611 8,395,459 21,527,440 13,962.241 
Purchases of Investments (9,388,154) 19,727,504) 19,175,0(0) ( 1.1,776,659) (42,067,317) (17,946,578) 
Interest and Other Receipts 375,700 470,210 200,000 308,946 l,354,856 414,016 

N\':t Cash Used by Investing Activities (3,904,084 ) (l,233,683) (8,975,000) (5,072,254) (19.185,f)21) (3,570,321 ) 

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (679,182) (534,177) (l8.38S,000) (91S,70S) (20,S14,067) (1,973,297 ) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 3,OSO,393 I.S04,922 49,018,000 7,505,527 61,408,842 7,564.409 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending S 2,40] ,211 1,270,745 ~O,633,000 6589,819 40,894,775 5,5YLl12 

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash 
Pro,;ded by Operating Activities 

Operating Income (Loss) S 3,301,436 5,459.411 56,697,000 (835,806) 64,622,041 (2,480,860) 
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to 

l\et Cash Provided by Operating Activities: 
Depreciation 7,128,253 7.645,046 37,283,000 3,835,786 55,892,085 2,450.247 
Changes in Assets and Liabilities: 

Accounts Receivable anJ Unbill(.!d Revenues 584,Y08 (117,611 ) (4,543,000) (1.232,727) (5.308.430) 71,305 
Due from Other Funds (31,346) (31,346) (247,302) 

Due from Other Govenlments (474) (474) 118,522 
Inventories 37,476 (92,261) 1,497,000 (27,483) 1,414,732 (109.363) 
Plant Operation Assets 1.021,000 1,021,000 
Prepaid Expenses 4,000 (19.364) 115.364) 9.103 
Other Assets (j ,030,000) (1.030,000) 

Accounts Payable 70,486 (215,245) (1,014'()00) 43,061 (1,115,698) 191,667 

Accrued Liabilities 92,224 IS3,568 138,986 384,778 153,848 

Accrued Compensated Absences 14,834 42,953 39,281 97,068 95,842 

Due to Other Funds 17,653 17,653 (468) 

Due to Oth~r Governments (13,927) ( 13,927) (29.324) 

Uneamcd R~vcnue 30,714 30,714 34,408 

Claims (478,()OO) (47X,000) 2,074,886 

Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities 303,000 303,000 

Acemed Landfill ClosureiPostclosurc Care Costs 1,142,000 1,142,000 

Total Adjustments 7,928,181 7,416A50 3H)43,000 3,922,160 52,309,791 4,813.371 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Acti vitics S 11.229,617 12,875,861 89,740,()00 3,086,354 116,931,832 2,332511 

Supplem~ntal Disclosure of Noncash Investing, 
Capital, and Financing Activities: 

Contribution of Capital Assets S 667,500 724,190 67,962 1,459,652 102,540 

Purchase of Capital Assets on Account 3,793,642 2,362,977 3,348,272 9,504,891 159.503 

Change in Fair Value of Investments (210,635) 439,657 (190A09) 38,613 (270,689) 

R~COh'l1ition of Sales Tax Settlement Paym~nt 332,000 33:!,OOO 

Allowance for Funds in ConstnJcction and Amortization (1,071,000) (1.077,000) 

Th~ nok:s to the financial :-;tatl!mcnts an.~ an integral part of this stakmcnt. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
AUGUST 31,2011 

Police & 
Fire Pension Agency 
Trust Fund Funds 

ASSETS 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 2355,438 3,781,501 
Investments: 

Pooled Investment Funds 2,322,860 
U.S. Agency Obligations 2,243,564 
Corporate Bonds 462,400 
Private Equity 525,252 
Mutual Funds 145,048,224 
Real Estate Limited Partnership 11,901,482 

Total Investments 160,260,218 2,243,564 
Receivables: 

Contributions 434,030 
Accrued Interest 796,691 39,031 
Other 41,193 

Due from Other Governments 188 
Contractor Retainage 797,319 

Total Assets 163,846,565 6,902,608 

LIABILITIES 

Warrants Payable 1,182,481 
Accounts Payable 11,360 213,935 
Accrued Liabilities 6,104 
Accrued Compensated Absences 14,465 
Due to Other Governments 210 3,849,074 
Due to Homeowners 43,604 

Due to Contractors 1,275,391 

Due to Joint Venture 205,384 

Due to Plan Members 14,813 
Due to Bondholders 117,926 

Total Liabilities 32,139 6,902,608 

NET ASSETS 

Held in Trust for Pension Benefits 
and Other Purposes $ 163,814,426 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 

FIDUCIARY FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2011 

Police & 
Fire Pension 
Trust Fund 

Additions: 
Contributions: 

Employer $ 4,470,505 
Employee 2,373,463 

Total Contributions 6,843,968 

Investment Earnings: 
Interest 298,074 
Dividends 3,068,731 
Net Increase in Fair Value of Investments 15,123,330 

Net Investment Earnings 18,490,135 

Total Additions 25,334,103 

Deductions: 
Benefit Payments 10,594,707 
Refunds of Contributions 222,572 
Administrative Costs 729,223 

Total Deductions 11,546,502 

Change in Net Assets 13,787,601 

Net Assets Held in Trust for Pension Benefits 
and Other Purposes - Beginning 150,026,825 

Net Assets Held in Trust for Pension Benefits 
and Other Purposes - Ending $ 163,814,426 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

August 31, 2011 

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

REPORTING ENTITY 

The accompanying financial statements present the government of the City of Lincoln, Nebraska (City) 
and its blended component unit, the West Haymarket Joint Public Agency (WHJPA), established April 2, 
2010, for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Regarding related organizations, the 
City's Mayor appoints and the City Council approves all of the board appointments of the Housing 
Authority of the City of Lincoln. However, the City has no further accountability for this organization. 

Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the government's 
operations. The participants in the WHJPA are the City and University of Nebraska (UNL), and the 
agency is governed by a board consisting of the Mayor, a member of the UNL Board of Regents, and a 
member of the City Council. The purpose of the agency is to make the most efficient usc of the taxing 
authority and other powers of the participants to facilitate the redevelopment of the West Haymarket 
Redevelopment Area. The WHJPA is reported as a major governmental fund in the City's financial 
statements. Complete separate financial statements for the WHJP A may be obtained at the City of Lincoln 
Finance Department, 555 South loth Street, Suite 103, Lincoln, NE 68508. 

FISCAL YEAR-END 

All funds of the City, with the exception of Lincoln Electric System (LES), are reported as of and for the 
year ended August 31, 2011. December 31 st is the fiscal year-end of LES as established by the City 
Charter, and the last separate financial statements were as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
The amounts included in the City's 2011 financial statements for LES are amounts as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2010. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of activities) 
repOli information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component unit. 
Fiduciary activities, whose resources are not available to finance the City's programs, are excluded from 
the government-wide statements. The material effect of interfund activity has been removed from these 
statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 
and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Functional expenses may also include an element of indirect cost, designed 
to recover administrative (overhead) costs. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or 
applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the govermnent-wide financial statements. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

August 31, 2011 

MEASUREMENT FOCU~BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
PRESENT A TION 

The government-wide financial statcments are reported using the total economic resources measurement 
foclls and the accrual basis o( accounting, as are the proprietary fund and tmst fund financial statements. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are 
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have 
been met. Agency funds, rep0l1ing only assets and liabilities, have no measurement focus but use the 
acerual basis of accounting. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are both 
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal 
period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, including interest on long-term debt, as well as expenditures related to 
compensated absences and claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is due. 

Property taxes, sales taxes, highway user fees, interdepartmental charges, and intergovernmental revenues 
are all considered to be susceptible to accmal. Special assessments are recorded as revenues in the year the 
assessments become cun·ent. Annual installments not yet due are reflected as special assessment 
receivables and deferred revenues. Other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available 
only when cash is received by the City. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund finances the day-to-day operation of the basic governmental activities, such as 
legislative, judicial, administration, aging services, police and fire protection, emergency 
communications, legal services, planning, and parks and recreation. Primary resources of the 
fund include property, sales, and occupation taxes. 

The Street Construction Fund accounts for the resources accumulated, primarily highway 
allocation fees received from the State of Nebraska, and the payments made for the maintenance, 
construction, and improvement of the streets and highways in the City. 

The West Haymarket JPA Fund accounts for the activities of the joint public agency, a blended 
component unit of the City, established to facilitate the redevelopment of the West Haymarket 
Area. Occupation taxes imposed on bar, restaurant, car rental, and hotel revenues provides the 
resources to finance the activities of the lP A. 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

The Lincoln Wastewater System Fund accounts for the activities of the City's wastewater utility. 

Thc Lincoln Water System Fund accounts for the activities of the City's water distribution 
operations. 

The Lincoln Electric System Fund accounts for the activities of the City'S electric distribution 
operations. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 

Internal Service Funds account for data processing, engineering, risk management, fleet 
management, municipal services center operations, telecommunications, and copy services 
provided to other departments or agencies of the government, or to other governments, on a cost 
reimbursement basis. 
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The Pension Trust Fund accounts for the receipt, investment, and distribution of retirement 
contributions made for the benefit of police officers and firefighters. 

The Agency Funds account for the collection of various taxes, fines, and fees due to other 
government entities; funds held in escrow for homeowners; good faith money due to contractors 
upon project completion; funds held for payroll taxes and other payroll related payables: funds 
held to pay outstanding warrants; funds to pay phone system charges; funds to pay matured bonds 
and coupons for which the City Treasurer is trustee; funds for the joint administrative entity 
known as JAVA, created to coordinate planning and implementation of the Antelope Valley 
Project; funds deposited by Gateway Shopping Center in fulfillment of a condition of the use 
pennit for expansion; funds for shared library services; and reserve funds held for the Public 
Building Commission Bonds. 

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to November 30, 1989. generally 
are followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those 
standards do not conflict with or contradict pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board. Governments also have the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their 
business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same limitation. Only the City'S Lincoln 
Wastewater System and Lincoln Water System funds have elected to follow subsequent private-sector 
guidance. 

The effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and charges between the business-type 
functions and various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the 
direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, 
fines and forfeitures, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general 
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

Proprietary funds dIstinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the 
enterprise funds and of the government's internal service funds are charges to customers for goods and 
services. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and service, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is generally the City's policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR FUND EQUITY 

Deposits and Investments 

The City'S cash and cash equivalents arc considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-tenn 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. These 
investments are not specifically identified with anyone fund. Interest is allocated to the individual funds 
on the basis of average cash balances. 

The City may invest in certificates of deposit, in time deposits, and in any securities in which the state 
investment officer is authorized to invest pursuant to the Nebraska Capital Expansion Act and the Nebraska 
State Funds Investment Act and as provided in the authorized investment guidelines of the Nebraska 
Investment Council in effect on the date the investment is made. 
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Investments in the Pension Trust Fund are carried at fair value. Investments in other funds are carried at 
fair value, except for short-term investments, which are reported at amortized cost, which approximates fair 
value. Securities traded on a national exchange are valued at the last reported sales price. Investments that 
do not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value, based on relevant market 
information of similar financial instruments. Income from investments held by the individual funds is 
recorded in the respective funds as it is earned. 

Receivables and Payables 

Loans receivable in governmental funds consist of rehabilitation and redevelopment loans that are 
generally not expeeted or scheduled to be collected in the subsequent year. 

Noncurrent portions of long-term receivables due to governmental funds are reported on their balance 
sheets, in spite of their spending measurement focus. Recognition of governmental fund type revenues 
represented by noneurrent reeeivables generally is deferred until they become current receivables. 

Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for governmental fund types 
excludes amounts represented by noncun'ent liabilities. Sinee they do not affect current assets, such 
long-term amounts are not recognized as governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. 

Inventories and Prepaid Items 

All inventories are valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories of governmental 
funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Amounts of governmental fund inventories and vendor prepaid items are reported as unspendable net 
assets to indicate that they do not represent "available spendable resources". 

Certain payments that have been made which benefit future accounting periods and are funded by interfund 
bon'owings, are also recorded as prepayments, with a like amount of interfund liability reflected. These 
prepayments are charged to expenditures on the governmental fund financial statements over the period of 
their related borrowings. On the government-wide financial statements these prepayments have been 
capitalized and are charged to expenditures as the assets are depreciated over their useful lives. 

Deferred Charges 

LES' share of payments made for the construction of the Dry Fork Coal Mine are included in deferred 
charges on the statement of net assets. The mine is expected to provide fuel for Laramie River Station 
over the estimated 25-year life of the mine. The advances will be returned to LES over the estimated life 
of the mine. In addition, costs related to certain capital improvements at Sheldon Station have been 
deferred under accounting pronouncements applicable to regulated utilities. 

Investment in Joint Venture 

Investment in joint venture consists of the City'S interest in the Joint Antelope Valley Authority (see Note 
23), a joint administrative entity reported in the City's financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting. 
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Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastmcture assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
drainage systems, street lights, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business­
type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the City 
as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one 
year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constmcted. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of donation. 

The costs of nonnal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend 
assets lives are not capitalized. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constmcted. Interest 
incurred during the constmction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the 
capitalization value ofthc asscts constmcted. 

Capital assets are dcpreciated using the straight-line method ovcr the following estimated useful lives: 

Assets 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Infrastmcture 
Equipment 
Utility Plant 

Years 
10 - 50 
5 - 40 

20 - 100 
2 - 20 

30 - 40 

The exception to this mle is library media, which is depreciated using a composite depreciation method. 

Compensated Absences 

City employees generally earn vacation days at a variable rate based on years of service. In the event of 
termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation time up to a maximum allowed 
accumulation, which is in no case longer than 37 days. 

Employees eam sick leave at the rate of one day per month with total accumulation limits established by 
the employees' bargaining unit. Upon retirement, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated sick leave 
with maximums depending on the employees' bargaining unit contract. Upon resignation from City 
service an employee may also be compensated for a percentage of accumulated sick leave, again, based on 
the employees' bargaining union contract. In some cases payment may be placed in a medical spending 
account rather than reimbursing the employee directly. LES is covered by a separate personnel plan 
regarding vacation and sick leave with the liability for these benefits recorded in accmed liabilities. 

Vacation leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics are accmed as the benefits are 
earned if the leave is attributable to past service and it is probable that the City will compensate the 
employees for such benefits. Sick leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics are 
accrued as the benefits are earned only to the extent it is probable that the City will compensate the 
employees for such benefits through cash payments conditioned on the employee's termination or 
retirement, and is recorded based on the termination method. Such accmals are based on current salary 
rates and include salary-related payments directly and incrementally associated with payments made for 
compensated absences on termination. 

All vacation and sick leave is accrued when inculTed in the government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary 
fund financial statements. In the governmental funds, only compensated absences that have matured as of 
year-end, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements, are recorded as a fund 
liability. 
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In the government-wide financial statements. and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are defened and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable 
are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as defened 
charges and amortized over the term of the related debt using the bonds-outstanding method. For cunent 
and advance refundings of debt, the difference between the reacquisition price and the net canying amount 
of the old debt is defened and amortized as a component of interest expense over the remaining life of thc 
old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs, during the Clment period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as an other 
financing source. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld 
from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as cunent expenditures. 

Fund Equity 

Fund balances reflect assets minus liabilities in the governmental fund statements. Fund balancc is divided 
into five classifications; nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. Fund balance is 
reported as nonspendable when not in spendable form or legally or contractually required to be maintained 
intact. Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use are either externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors. contributors, or laws or regulations other governments; or imposed by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Fund balance is reported as committed when 
constraints are imposed by formal action (ordinance) of the City Council, the City's highest level of 
decision-making authority. Fund balance is reported as assigned when the intent of the City (resolution, 
executive order) is to use the funds for a specific purpose. Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount 
and may only be reported in the General Fund. 

The City has established a policy providing for an unreserved fund balance in the City'S General Fund. To 
meet excess cash flow needs, no less than twenty percent of the ensuing year's General Fund budget is to 
be set aside as an unrestricted reserve. Cunently $24,912,486 of the General Fund's spendable and 
unrestricted fund balance meets the requirements of this policy. 

Net Assets Classification 

Net assets are assets minus liabilities and are shown in the entity-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund 
financial statements. Net assets are required to be classified into three components - invested in capital 
assets, net of related debt; restricted; and unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - This component of net assets consists of capital assets, net 
of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other 
bonowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those assets. If there 
are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent 
proceeds is not included in the calculation of invested in capital assets, net of related debt. 

Restricted - This component of net assets consists of restrictions placed on net assets use through extemal 
constraints imposed by creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or law or regulations of 
other govemments, or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
The government-wide statement of net assets reports $269,445,378 of restricted net assets, of which 
enabling legislation restricts $16,462,427. 

Unrestricted - This component consists of net assets that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or 
"invested in capital assets, net of related debt." 
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The City Council follows these procedures. set out in the City Charter, in establishing the budgetary data 
reflected in the financial statements: 

1) At least 40 days prior to the end of the budget and fiscal year, the Mayor submits to the City Council a 
proposed annual budget for the ensuing year. The annual budget is a complete financial plan for the 
ensuing budget year and consists of an operating budget and a capital budget. 

2) Public hearing on the proposed budget is scheduled for not later than 10 days prior to the budget 
adoption date. 

3) Not later than 5 days prior to the end of the fiscal year, the budget is legally adopted by resolution of 
the City Council. 

4) The Mayor is authorized to transfer unencumbered balances between appropnatlOns of the same 
department or agency. The Mayor also has authority to lower appropriations in any fund where actual 
revenues are less than appropriated in order to avoid incurring a budget deficit for the year. 

Appropriation transfers between depaltments or agencies may only be authorized by resolution of the 
City Council. The Council may not make any appropriations in addition to those authorized in the 
annual budget, except that it may authorize emergency appropriations in the event of an emergency 
threatening serious loss of life, health, or property in the community. 

5) Budgets for all funds are adopted on a basis inconsistent with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAP). Since encumbrances al'e included in the City'S budget 
accounting, year-end encumbrances are reappropriated to the next year in the budget process. Val'ious 
funds have expenditures automatically appropriated through the budget resolution, based on funds 
available. These expenditures are reflected in the original and final budgets at amounts equal to the 
actual expenditures. Budget basis expenditures are presented on a cash basis. 

Amendments to the adopted budget were made this year and resulted from prior fiscal year 
encumbrances identified subsequent to budget adoption, appropriation of unanticipated revenues to 
certain funds as provided in the budget resolution, and appropriation revisions between or among 
departments as provided for under the City Charter. 

6) Appropriation controls are required at the departmental level. However, as a matter of policy and 
practice, appropriations generally are controlled at the next level of organization (division) or by fund 
within a department. 

7) Operating appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year except for capital improvement 
appropriations and year-end encumbrances against operating budgets. Capital improvement 
appropriations are continuing appropriations through completion of the project. 

8) Budgets are adopted by resolution for the following fund types: general, special revenue, debt service, 
capital projects, permanent, enterprise, internal service, and pension trust. Legally adopted annual 
budgets are not established for the West Haymarket JPA component unit, certain special revenue 
(Advance Acquisition, Police & Fire Pension Contributions, Special Assessment, Impact Fees, Parks 
& Recreation Special Projects, Seniors Foundation of Lincoln & Lancaster County, and R.P. Crawford 
Park), permanent (11. Hompes), Fast Forward, and agency funds. In addition, capital project funds 
are budgeted on a project rather than an annual basis. 

ENDOWMENTS 

The Community Health Permanent Endowment Fund was established in 1997 with the $37,000,0()() cash 
proceeds realized by the City from the sale of Lincoln General Hospital, and may be increased by 
donations, bequests, or appropriations to the fund. Investment earnings of the fund are used for funding 
health and health-related programs that further the health, safety, or welfare of the citizens of Lincoln. 
Earnings deposited with the City Treasurer shall be paid out only by order of those persons designated by 
the Community Health Endowment (CHE) Board of Trustees as outlined in the Fiscal and Budget 
Directives policy between the CHE and the City. State law directs that, subject to the intent of a donor 
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expressed in the gift instrumcnt, an institution may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of 
an endowment fund as the institution determines is pmdent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and duration 
for which the endowment fund is established. The current amount of net appreciation available for 
expenditure is $19,077,332, which is reported as expendable health care restricted net assets in the 
statement of net assets. The initial endowment principal is reported as nonexpendable health care 
restricted net assets in the statement of net assets. 

PRIOR-YEAR SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The basic financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative inforn1ation in total but 
not at thc level of dctail required for a presentation in conforn1ity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such infOlmation should be read in conjunction 
with the City'S basic financial statements as of and for the year ended August 31, 2010, from which the 
summarized information was derived. Also, certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been 
reclassified in order to be consistent with the current year's presentation. 

ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses/expenditures during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 

IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

In 2011, the City implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and 
Governmental Fund Type Definitiolls, which establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a 
hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to observe constraints imposed on 
the use of resources reported in the governmental funds, thereby enhancing the usefulness of fund balance 
information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more consistently applied. 

Adoption of GASB 54 also clarified the existing governmental fund type definitions, changed how the City 
reports various fund activities, and resulted in the following beginning fund balance adjustments: General 
Fund $8,417,471, Athletic Field & Facilities Improvements $(628,453), Lincoln Area Agency on Aging 
$(326,980), 911 Communications $(560,848), Unemployment Compensation $(163,329), Fast Forward 
$(6,480,191), Development Services Center $(257,670) and Street Construction $741,714, Snow Removal 
$(741,714). 

In 2011, the City implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 59, Financial Instruments Omnibus. 
which looks to improve existing standards regarding financial reporting and disclosure requirements of 
certain financial instruments and external investment pools for which significant issues have been 
identified in practice. The implementation of GASB 59 did not have a material impact on the financial 
statements. 

(2) RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
BALANCE SHEET AND THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 

The governmental funds balance sheet includes a reconciliation between jimd balance - total 
governmentalfund~ and net assets of govemmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement 
of net assets. One element of that reconciliation explains, "Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, 
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds." The details of 
the $476,250,929 difference are as follows: 
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Bonds Pa)cable 
I £S'i ddcrrcd charge for issuance ';0,1>; 

Le"s i"suafll,:e discounts 
Plus issuance premiums 
Less ddcrred dlarge on refunding 

Capital Lca~c~ Payahlc 
Accrued Interest Payable 
Net Pension Obligation 
Net OPEB Obli!!atlon 
Compensated :\bsem:cs 

Net diikft!llCC 

S 425583.495 
«(j Jl2(j 590 I 
(J .005,247) 
')J 7').477 
(155.456) 

:!5J 83,737 
} ,940,249 
:\,757 J)l7 
3.137,094 

12.657.153 

$ 476.250.929 

EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES AND THE 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

The governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures. and changes in fund balances includes a 
reconciliation between net change illfimd balances - total governmentalfill1ds and change in net assets of 
governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One element of that 
reconciliation explains, "Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as 
depreciation expense." The details of this $83,105,689 difference are as follows: 

Capital outla) 
Ot'prcciation cxpt'nst' 

Net difference 

S I07.295.9!l1 
(24.190.293) 

$ H3,J(}5,6H9 

Another element of that reconciliation states, "The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides 
current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt 
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any 
effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, 
and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
statement of activities." The details of this $(298,039,633) difference are as follows: 

Debt issued Of in,:ulTed: 
Issuane.; of gen.;ral obligation stormwatcr bl'll(is 
Issuance of general obligation refunding bonds 
Is-'iUann' of g<'neral ohligation fal'iiry hnn(l-; 
Issuance of tax allocation bonds 
Issuan.:.: of ~pcci,li assessment 

revn! vin!): fund bond, 
Issuance of c<lpital leaS(' 
Is'ilIancl' of ccrtitkalcs of partidpatinn 
DcfclTcd charge for issuance costs 
h;~U<l!KC di~cuunt;, 

bsuallce premiums 
Amorti:Wlioll of dderrcd itt'ms 
Principal repaymenh 

Net difference 

'5 

S 
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(g .200,0(0) 
( ! 9.290 J1(0) 

nOO DOO DO() 
(263.00m 

(1.100.(JOO) 
(.H I 75(0) 
n.! 15 J)OO) 
4.449.524 

995.009 
(6,750.2JO) 

28229 
J9,LB3J:'l 

(298.039.033) 
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Another element of that reconciliation states, "Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not 
require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 
govemmental funds." The details of this $(3,736,004) difference are as follows: 

Los, on dispo,al of c(lpital assets 
C(ln~IHlcti()n contmcts 

Other 
;\cI:rucd interest 
Compensated abscl\<.·cs 

Net difference 

(3) RESTRICTED ASSETS 

s (537.041) 
(24().~17) 

245,0:12 
t2,296.417) 

i~,)X.261 ) 

5> ==(:=.'l=.7=36:=J=)()=4=) 

Certain proceeds of the enterprise funds revenue bonds and resources set aside for their repayment are 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net assets because their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants. Assets included in the Bond Principal and Interest Account and the Bond Reserve Account are 
restricted for the payment of bond principal and interest. Assets included in the Smplus Account and the 
Depreciation and Replacement Account are restricted for purposes including improvements, repairs and 
replacements, acquisition of equipment. and the payment of bond principal and interest. Assets included in 
the Construction Account are restricted for paying the cost of the capital projects. 

Certain assets of the Pershing Municipal Auditorium Enterprise Fund are classified as restricted assets to 
be used for improvements. 

A recap of restrictions and related balances at August 31, 20 11, are as follows: 

Per~hinf: Solid Lincoln Linwln Lmcoln 
Ptlrking :'1unidptll Waste \Vastev,:ater WaleI' Electric 

Fund A<;.;oum Faci1i,jc~ Auditoriulll ~1amlgemcm S"'lcm S)·stem SyslCrll Total" 
Principnl and 

Interest 'I; 192.679 I.JJOJ)40 346.521 15.237.000 17.106.240 
Reserve 2JJg575 +00.000 6.206.165 9X2~5<)7 22,496.000 41.169.3:'7 

Depreciation and 
Rcplal'cmenl 930,475 930.475 

Cothlrm'liu\'i 7595,811 1.:I.8IX nJ>9A51 o.267,5'l8 1.'i.217.('>18 

('''pill' I Pn\It'<.'ls 14Jl72 I.:IJl72 

\I<lrkcling 46,941( 4(1-9411 
'\; I [J)575,~(J 61,020 4J4.818 jg.R7'.ti56 16A42.65ti ~7):n.OO() R4jg,I,690 

Resources of the pelmanent funds totaling $37,160,000 are legally restricted to the extent that only 
eamings and not principal may be used to support the City's programs. 

(4) DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

DEPOSITS 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, a govemment's deposits may not be 
retumed to it. The City's deposit policy for custodial credit risk requires compliance with the provisions of 
state law. 

State Statutes 15-846 and 15-847 R.R.S., 1943 require banks either to provide a bond or to pledge 
govemment securities (types of which are specifically identified in the Statutes) to the City Treasurer in 
the amount of the City'S deposits. The Statutes allow pledged securities to be reduced by the amount of the 
deposit insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). 
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One or more of the financial institutions holding the City's cash accounts are participating in the FDIC 
Transaction Account Guarantee Program. Under the program, through December 31. 2012, all 
non interest-bearing transaction accounts at these institutions are fully guaranteed by the FDIC for the 
entire amount in the account. For interest-bearing cash accounts, the City's cash deposits, including 
certificates of deposit, are insured up to $250,000 by the FDIC. Any cash deposits or certificates of 
deposit in excess of the $250,000 FDIC limits are covered by collateral held in a Federal Reserve pledge 
account or by an agent for the City and thus no custodial risk exists. 

INVESTMENTS 

At August 31, 20 11, the City had the following investments, matm1ties and credit ratings: 

(tellerul Cit~·: 

[!,S, TrcJ'u,y ot,hj,l;\tl'.'u, 
1 ~ .S. Sllt~fhnn:d Agl;'rtcy Oh!ig~ltipnl'> 
(\lllatrr.;.!i/cd R...:purdms(;' {\¥n,:·~rn(.'nls 
(·oUatcr1.~!i/.(.;d Inh~I,,(!nl'tlt AIU'1..T.!m:nb 

('nIJatcr.:tlih..~J In\\~qnlCnt )\l!r(''''n1cHts 
!vlnn('Y \brk~>l FtHHt .. ~ t ·.S "l'r.t;,li.,Ury 

'-ton,'), :\1arkl'l FUfUh l-.s. ;\~t:m:h::-. 

Tax fnCrrtn(.'U1 Hnan(.'in~~ hn",~,!>(rn(.'nh 

Fi\~d IrK'orne \luhl<.d Fumh. 
Eql!Jltl(,~ 

(\!lnpkn~<"nt.ar:· Str;'lh:~l~:-' 
l<.1.'at ,i\S'5'~'b 

('ommuuit~' lI~alth I-:tldoWIIICllt: 

\Inncy \l~trk~l \Iutual Fund ... 
.\hnulIl Fund .... 

{'H~l\{'f1jhk Hnn(h 
IW.ll!tlliunai FUilth 

FI'(cd Inc~lTnc 
Ill.t.cHtlt':diatc Ti..·ffn Cn:dtt 

L;,,~( CIP &luitv 
Int<:nlatitm~~1 E.,tuil: 
High y,tld gOlld, 
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CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statemcnts 

August 31, 2011 

INVESTMENT POLICIES 

General City Policy 

Generally, the City's investing activities are managed under the custody of the City Treasurer. Investing is 
performed in accordance with the investment policy adopted by the City Council complying with state 
statutes and the City Charter. The City may legally invest in U.S. government securities and agencies, 
U.S. government sponsored agencies, and in bank repurchase agreements. It may also invest to a limited 
extent in corporate bonds, bankers' acceptances, and investment agreements. 

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial crcdit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investment securities that arc in the 
possession of an outside party. 

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest 
rates, the City's investment policy limits cun-ent operating funds to be invested with maturities of not 
longer than twenty-four months. Fixed income investments held in construction funds, operating funds, 
and other nonoperating funds are limited to ten-year matm1ties. Investment agreements are not subject to 
interest rate risk, as the issuer guarantees the interest rate. Money market mutual funds and external 
investment funds are presented as investments with a maturity of less than one year because they are 
redeemable in full immediately. Tax Increment Financing investments are allowed to exceed 10 years as 
the interest rates are guaranteed by the fund and the investment is made within the City's funds. 

Credit Risk. Credit Risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. The City's investment policy establishes requirements for certain investment securities to be 
rated at certain rates or higher without having collateral pledged to the City. The following investment 
types must be rated at the minimum rates noted below: 

Money Markets 
Corporate Notes 
Investment Agreements 

S&P 
AA 
AA­
AA-

Moody's 
Aa 
Aa3 
Aa3 

Investment agreements are made with provIsIOns that if the provider is downgraded below Aa3 by 
Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) or AA- by Standard & Poor's (S&P) the provider must deliver 
collateral of U.S. Government agencies obligations at a margin of [04% and if the provider is further 
downgraded, the City will have the right to terminate the agreement and receive all invested amounts plus 
accrued but unpaid interest without penalty. As of August 31, 2011, the investment agreements were 
adequately collateralized with U.S. Government agencies obligations that had a rating of Aaa by Moody's 
and AA+ by S&P. 

The external investment funds are held in the City's idle fund pool and are comprised of Nebraska Public 
Agency Investment Trust (NPAIT) and Short-Term Federal Investment Trust (STFIT). NPAlT and STFIT 
invest in only the highest quality securities, including U.S. government, rated U.S. sponsored agencies, and 
guaranteed student loans. 

Type 

U.S. agency ohligatinns: 
Feder:.d Hom<~ I,oan Bank 

Federal Honw Loan Mmtgug:c Cpl'pof<ltion 
Federail"tltiol1ul Mortgage Association 

Federal Farm Credit Bank 

PortfoliO 
Composition 
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:m.){~ t,:i 

')26 

20.17 

_~.R I 

Policy Limits 
on Issuer 

40.00 Iii 

40.00 

40.00 

40.00 



CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

August 31, 2011 

Concentration of Credit Risk. The City's investment policy places various limits on the amount that may 
be invested in anyone issuer. Per the policy. allocation limits do not apply to the investment of proceeds 
from issuance of debt. These investments shall be governed by the debt covenant included in the debt 
instrument. Non-compliance due to a decrease in investment balance does not require corrective action. 

Community Health Endowment (CHE) Policy 

As a public endowment fund, under State law, CHE is permitted to invest in the manner required of a 
prudent investor acting with care, skill and diligence under the prevailing circumstance, without restrictions 
as to the type and limits of investments. 

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial crcdit risk is the risk that. in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, CHE will not be able to recover the value of its investment securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party. 

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest 
rates. CRE's investment policy requires the average duration of the fixed income portfolio to be no more 
than 120% of the appropriate fixed income benchmark. Mutual and institutional funds are presented as an 
investment with a maturity of less than one year because they are redeemable in full immediately. 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. It is CHE's policy to limit its investments in fixed income securities to issues with at least 
BBB-/Baa3 ratings. Short-term tixed income issues should have a minimum A-2/P-2 rating. 

Concentration of Credit Risk. CRE limits the percentage of cost that may be invested in anyone industry, 
company and issuer. CHE's portfolio shall not own more than 5% of the outstanding securities of any 
single issuer. Exceptions are allowed where a fund's benchmark includes securities greater than 3%, in 
which case the investment manager may have no more than the securities index weight plus 2%. The 
entire portfolio shall have no more than 5'% of its assets invested in the securities of anyone issuer. with 
the exception of U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies obligations. 

Foreign Currency Risk. This risk relates to adverse affects on the fair value of an investment from changes 
in exchange rates. CRE had no investment denominated in foreign currency at August 31, 2011. 

Police & Fire Pension Trust Policy 

The Police & Fire Pension Trust Investment Board, established by the City Council in accordance with the 
Lincoln Municipal Code chapter 4.62, directs and oversees the trust's investments for the sole benefit of 
plan participants and beneficiaries. The board also provides oversight and directions to the plan 
administrator with regard to the investments of the trust's funds. The daily management responsibility of 
the trust and routine investment transactions are delegated to the plan administrator. 

The Police & Fire Pension Trust is allowed to invest in domestic and international equity funds, domestic 
and foreign bonds, real estate, mortgage-backed sccurities, and other alternative investments. 

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, Police & Fire Pension Trust will not be able to recover the value of its investment 
securities that arc in the possession of an outside party. 

Interest Rate Risk. The Investment Board for the Police & Fire Pension Trust compares the risk and 
return characteristics derived from the actual perfornlance of the Fund, separate asset classes and specific 
securities to appropriate benchmarks, financial indices and/or funds at least annually. Asset allocation. 
investments, and/or investment managers are adjusted as necessary by this monitoring. 
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Credit Risk. The policy states that the plan will select appropriate investments, or investment manager(s), 
to fill eaeh asset class allocation. The individual investment, or investment managers, chosen shall be 
those determined to meet the board's objectives in terms of their overall combination of risk, return, and 
liquidity. 

Concentration of Credit Risk. It is the desire of the board that no more than 5% of assets may be from a 
single corporate or sovereign issuer exclusive of the U.S. government. The board reviews assets to 
monitor the concentration of overlapping securities held by multiple mutual funds. 

Summary of Deposit and Investment Balances 

Following is a reconciliation of the City'S deposit and investment balances as of August 31, 20 II: 

Inyestments 
Deposits and Cash on Hand 

Cash and Cash Eyuivaients 
Investments 
Restricted Assets: 

Ca~h anu Cash E4uivah::llt~ 
Investments 

$ 725.514.612 
21.166.HS! 

$ 746.6111503 

Govcrnment-wide 

Statement of 
Net Assel~ 

$ 170.971351 
284 jl()O.26 I 

16.959.585 
105 .JOt} .5x5 

S 57S.()40.7!l2 

43 

Fiduciary Fuml, 

Sta!emcnt of 
Net Assets 

6,136,9.39 
1 62.:>OJ.7X2 

16X,Mo.nl 

Totals 

177.IOR.290 
447"'04J)43 

16.959.585 
105.3095115 
746.681503 
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Fund balances are classified as unspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. The City 
generally follows this same order in spending available resources unless special circumstances apply. The 
following provides details of the aggregate amounts displayed on the face of the balance sheet: 

Fund Ba lances: 
NOl1spendablc: 

Inventory 
Pr.:paid Items 
f'cl1llanent hilld Princ:ipnl 

Restricted For: 
Capitallmprovcments 
f hunan Services 
Donor Purpose's 
Public Impnwcm.::nts 
Ag<:ncy Activities 
Land Purchases 
Social Security Obligations 
Community Bctlt'rmc111 
Fcdcrul Lonn Pr(lgru1ll~ 
Gr~l1t Programs 
SPt'cllIJ Assessment Improvemcl1b 
Debt S.:rvicc 
Health Care 
Library \kdia 

Committed To: 
Public Access Televisiol1 

Assigned to: 
Capital Improvements 
Donnr Purposes 
Publ ic Illlpl"Ov.:mcnts 
Athletic facility Improvcments 
Senior C'im: 
Emergency Communications 
Economic Dcvdopmclll Pwjccl~ 
Snow R"moval 
Land Pun:ha1ies 
Puhlic Access TeI""i ,inn 
l-ir.rary Service, 
H"alth Care 
Social Security Obligations 
Public Tm!l~portati()!l 
Community Betlernwnt 
Building Code Enforcement 
Park Projt'cts 
Otlwr Purpos"s 

\lajor funds 
West 

Genera! Slr.:cl IhlYllllOftk.:t 
Fund Construction JI'A 

S 472,1152 450.225 
6.41X,91;1; 

450.225 

S06.S54 22359,2S0 215,766.74l 
R20,o:n 

2J65.X23 
2.033.029 

5.525,73'l 2235,).2~0 225,4()7,129 

75:\75 J 

4SS,902 
9()5.X62 
246.132 
929,640 

6.40~J44 

4.()!5.763 
13.750,394 

15.5K65.;3 

13.192.256 

13.669J)63 

225.432,904 

44 

Other 
Funds 

495.115 

J 7.160,000 
ntis:'.! I:; 

13.74M5S 

I,02~.33!\ 

RI4Jl43 
I.X40J59 

J9,R37.(){)() 
2,274.7~6 

4'l7JQ3 
16,060All 
19.077.312 

47~,7i\6 

77.()46.7{J~ 

6.B.206 

207.940 

16.055 
II,M6 

2.n~.(m 

599.716 
351.432 
R69,494 

19~225 

2.479)\99 
148,)67 

7,636.')67 

( 140J156) 

Total 

1,417,522 
6.444.763 

.Ii,I60,OOO 
45.022.2~~ 

252,31';] ,333 
1120.0.1.> 

J55l\.IX9 
2,033,()2<) 

9.MO.38l\ 
1.02llJ:li\ 
~J4J)43 

I.X40,359 
1 ').837,O()[) 

2.274.7t!6 
497)<23 

16,060.411 
J9.077.:U2 

475,786 
330,338,X50 

633.206 

I .'\.400,196 
7:'5.7) 1 
48~.902 

9(t\~62 

246.132 
929.640 

6.408.344 
476JW7 

16,055 
II.M6 

2,922.075 
:'99.71(, 
351,432 
:-;69,494 
19.225 

2,479.i\99 
1485()7 

4.015,763 
35,055.524 

15.44(,,477 

I 22J1.3 I .(l3.:1 4~6.496.342 
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(6) RECEIVABLES AND DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 

Receivables at August 31, 2011, consist of the following (in thousands): 

(knt'ml 

Streff ('Hn~tn;~twn 

WN I bYl11<1rkd JPA 
\\'.ht('\', ah~f S} <;t~m 

Water SY!ltcm 

Ek'Ufk S:- ~km 
Snnm.IJOf 

S!"t';al Rc'cnuc 
Oebi S<n j.:" 
(,!pit<ll Pn)jt'!.:!:­

Pcrm~m~nt 

Emerr"''' 
imtrrt;.iI Sen-ii'l:: 
FkIU(I'II: 

.sbX';,:i~l ,-\"x:-<:-n1t;;nt 
~ ~ ~ OmtrihuH~1lV': em-em DcrtIT~;;J 

I !lSi 35' 
4,9.'0 
6594 

31,x07 

717 

7,7,\9 

IliA 
______ ~I _ ___ ___ ".;...h_' 

:\((nh:d 

tn!\.!It::-.( 

If! 

lie 
8)(, 

(jw:-~ 

RI.!(!.,j\a.hh-·, 

5)i1. 
L5X5 
1,:XI 
5/)55 
6hn4 

,~2,~)4) 

:tl,::~tt 

2~-U 

741 

Allo",m« For 
t'nl'H!hx:ttbk:-. 

,\1370 

215" 
2.1.\1 

791 

4S~H ,~.~9.t 

27S 
lJlI 

6.f>12 56 ... !\) e45X.l == __ ===9",,=',= },4.12 ===9=1;,,'~_='2= ===,,;,,;,;;;,,;= 

Enterprise funds customer accounts receivable include unbilled charges for services. Delinquent special 
assessment receivables at August 31, 2011, were $229,861. 

The total of Due From Other Govemments of $29,419,582 includes the following significant items: 

Fund/Fund Type 
GeneraliMajor Governmental 

Street Construction/Major Governmental 

West Haymarket JP AlMajor Governmental 

LincolniLancaster Co. Health/Special Revenue 

StarTran/Special Revenue 

Federal Grants/Special Revenue 

Antelope ValleyiTax Supported BondsfDebt Service 

Vehicle Ta'{/Capital Projects 

Information Services/Internal Service 

Insurance Revolving/Internal Service 

Copy Services/Internal Service 

Subtotal 

All other 

Total Due From Other Governments 

S 

$ 

45 

Amount 
9.669,716 

408,829 

93.761 

90,740 

3,203,486 

38,072 

7,693,368 

107,319 

812,558 

809.449 

345,732 

122.807 

3,943,336 

549,903 

19,019 

166,666 

\'051,635 

221,189 

13,348 

15,139 

29.376,072 

43,5\0 

22412582 

Service 
State of Nebraska, July/August 
Sales and Use Tax 

August Motor Vehicle Taxes 
Collected by Lancaster County 

Federal Government, Cost Reimbursements 

Lancaster County, Cost Reimbursements 

State of Nebraska, July/August 
Highway User Fees 

Railroad Transportation Safety District, Cost 
Reimbursements 

Federal Government, Cost Reimbursements 

August Motor Vehicle Taxes 
Collected by Lancaster County 

Federal Government. Cost Reimbursements 

State of Nebraska, Cost Reimbursements 

Lancaster County, Cost Reimbursements 

Federal Government, Cost Reimbursements 

Federal Government, Cost Reimbursements 

State of Nebraska, Cost Reimbursements 

Lincoln Public Schools, Cost Reimbursements 

State of Nebraska, July/August Development 
Fund Disbursements 

August Motor Vehicle Taxes 
Collected by Lancaster County 

Lancaster County Billings 

Lancaster County Billings 

Lancaster County Billings 



(7) CAPITAL ASSETS 

CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

August 31, 2011 

Capital asset activity for the year ended August 31, 2011 was as follows: 

Bcg~nning 

Balances lncrc;!~c> 

Governmental Activith.'S: 
Carital A,,,-·h. not o<'in;; DqJrc.:ia!c·d: 
Land S 1)~.866.125 6JK14.7S1 

COll'tmC\lon in Pro)!re!.s 88.611.001 80.877 .695 

'Il)[al Capita! :\"eL'. Ilm being LXpreciak'O 152.487.126 86.882,477 

Capital A,,,-·h.l,,·int; Dqncdm.:J: 
Buildings 76lJ62582 5,90.1.637 

Impnwcmellls Other '111an Building:; 6-1,922.165 1,666.7hl) 

Ma.:hinCfyand E<Juipm.:nt 81.61\2,70,1 10,876.217 
Infwstructurc 534.930.606 1428'i.600 
TI)tal Capital :\s~~t>. being LRpredat~d 75lU9SJJ57 32.732113 

Less i\i:cmnulawd Ikprc":IJtion i(Jr: 
Bt.ilding> 30.712.352 2.1)(>1.624 

hnpro'l'ment~ Othn Th"ll Buikling> 26,732.724 j .96~J)7~ 

Machinery and Equipment 50.081.7(>7 6,655.949 
InfraMrut'ture 180,361,967 15,<J.'i4.~l{t) 

Tntal At:cunmlatct! I:k'Pn,datiun 287 ,88lUO 0 26 .64(l ,540 

Total Capita! A,sets. bein~ l>eprccimcu. Net 470.3tJ'l247 6,091.6113 

GU'-l'HlJHcntal Adivjtic~ Capital A~~ch, Kd S 622.796,37.; 92.974,HiO 

B.:giuuing 
Balanc..:, * InCrC-aM!S 

Husiness-type Ac!hities: 
('apital A''''''h. not hl,in!,: Dqun:ialct!: 
Lanu S 2L9505:'i2 2.1 93.7,H 
Cnmlm.:tiou in Pmgre,s 50372'(i77 6 i .(j6,f .(J06 
lotal Capita! .\""ct". nil! being J)cpreciawd 72J2J.2:!Y 69,X57.740 

O.pilllj A,,,-'K heing Deprl'<;i;t!ctI: 
Buildings 19,UHU67 464.387 
Improvement,; Olhcr TI1:m Building" (,IU,9OJ,096 I 1.62 I.! 85 
Ma(:hincry and Fqnipm<'nt ~9J ~,~.7K:: 1521.574 
t'tilhy Plant 1'!99 .. ~nO()O 27J().l,()()() 
Total Capita! :\s,cb, being Dcprecial.:J :; ,025 .71-1.045 4(),9? J ,1-16 

L,)" Accumulated D('pr'~"ia1i"n ji,!': 
Building;; 66,766,6;14 4.3:~,1591 
!mpmvemcnt~ Otlwr 11MO [luUdin!!> 157.788.519 12.'131,.105 
M'\c'hin~ry and Equipment 16 ,l{I) l.771 I,X4.HI88 
Utility Phm1 416.1 ,6JH~1 n':>Xlnnn 
T"tal Acc'Ulnuiakd Depreciation 677 .5X2,934 55.~<}2,()85 

Total Capital Assets. being Depredated, Nd U4iU3LlII t 14.9:!O.93<}) 

Bu~inc"-type A,'t;"tic, Capita! A'~b. Net S 1..120.,15·D·lO 5,t .936$0 1 

46 

El1Jill~ 

DCI...Teases Balance, 

20.000 (9)';50.907 

1.573.719 167.92·1.977 
!.,)93.719 2.l7.77~.i\i\4 

3,10.607 82,225,612 

179536 (>{":109J9li 

6,924.li07 1\5,6-'4,114 
5(1.1.091 :;4K,7LUI5 

8.0..J8.0..fl 781.!l!l1,JJ9 

292.755 32.4~ 1121 
268.92fl 28:1.~2AR2 

6.7l:S~,619 49.949.097 
51.202: 196 ,26:'i .0'\4 

7 ,4()] ,496 ,,07 .1 27 )(,;4 

64654'\ 475.754.JliS 

2,24{),264 7 U,5,,0269 

Ending 
Dccrca,c> ll;\I.mccs 

24.144286 
38,462'()53 79.5 7,\ .6':1() 
,,8,462,053 IO.l,7IX.916 

1,86.2-14 t9.'l581UlO 
I Ll}9) 615.4W,llX(' 

290,491 <0.,<54,8(,5 
2227 DOO 1.124,5J 4,000 
2.817,l30 2 J163.868J)61 

163.217 7(},93~,O[l) 

110.152 no, 109 ,7 72 
274.989 I~A59,870 

',1,7VIOn .t70.74400f) 
}.12~J~N 730,151.661 

(-lO6.228) '3.'.'.616.400 

~~,055J~2:i U37J~:iJI6 
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Govcl1lmemal t\crivilles: 
Gen,'ml Government 
Public Sakly 
Streets and IIighways. including Infr;\slrU(mln: 
Culture and Recreatioll 
Economic Opportunity 
Heillth and Welf,lre 
Ma~., Transit 

Subtotal 
Internal Service Funds Capital Assets 

Ikprecilltion is charged to the various 
fUllctions based tin usage ,)1'l11e nssc(s. 

Totnl Ocprt'cimion Expel],;c - (iOH'mnwnrnl 

Business ·type Anivities: 
Parking LOb 

Gnlt 
Parking facilities 
Pershing .'vlunicipaJ Auditorium 
Solid Waste lManagcmcnt 
Emergency Medical Services 
\Vastcwatcr System 
Water SYMcm 
Lincoln Ekctrk System 

Total Depreciation Expense - Business-type 

::; 

:1; .! 

$ 

1.1 56Jn6 
1.l\\)'),1)85 

15,.118,875 
Jj93.628 

<;2520 
2%3M 

1.872.()44 
24.190,21)3 

2.4:;O,2,n 
20.040540 

28.mn 
591.046 

1.1.'3,1)80 

21355 
1.969J)6R 

92.2.')6 
7.12R,253 
7,645,046 

37,283,000 

S ==5,=5.=89=2=.0=.8=5= 

Capital asset activity of each major enterprise fund was as follows: 

Bl'ginning 
Ihlanc<"s hl('n. ... as~s 

Lincoln Wastewater System: 
Capital As,~ts. nOI hcing Depreciatet!: 
! .and S 5,X20.KH 9::.507 
Constrw:lion in Prugrcss 6524586 5.945,499 
Total Capital Assets, 11m hel11.O; Depreciated 12.345A19 6.0J8J)()6 

Capital A"ds. heing ()"pre,mtcd: 
lluilding.s 15J59.ti9l{ 25.203 
Impwvemenls Oth,'r Than Building-. 247J\2X.Ol)J 6.937.134 
Ma"hinef'j ant! Equipment 11551.7.11 68.483 
Towl Capita! Assets. being Depredilled 331.739A~2 7.0.10Jl20 

I ,ess A,xulll,!lat",1 Depreeiat;on Ii,,., 
Buildings 215h7J75 I :nn,959 
Improwm"nls Other Than Buildings 64..167)11) 4.91)0,488 
M;,,;hinery and Equipment 4.447544 4()J,X06 
'[hlal A,XIIU1ulatcd Dcpl'c;.:i;uinn 'lOJiQ.035 7.11X,2:F 

Tolal Cupital A"tt" !k',ng Dcpl'C'dak<l. Ncl 2~1357397 (97.,133) 

\";ls!~"atC'r Sy,lt'm Cupil.,l A,,':b. ~CI $ 25".702.816 5.94057,~ 
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6.280.552 
6}8()5~2 

11:1.395 
23.480 

1.'\6.875 

110,152 
1(>,049 

126,101 

10,67,> 

6,291.226 

Ending 
B'lbnc," 

),'113,340 

6.189533 
12,102,873 

75.'X.>,901 
254.651.7-l2 

8596}34 
3J~.63JJ77 

2.'.27 1.1 :14 
69.217 .652 
·UN5JOj 

97JH4JJH7 

24I,2-t9,290 

253.352.163 
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Bct!inning 
Balances 

Lincoln Water System: 
Capi!,J! ;\"ds. flol h~ing Dcprc<.:j,jf"d: 
1."",1 S ".M<L(llI7 
Conslru~:tion in Prugr~ss 2,116}i12 
TOIal C'pit,d Assets. not h~in~ Depredated 7561529 

Capital Asscts. b..:mg Depreciated: 
Building:-- h7,?19.9M2 
lmprowrncms Otl1 .. T Th~n Building; 320.1 29.2M5 
1>ladlinClY ami E<luipnwlII S.lS:>.7M 
'(i,lal Capita! Assets. heillg Depreciated :;955",.1151 

I.es, Acc'umulatcd Dcprcciathm jilr: 

Buiklings 22.896.770 
Impro\'emcllIs Other Tlwn Builoing, 74.957.759 
Mw;hincry and Equipment 4.211.023 
Total A':clIlllulalcd Dcprccialiml 102.066.552 

Tot"I c"pir:.] A"':b. being D;:pr':c·i"tcd. Xt .. t 193.466.499 

\\-''''''r Sy",Ctll Capilal ;\""".l'kl :5 ,m I (l~XJI2H 

Beginning 
Balances 

, 

Lincoln Electric System: 
Caplt,1I /\"S<.'lS.nol b,mg VcpR'(,'mkd: 
Constmc!iou in Progress :'; 41.229.000 

Capital Assets. hcing Depreciated: 
Utility Plant 1.19'i~~77 .000 
! ,css An:uIHul;tt"d Ikprcciariou 456.Dei.OOn 
Total Capltail\ssels. being Depredated. ~d 763.241.()()() 

Ekdril: S}S!cm Capilal A"ds. Nd :'i S04 A 70.000 

Enoin;; 
IntT'::!!;';, Decrca~s Balan<:cs 

v,o 5..+45J67 

3~~64·~7~ ·U70514 UILOMI 
3565.'.B 1.170514 6.956.248 

1 .. 1'\.449 6736:1..+.11 
4.676...185 324.805.770 
404.~51 18.9J2 85ei9.72J 

5.124.11:\5 1~.l)12 400,7Jll.924 

1502.175 240398,945 
5.649$50 80.ei07.609 
49-'.O~1 18.1)12 4.686.131 

7.645Jl46 IH.')12 1(1).692.6X6 

(2.420261) )91.046,BH 

1.1.14.<)72 4.17051.+ 19SJ102,..1X6 

Emling 
Increases Decreases l:!alUlKcs 

44 .X47 .04)0 27 JI09J)()O 5X.267.000 

27364.000 2,227.(JO() 1.224514JXX) 
:n.18l,,(lOO 2,675.000 ·<70.744.000 
(9.919.000) (,HX.OOO) 753.770.000 

34,9211.000 27.%I.mn XI2Jl.17,OOO 

During 2011, Lincoln Wastewater System incurred $3,559,554 of interest cost, of which $135,518 was 
capitalized into construction in progress. Lincoln Water System incurred $3,179,819 of interest cost, of 
which $73,328 was capitalized into construction in progress. Lincoln Parking System incun'ed $905,572 
of interest cost, of which $366,508 was capitalized into construction in progress. Capitalized interest is 
added to the cost of the underlying assets and is am0l1ized over the useful lives of the assets. 

Lincoln Electric System utility plant includes an allowance for funds used during construction for projects 
costing in excess of $500,000 with a construction period in excess of 12 months. The allowance for funds 
used during construction consists of the project balance times the weighted-average interest rate on debt 
based on Federal Energy Regulatory Commission accounting method. The weighted-average rate for 2010 
was 4.6%. 

* EtTective January I, 2010, LES implemented GASB No. 51 Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Intangible Assets. As a result, software assets and accumulated amortization of $6,977,000 and 
$4,445,000, respectively, were reclassified from other assets to capital assets and restated in beginning 
balances. 
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(8) INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY 

Balances Due To/From Other Funds at August 31,2011, consist of the following: 

Dut-To Due From 

Genera! Street West Nnnmajnr Nonmajnr 
Fund COJl~lruction Haymarb .. t JPA GovernrncllIai Enterprise 

General Fund S 'J,25H 'JAM 25.22J 970,oX5 
SU"et ConslfllClion 1.022.9X3 ·+319.252 
NtHltllajOf (iovernm(:ntal UiOo.II:> 1."9R.702 
Lincoln WastewalCr System 527.415 686.631 
Lincoln Water Svstem :n42'J~ J991S 
Nonmajor Enterprbe 773.994 5.77 .. 34357 
Inkrnal Service 1509.245 195.H-I5 12.975 1-I().!!i5 20'(lll 

S 5.71-1.045 21H.X77 ~2A-I1 (l)44.95S 990.696 

Int~rna! 

ScrY~{'c Total 

nom ... r,934)()o 
5.3-12.235 
.1 JU".H 17 
1.21-!Jl-!6 

31-1.20); 
11 tlI-I.l36 

-I6.1!;9 1.9.C\S.I4fl 

966.274 J.+.659.2t1S 

"Due to" and "Due from" balances are recorded when funds overdraw their share of pooled cash. Other 
balances result from the time lag between the dates that (I) interfund goods and services are provided or 
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments 
between funds are made. 

During 2005 the City's General Fund purchased the street light system from LES at an amount equal to the 
net book value of the street light system at the transaction date. The purchase was financed through an 
interfund borrowing. On the government-wide statements, the purchase was accounted for as a purchase 
of capital assets of governmental activities and a sale of capital assets of business-type activities. On the 
governmental fund statements, the General Fund recognized a liability in due to other funds and a 
prepayment for the funds borrowed from the City's other funds. Each fund has recorded a receivable for 
the pro-rata share of the bOlTowed funds. The General Fund will pay back the amount borrowed plus 
interest in scheduled monthly installments over a period of 120 months. As payments are made, the 
General Fund will reduee the liability, the related prepayment, and recognize streets and highways 
expenditures. 

Transfers To/From Other Funds for the year ended August 31, 2011, consist of the following: 

Tran.~fer To Transfer From 

General Stred Nonmajor Un.:nln Electric Noumajm Internal 

Fllnd Cm,tmction (jovernulcntal Syskm Enkrpris<" SCfvi,'e '["()tal 

(icn~ral Fund S 4.3S!.7.W IJ-'O.OOO 757.529 20.126 6.RR9394 
Streci CO!blfllctioll 423)471 ! I 5111l.O52 12.00J.92~ 

Nn!llllajor Gnvcnuncntal 15.:;I~.ol5 4.94(l556 3.7118.756 1.J}25Ji711 5.~.~ ~-I.966.938 

Line'oll! Water Systcm 129.39:" YO.non 159.395 
Nonmajor Enterprise 589..115 2~,JHg 24750~ R59305 
Internal Service :".958 5.000 2.46.' 1.'-421 

'l"1il1 $ 1 (d60l'.54 4.945.556 1'J.805,3t1K ! J30.0{)O 2 J):\O.109 2(),6W 4-1.W.)2J76 

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the 
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) use unrestricted revenues in the General Fund to 
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations, and 
(3) transfer payment in lieu of taxes from LES to the General Fund. 
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Established by City Ordinance, LES may borrow up to $150 million under a commercial paper note 
program. At December 31, 2010, LES had $90 million of tax-exempt commercial paper notes outstanding. 
The notes mature at various dates but not more than 270 days after the date of issuance. The weighted­
average interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2010, was 0.31 percent. The outstanding 
commercial paper notes are secured by a revolving credit agreement, which provides for borrowings up to 
$150 million. LES pays a commitment fee for the credit agreement. Under the telms of the agreement, 
LES can either settle or refinance the commercial paper upon maturity. LES uses these vehicles as part of 
their long-term financing strategy. As such, commercial paper is renewed as it matures. The weighted 
average length of maturity of commercial paper for 2010 was 66 days. 

Il\' ... glnnin~ Emhng Due W,(hm 

Lincoln Electrk System: Kaianc(' i\~idition:\ R~:-tiu(ti()n, Halan\.""C' nn~:- yt,.·;lf 

Commc-rcial rtapcr f\{,*:", S (~)J)WJlI~) 5!X.3ml.f~lO (~ !X,1-O() . ./M)(h 9()/)O{)J~kl 90J)(){).(lIW) 

The City of Lincoln is authorized by Ordinance No. 19402 to issue General Obligation Bond Anticipation 
Notes for the purpose of providing interim financing for costs in connection with construction of a new 
arena and related improvements in the West Haymarket area of the City. As of August 31, 2010, only 
$2,000,000 of tax anticipation notes had been issued. Payment of the principal and interest on the notes 
was paid from the proceeds of bonds issued by the West Haymarket lPA. At August 31,201 L there were 
no notes outstanding. 

Cit~· or I -'ncoln: 
TIn Antr .. :ipt1tiun :\oh.~ ... 

LONG-TERM 

lkfJllning 
R~!.an<c AdditIOns. 

Ending 

B.llant:t: 

Due \Vithul 
()H¢ )'C';n 

The City issues general obligation, special assessment, and revenue bonds to finance the acquisition and 
construction of major capital assets. Bonded indebtedness has also been entered into to advance refund 
several general obligation and revenue bonds. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge 
the full faith and credit of the government. Special assessment bonds are repaid from amounts levied 
against affected property owners, but in the unlikely event collections are not sufficient to make debt 
payments, the responsibility rests with the City to meet that obligation. For revenue bonds the government 
pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed assets to pay the debt service. 

Net assets of $2,666,408, $3,016,975, $10,291,693, and $85,335 are currently available in the debt service 
funds to service the General Obligation Bonds, Tax Supported Bonds, Tax Allocation Bonds, and Special 
Assessment Bonds, respectively. Revenue Bonds are funded partially from reserve accounts set up for 
debt repayment and partially from proceeds of daily operations. 

The City has entered into lease agreements for financing the acquisition of land, buildings, street lights, 
emergency ambulances and defibrillators, fire engines, golf equipment, and computer equipment and 
software. These lease agreements qualify as capital leases for accounting purposes and, therefore, have 
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been recorded at the present value of their future minimum lease payments as of the inception date. Assets 
acquired through capital leases are as follows: 

Land 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Infrastructure 
Machinery and Equipment 
COn.,lrUl:lI0n in Pnlgress 
Less Accumulated Depnxlation. 

(where applicable) 

Total 

(jo\"crnmental 
Activities 

1.774.450 
lXJ71J()1) 

219.925 
Ll.719.2U 
:: .946.()O() 

jXXJill 

(5566307) 

S ====:1 =L=65=2=,~==6",,1 == 

Business-Type 
Activities 

2 j().()OO 

3,492.756 

<2.156.254 ) 

$ ====1.",44=C""l.5",O:::;2= 

In 2011, the City issued $3,125,000 in refunding certificates of pmticipation (COPS) with an average 
interest rate of 1.64% to refund $3,655,000 in outstanding 2006, 2005 and 2004 COPS. The refunding 
resulted in a cash flow differential of$371,658 and an economic gain of$154,538. 

Under the City'S Home Rule Charter, there is no legal debt limit. The various bond indentures contain 
significant limitations and restrictions on annual debt service requirements, minimum amounts to be 
maintained in various bond reserve funds, and minimum revenue bond coverages. 

In 2011, the City issued $19,290,000 in general obligation refunding bonds with an average interest rate of 
2.84% to refund $21,500,000 of 1999A various purpose bonds, 2002 storm sewer and drainage bonds, and 
2005 storm sewer refunding bonds. The refunding resulted in a eash flow differential of $4,411,524, and 
an economic gain of$2,504,754. 

In 2011, the City also issued $4,025,000 in parking refunding bonds with an average interest rate of 4.9% 
to refund $5,525,000 in outstanding Parking Revenue Bonds, Series 1999A. The refunding resulted in a 
cash flow differential of $(346,476) and an economic loss of $(25,445). 

Lincoln Wastewater System has entered into a loan agreement with the Nebraska Department of 
Environmental Quality (NDEQ) consisting of two separate contracts. Funding totaling $5,000,000 is 
available under Contract A to fund celtain sewer system extension and repairs. During the year ended 
August 31, 2011, Lincoln Wastewater System incurred project costs totaling $558,399, resulting in 
additional project loan payable of$509,901. Under Contract B Lincoln Wastewater System has available a 
$5,000,000 loan, subject to availability of state and federal funds, to finance certain projects of the system. 
During the year ended August 31, 20 11, the System incurred project costs totaling $3,546,400 resulting in 
the recognition of a project loan payable of $3,512,098. The remaining available funds under Contract B 
totaling $1,487,902 are not reflected on the financial statements. The interest rate for these loans range 
from 0.0 to 2.0 percent. 

The Wastewater System has also entered into a $17,000,000 loan agreement with NDEQ to fund certain 
System improvements. The interest rate during the period of construction is 2%. After the date of 
initiation of operation, the interest rate will increase to 2.25%. In addition, an administrative fee of 1% 
will be incurred on the loan. No project costs were incurred during the fiscal year ended August 31,2011, 
therefore, the available loan is not reflected on the financial statements. 
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Long-tenn bonded debt of the City is comprised of the following individual issues (in thousands of 
dollars): 

Orig!l~a! lntt:n:~t Dat\,; 1nh.:r~::-.t 
Am'PHt)! I'~nt:d h,4.n(~ \{ak \\'h~~n Du~) (';~!lahk' D:ih~ (hlt:-.tamlin~ 

Guvernmental Acti"itico;: 
(;,,~nera! ()h!"i~~~j1i!}11 Bt)n~h,: 

(;cnt."ral B·pmb: 

l'S.,~,,~O Oi:t)l:()'-) \"';1001.1", VUfjW::-¢ Srrk:.: n \.'R~f ,~2)o Sl~n~tJ !999 In ~:tH 1 )Ofl1 s,~~rH[mnu;Jtly ~ :60 
15,.:-'95 (l7'U1{;lt:' \~~ri~HI~ I'urpp:-.c 2.()25 3,750 Sl.'rial 20H .. ~ to 2017 ~Ol..1 5+:!t5 
.1,.}l{1 n7/0~:H.l \ i~ri~)u" PUrpi~~C .t,oon: 4.1]5 T,'fm 2020 & 2H2,1. 201.' ';;:10 
*) .. 950 06':15:'115 Sl~)f[n :S~~:.'r Cons!ru(:H(~n .~ ~5n ,L2:'i(J Serial 20flfl [.0 2025· 2~H5 7,N,~) 

x,}9:'l 06/27:"07 $h1rmw.lh'r Or~ml<l~t:' <uld f!ond '·lpHI ..th~;; N ;'i.(Jno S.('!ial ~om~!n 1027 2017 7,165 
?-L200 01110dl Sh~{mw.atcr Rfllld .. !,U(li)-45m S.cfial ]:O! :~ to ~(nO ::!O20 ~.~O(~ 

19,~~.)cl.i 06,'21·11 Rl?fundm.~ 0.1000 5.000 SaL.t1 ..?:Oll h~ ~{r:!2 ~Ol9 19.290 
T{.,t~~l (J('fK.'ml H()Hd .. ~ 51 /~~) 

Tax A]lot',lti{)f! B{'nJ~: 

1.0:l5 ,),l'~!:n4 Ta\ :\lln..:ab~n BnnJ:-. : I~~l- 3,:W ~bid :(~M [" :1111 200~ s.t'~ni~<!nnudny 1(,0 

~.:-·oo O~i:;nq ·t~L,\ ;\lhK;:llim) HIHH~::- ,\I~)i)-4,Km S!.'I!<Ll 101M hl 10! ~ ~Ol() 2.Xi'iO 

~fJ:\ OKiloiO, T:.t\ All0....?~~H(tn H(mJ ... -l.7'iH S.cri.d 20U6 In :201 ~ Anytmw :!j6 

~XX Itj:~)lfU{) "I~tX Alln,,:~tt~()n Bond::.: i.lrMJ S,'d,d ';:OUr.. ({l 2tJlt) Anyt.jm~' LKX 
t.,'!!'}) 04/0S;W7 Ta,\ :\lhx'IHiofi Ihm~L, 5.UOt) ,5,;;0 S.\'ri~d 2(01) to lOll' ~O~ 1 I.H5 

Ani OMlllm l;'t\ Aiioc;diofl Bon~h ~ J.JH Sl~ri;)1 ~on~ In )OIX AnyHtYl'· "AI 
\X~ ONOj.'07 'L" Alln.:<lflnn Bond" :'} 24ft SedaJ 2007 ttl 2.020 Any~iUll' 'l¥> 
3(.<) ()t·~f15·'jI7 1~1'" Alh~<lt~\m fh.nJ." ~.j()H SCiyi.d 20U7 11. ::lOt 1 AnytHl1": l(~J 

-12 tI7·'!5:tIX 'h,. AJhX;:dtI~m Hnnd~ -I.6W Serial 2011'4 k1 2H.?1 Any11fnC .,: 

71 mil5iHR Tl\ .. \lh.x.'al.itlf1 HmHJ .. ,1 h6ft S!"'ri~d 20119 to ~O! 7 Anyl1m<= f):~ 

47J 07.'·j';'1)l( 'l~\ All('~:.~~I(tU B(,HI~j ... ,! fl6{1 SlTia! 20tli.) '0 }O22 Aliyl1nl~~ n~ 

S,17 OiW1fjlk 'b\ .\II ... I(.'(.l.tipn H<mJ .. ,Hllil Sena] 2(Mr) fo 2021- '\nyimh.~ 4m 
:mo O~'OHH' ·I:t'<. ,\lkl«."l.ltlon B()ud-; 4.6W S~rial :!OU{) to ~o.:::! AnytHnt.' 170 

61 O()i .. ~nini.J Tax Alh%.'utiou Bond", 7.00 Serial lOtI In ~(.l23 An~·timc 6{19 

.1}'7~ 07:'2KAJ9 Tn :\llu .. :alion Bund" :: 500 - 6 ,~OO Sl'ri;,d 2011 !n 2(2) r\n:\1Hll\: ).~75 

]«~ (1,1,01.11 'En. AI1<h:atwn B"ud:- .l.tNO S.t:rial 201 J 10 :;O::!2 Al'1yhIHC 

Int~~! h:.; ,·\lhh:;'Hh)n Hnnd~ 

T:.IX St,prnn\~d Monds. 
y:;,{!{}!) OJ':j7;{!-!- Highwl.!.} A!h:x.ati .... m fund ?OOU 5J)(K) Si:dal J.OU'/ to 20~J .:ZOJ4 S.cn'i.iannua~ly )),9h5-

27,{K)n 12:'05.lHD H~gfl\,.\-~t:y .\Jkx-~1t~{ln FunJ -liM) 5 f~KI Saial .wnx to 1021 2016 :.'.2-11J 
1~)1~_! T~%\ Sl,.!PI}t)!'kd Bl~nd~ " 55205 

SpL>~'ial A~"I,,:,,,:-!n>i'n1 Ikl!hi ... : 
x.::, or;:]<;(itt Spt'(.'lal/\::'::,,>"'::>.;.:,,>Hh.'m o.40it, ..1.7(10 S1..Tj,lI 2012 til 202b ~h'Hl1;.Hlnu~~lly ~~."\ 

375 (,~" 1 'ill Sr.:,,;j<.\j A ... ;<.(.>~m"'lH ,l,2lM} Term 20J I 3:5 

'lhl~11 ~p,,>t,:i;JI A:-<.,<-:-.t-mt:lH U<~nd:.; S 1.2(".' 

\V,.;'>.,{ Hiiyrnarkl·t .!nim PlIhlk' ...\t{-ucy 

.H.5Ii Ol)/OXtlO F~I~thty B()nd~ 'Ln.e.bk Build Am,"nc.1 Bonf"t~ 3500, -lA5 Serial 20:::0 to 2030 :\nyullH: SnnlarH1Haily }1.515 
6S,H~5 Oi}fO':';:!O F.h,,:1Iity IJ(~od:,,> Tn:'<.at-k' Build '\ml,~6"'~.H R~m~b ~f 75{) ... :' ,(X)O T~;rm 20}'5 & :Jt.H5 Any11nw (,x.1S~ 

!:;,7x~ 12'~'II' 10 Fwill1Y Blmd~ Ttl\~hh.· Build 4.rn!'~n<:~' Bond· ... I nm- 'JM~l St"fi;{l 2f):?n . 102' An~tlnit' !:'.71'~ 

"=,IXO 12/(.1}.:10 Fat.'ihty BOI~d:-. 'r.1\~hk Bw!d .\IBNS(:<I Hnnd", -')400 ;Xi~) i (,(~~1 T~AI m :0 ... 0 20.;:" 20.1,4 An':llfn ... , '2,J,0 

,':,(1"5 12'>\)1/10 RC":-(l\'~ry Z{int:' E~t'nurni\.- D~\dDpm~nt (1.75U TtHH 2u,·j:-: Anytllnt: 32D~5 

:.J.4,~4{i m';;'24;tt LKilltv BonJ" .~50U 5.HOO Serial 2021 to 2032 202) +L29fl 
55,7 to 08/24, II F.j,iEI,!· Uaml.h 4.2~n:, 5,unn 'H:! 1);1 2fPf! &. ~nY~2 2n.~ i 5:'),:10 

Tnwl \\\~"l I·byn)<~rk;.;"t Join! Publo;: Ag-t'n,'Y ~ ~nu.oon 

TOTAl (;E"ll'.RALOll! 1(;XnO:-: HO:-:DS ~ ,~p, nh:t 
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II,(ij;\f 3:'J .1:l)~ Antdq~~ V~dk:- PW)l? .. .-t 1.:-·fXJ SHOO Serial 20U2 w :;016 201~ S'Cnmmmu!l~ ~ .5.420 

52 



CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

August 31, 2011 

{Jrl~IJw! 

:\J!ltIUtlt [",,_Ui,.'..! 

llusillf.·~",~'I'}Pl.' Adi\'itit~~! 

R~'\"I,·l1tll,.~ Bnmk 

?,9,2.\~ 

1.<;;,.765 

j:~_OO{J 

16.7W 

3::'50 

! ! ,K.~~ I 
6.6(){t 

:\2,1~\I 

.(),l~XJ 

10,5L; 
.i,90) 

'Ll;~lO 

1,(>4(1 

2,Oh;-i 

).745 
10.175 

HR,190 
~,i5'(H5 

,Q.2(,),"lj 

hJ ,~l)fl 

~ 3-.71l1 
IX'\,c,lO 

Of/}; j :03 

071'1:(H 

4)8/(11:05 

O-l:IX:n7 

\V.~"tl.·\\'-Hl~r lk\-'{;l!W,,' 

W~hh'W:lr~'f J-h'~{'llU~: 

\\-;t"h'\\ <tt .. ~r R~~\-'<k'lHJI,' 

\V .. hk'\\ ar~r Rt" {>nu~ 

04/1 R:(J? \Vaste\',:ar~r R~Y{'llU.;:o 

1'O1.l! \Vm,.k\\'l~h:r Bond .. 

11;;2·'0,2 

11 ''::~'"Ol 
1),',IJHr' 

\\taH>r RI.'\ ~~n\Ji.~ 

\Vj~!(T R(,",;.'fHh..' 

\V,Mer Ri."\ ~'ml-c 

It' ! (J<'n,~ Wj~h:r R('1,'.:nue 

OK'n,HY.t w;~u:r Rl.'\I,.·fW1..' 

OS!(q;O~) \-\';~kr Rl"d:nu"l.' 

Tolat Wah.:r Bnnth 

1 ~.'IK:(I"I 

Jc:IX:OI 
12.2t )>'I1) 

1)1':7·11 
O~ '27<' t t 

10;01:0:: 

if!!f!HP 

II:Ff!1:{)5 

IfUIHh 

J{HII:O~ 

OS/!5 .. fl'l 

J)i1l'),.~n,; R~"'CfHj"" 

t"1~rkmg R«"'t.'1111~ 

P~fJ.,.lng RCY~mh' 

P;,~r~Hl,!-! RCH'nll': ilnd Rdunomg 
Pa1'kin;: Ik"'t:rnK' <4.11ti Fh.<funding 

l~li.x'~ril· Rt'vi,'nuc ;,llHI RdlJmti~lt~ B(md., 

Eh~,,'u'h' RIi-'vt.'mK~ Jut! R!"'fumH~j~ H-omh 
Ek:i.,:lri·l' Ki.'\{~tHW ;!lHi Rl'flHldi~)tt Booth 

U;""'lril.: R""\~'ntl~~ lkm:d', 

F16:n'!C Rt\'~l\u~ Rt~nd~ 
Elt~dri( Rt'\{'lm~ :md Rr.>iunding, Bond~ 

X 1.8)11 f),''JI 5-iU7 Ek",:1riL' J{'<\CI.IIIK' <~llJ i{l."fuH\!mg B~~nd), 

Ttll,ll H ... 'dri~· lh·md:. 

Inh>f'I.'\1 

R;lh: 

2 J¥~) . 'J~~J 
-4- f12-t;! ~,nI(}O 

4.0C~)· 'J~~) 

4:1.100· -4-500 

.! 75H ~,UHP 

Sin) 
5'(W~) 

3.IXXJ 5 )~W) 

HIW-4.12-' 
,L:,OO{I 

U<O, 5.i'Ii) 

i.1"':') 

!.2 50 ' ? .x50 
2W~) - 5 {~H) 

S ouo; 5.!2~' :'500 

.J [XX) • 'IXIi) 

.HX~' '.lXX) 
-4.750 
oJWXl 

.. L7~n 
,un) S.lXMl 
4.500/ ~,7:\O 

Wh~TI DuL' 

Scri,lf ~oo~ [0 ~(2) 

'knrl Jfl2"i & :!d~X 

S\'fml ::nH6 to 2(H{J 

Senal 20tlX t11 ~U29 

1'crmSH2 

Scri,1i ~OU:i {II lUr? 
'krm2tl:2:: 

S("ri+J! 2(!().jlu:OI2 

S~;ri<ll 20(15 fO ~025 
St'riilt 20! ~ t-t) 2D29 

T\.'fm lo.q 

S~nui '::Oi)~ Itt 2{\Jj 

le-rm 2021 
~~n'll 201 I to 2H P 
S('nai ~O! 5 tlJ ~H24 

'krm 2(f2~\ ,\: 8(; 1 

St'ri<l~ ~(j:(),l to :0::'5 
St'l'wJ ~oo,~ tP ;;o;:f1 
'knH 2lJ2'X 

S ... '1'!ai ~O:.!9 t{) :012 
T~rl11 2f):{~ 

~cn<ll ,?HtN t{) 2{j35 
'[i.:fnl 20.H lv, ~(H7 

0;",' 

('"IL.I>I<-
IlHl'l\'-.;t 

{)"k' 

:X~J)n 

1"'.76"" 
15J'¥,) 

1~."W 

6.1~\) 

6.6'>0 

l.t)~} 

3~J)~~! 

10515 

~I ,6f-'(i 

7:-;.;20U 

,...j . .:!9:.} 

~3.A~I(~ 

l76255 

Annual requirements to pay principal and interest to maturity on outstanding debt follow (in thousands of 
dollars): 
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Major Enterprise fund annual requirements to pay principal and interest to maturity on outstanding debt 
follow (in thousands of dollars): 
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Long-term liability activity for the year ended August 31, 2011 was as follows (in thousands of 
dollars): 
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Internal Service funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Therefore, their long-tenn liabilities 
are included with the governmental activities above. Compensated absences for governmental activities 
are generally liquidated in the General Fund as well as various other Special Revenue and Internal Service 
funds where personal costs are incurred. The construction contracts are liquidated in the Street 
Construction fund, financed primarily with impact fee collections. The claims and judgments liability will 
generally be liquidated through the City's Insurance Revolving Internal Service Fund, which will finance 
the payment of those claims by charging other funds based on management's assessment of the relative 
insurance risk that should be assumed by individual funds. The net pension obligation will be liquidated 
through the Police & Fire Pension Contributions Special Revenue Fund with financing provided by an 
annual propelty tax levy. The net OPEB obligation for an implicit rate subsidy will be liquidated with 
those governmental funds where personal insurance costs are incurred. 

Long-tenn liability activity for the major enterprise funds for the year ended August 31, 2011, was as 
follows (in thousands of dollars): 
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(10) RECONCILIA TION OF BUDGET BASIS TO GAAP 

Amounts presented on a non-GAAP budget basis of accounting differ from those presented in accordance 
with GAAP due to the treatment afforded accruals, encumbrances, funds for which budget and reporting 
structures differ, and funds for which legally adoptcd annual budgets are not established. A reconciliation 
for the year ended August 31, 20 II, which discloses the nature and amount of the adjustments necessary to 
convert the actual GAAP data to the budgetary basis, is presented below: 

Net Change in Fund Balances: 
Balance on a GAAP basis 

Basis differences (accmals) occur because the cash 
basis of accounting used for budgeting differs from 
the modified accmal basis of accounting prescribed 
for governmental funds. 

Perspective differences occur when the stmcture used 
for budgeting differs from the fund stmcture used for 
financial reporting. 

Amount budgeted on a project basis. 
Balance on a budget basis 

(11) DEFICIT NET ASSETS 

General 
Fund 

$ 2,910,783 

(589,953) 

(352,050) 

$ 1.968.780 

Street 
Construction 

Fund 

4,150,021 

(341,464) 

11,512,649 
15.321.206 

The following funds had a net asset or fund balance deticit as of August 31, 2011: 

Special Revenue - Impact Fees Fund $ (140,056) 

Internal Service - Engineering Revolving Fund (589,900) 

The Impact Fees Fund deficit is expected to be reduced through future fee collections. 

The Engineering Revolving Fund is evaluating various means to reduce expenses and improve revenue 
collections affected by staffing levels, overhead costs, billing practices, and intra-City serviccs 
reimbursements. 

(12) EXCESSES OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS 

The following ftmd had expenditures for which there were no appropriations: 

General Fund 
Fire 
Street Lighting 
Debt Service 

(13) EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT PLANS 

$ 41,024 
1,140.687 

6,806 

The employees of the City are covered by several retirement plans. Article II Section 3 of the Lincoln 
Charter assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the various plans to the City 
Council. The Police and Fire Department Plan (PFDP) is administered by the City and is included in the 
Fiduciary Fund type. All other plans are administered by outside tmstees and are not included in the City'S 
basic financial statements. 
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POLICE AND FIRE PENSION 

Plan Description - PFDP is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the City of 
Lincoln. PFDP provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. 
PFDP recognizes plan member contributions in the period in which they are due. Employer contributions 
are recognized when due and the City has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. 
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Cost­
of-living adjustments are provided to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the plan document. 
The City docs not issue a separate report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 
infonnation for PFDP. 

The City has established the DefelTed Retircment Option Plan (DROP) for police and fire pension 
members. The DROP program allows a member to retire for pension purposes, but to continue working. 
The member receives a paycheck and the member's monthly pension benefit is deposited into the 
member's DROP account. At the end of five years, or anytime before five years, the member must "retire­
in-fact". Contributions to the pension are eliminated at the beginning of the DROP period. Pension 
benefits arc set, and will not be increased because of raises, promotions, increased years of service or 
pension enhancements. When a member retires-in-fact, their monthly pension benefit will be paid directly 
to them and the member will have access to the funds in their DROP account. 

Membership of the pension plan consisted of the following at August 31, 201 L the date of the latest 
actuarial valuation: 

Rctirees and heneficiaries receiving bcnefits 4 i5 
Terminated plan members entitled to 

but not yet receiving benefits 28 
A.:tive plan members (non-DROP) 562 
DROP members 52 

Total 1,057 

Number of participating employers 

Funding Policy - The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established by City 
Ordinance #15728 dated September 24, 1990, and may be amended hy the City Council. Plan members 
are required to contribute between 7% and 8% of their annual covered salary based on an election made by 
the employee. The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the rate for fiscal year 
20 II was 13.34% of annual covered payroll. Actual contributions by the City were 12.12% of annual 
covered payroll. Administrative costs of PFD P are financed through investment earnings. 

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation - The City's annual pension cost and net pension 
obligation to PFDP for the current year were as follows: 

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Annual required cOlllribmion 
Interest on net pension obligation 
Adjustment to annual required contribution 
Annual pension cost 
Contributions made 
hKfca,e in net pension obligalion 
Net pension obligation beginning 
Nd pension obligation ending 
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S 4,652 
269 

(426) 

4A95 

(4.334) 
16J 

1596 
S 3,757 



Year 
Ended 

August 3! 
2011 
2010 
2009 
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Annulil 
P~~nsion 

Thl'cc- Year Trcnd Informatillll 
(Dollar ;lIllOlllllS illlhou,;m(b) 

Annual 
Pension 

Pcrc~nlagc 

MAPC 
C(J~t (APe) CmhibutlUn Col1tri butcd 

~ 4.495 ::; ,LU4 96 (4 

:;576 .1,96.1 111 
3.123 3572 114 

Net 
Pen,iol1 

Oblig:ltion 
$ 3.757 

3596 
3.983 

Actuarial Methods and Assumption§. - The annual required contribution for the current year was 
detern1ined as part of the August 31, 2009, actuarial valuation using the entry age actuarial funding 
method. The actuarial assumptions included (a) a rate of return on the investment of present and future 
assets of 7.5% per year compounded annually, (b) projected salary increases of 4.25 to 8.25% per year, 
including wage intlation at 4.25%, and (c) the assumption that benefits will not increase after retirement. 
The actuarial value of assets was detern1ined using a five year smoothed market method. The unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of payrolls on an open basis over a 
period of thirty years. 

Funded Status and Funding Progress -- As of August 31, 20 11, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the 
plan was 81 percent funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $204,990,000, and the 
actuarial value of assets was $165,436,000, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of 
$39,554,000. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was 
$35,763,000, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 110.6 percent. 

The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as RSI following the Notes to the Financial Statements, 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets are increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

ELECTRIC SYSTEM 

The City owns and operates its own electric system which is included in the enterprise funds in the 
accompanying basic financial statements. The electric system is controlled and managed by an 
administrative board and is not supported by the City'S general tax revenues. The electric system provides 
retirement benefits to its employees under its own separate plan, such benefits being funded solely from 
revenues derived from the operation of the electric system. A summary of the electric system plan is as 
follows: 

LES has a defined contribution retirement plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 
401 (K) covering all employees upon employment; however, employees are not eligible to receive 
employer contributions until they have been employed six months. The plan is a straight-money purchase 
plan, with plan assets held, managed and administered by a trustee. The LES administrative board of 
directors authorized this plan and related contribution requirements. LES' contribution is equal to 200% of 
the employees' contributions, which range from 1 % to 5% of gross wages. Vesting of LES contributions 
occurs over a five-year period. Employee forfeitures are used to reduce employer contributions. Vested 
benefits are fully funded. For the year ended December 31, 2010, LES incurred contribution expense of 
approximately $3,214,000 or 9.4% of covered payroll and its employees contributed approximately 
$2,206,000 or 6.5% of covered payroll. 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTORS 

Directors of City departments are eligible the first of the month following the date employed to be covered 
by the Director's Money Purchase Plan, established by City Ordinance, and administered by an insurance 
company. The Plan is a defined contribution plan requiring contributions determined by the employees' 
date of hire. The City contributes 6% to 12% and the employee contributes 0% to 6% of earned income in 
one calendar year. Employees covered by the Plan may also make voluntary contributions. Participant 
accounts are immediately 100%, vested. Total and covered payroll for the year ended December 31, 2010, 
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was $1,821,626. City contributions totaled $215,911 or 11.8% of covered payroll. There were no 
employee contributions made for the year ended December 31,2010. 

ALL OTHER CITY EMPLOYEES 

All other City employees are eligible after 6 months' service and age 19 to be covered under the City's 
Money Purchase Pension Plan, established by City Ordinance, and administered by an insurance company. 
Enrollment in the program is mandatory at age 40 with 5 years service. Vesting occurs in increments 
between 3 and 7 years of enrollment in the plan. The Plan is a defined contribution plan requiring 
employees to contribute at a rate determined by the employees' bargaining unit and date of hire. The City 
contributes between $1.29 and $2.00 for every $1.00 contributed by employees. Employee forfeitures are 
used to reduce employer contributions. Employees covered by the Plan may also make voluntary 
contributions. During the year ended December 31, 2010, total payroll was approximately $75,906,000 
and covered payroll was approximately $67,347,000. City contributions totaled $7,610,244 or 11.3% of 
covered payroll and employee contributions totaled $3,847,900 or 5.7% of covered payroll. Employees 
made $271,564 in voluntary contributions for the year ended December 31,2010. 

(14) OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPE B) 

Plan Description - The City offers employees and their families the opportunity to continue their health 
care coverage when there is a qualitying event, such as retirement, that would result in a loss of coverage 
under the City'S plan. Each qualified beneficiary pays the entire cost of premiums for the continuous 
coverage. The City recognizes as OPEB the implicit rate subsidy provided to retirees when their premium 
is the "full cost" of the insurer's charge for the active population. Since the retirees have higher costs, the 
premium they pay is not expected to cover their costs, and the ditIerence is essentially covered by the 
City's payment for active employees. The City plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan. The City 
does not issue a separate report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information 
for OPEB. 

Funding Policy - The plan is a pay-as-you-go and therefore, is not funded. 

Annual OPEB cost and Net OPEB Obligation - The City's al1l1ual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated 
based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in 
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if 
paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover nonnal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded 
actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. 

The net OPEB obligation as of August 31, 201 L was calculated as follows: 

(Dollar amounts in th()u~ands) 

Annual n~411ireJ contribution 
Interest on net nPEB obligation 
Adjustment to annual required contribution 
Annual OPEB cost 
Contributions made 
ltKrcase in net OPEB obligation 
Net OPES obligation beginning 
Net OPEB obligation ending 
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The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB costs contributed and the net OPEB 
obligation are as follows: 

Year Annual Perccnt,lge of Net 
Ended OPEE Annual OPES OPEB 

August J) CO,I Cnst Contributed Obli!;!ation 
" 2011 S 2.Q78,000 25.2 (',: 

d S 3,955.000 
2010 2,097,nOO 25.1 2AOl.OOO 
2009 656.000 ~~ ') 

.' I ... 830.000 

Funded Status and Funding Progress - As of September 1,2009, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
the plan was zero percent funded. The actuarial liability for benefits was $19,796,000 and the actuarial 
value of assets was zero, resulting in an unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) of $19,796,000. Annual 
covered payroll was approximately $112,002,000, and the ratio of the UAL to the covered payroll was 
17.7%. 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of OCCUlTence of events far into the future. Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trends. Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about 
the future. The schedule of funding progrcss, presented as required supplementary infom1ation following 
the notes to the financial statement, presents multi-year trend infonnation about whether the actuarial value 
of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on 
the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types 
of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattem of sharing of benefit costs 
between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-tenn volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-tenn perspective of the calculations. 

In the September I, 2009 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit cost method was used. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 4.5% discount rate and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 9.5% initially, 
reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5.0% for 2020 and beyond. Implicit in this medical trend rate 
is an underlying general inflation rate in the range of 3 to 4%. Participation assumptions include 60% of 
eligible civilian members and 40% of eligible Fire/Police members electing coverage, with 30% and 20% 
participation assumed for civilian and Fire/Police spouses, respectively. The plan's unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability is being amortized as a level dollar amount on an open basis over a period of thirty years. 

PEHP - Defined Contribution Plan 

The City has a defined contribution Post Employment Health Plan (PEHP) administered by Nationwide 
Retirement Solutions. The purpose of the PEHP plan is to provide reimbursement of qualitying health care 
and medical insurance premium expenses for employees upon separation from employment. 

Tenns for eligibility and contribution rates are specified in the City's various collective bargaining 
agreements. Individual employee accounts consist of employer contributions, investment returns and any 
forfeiture allocations. Current employer contributions range from $18-$50 per pay period based on union 
contracts. Current year contributions totaled approximately $1,297,000. 
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The Home Rule Charter of the City imposes a tax ceiling for general revenue purposes. The City tax 
ceiling was established by using the September 1, 1966, City dollar tax limit as an initial tax limit and 
increasing that tax limit each year following 1966 by 7% so that in each fiscal year thereafter the amount 
of the City tax limit shaII be the amount of the City tax limit for the previous year plus 7% thereof. In 
addition, the City has the power to levy taxes each year sufficient to pay any judgment existing against the 
City. the interest on bonded debt and the principal on bonded debt maturing during the fiscal year or 
within 6 months thereafter. as well as taxes authorized by state law. The 2010 tax levy, for the 2010-2011 
fiscal year, was $93,513,495 below the legal limit, with a tax rate per $100 valuation of $0.2879. The 
assessed value upon which the 2010 levy was based was $15,881,260,420. 

The tax levies for all political subdivisions in Lancaster County arc certified by the County Board on or 
before October 15th. Real estate taxes are due on December 31 st and attach as an enforceable lien on 
property on January 1st following the levy date and become delinquent in two equal instaIIments on April 
1st and August 1st. Personal property taxes are due December 31st and become delinquent on April 1st 
and August 1st foIIowing the levy date. Delinquent taxes bear 14% interest. 

Within the government-wide financial statements. property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for 
which they are levied. Property taxes levied for 2010-2011 are recorded as revenue in the fund financial 
statements when expected to be collected within 60 days after August 31, 2011. Prior-year levies were 
recorded using these same principles, and remaining receivables are re-evaluated annually. Property taxes 
expected to be collected after 60 days are recorded as defelTed revenue on the fund balance sheets. 

The City-owned electric utility is required by City Charter to make payments in lieu of taxes, aggregating 
5% of its gross retail operating revenues derived from within the city limits of incorporated cities and 
towns served. 

(16) RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets; 
enors or omissions; injuries to employees and the public; or acts of God. All risk management activities 
are accounted for in the Insurance Revolving Fund, an internal service fund, and administered through the 
Risk Management Division. 

For the year ended August 31, 2011, the City had a self-insured retention for workers' compensation 
exposures up to $750,000 per individual; law enforcement liability, general liability, public officials 
liability, public transportation liability, medical professional liability, and auto liability exposures up to 
$250,000 per occurrence; building and contents property exposures up to $50,000 per occunence; health 
and dental benefits, and employee long-ternl disability benefits. 

The City also obtained excess liability insurance coverage in the cunent year. Workers' compensation was 
covered by a policy that provided statutory limits above the City's retention of $750,000 per individual. 
Law enforcement, general, public officials, public transportation, medical professional. and auto liabilities 
were covered by policies that provided limits of $6 million per occunence with a $12 miIIion annual 
aggregate. Health had excess loss indemnity coverage above $150,000 per claim and above 125% of the 
aggregate attachment point. The Nebraska Political Tort Claims Act limits the City's liability for tort 
claims to $1 million per individual and $5 million per occunence. 

There were no significant insurance recoveries in the cunent year, and settled claims have not exceeded 
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

The City annually retains the services of independent actuaries to analyze the self-insured workers' 
compensation, general liability, public transportation liability, law enforcement liability, auto liability, and 
long-ternl disability exposures. Such analysis has been used to assist the City with its financial planning 
and management of the self-insurance program. Included in the specific objectives of the studies were to: 
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Estimate the outstanding liabilities for the current fiscal year ended August 31, 

Forecast ultimate incurred losses and incurred but not reported losses for future years, and 

Estimate the required funding level for the City's self-insured liabilities. 

The City funds its self-insurance program on an "incurred loss" basis. The governmental and proprietary 
funds pay annual premium amounts, based on past experience of incurred losses. to the Insurance 
Revolving Fund. Claim liabilities of $10,788.956 were recordcd at August 31,2011. Excluding medical 
care claims approximating $2.909,000, the remaining liability is the actuarially estimated amount of claims 
based on an estimate of ultimate incurred and incurred but not reported losses as of that date and is 
calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends including frequency and 
amount of pay-outs, and other economic and social factors. The claims liability estimate also includes 
amounts for incremental claim adjustment expenses related to specific claims and other claim adjustment 
expenses regardless of their allocation to specific claims. These liabilities have been discounted using a 
.50% discount rate. The City has purchased no annuity contracts in the cun'ent fiscal year to resolve City 
of Lincoln claims. 

The following is a summary of the changes in the estimated claims liability for the years ended 
August 31, 2011 and 2010: 

Worker\ 
2011 Compen,atiofl L()n~·T.:nll Health 

amlOlhcrs Di,;\bilil~' ;mdDellwl TOlal 
Baitml.'c at S~ptemlJer I S 6.590JXlO 896,183 1.227JiX7 8.714.070 
Current year clmms anti changes in estimates 2.977.000 230.886 22315.628 25523.514 
Claims paymenl, (2.717 Jl(lflj {97.m) {20.634J56! (2,l,441i62Rj 

Hdiance a! AUglht 31 ~ 6J\50.0oo 1.02lJ,7lJ7 1.90'1,15'1 lO}!lli.95fl 

Workcr'~ 

2010 Compensatiull Loug-TeHu Health 
aud 0111,1' Di,ability dIU,! Dental Tutul 

Balance at Scptemncr I S 6167.00() 604.770 1.691.707 8.163...177 
Current year claims and changes in e~"jmatcs 1038.1100 310,067 18.659.998 22.l1gJl65 
Claim\ paymcnb. (2.765 JlOO) 178.(54) ( !9.123,818) \2!.967AiZl 
Balance at Augu\l 31 S fljl)O.onn 896.11'13 1.127.81\7 S.714Jl70 

LINCOLN ELECTRIC SYSTEM 

LES has a self-funded health insurance program with claims processed by and on behalf of the utility. As 
part of the plan, a reinsurance policy has been purchased which covers claims in excess of $150,000 per 
individual. Total accmal and payment history is shown below: 

2()1O 2n09 
Balance beginning of year $ 478.0(JO 1.!lO1.OOO 
Claims accrued 5JJ9g,O(){) 7.!X5.0m 
Claims paidloth~r (5.1J2'(K~)) (7 JOg .0(0) 
Ikllaoce end of yt'ur $ 444.om m.om 
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(17) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

GENERAL 

The City participates in a number of federally assisted grant programs. Federal financial assistance 
programs are subject to financial and compliance audits. The amount of expenditures, if any, which may 
be disallowed by the granting agencies is not determinable at this time; however, City officials do not 
believe that such amounts would be significant. 

At August 31, 2011, approximately 96% of the full-time, regular City's employees are represented by a 
Union. The existing union contracts will expire in August 2012. 

The City is a defendant in a number of lawsuits and claims in its normal course of operations. 
Management is currently of the opinion that ultimate settlement of such lawsuits and claims will not have a 
materially adverse effect on the financial statements. 

The City has been identified as a potentially responsible party (PRP) or equivalent status in relation to 
several sites with environmental remediation activities. Management currently believes that the liability of 
the City in connection with these activities will be immaterial. However, the ultimate cost will depend on 
the extent of remediation required. Management does not believe that changes in these cost estimates will 
have a materially adverse effect on the financial statements. 

The City of Lincoln owns a solid waste disposal area which discontinued operations in 1990, but still 
requires certain closure and postclosure care, including the construction of final cover, monitoring of 
groundwater conditions and landfill gas migration, and general site maintenance. While accrual of closure 
and postclosure care costs has been reflected in the financial statements in the current year, additional 
corrective action costs related to landfill gas migration and groundwater conditions may be identified once 
testing is completed and the state regulatory agency has issued a final determination. 

The City has entered into various agreements with developers to build infrastructure for new 
developments. These commitments are included in the City's current 6 year capital improvement program 
or depending on when the commitment is due, will be included in the City's future capital improvement 
program. As of August 31, 2011, the City's commitment to developers is estimated to be approximately 
$43,560,000. 

STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

The City's Street Construction Capital Projects Fund has commitments under major construction contracts 
in progress of approximately $4,400,000 as of August 31, 2011, which will be financed primarily through 
highway user fees, bond proceeds, federal and state grants, and developer contributions. 

WEST HAYMARKET JOINT PUBLIC AGENCY 

The West Haymarket JPA Fund has commitments under major construction contracts 111 progress of 
approximately $22,000,000 as of August 31, 2011. 

PARKING FACILITIES 

The Lincoln Parking System has commitments under major contracts in progress of approximately 
$7,000,000 as of August 31, 2011 for construction of the Catalyst One Garage project. 

LINCOLN WASTEWATER SYSTEM 

The Lincoln Wastewater System has commitments under major construction contracts in progress of 
approximately $8,800,000 at August 31, 2011. 
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LINCOLN WATER SYSTEM 

The Lincoln Water System has commitments under major construction contracts in progress of 
approximately $572,000 as of August 31, 20 II. 

LINCOLN ELECTRIC SYSTEM 

Participation Contracts with NPPD 

LES has participating interests in the output of two existing NPPD power plants, a thirty percent (68 MW) 
and eight percent (109 MW) entitlement to the output of the Sheldon Station Power Plant (nominalIy rated 
225 MW coal plant) and Gerald Gentleman Station Power Plant (nominally rated 1,268 MW coal plant), 
respectively. 

LES is responsible for its respective participating interests in the two facilities' capital additions and 
improvements. LES's share of debt service payments necessary to retire the respective participating 
interests of principal and interest on bonds issued by NPPD for the facilities was approximately $6,800,000 
in 2011. LES recognizes its share of capital acquisition costs and debt service payments as power costs in 
the period the costs are billed with the exception of costs approved for deferral under ASC 980. Fixed cost 
payments under the agreements are on a participation basis whether or not such plants are operating or 
operable. LES recognized expense for its share of the total fixed costs of approximately $16,600,000 in 
2010. 

The participation contracts continue until the facilities are removed from commercial operation or the final 
maturity occurs on the related debt incurred by NPPD to finance the facilities, whichever occurs last. The 
estimated fixed cost payments to NPPD under these contracts, including capital additions and 
improvements, debt service payments and fixed costs, and credits aggregate approximately $ 19,000,000, 
$21,600,000, $25,100,000, $24,200,000, and $21,600,000, respectively, in each of the five years 
subsequent to December 31, 2010. 

Laramie River Station (LRS) 

LES is a 12.76 percent co-owner of the Missouri Basin Power Project, which includes LRS, a three-unit, 
1,650 MW coal-fired generating station in eastern Wyoming and a related transmission system. Costs, net 
of accumulated depreciation, associated with LRS of approximately $23,000,000 are reHected in utility 
plant at December 31,2010. 

LES has a participation power sales agreement with the County of Los Alamos, New Mexico (the County) 
whereby the County purchases from LES 10 MW of LES's capacity interest in LRS. The agreement 
provides for the County to pay LES monthly fixed payments for the repayment of debt service. The 
amount is subject to change each July 1 based on debt costs of LES relative to the current market rates, 
until termination of the agreement. The agreement remains in effect until either the final maturity occurs 
on any LRS related debt, LRS is removed from commercial operation, or the County gives LES six­
months notice to terminate the agreement. During 2010, LES billed the County approximately $3,100,000 
for demand and energy charges. 

The LRS project participants, including LES, filed a rate case in 2004 with the federal Surface 
Transportation Board (STB) challenging the reasonableness of the freight rates from the Burlington 
Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) railroad for coal deliveries to LRS. In early 2009 the STB issued its decision 
and awarded the LRS project participants a favorable decision estimated by the STB at approximately 
$345 million in rate relief. The STB awarded $119 million to the LRS participants for past freight 
overcharges plus an expectation of present value rate benefits of approximately $245 milIion due to a new 
tariff the STB ordered to be charged through 2024. BNSF remitted $15,000,000 to LES, which has been 
escrowed pending an appeal filed by BNSF. 
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Walter Scott En~rgy Center (WS4) 

MidAmerican Energy's Walter Scott Energy Center includes the following units: Unit #1 - a 1954 coal­
fired unit built with 43 MW capacity, Unit #2 - a 1958 coal-fired unit built with 88 MW capacity, Unit #3 
- a 1979 coal-fired unit built with 675 MW capacity, and Unit #4 - a supercritical technology, coal-fired 
790 MW unit that became commercial in June, 2007, as well as the associated common equipment and 
inventories. LES maintains ownership interest in 12.6 percent or 105 MW of Unit #4. In order to 
minimize unit outage risk, LES has executed a power purchase and sales agreement with MidAmerican 
Energy. Under this agreement, beginning in 2009, LES will schedule 50 MW of Unit #3 and 55 MW of 
Unit #4. This twenty year unit agreement which can be extended through mutual agreement of the parties. 
LES is responsible for the operation and maintenance expense and maintains a fucl inventory at the plant 
site. LES issued debt in conjunction with the construction of Unit #4 and has capitalized these costs plus 
interest. 

(18) LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS 

The City of Lincoln currently owns and operates both a municipal solid waste landfill and a construction 
and demolition debris landfill. State and federal laws require the City to close the landfills once capacity is 
reached and to monitor and maintain the site for thirty subsequent years on the municipal solid waste 
landfill and five subsequent years on the construction and demolition debris landfill. Although certain 
closure and postclosure care costs will be paid only near or after the date that the landfills stop accepting 
waste, the City reports a portion of these closure and postclosure care costs as an operating expense in each 
period based on landfill capacity used as of each statement of net assets date. 

At August 31, 2011, the City had incurred a liability of approximately $9,774,000 for the municipal solid 
waste landfill which represents the amount of costs reported to date based on the approximately 50 percent 
of landfill capacity used to date. The remaining estimated liability for these costs is approximately $9.9 
million, which will be recognized as the remaining capacity is used (estimated to be approximately 22 
years). 

As of August 31, 2011, the City had incurred a liability of approximately $600,000 for the construction 
and demolition debris landfill which represents the amount of costs reported to date based on the 
approximately 55 percent of landfill capacity used to date. The remaining estimated liability for these 
costs is approximately $492,000, which will be recognized as the remaining capacity is used (estimated to 
be approximately 16 years). 

The estimated costs of closure and postclosure care, as determined by an independent engineering 
consultant, are subject to changes including the effects of inflation, revision of laws, changes in 
technology, actual sequence of landfill development and closure, and other variables. 

The City of Lincoln, in a review by the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality (NDEQ), has 
demonstrated compliance with the financial assurance requirements as specified in Title 132 - Illtegrated 
Solid Waste Management Regulations, through the Local Government Financial Test. 

The City of Lincoln also owns a solid waste disposal area that discontinued operations in 1990. Although 
exempt from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Solid Waste Disposal Facility Criteria issued 
October 9, 1991, the City must still adhere to certain closure and postclosure care requirements under prior 
legislation, including the construction of final cover, monitoring of ground water conditions and landfill 
gas migration, and general site maintenance. At August 31, 2011, a liability for closure and postclosure 
care costs is recorded in the amount of approximately $4,258,000, which is based on appropriations 
identified in the City's capital improvement projects budgeting process. Additional corrective action costs 
related to possible landfill gas migration and groundwater conditions may be identified once testing is 
completed and the state regulatory agency has issued a final determination. These additional potential 
costs cannot be reasonably estimated and thus no liability has been accrued as of August 31, 2011. 
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(19 ) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Lincoln Water System and Lincoln Wastewater 
System to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to 
estimate that value: 

Cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable - The carrying amount approximates fair value because 
of the short maturity of these instruments. 

Long-term debt - The estimated fair value of the long-term debt is approximately $75,013,000 for the 
Water System and $96,296,000 for the Wastewater System based on borrowing rates currently available as 
of August 31,2010. 

Investments - The fair values of investments held directly by the funds are based on quoted market prices. 

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market infom1ation and 
information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve 
uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. 
Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. 

(20) SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The City has issued revenue bonds and other debt instruments to finance capital construction and 
acquisitions for both the Urban Development and Public Works/Utilities Departments. The Parking 
Facilities Division of the Urban Development Department operates the City's downtown parking garages 
and is accounted for in the Parking Facilities Fund. The Solid Waste Operations Section of the Public 
Works/Utilities Department operates the City's solid waste disposal sites, yard waste composting facility, 
and re-cycling drop-off program. Summary financial information for these divisions as of and for thc year 
ended August 31, 2011, is presented as follows: 
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The City has pledged future revenues derived from the operation of the Lincoln Wastewater System, net of 
operating and maintenance expenses, to repay $100,530,890 in wastewater revenue bonds & loans, 
Proceeds provided financing for improvements to the sanitary sewer system, as well as refunding a $4.5 
million loan to the City from the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality. The debt is payable 
solely from the net earnings of the Wastewater System and are payable through 2032. The total principal 
and interest remaining to be paid on the debt is $122,182,913, with annual payments expected to require 
59,2 percent of net revenues, Principal and interest paid for the current year and net system revenues were 
$6,512,609 and $11,002,406, respectively. 

The City has pledged future revenues derived from the operation of the Lincoln Water System, net of 
operating and maintenance expenses, to repay $106,110,000 in water revenue bonds, Proceeds from the 
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bonds provided financing for improvements to the water supply system, as well as refunding $37.8 million 
of water revenue bonds. The bonds are payable solely from the net earnings of the Water System and are 
payable through 2034. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $89,677,532, 
with annual payments expected to require 62.6 percent of net revenues. Principal and interest paid for the 
current year and net system revenues were $9,501,857 and $15,174,479, respectively. 

The City has pledged future revenues derived from the operation of the Lincoln Electric System, net of 
operating, maintenance and certain power expenses, to repay $654,580,000 in electric revenue bonds. 
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for construction of additional utility plant, as well as 
refunding certain issues of electric revenue bonds. The bonds are payable solely from the net earnings of 
the Electric System and are payable through 2037. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on 
the bonds is $951,515,000, with annual payments expected to require 50 percent of net revenues. Principal 
and interest paid for the current year and net system revenues were $45,947,000 and $94,375,000, 
respectively. 

The City has pledged future revenues derived from the operation of the Lincoln Parking System, net of 
operating and maintenance expenses, and amounts, if any, distributed by the State for street purposes to 
repay $26,585,000 in parking revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for construction 
and improvements to the parking system, as well as refunding $5,525,000 of Series 1994A parking 
revenue bonds. The bonds are payable solely from the net earnings of the Parking System and are payable 
through 2031. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $37,673.781, with 
annual payments expected to require 45 percent of net revenues. Principal and interest paid for the current 
year and net system revenues were $1,269,717 and $4,092,010, respectively. 

The City has pledged future revenues derived from the operation of the municipally owned solid waste 
management facilities, net of operating and maintenance expenses, to repay $4,000,000 in solid waste 
management revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for improvements to the solid 
waste facilities. The bonds are payable solely from the net earnings of the Solid Waste System and are 
payable through 2021. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $3,819,887, 
with annual payments expected to require 23 percent of net revenues. Principal and interest paid for the 
current year and net system revenues were $342,425 and $1,242,077, respectively. 

(22) PUBLIC BUILDING COMMISSION 

In 1990, the City and the County of Lancaster, pursuant to state statute, activated a separate governmental 
entity denominated as the Lincoln-Lancaster County Public Building Commission. The purpose of this 
joint venture is to design, acquire, construct, maintain, operate, improve, remodel, remove and reconstruct, 
so long as its corporate existence continues, public buildings, structures, or facilities for use jointly by the 
City and the County. The City and the County each appoint two members to the five-member 
Commission, with the fifth member being appointed by the other four members. All property held or 
acquired by the Commission is held or acquired in the name of the City and the County for use by the 
Commission in its corporate capacity. The Commission's costs of operation and debt service are funded 
through rental payments made by the City and the County based upon their proportionate occupancy of 
such buildings to the extent not covered by a maximum property tax levy of 1.7 cents for each $100 of 
actual valuation of taxable property in the County. For the year ended August 31, 2011, the City made 
rental payments of approximately $2.8 million to the Commission. 

As of August 31, 20 11, the Commission has bonds outstanding of $41 ,240,000 attributable to several bond 
issues. Certain proceeds from the bonds totaling $28,945,000 have been utilized by the Commission to 
acquire, construct, andlor renovate celtain buildings occupied by the City and County. The City'S 
proportionate share of such buildings are recorded as capital assets and the corresponding debt arc 
reflected as capital leases in the City'S financial statements. Lease payments are not recorded as capital 
lease payments in the Debt Service funds but rather are recorded as cun'ent expenditures in the various 
individual funds. 
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Additional bond proceeds, totaling $29,000,000, have been utilized by the Commission to construct a new 
County-City building and to renovate the prior County-City building to be used as a Hall of Justice. It is 
anticipated that property tax levies by the Commission will be sufficient to meet bond principal and 
interest payments. Should revenues from such property tax levies not be sufficient to meet debt service 
requirements in any given year, the City and County would contribute the necessary payments based on 
their proportionate occupancy in such buildings. Such contributions are expected to be minimal and will 
be expensed in the appropriate funds when incurred. The City's proportionate share of the buildings has 
been recorded in capital assets in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement regarding the 
ultimate transfer of assets to the City and County. 

Complete separate financial statements for the Commission may be obtained at the Lincoln-Lancaster 
County Public Building Commission, 920 "0" Street, Room 203, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508. 

(23) JOINT ANTELOPE V ALLEY AUTHORITY 

Joint Antelope Valley Authority is a joint administrative entity created April 15,2000, in accordance with 
Article XV, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nebraska and Nebraska Revenue Statutes 
Sections 13.801 through 13.827 (1997) authorizing the creation of a joint entity by public agencies. Per an 
interlocal cooperative agreement by and between the Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska, a 
public body corporate, the City of Lincoln, Nebraska, a municipal corporation, and the Lower Platte South 
Natural Resources District, a political subdivision of the State of Nebraska, this joint administrative entity 
was created to be known as Joint Antelope Valley Authority (JAVA). JA V A constitutes a separate 
administrative entity, exercising the public power granted by the interlocal cooperation agreement on 
behalf of the three aforementioned "Partners" to coordinate planning and implementation of a public 
project described in the Antelope Valley Study and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Antelope Creek 
Feasibility Study (the Project). The Project generally includes community revitalization, transportation, 
and drainagelflood control improvements. 

After completion of a specific component of the Project, JA V A will transfer all real estate and 
improvements thereon to the appropriate individual Partner, subject to the necessary and agreed upon 
easements which will be conveyed to such Partner or other appropriate public or private entity, or reserved 
by such a Partner, for the operation, maintenance, repair, and inspection of each specific component. 

During the implementation period of the agreement, JA V A shall have the power and authority to acquire 
and condemn property rights, borrow, mortgage, pledge, or secure loans and bond its appropriated 
revenues and assets; provided, however, that JAVA shall have no power and authority to bond the credit or 
revenues of the three Partners or each Partner, or levy taxes. 

For the year ended August 31,2011, total assets of JAVA reached approximately $189 million, an increase 
of$7 million from the prior year. The City's equity interest increased by approximately $6 million to $159 
million. 

Complete separate financial statements for JAVA may be obtained at the City of Lincoln Public Works 
Business Office, 555 South loth Street, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508. 

(24) JOINTL Y GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS 

District Energy Corporation 

LES, in conjunction with two other govemmental entities, created the District Energy Corporation (DEC) 
in 1989 to own, operate, maintain, and finance the heating and cooling facilities utilized by certain city, 
county, and state buildings. The Board of Directors of DEC is comprised of five members: two appointed 
by the County Board of Commissioners, two by the Mayor of Lincoln who must be confirmed by the City 
Council, and one by LES. No participant has any obligation, entitlement, or residual interest. 
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The DEC Board of Directors, under a management agreement, has appointed LES to supervise and manage 
the system and business affairs of DEC. LES is reimbursed for these management services based on the 
allocated actual costs of these services. LES also provides electric energy to DEC at an established rate 
schedule. The total amount of payments to LES for management, operations, and maintenance services 
was approximately $574,000 in 2010. The increase is due to management of the new SW 40th Thermal 
Energy System plant construction. The total amount of payments to LES for energy was approximately 
$95,000 in 2010. 

Nebraska Utility Corporation 

On May 17,2001, LES, in conjunction with another governmental entity, created the Nebraska Utility 
Corporation (NUCorp) to purchase, lease, construct, and finance facilities and acquire services in order to 
furnish energy requirements, utility and infrastructure facilities, and all related energy, utility, and 
infrastructure services to counties, cities, villages, school districts, sanitary and improvement districts, or 
other municipal corporations or political subdivisions of the State of Nebraska or political subdivisions of 
another state. The Board of Directors of NUCorp is comprised of five members: three members appointed 
by the University of Nebraska and two members appointed by LES. No participant has any obligation, 
entitlement, or residual interest. 

Operations commenced in January 2002. The NUCorp board of directors, under a twenty-year 
management agreement, appointed LES to supervise and manage the system and business affairs of 
NUCorp. LES is reimbursed for these management services based on the allocated actual costs of these 
services. LES also provides electric energy to NUCorp on an established rate schedule. The total payment 
to LES for management, operations, and maintenance services was approximately $120,000 in 20 10. The 
total amount of payments to LES for energy was approximately $11 million in 2010. 

(25) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In November 2011, the City issued $4,600,000 in Certificates of Participation, Series 2011B, to provide 
funds for the acquisition of street lights, computer software, and construction and equipping a new golf 
clubhouse. Interest rates range from 2.000 to 2.625 percent and the final maturity is September 2021. 
Debt service principal payments are scheduled annually at amounts that range from $350,000 to $605,000. 

Also in November 2011, the City issued $3,000,000 of General Obligation Special Assessment Revolving 
Fund Bonds, Series 2011B, to provide funds to maintain and replenish the Special Assessment Revolving 
Fund for the purpose of paying the costs of improvements. The interest rates on the bonds range from 
2.000 to 3.500 percent and the final maturity is August 2031. Debt service principal payments are 
scheduled annually at amounts that range from $120,000 to $200,000. 
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Schedule of Funding Progress for PFDP Pension 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial Accrued Unfunded 
Liability (AAL) AAL Funded 

Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio 
(b) (b - a) (a/b) 

$ 204,990 S 39.554 80.7 01 
'0 

195,206 22,889 88.3 
187,292 9,766 94.8 

179,376 (14) 100.0 

169,587 (1,677) 101.0 
161,583 4,056 97.5 

Schedule of Employer Contributions for PFDP Pension 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 

Year Annual Annual 
Ended Required Pension Percentage 

August 31 Contribution Conttibution Contributed 
20ll 
2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2006 

Actuarial 

S 4,652 $ 4,334 
3,752 3,963 
3,316 3.572 
4.076 3,456 
4,056 3,494 
4,077 2.893 

Schcdulc of Funding Progl'csS for City OPEB 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial Accrucd Unfundcd 

93 01 
'0 

106 
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85 
86 
71 
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(c) 

S 35.763 

34,233 

33,450 

32,266 
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30,724 
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Assets Unit Credit (UAAL) Ratio Payroll 

(a) (1)) (b - a) (aib) (e) 
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(l 5.662 5,662 0.0 106,787 

71 

UAALasa 
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17.7 ()' 
10 
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ORDINANCE 

The following is a summary of certain definitions used in and provisions of the Ordinance. 
Summaries of certain definitions contained in the Ordinance are set forth below. Other terms defined in 
the Ordinance for which summary definitions are not set forth below are indicated by capitalization. This 
summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all of the terms and 
provisions of the Ordinance, to which reference is hereby made. Copies of the Ordinance may be 
obtained from the City or the Underwriter. 

Definitions 

The terms defined below are among those used in the summary of the Ordinance. Except where 
otherwise indicated or provided, words in the singular include the plural and vice versa. 

"Accreted Value" means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond, the principal amount 
thereof plus the interest accrued thereon from the date of original issuance thereof to the Periodic 
Compounding Date next preceding the date of computation or the date of computation if a Periodic 
Compounding Date, such interest to accrue at the interest rate per annum of the Capital Appreciation 
Bonds determined in accordance with such Series Ordinance compounded periodically on each Periodic 
Compounding Date, plus, if such date of computation shall not be a Periodic Compounding Date, a 
portion of the difference between the Accreted Value as of the immediately preceding Periodic 
Compounding Date (or the date of original issuance if the date of computation is prior to the first Periodic 
Compounding Date succeeding the date of original issuance) and the Accreted Value as of the 
immediately succeeding Periodic Compounding Date, calculated based upon an assumption that, unless 
otherwise provided in such Series Ordinance, Accreted Value accrues in equal daily amounts on the basis 
of a year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 

"Act" means Sections 15-244 and 18-1803 to 18-1805, inclusive, Reissue Revised Statutes of 
Nebraska, as amended, and Section 44 of Article IX of the Charter of the City, as each may be amended 
from time to time. 

"Aggregate Debt Service" for any period means, as of any date of calculation, the sum of the 
amounts of Debt Service for such period with respect to all Bonds. 

"Appreciated Value" means, with respect to any Deferred Income Bond, (a) as of any date of 
computation prior to the Current Interest Commencement Date with respect to such Deferred Income 
Bond, an amount equal to the principal amount of such Bond plus the interest accrued on such Bond from 
the date of original issuance of such Bond to the Periodic Compounding Date next preceding the date of 
computation or the date of computation if a Periodic Compounding Date, such interest to accrue at the 
interest rate per annum of the Deferred Income Bonds determined in accordance with the Series 
Ordinance authorizing such Bonds, compounded periodically on each Periodic Compounding Date, plus, 
if such date of computation shall not be a Periodic Compounding Date, a portion of the difference 
between the Appreciated Value as of the immediately preceding Periodic Compounding date (or the date 
of original issuance if the date of computation is prior to the first Periodic Compounding Date succeeding 
the date of original issuance) and the Appreciated Value as of the immediately succeeding Periodic 
Compounding Date, calculated based upon an assumption that, unless otherwise provided in the Series 
Ordinance authorizing such Deferred Income Bonds, Appreciated Value accrues in equal daily amounts 
on the basis of a year consisting of twelve 30-day months and (2) as of any date of computation on and 
after the Current Interest Commencement Date, the Appreciated Value on the Current Interest 
Commencement Date. 
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"Arbitrage Instructions" means the Arbitrage Instructions included with any Tax Certificate, as 
the same may be amended or supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof. 

"Authorized Investments" means any of the following investments in which the City may 
legally invest sums subject to its control pursuant to the Constitution and statutes of the State and the 
Charter of the City (all as may be amended from time to time): 

(a) Any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct 
obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States, including obligations of any 
Federal agency to the extent unconditionally guaranteed by the United States, and any certificates or any 
other evidences of an ownership interest in obligations or in specified portions thereof (which may consist 
of specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in this paragraph (a); 

(b) Any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States or of any agency, 
instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (I) which are (A) not callable prior to 
maturity or (B) as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to the trustee or paying agent of such 
bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of redemption and to call such bonds for 
redemption on the date or dates specified in such instructions, (2) which are secured as to principal and 
interest and redemption premium, if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations 
of the character described in paragraph (a) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other obligations on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable instructions 
referred to in clause (1) of this paragraph (b), as appropriate, (3) as to which the principal of and interest 
on the bonds and obligations of the character described in clause (1) above which have been deposited in 
such fund along with any cash on deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and 
redemption premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this paragraph (b) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable instructions 
referred to in clause (1) of this paragraph (b) as appropriate, and any certificates or any other evidences of 
an ownership interest in obligations or specified portions thereof (which may consist of specified portions 
of the interest thereon) of the character described in this paragraph (b); 

(c) Any bonds or other obligations or specified portions thereof (which may consist of 
specified portions of the interest thereon) which the Finance Director determines are of credit quality 
essentially equivalent to the investments described in paragraph (a) above, and any certificates or any 
other evidences of an ownership interest in obligations or specified portions thereof (which may consist of 
specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in this paragraph (c); 

(d) Bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any 
agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an 
agency or instrumentality of the United States; 

(e) New housing authority bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 
secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under an 
annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States; or project notes issued by public 
agencies or municipalities and fully secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a 
requisition or payment agreement with the United States; 

(D Obligations of any state of the United States, or of any agency, instrumentality or local 
government unit of any such state which are, at the time of purchase, rated by Moody's and Standard & 
Poor's in either of its two highest whole rating categories, for comparable types of debt obligations; 
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(g) Certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or nonnegotiable, issued by any bank or trust 
company organized under the laws of any state of the United States or any national banking association 
(including the Registrar) or any savings and loan association, in each case, which is an insured depository 
institution (as defined in 12 U.C.C. §§ 1801 et seq.) provided that the aggregate principal amount of all 
certificates of deposit issued by any such bank, trust company, national banking association or savings 
and loan association which are purchased with monies held in any fund or account under the Ordinance 
shall be (1) fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or (2) secured, to the extent not 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, by such securities as are described in paragraphs 
(a) through (t), inclusive, or paragraphs (h) through 0), inclusive, of this definition having market value 
(exclusive of accrued interest, other than accrued interest paid in connection with the purchase of such 
securities) at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit (or portion thereof not 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation) which shall be lodged with the Registrar or 
another fiduciary, as custodian, by such bank, trust company, national banking association or savings and 
loan association shall furnish the Registrar or the City Treasurer, as the case may be, with an undertaking 
satisfactory to him or it that the aggregate market value of all such obligations securing such certificates 
of deposit will at all times be an amount which meets the requirements of this clause (2) and the City 
Treasurer or the Registrar, as the case may be, shall be entitled to rely on each such undertaking; 

(h) Commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in the single highest 
classification, "P-l" by Moody's and "A-I" by Standard & Poor's and which matures not more than 270 
calendar days after the date of purchase; 

(i) Investments in a money market fund rated "AAAm" or "AAAm-G" or better by Standard 
& Poor's; 

0) Any repurchase agreement which is secured by anyone or more of the securities 
described in paragraphs (a) through (e), inclusive, of this definition; 

(k) Interests in a portfolio of debt instruments containing only obligations described in any of 
the foregoing paragraphs, including, without limitation, a mutual fund or a money market fund satisfying 
the requirements of this paragraph (k); and 

(I) Any other obligations which are, at the time of purchase, rated by Moody's and Standard 
& Poor's or which are guaranteed or provided by an entity which is rated by Moody's and Standard & 
Poor's in either of its two highest whole rating categories. 

"Bond" or "Bonds" means any bonds, notes or other obligations or evidences of indebtedness, as 
the case may be, authenticated and delivered under and Outstanding pursuant to the Ordinance but shall 
not mean Subordinated Indebtedness. 

"Bond Fund" means The City of Lincoln, Nebraska Solid Waste Management Revenue Bond 
Fund established pursuant to the Ordinance. 

"Bond Obligation" means, as of any date of calculation, (a) with respect to any Outstanding 
Current Interest Bond, the principal amount of such Bond, (b) with respect to any Outstanding Capital 
Appreciation Bond, the Accreted Value thereof as of the date on which interest on such Capital 
Appreciation Bond is compounded next preceding such date of calculation (unless such date of 
calculation is a date on which such interest is compounded, in which case, as of such date), and (c) with 
respect to any Outstanding Deferred Income Bond, the Appreciated Value thereof as of the date on which 
interest on such Deferred Income Bond is computed next preceding such date of calculation (unless such 
date of calculation is a date on which such interest is compounded, in which case as of such date). 
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"Capital Appreciation Bonds" means any Bonds the interest on which is (a) compounded 
periodically on dates that are determined in accordance with the Series Ordinance authorizing such 
Capital Appreciation Bonds and (b) payable only at the maturity, earlier redemption or other payment 
thereof pursuant to the Ordinance or the Series Ordinance authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

"Construction Fund" means the Construction Fund established with the City pursuant to the 
provisions of the Ordinance. 

"Costs," with respect to the Enterprise or any part thereof, means the costs, expenses and 
liabilities paid or incurred or to be paid or incurred by the City in connection with the planning, 
engineering, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, financing, operating, maintaining, repairing, 
extending, improving, reconstructing, retiring, decommissioning and disposing thereof and the obtaining 
of governmental approvals, certificates, permits and licenses with respect thereto, including, but not 
limited to, any good faith or other similar payment or deposits required in connection with the acquisition 
or construction of such part of the Enterprise, the cost of acquisition by or for the City of real and 
personal property or any interests therein, costs of physical construction of such part of the Enterprise and 
costs of the City incidental to such construction or acquisition, all costs relating to injury and damage 
claims relating to such part of the Enterprise, preliminary investigation and development costs, 
engineering fees and expenses, contractors' fees and expenses, the costs of labor, materials, equipment 
and utility services and supplies, legal and financial advisory fees and expenses, capitalized interest and 
financing costs, including, without limitation, bank commitment and letter of credit fees and bond 
insurance and indemnity premiums, fees and expenses of the Fiduciaries (if any), administration and 
general overhead expense and costs of keeping accounts and making reports required by the Ordinance 
prior to or in connection with the completion of acquisition or construction of such part of the Enterprise, 
amounts, if any, required by the Ordinance to be paid into the Bond Fund to provide, among other things, 
for interest accruing on Bonds or into the Reserve Fund to provide for such reserves, if any, as may be 
specified in a Series or Supplemental Ordinance or to be paid into the Revenue Fund for any of the 
respective purposes thereof, payments when due (whether at the maturity of principal or the due date of 
interest or upon redemption) on any indebtedness of the City with respect to the Enterprise and reserves 
therefor, and all federal, state and local taxes and payments in lieu of taxes in connection with any part of 
the Enterprise and shall include reimbursements to the City for any of the above items theretofore paid by 
or on behalf of the City. 

"Credit Facility" means a letter of credit, line of credit, liquidity facility or other credit facility 
issued by a financial institution or other form of credit enhancement, including, but not limited to, 
municipal bond insurance and guarantees, delivered to the Paying Agent for all or a portion of a Series of 
Bonds, which provides for payment, in accordance with the terms of such Credit Facility, of principal, 
Accreted Value, Appreciated Value, premium and/or interest of all or a portion of a Series of Bonds 
and/or the purchase price of such Series of Bonds or portion thereof. A Credit Facility may be comprised 
of one or more credit facilities issued by one or more financial institutions. 

"Current Interest Bonds" means the Bonds of any Series, other than Capital Appreciation 
Bonds or Deferred Income Bonds, which pay interest at least annually to the Owners thereof excluding 
the first payment of interest thereon. 

"Current Interest Commencement Date" means with respect to any particular Deferred 
Income Bonds, the date determined in accordance with the Series Ordinance authorizing such Deferred 
Income Bonds (which date must be prior to the maturity date for such Deferred Income Bonds) after 
which interest accruing on such Deferred Income Bonds shall be payable periodically on dates determined 
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in accordance with such Series Ordinance, with the first such payment date being the first such periodic 
date immediately succeeding such Current Interest Commencement Date. 

"Debt Service" for any period means, as of any date of calculation and with respect to any Series 
of Bonds, an amount equal to the sum of (a) interest accruing during such period on Bonds of such Series, 
except to the extent that such interest is to be paid from deposits in the Bond Fund made from the 
proceeds of Bonds, Subordinated Indebtedness or other evidences of indebtedness of the City (including 
amounts, if any, transferred thereto from the Construction Fund) and (b) that portion of each Principal 
Installment for such Series which would accrue during such period if such Principal Installment were 
deemed to accrue daily in equal amounts from the next preceding Principal Installment due date for 
Bonds of such Series (or, if (1) there shall be no such preceding Principal Installment due date or (2) such 
preceding Principal Installment due date is more than one year prior to the due date of such Principal 
Installment, then, from a date one year preceding the due date of such Principal Installment or from the 
date of issuance of the Bonds of such Series, whichever date is later). Such interest and Principal 
Installments for Bonds of such Series shall be calculated on the assumption that (A) no Bonds (except for 
Option Bonds actually tendered for payment prior to the stated maturity thereof) of such Series 
Outstanding at the date of calculation will cease to be Outstanding except by reason of the payment of 
each Principal Installment on the due date thereof, (B) the principal amount of Option Bonds tendered for 
payment before the stated maturity thereof shall be deemed to accrue on the date required to be paid 
pursuant to such tender, and (C) the Reserve Requirement held in an account in the Reserve Fund with 
respect to a Series of Bonds will be applied to the final maturity of such Series of Bonds. 

"Deferred Income Bonds" means any Bond issued under the Ordinance as to which interest 
accruing prior to the Current Interest Commencement Date is (a) compounded periodically on dates 
determined in accordance with the Series Ordinance authorizing such Deferred Income Bonds and 
(b) payable only at the maturity, earlier redemption or other payment thereof pursuant to the Ordinance or 
the Series Ordinance authorizing such Deferred Income Bonds. 

"Depreciation" means the depreciation and amortization expenses with respect to the Enterprise, 
classified as such in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary 
governmental operations such as the Enterprise. 

"Enterprise" means all properties and assets, and interests in properties and assets, real and 
personal and tangible and intangible, of the City now or hereafter existing used for or pertaining to 
collecting, separating, storing, transporting, transferring, processing, treating, disposing or recycling solid 
waste and shall be broadly construed to encompass and include all Projects, now existing and hereafter 
acquired by lease, contract, purchase or otherwise or constructed by the City, including any interest or 
participation ofthe City in any such facilities or any rights to the output or capacity thereof, together with 
all additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to such facilities, properties or assets or any part 
thereof hereafter made and together with all lands, easements and rights of way of the City and all other 
works, property or structures of the City and contract rights and other tangible and intangible assets of the 
City used or useful in connection with any of the foregoing. 

"Federal Securities" means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of which are 
unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States or the Treasury Department of the United States or 
securities or receipts evidencing direct ownership interests in the foregoing obligations or specific 
portions (such as principal or interest) of the foregoing obligations which are maintained under the book 
entry system operated by Federal Reserve Banks. 
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"Independent Consultant" means an independent firm, person or corporation recognized as 
having expertise and with a favorable reputation for special skill and knowledge in the operations and 
financing of municipal solid waste management facilities similar in size to the Enterprise. 

"Insurance Consultant" means an individual or firm selected by the City qualified to survey 
risks and to recommend insurance coverage for entities engaged in operations similar to those of the 
Enterprise and having a favorable reputation for skill and experience in making such surveys and 
recommendations. 

"Interest Account" means the account by that name established in the Bond Fund pursuant to 
the provisions of the Ordinance. 

"Municipal Obligations" means municipal obligations, rated in the highest Rating Category by 
any Rating Agency meeting the following conditions: 

(a) the municipal obligations are not to be redeemable prior to maturity, or the trustee, 
registrar or paying agent, as appropriate, with respect to such obligations has been given irrevocable 
instructions concerning their calling and redemption; 

(b) the municipal obligations are secured by Federal Securities, which Federal Securities, 
except for provisions relating to surplus money not required for the payment of the municipal obligations 
and the substitution of such Federal Securities for other Federal Securities satistying all criteria for 
Federal Securities, may be applied only to interest, principal and premium payments of such municipal 
obligations; 

(c) the principal of and interest on the Federal Securities (plus any cash in the escrow fund) 
are sufficient, without reinvestment, to meet the liabilities of the municipal obligations; and 

(d) the Federal Securities serving as security for the municipal obligations are held by an 
escrow agent or trustee. 

"Net Revenues" means Revenues less Operation and Maintenance Expenses plus Depreciation, 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental 
operations such as the Enterprise. 

"Operation and Maintenance Expenses" means the necessary expenditures for operating and 
maintaining the Enterprise and shall include expenditures generally classified as operating expenses in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental operations such as 
the Enterprise. 

"Option Bonds" means Bonds which by their terms mayor are required to be tendered by and at 
the option of the Owner thereof for payment by the City prior to the stated maturity thereof, or the 
maturities of which may be extended by and at the option of the Owner thereof. 

"Outstanding" means, when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds (subject to 
the provisions of the Ordinance), all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, authenticated and delivered 
by the Registrar under the Ordinance except (a) Bonds theretofore cancelled by the Paying Agent or 
surrendered to the Paying Agent for cancellation (or in the case of Book-Entry Bonds, to the extent 
provided in the Ord inance, portions thereof deemed to have been cancelled); (b) Bonds (or in the case of 
Book-Entry Bonds, to the extent provided in the Ordinance, portions thereof) with respect to which all 
liability of the City shall have been discharged in accordance with the Ordinance; (c) Bonds for the 
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transfer or exchange of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated 
and delivered by the Registrar pursuant to the Ordinance; and (d) Bonds no longer deemed to be 
outstanding under the Ordinance as provided in the Series Ordinance pursuant to which such Bonds were 
issued. 

"Paying Agent" means the person or institution, which may include the City Treasurer or the 
Finance Director or his designee, or such other agent or official of the City as may be designated in a 
Series Ordinance to make payments of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Series of 
Bonds authorized by such Series Ordinance to the registered owners thereof. 

"Payment Date" means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, the date upon which any principal, 
Accreted Value, Appreciated Value or Redemption Price, and interest thereon is payable to the registered 
owners of such Series of Bonds. 

"Periodic Compounding Date" means, with respect to a Capital Appreciation Bond or a 
Deferred Income Bond, the periodic date determined in accordance with the Series Ordinance authorizing 
such Capital Appreciation Bond or Deferred Income Bond on which interest on such Bond is to be 
compounded. 

"Principal Account" means the account by that name established in the Bond Fund pursuant to 
the provisions ofthe Ordinance. 

"Principal Installment" means, as of any date of calculation and with respect to any Series, so 
long as any Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (a) the principal amount of Bonds (including the principal 
amount of any Option Bonds tendered for payment prior to the stated maturity thereof) of such Series due 
(or so tendered for payment) on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been 
established, or (b) the unsatisfied balance (determined as provided in the Ordinance) of any Sinking Fund 
Installments due on a certain future date for Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund 
redemption premiums, if any, which would be applicable upon redemption of such Bond on such future 
date in a principal amount equal to such unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installments, or (c) if 
such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such Series, the sum of such principal amount of 
Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund Installments due on such future date plus such 
applicable redemption premiums, if any. 

"Project" means any solid waste management facilities, and all other property, real and personal, 
of every kind and nature material or pertinent thereto or necessary therefor, located within or without the 
City or the State, which may be used by or useful to the City in the collection, separation, storage, 
transportation, transfer, processing, treatment, disposal or recycling of solid waste, including any interest 
therein or right to capacity thereof, and may include, without limitation, a divided or undivided interest of 
the foregoing facilities in which the City may participate as an owner in common with others. 

"Prudent Enterprise Management" means any of the practices, methods and acts (including, 
without limitation, any practices, methods and acts engaged in or approved by a significant portion of the 
solid waste management industry) which, in the exercise of reasonable judgment, in the light of the facts 
known at the time the decision was made, could have been expected to accomplish the desired result at 
reasonable cost consistent with reliability, safety and expediency. In applying the standard of Prudent 
Enterprise Management to any matter under the Ordinance, equitable consideration shall be given to the 
circumstances, requirements and obligations of the City, and there shall be taken into account the fact that 
the City is a political subdivision of the State with prescribed statutory powers, duties and responsibilities. 
Prudent Enterprise Management is not intended to be limited to the optimum practice, method or act to 
the exclusion of all others, but rather is a spectrum of possible practices, methods or acts which could 
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have been expected to accomplish the desired result at reasonable cost consistent with reliability, safety 
and expediency. Prudent Enterprise Management includes due regard for manufactures' warranties and 
the requirements of governmental agencies which have jurisdiction. 

"Rebate Fund" means the Rebate Fund established with the City pursuant to the provisions of 
the Ordinance. 

"Redemption Price" means, with respect to any Bond (or portion thereot), the principal amount, 
Accreted Value or Appreciated Value of such Bond (or portion) plus the applicable premium, if any, 
payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to the provisions of such Bond and the Ordinance. 

"Registrar" means the person or institution, which may include the City Treasurer or the Finance 
Director or his designee, or such other agent or official of the City as may be designated in a Series 
Ordinance to maintain on behalf of the City books of record in which the registered owners of the Bonds 
authorized by such Series Ordinance and their registered addresses shall be duly recorded. 

"Reserve Fund" means the Reserve Fund established with the City pursuant to the provisions of 
the Ordinance, in which there shall be established an account for each Series of Bonds issued pursuant to 
the Ordinance. 

"Reserve Requirement" means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, an amount which is equal to 
the lower of (a) the maximum annual Debt Service requirements on such Series of Bonds, or (b) 125% of 
average annual Debt Service requirements on such Series of Bonds; provided that the amount required to 
be deposited into any account in the Reserve Fund in connection with the issuance of any Series of Bonds 
shall not exceed 10% of the original principal amount of such Series of Bonds (adjusted as required by the 
Code for any original issue discount or original issue premium). 

"Revenue Fund" means the Solid Waste Management Revenue Fund created with the City 
pursuant to the provisions of the Ordinance, into which all of the Revenues of the Enterprise shall be 
deposited. 

"Revenues" means (a) all income and revenues derived from the use or operation of the 
Enterprise, including investment and rental income, sale of useable materials and any net proceeds from 
business interruption insurance, plus (b) the proceeds of the occupation tax imposed by Section 8.32.150 
of the Lincoln Municipal Code, plus (c) such other revenues and income as shall be determined to be 
appropriate in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for proprietary governmental 
operations such as the Enterprise, but shall exclude any amounts received from the sale of assets of the 
Enterprise. 

"Sinking Fund Account" means the account by that name established in the Bond Fund 
pursuant to the provisions of the Ordinance. 

"Sinking Fund Installment" means an amount so designated which is established pursuant to a 
Series Ordinance authorizing a Series of Bonds and which is required by the Ordinance to be deposited in 
the Sinking Fund Account for the payment of Term Bonds of such series and maturity. 

"Subordinated Indebtedness" means an evidence of indebtedness or obligation to pay money 
complying with the provisions of the Ordinance. 
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"Tax Certificate" means the certificate dated as of the date of issuance, sale and delivery of a 
Series of Bonds concerning the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 
applicable regulations with respect to such Series of Bonds. 

"Variable Rate Indebtedness" means any indebtedness or obligation the interest rate on, or 
amount of, which is not fixed at the time of incurrence of such indebtedness or obligation, and has not at 
some subsequent date been fixed, at a single numerical rate for the entire remaining term of the 
indebtedness or obligation. 

Pledge 

The Bonds of each Series are special, limited revenue obligations of the City and are secured by a 
pledge of and shall be a charge upon and shall be payable, as to the principal, Accreted Value and 
Appreciated Value thereof, interest thereon, and any premiums upon redemption thereof, solely from and 
secured by a lien upon (a) the Net Revenues and (b) the other funds, assets and security described under 
the Ordinance and under the Series Ordinance creating such Series. In the Ordinance, the City pledges 
and places a charge upon all Net Revenues to secure the payment of the principal, Accreted Value and 
Appreciated Value of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds in accordance with their respective 
terms without priority or distinction of one over the other, subject only to the provisions of the Ordinance, 
permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the 
Ordinance, and the Net Revenues constitute a trust for the security and payment of the interest and any 
premium on and principal, Accreted Value and Appreciated Value of the Bonds. The Ordinance pledges 
to secure the payment of the principal, Accreted Value and Appreciated Value of and premium, if any, 
and interest on the Bonds in accordance with their terms all amounts (including proceeds of the Bonds) 
held by the City in the Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund, subject only to the provisions of the Ordinance 
permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein. The 
pledge of Net Revenues made in the Ordinance shall remain in effect until there are no Bonds 
Outstanding. 

Application of Revenues 

The Net Revenues are pledged by the Ordinance to secure the payment of the principal of and 
interest and redemption premium on the Bonds of all Series, subject to the provisions of the Ordinance 
permitting application for other purposes. The Ordinance requires that all Revenues of the System be 
collected on each Business Day of the City by or for the account of the City and deposited as promptly as 
practicable after the receipt thereof in the Revenue Fund. The Revenue Fund and the money deposited 
therein shall be used and applied only in the manner and for the purposes provided in the Ordinance. 

Funds 

In addition to the Revenue Fund, the following funds and accounts, to be held by the City, are 
established by the Ordinance: 

(a) Bond Fund, in which there is established an Interest Account, a Principal Account and a 
Sinking Fund Account; 

(b) Reserve Fund, in which there shall be established an account for each Series of Bonds 
issued pursuant to the Ordinance; 
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(c) Rebate Fund; and 

(d) Construction Fund. 

At any time and from time to time, there may be established such other funds and accounts as the 
City shall determine to be necessary, desirable, advisable or in the best interests of City for such purposes 
as the City shall determine. 

Revenue Fund. The Ordinance establishes the Revenue Fund into which all Revenues of the 
Enterprise shall be deposited. City covenants and agrees that so long as any Bonds remain Outstanding, 
all of the Revenues of the Enterprise shall as and when received be paid and deposited into the Revenue 
Fund. The Revenues shall be segregated and kept separate and apart from all other money, revenues, 
funds and accounts of the City and shall not be commingled with any other money, revenues, funds and 
accounts of the City. The Revenue Fund shall be administered and applied solely for the purposes and in 
the manner provided in the Ordinance. 

Application of Money in Funds. Subject to the provisions of the Ordinance, the City covenants 
and agrees that from and after the delivery of the initial Series of Bonds under the Ordinance and 
continuing so long as any Bonds shall remain Outstanding, it will on the first day of each month 
administer and allocate all of the money then held in the Revenue Fund as follows: 

(a) Operation and Maintenance. All Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid out 
of the Revenue Fund as and when due and payable. The Treasurer shall determine the amount reasonably 
necessary to be retained in the Revenue Fund to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the 
remainder of such month. 

(b) Bond Fund. There shall next be paid and credited monthly to the Interest Account, the 
Principal Account and the Sinking Fund Account in the Bond Fund, an amount such that if the same 
amount were deposited on the first day of each month thereafter, the balance on the next succeeding 
Payment Date (a) of the Interest Account would be sufficient to pay the interest due on the Bonds, (b) the 
Principal Account would be sufficient to pay the principal amount maturing with respect to the Bonds, 
and (c) the Sinking Fund Account would be sufficient to pay any Sinking Fund Installment (or any 
unsatisfied balance thereof) due with respect to the Bonds. Any amounts deposited in the Interest 
Account as accrued interest or as capitalized interest in accordance with a Series Ordinance shall be 
credited against the City's payment obligations as set forth in the Ordinance. 

(c) Reserve Fund. After all payments and credits required at the time to be made under the 
provisions of subsections (a) and (b) above have been made, there shall next be paid and credited to each 
Account established in the Reserve Fund, all remaining Revenues until the amount on deposit in each 
Account in the Reserve Fund aggregates the Reserve Requirement for the Series of Bonds for which such 
Account was established. So long as each Account in the Reserve Fund aggregates the Reserve 
Requirement with respect to the Series of Bonds for which such Account was established, no further 
payments into said Account shall be required, but if the City is ever required to expend and use a part of 
the money in any Account for authorized purposes and such expenditure reduces the amount of said 
Account below the Reserve Requirement for the Series of Bonds for which such Account was established, 
the City shall resume and continue such monthly payments into said Account until such Account shall 
again aggregate the Reserve Requirement with respect to the Series of Bonds for which such Account was 
established. 

(d) Deficiency of Payments into Funds or Accounts. If at any time the Revenues derived 
from the operation of the Enterprise are insufficient to make any payment on the date or dates specified, 
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the City will make good the amount of such deficiency by making additional payments or credits out of 
the first available Revenues thereafter received from the operation of the Enterprise, such payments and 
credits being made and applied in the order specified under this caption. 

Bond Fund 

The City shall payout of the Bond Fund to the respective Paying Agents not less than three 
Business Days before (a) each Payment Date for any of the Bonds (l) from the Interest Account, the 
amount required to pay the interest then due on the Bonds, (2) from the Principal Account, the amount 
required to pay any principal then maturing with respect to the Bonds, and (3) from the Sinking Fund 
Account, the amount required to pay any Sinking Fund Installment (including any unsatisfied balance 
thereof) then due with respect to the Bonds; and (b) before any redemption date for the Bonds, the amount 
required for the payment of interest on and the Redemption Price of the Bonds then to be redeemed. Such 
amounts shall be applied by the Paying Agents on the due dates thereof. The City shall also payout of 
the Interest Account the accrued interest included in the purchase price of the Bonds purchased for 
retirement. 

The amount, if any, deposited in the Bond Fund from the proceeds of each Series of Bonds shall 
be set aside in the Bond Fund and applied to the payment of interest on Bonds in accordance with the 
Series Ordinance pursuant to which such Series of Bonds were authorized. The amount, if any, deposited 
in the Bond Fund from the proceeds of Subordinated Indebtedness or other evidences of indebtedness of 
the City shall be set aside in the Bond Fund and applied to the payment of interest on Bonds in 
accordance with the Series Ordinance authorizing such Subordinated Indebtedness. 

In the event of the refunding or defeasance of any Bonds, the City shall withdraw from the Bond 
Fund all or any portion of the amounts accumulated therein allocable to such Bonds and deposit such 
amounts with the Paying Agent(s) to be held for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if 
applicable, and interest on the Bonds being refunded; provided that such withdrawal shall not be made 
unless immediately thereafter the Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to the 
Ordinance. In the event of such refunding or defeasance, the City may also withdraw from the Bond 
Fund all or any portion of the amounts accumulated therein allocable to such Bonds and deposit such 
amounts in any fund or account established under the Ordinance; provided that such withdrawal shall not 
be made unless subsection (a) of the first paragraph under this caption has been satisfied. 

Reserve Fund 

(a) The Ordinance requires that the City establish a debt service reserve account within the 
Reserve Fund for each Series of Bonds issued pursuant to the Ordinance for the benefit and security of 
such Series of Bonds. The City shall hold any such Account and shall deposit therein from the proceeds 
of the Series of Bonds for which such Account is established or from other funds of the City legally 
available therefore, an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement for such Series of Bonds. 

(b) If any withdrawal from any Account in the Reserve Fund is made for the purpose of 
subsection (c)( I) below, the amount of such withdrawal shall be restored by the City in no more than 12 
substantially equal, consecutive, monthly installments, each payable on the last Business Day of the 
month, commencing with the month in which the withdrawal is made; provided that, if any withdrawal is 
made and if, prior to the restoration of the amount withdrawn, an additional withdrawal is made, such 
additional withdrawal shall be restored in equal monthly installments over the remainder of the restoration 
period for the initial withdrawal. 

(c) Money on deposit in any Account in the Reserve Fund shall be applied as follows: 
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(I) On the date of each required payment from the Bond Fund with respect to a 
Series of Bonds, money in the Account established in the Reserve Fund with respect to such 
Series of Bonds shall be applied to cure any deficiency in the Bond Fund with respect thereto. 

(2) Any amount in any Account in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve 
Requirement with respect to the Series of Bonds for which such Account was established shall 
be transferred to the Bond Fund and credited against the payments of the principal and interest 
next becoming due on such Series of Bonds. 

(3) On the interest Payment Date immediately preceding the final maturity date of a 
Series of Bonds, money held in the Account established in the Reserve Fund with respect to such 
Series of Bonds shall be deposited into the Bond Fund and credited against the deposits required 
to be made into the Bond Fund with respect to such Series of Bonds but only to the extent that, 
immediately following such crediting and transfer, the amount on deposit in such Account in the 
Reserve Fund is equal to the lesser of (A) the Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series of 
Bonds and (B) the amount of principal and interest due in respect of such Series of Bonds on 
such final maturity date. 

(d) The City shall be permitted to substitute a Credit Facility for funds on deposit in any 
Account in the Reserve Fund, provided that: 

(I) the Credit Facility (including any replacement Credit Facility) is issued by a 
bank, trust company, national banking association or insurance company whose unsecured long 
term debt obligations (in the case of a bank, trust company or national banking association) or 
whose claims paying abilities (in the case of an insurance company) are rated not lower than the 
"AAA" Rating Category by a Rating Agency at the time the Credit Facility is issued and at the 
time of each extension or renewal thereof; 

(2) the issuer of the Credit Facility does receive as security for any reimbursement 
obligation in respect of the Credit Facility a lien solely on the Net Revenues on a parity with any 
Bonds then Outstanding; and 

(3) the Credit Facility (including any replacement Credit Facility, if provided by a 
different issuer) has an initial term of not less than one year and any extension, renewal or 
replacement (if provided by the same issuer) thereof has a term of not less than one year. 

Upon such substitution, funds on deposit in any Account in the Reserve Fund which, when added 
to the face amount of the Credit Facility, exceed the Reserve Requirement on the Bonds for which such 
Account was established, shall be applied as provided in subsection (c)(2) above (subject to yield 
restriction, if any, as determined by Bond Counsel). Thereafter, the Credit Facility shall be considered a 
part of such Account in the Reserve Fund and the amount available thereunder shall be included in any 
calculations of the amount required to be retained in such Account; provided that, (A) if the sum of the 
amount available under the Credit Facility and the amount of money on deposit in such Account in the 
Reserve Fund exceed the amount required to be on deposit pursuant to subsection (a) above, the City shall 
be permitted (I) to cause the amount available under the Credit Facility to be reduced by an amount equal 
to such excess, or (2) to direct that the excess money be applied as perm itted under subsection (c )(2) 
above, and (B) if the Credit Facility is not extended, renewed or replaced at least six months prior to its 
scheduled expiration or termination date, the City shall be obligated to restore the difference between the 
Reserve Requirement and the value of such Account in the Reserve Fund computed without regard to the 
Credit Facility prior to the expiration or termination date of such Credit Facility. 
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Rebate Fund 

(a) There shall be deposited into the Rebate Fund such amounts as are required to be 
deposited therein pursuant to the Arbitrage Instructions. All money in the Rebate Fund shall be held in 
trust, to the extent required to satisfy the Rebate Amount (as defined in the Arbitrage Instructions), for 
payment to the United States, and neither the City nor the Owner of any Bond shall have any rights in or 
claim to such money. All amounts deposited into or on deposit in the Rebate Fund shall be governed by 
these provisions and the Arbitrage Instructions. 

(b) The City shall periodically determine the rebatable arbitrage under Section 148(t) of the 
Code in accordance with the Arbitrage Instructions, and the City shall make payments to the United 
States at the times and in the amounts determined under the Arbitrage Instructions. Any funds remaining 
in the Rebate Fund after redemption and payment of all of the Bonds and the interest thereon, and 
payment and satisfaction of any Rebate Amount, or provision made therefor, shall be released to the City. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Ordinance, the obligation to pay rebatable 
arbitrage to the United States and to comply with all other requirements of these provisions and the 
Arbitrage Instructions shall survive the defeasance or payment in full of the Bonds. 

Construction Fund 

(a) There shall be paid into the Construction Fund such amounts from the proceeds of a 
Series of Bonds as may be required by the provisions of the Ordinance and any Series Ordinance. 
Amounts in the Construction Fund shall be applied to pay the Costs of the Enterprise in the manner 
provided under this heading. 

(b) The proceeds of insurance maintained pursuant to the Ordinance against physical loss of 
or damage to any portion of the Enterprise, or of contractors' performance bonds with respect thereto, 
pertaining to the period of construction thereof, shall, upon receipt by the City, be paid into the 
Construction Fund. 

(c) The City shall make payments from the Construction Fund in the amounts, at the times, 
in the manner and on the other terms and conditions established by the City. 

(d) Notwithstanding any of the other provisions regarding the Construction Fund, to the 
extent that other money is not available therefor, amounts in the Construction Fund shall be applied to the 
payment of principal, Accreted Value or Appreciated Value of and interest on Bonds when due. 

(e) Amounts credited to the Construction Fund which the City at any time determines to be 
in excess of the amounts required for the purposes thereof may be transferred to the Bond Fund. 

(t) Nothing in the Ordinance shall be construed to prevent the City from permanently 
discontinuing the acquisition or construction of any portion of the Enterprise, the Costs of which are at 
the time being paid out of the Construction Fund, if the City determines that such discontinuance is 
necessary or desirable in the conduct of the business of the City and not disadvantageous to the Owners of 
the Bonds. 

D-I3 



Subordinated Indebtedness 

The City may, at any time, or from time to time, issue Subordinated Indebtedness for any lawful 
purpose of the City related to the Enterprise, which Subordinated Indebtedness shall be payable out of, 
and may be secured by a security interest in and pledge and assignment of, such amounts in the Revenue 
Fund after all of the payments and credits required under the caption "Application of Money in Funds" 
have been made for the purpose of payment thereof; provided, however, that any security interest and 
pledge and assignment shall be, and shall be expressed to be, subordinated in all respects to the security 
interest in and pledge created by the Ordinance as security for the Bonds. 

Investment of Funds 

Unless limited by the provisions of a Series Ordinance, all amounts held in any fund or account 
established under the Ordinance may be invested and reinvested in Authorized Investments which 
investments shall mature not later than such times as shall be necessary to provide money when needed 
for payments to be made from such funds and accounts. Any Paying Agent shall make all such 
investments of money held by it in accordance with written instructions received from any Authorized 
Representative. If any Paying Agent does not receive any such written instructions, such Paying Agent 
shall invest such fund in such Federal Securities as the Paying Agent shall determine. 

Interest (net of that which represents a return of accrued interest paid in connection with the 
purchase of any investment) earned on any money or investments in any fund or account shall be paid 
into the respective fund or account in which such investment is held; provided, however, that at the 
direction of the City, such interest earned on money or investments in any such fund or account or any 
portion thereof shall be paid into the Construction Fund. Interest earned on any money or investments in 
the Construction Fund shall be held in the Construction Fund for application as provided in the Ordinance 
or paid into the Revenue Fund. 

In computing the amount in any fund or account created under the provisions of the Ordinance for 
any purpose provided in the Ordinance, obligations purchased as an investment of money therein shall be 
valued as provided in the applicable policies established by the City from time to time. 

Rates, Fees and Charges 

The City will fix, establish, maintain and collect such rates, charges and fees for the use of and 
services furnished by the Enterprise and revise such rates, charges and fees to produce Revenues each 
Fiscal Year sufficient: 

(a) to pay all Operation and Maintenance Expenses; 

(b) to produce Net Revenues equal to 125% of the annual Debt Service due and payable in 
such Fiscal Year of the then Outstanding Bonds; and 

(c) to pay after deducting the amounts determined in subsection (a) and (b) above, all other 
financial obligations of the Enterprise reasonably anticipated to be paid from Revenues. 

If the Net Revenues in any Fiscal Year are less than the aggregate amount specified above the 
City shall within 60 days from the date of receipt of the annual audit for such Fiscal Year either (1) cause 
such rates and charges to be revised and adjusted to comply with this covenant or (2) obtain a written 
report from an Independent Consultant after a review and study of the operations of the Enterprise has 
been made concluding that, in their opinion, the rates and charges then in effect for the current Fiscal 
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Year are sufficient or adjustments and revisions need to be made to such rates and charges to comply with 
this covenant and such adjustments and revisions to such rates and charges are promptly implemented and 
enacted in accordance with such Independent Consultant's report. 

Additional Bonds 

(a) So long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, the City will not issue any additional 
bonds or incur or assume any other debt obligations appearing as liabilities on the balance sheet of the 
City for the payment of money determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
including capital leases as defined by generally accepted accounting principles, payable out of the 
Revenues of the Enterprise or any part thereof which are superior to the Bonds. 

(b) So long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, it will not issue any Additional Bonds 
payable out of the Net Revenues of the Enterprise or any part thereof which stand on a parity or equality 
with the Bond unless the following conditions are met: 

(1) The City shall not be in default in the payment of principal of or interest on any 
Bonds at the time Outstanding under the Ordinance or in making any payment at the time 
required to be made into the respective funds and accounts created by and referred to in the 
Ordinance (unless such additional revenue bonds or obligations are being issued to provide funds 
to cure such default); and 

(2) The City shall have satisfied either of the following: 

(A) The annual Net Revenues derived by the City from the operation of the 
Enterprise for the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the issuance of such Additional 
Bonds shall have been equal to at least 150% of the maximum annual Debt Service 
required to be paid from the Net Revenues in any succeeding Fiscal Year on account of 
both principal (at maturity or through a Sinking Fund Installment) and interest becoming 
due with respect to all Outstanding Bonds of the City, including the Additional Bonds 
proposed to be issued; or 

(B) An Independent Consultant shall project that the annual Net Revenues to 
be derived by the City from the operation of the Enterprise for the Fiscal Year 
immediately following the Fiscal Year in which the improvements to the Enterprise, the 
cost of which is being financed by such Additional Bonds, are to be in use and operation, 
shall be equal to at least 150% of the maximum annual Debt Service required to be paid 
out of the Net Revenues in any succeeding Fiscal Year following such use or operation 
on account of both principal (at maturity or through a Sinking Fund Installment) and 
interest becoming due with respect to all Outstanding Bonds of the City, including the 
Additional Bonds proposed to be issued. In determining the projected Net Revenues for 
the purpose of this subsection, the Independent Consultant may adjust the Net Revenues 
by adding thereto any estimated increase in Net Revenues resulting from any increase in 
rates for the use and services of the Enterprise which, in the opinion of the Independent 
Consultant, are economically feasible and reasonably considered necessary based on 
projected operations of the Enterprise. 
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Additional Bonds issued under the conditions set forth above shall stand on a parity with the 
Bonds and shall enjoy complete equality of lien on and claim against the Net Revenues with the Bonds, 
and the City may make equal provision for paying said Additional Bonds and the interest thereon out of 
the Revenue Fund. 

Certain Other Covenants 

Restrictions on Mortgage or Sale of Enterprise. The City will not mortgage, pledge or 
otherwise encumber the Enterprise or any part thereof, nor will it sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the 
Enterprise or any material part thereof; provided, however, the City may: 

(a) sell at fair market value any portion of the Enterprise which has been replaced by other 
similar property of at least equal value, or which ceases to be necessary for the efficient operation of the 
Enterprise, and in the event of sale, the City will apply the proceeds to either (I) redemption of 
Outstanding Bonds in accordance with the provisions governing repayment of Bonds in advance of the 
maturity thereof, or (2) replacement of the property so disposed of by other property the revenues of 
which shall be incorporated into the Enterprise as provided; 

(b) cease to operate, abandon or otherwise dispose of any property which has become 
obsolete, nonproductive or otherwise unusable to the advantage of the City; 

(c) lease, (l) as lessor, any real or personal property which is unused or unimproved, or 
which has become obsolete, nonproductive or otherwise unusable to the advantage of the City, or which is 
being acquired as a part of a lease/purchase financing for the acquisition and/or improvement of such 
property; and/or (2) as lessee, with an option of the City to purchase, any real or personal property for the 
extension and improvement of the Enterprise. Property being leased as lessor and/or lessee pursuant to 
this subsection shaIl not be treated as part of the Enterprise for purposes of this section and may be 
mortgaged, pledged or otherwise encumbered. 

Annual Budget. (a) For each Fiscal Year following delivery of any Bonds under the Ordinance, 
the City shaIl prepare and adopt a budget for the Enterprise for the next ensuing Fiscal Year. 

(b) The City has covenanted and agreed in the Ordinance to include in the resolution 
approving the City's annual budget pursuant to Article IX, Section 26 of the Charter, a designation and 
appropriation of General Fund cash balances to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses in an amount 
sufficient to produce Net Revenues equal to 110% of the annual Debt Service due and payable in such 
Fiscal Year if and to the extent the Net Revenues in such Fiscal Year are less than 125% of the annual 
Debt Service due and payable in such Fiscal Year and to the extent that such General Fund cash balances 
are available. 

Operation and Maintenance of the Enterprise. The City shall at all times use its best efforts to 
operate or cause to be operated the Enterprise properly and in an efficient and economical manner, 
consistent with Prudent Enterprise Management, and shaIl use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, 
reconstruct and keep the same or cause the same to be so maintained, preserved, reconstructed and kept, 
with the appurtenances and every part and parcel thereof, in good repair, working order and condition, 
and shall from time to time make, or use its best efforts to cause to be made, all necessary and proper 
repairs, replacements and renewals so that at all times the operation of the Enterprise may be properly 
conducted. The City shall promptly pay all Operation and Maintenance Expenses and all other costs and 
expenses payable from the Revenues. 
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Maintenance of Insurance. The City will carry and maintain insurance with respect to the 
Enterprise and its operations against such casualties, contingencies and risks (including but not limited to 
property and casualty, fire and extended coverage insurance upon all of the properties forming a part of 
the Enterprise insofar as the same are of an insurable nature, public liability, business interruption or use 
and occupancy insurance, workers' compensation and employee dishonesty insurance), such insurance to 
be of the character and coverage and in such amounts as would normally be carried by other enterprises 
engaged in similar activities of comparable size and similarly situated. In the event of loss or damage, the 
City, with reasonable dispatch, will use the proceeds of such insurance in reconstructing and replacing the 
property damaged or destroyed, or in paying the claims on account of which such proceeds were received, 
or if such reconstruction or replacement is unnecessary or impracticable, then the City will pay and 
deposit the proceeds of such insurance into the Revenue Fund. The City will annually review the 
insurance it maintains with respect to the Enterprise to determine that it is customary and adequate to 
protect its property and operations. The City may elect to be self-insured for all or any part of the 
foregoing requirements if (a) the City annually obtains a written evaluation with respect to such self­
insurance program from an Insurance Consultant, (b) the evaluation is to the effect that the self-insurance 
program is actuarially sound, (c) unless the evaluation states that such reserves are not necessary, the City 
deposits and maintains adequate reserves for the self-insurance program with a corporate trustee, who 
may be the Paying Agent, and (d) in the case of workers' compensation, adequate reserves created by the 
City for such self-insurance program are deposited and maintained in such amount and manner as are 
acceptable to the State. The City shall pay any fees and expenses of such Insurance Consultant in 
connection therewith. The cost of all insurance obtained pursuant to the requirements of the Ordinance 
shall be paid as an Operation and Maintenance Expense out of the Revenues of the Enterprise. 

Application of Insurance Proceeds. If any useful portion of the Enterprise shall be damaged or 
destroyed, the City shall make due proof of loss and shall do all things necessary or desirable to cause the 
insuring companies to make payment in full directly to the City. The proceeds of insurance covering such 
property, together with any other funds available for such purpose as the City in its sole discretion shall 
determine, shall be used to repair the property damaged or replace the property destroyed; provided, 
however, if the insurance proceeds and other funds that might be lawfully appropriated therefore are 
insufficient to repair or replace the damaged property, then such insurance proceeds received for the 
damaged or destroyed property shall be deposited to the credit of a special insurance account or fund until 
other funds become available which, together with funds on deposit to the credit of such special insurance 
account, will be sufficient to make the repairs or replacements to the property damaged or destroyed that 
resulted in such insurance proceeds or make other improvements to the Enterprise. 

Accounts and Reports. (a) The City shall keep or cause to be kept proper books of record and 
account (separate from all other records and accounts) in which complete and correct entries shall be 
made of its transactions relating to the Enterprise and each fund and account established under the 
Ordinance, and which, together with all other books and papers of the City, including insurance policies, 
relating to the Enterprise, shall upon reasonable advance notice and during regular business hours, be 
subject to the inspection of the Owners of an aggregate of not less than 5% in principal amount of the 
Bonds then Outstanding or their representatives duly authorized in writing. 

(b) Annually, promptly after the end of each Fiscal Year, the City will cause an audit to be 
made of the Enterprise for the preceding Fiscal Year by a certified public accountant or firm of certified 
public accountants to be employed for that purpose and paid from the Revenues. Said annual audit shall 
cover in reasonable detail the operation of the Enterprise during such Fiscal Year. 

(c) Each Paying Agent shall advise the City promptly after the end of each Fiscal Year of its 
transactions during such Fiscal Year relating to all balances handled by it under the Ordinance. 
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(d) For so long as Rule 15c2-12(b) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule") 
is applicable, the City covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of 
each undertaking entered into by it to satisfy the requirements of the Rule with respect to each Series of 
Bonds issued pursuant to the Ordinance. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Ordinance, failure of 
the City to comply with such undertaking shall not be considered an Event of Default; however, the 
Owner or Beneficial Owner of any Bond may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, 
including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the City to comply with its 
obligations under this heading. For purposes hereof, "Beneficial Owner" means any Person which (a) 
has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any 
Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is 
treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

Amendment of Ordinance 

(a) (1) Unless such modifications or amendments are permitted under subsection (b) 
below, the Ordinance and the rights and obligations of the City, the Owners and any Fiduciary may only 
be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by filing with each Fiduciary a Supplemental 
Ordinance adopted by the City with the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate amount 
of the Bond Obligation of the Bonds (or, if such Supplemental Ordinance is only applicable to a Series of 
Bonds, the Bonds of that Series) then Outstanding; provided that if such modification or amendment will, 
by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of any particular maturity remain outstanding, the 
consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be 
Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Bonds Outstanding. 

(2) No such modification or amendment shall (A) extend the fixed maturity of any Bond, or 
reduce the amount of the Bond Obligation thereof, or extend the time of payment or reduce the amount of 
any Sinking Fund Installment provided for the payment of any Bond, or reduce the rate of interest 
thereon, or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any premium payable upon the 
redemption thereof, without the consent of the Owner of each Bond so affected, (B) reduce the aforesaid 
percentage of the Bond Obligation the consent of the Owners of which is required to effect any such 
modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the Net Revenues and other assets 
pledged under the Ordinance prior to or on a parity with the lien created by the Ordinance, or deprive the 
Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Ordinance on such Net Revenues and other assets (in each 
case, except as expressly provided in the Ordinance), without the consent of the Owners of all of the 
Bonds then Outstanding, or (C) modify any rights or duties of any Fiduciary without its consent. 

(3) It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Owners to approve the particular form of 
any Supplemental Ordinance, but it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance thereof. 
Promptly after the adoption by the City of any Supplemental Ordinance pursuant to the Ordinance, the 
Registrar shall mail a notice provided by the Ordinance, setting forth in general terms the substance of 
such Supplemental Ordinance to the Owners of the Bonds at the addresses shown on the registration 
books of the Registrar. Any failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any 
way impair or affect the validity of any such Supplemental Ordinance. 

(4) If within one year from the date of the mailing by the Registrar of written notice to the 
Owners of the Bonds, the City shall receive an instrument or instruments executed by the Owners of at 
least a majority in aggregate amount of the Bond Obligation consenting to and approving such 
amendment in substantially the form of the copy thereof on file with each Registrar, as the case may be, 
for the Bonds, the governing body of the City may pass the Supplemental Ordinance in substantially the 
same form. 
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(5) Any consent given by the Owner of a Bond pursuant to the provisions of the Ordinance 
shall be irrevocable for a period of six months from the date for measuring the one year period to obtain 
consents noted in subsection (4) above, and shall be conclusive and binding upon all future owners of the 
same Bond during such period. At any time after six months from the date for measuring the one year 
period to obtain consents noted in subsection (4) above, such consent may be revoked by the Owner who 
gave such consent, or by a successor in title, by filing written notice thereof with the Registrar, as the case 
may be, for such Bond and the City, but such revocation shall not be effective if the Owners of at least a 
majority in aggregate amount of the then Outstanding Bond Obligation as determined in accordance with 
these provisions have, prior to the attempted revocation, consented to and approved the amendment. 

(b) The Ordinance and the rights and obligations of the City, of each Fiduciary and of the 
Owners may also be modified or amended from time to time at any time by a Series Ordinance or a 
Supplemental Ordinance, which the City may adopt without the consent of any Owners but only to the 
extent permitted by law and only for anyone or more of the following purposes: 

(1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the City in the Ordinance thereafter to 
be observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to 
surrender any right or power reserved to or conferred upon the City in the Ordinance, in each case 
which shall not materially and adversely affect the interests of the Owners in the determination of 
the City; 

(2) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency 
or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision, contained in the Ordinance, or in 
regard to matters or questions arising under the Ordinance, as the City may deem necessary or 
desirable, and which shall not materially and adversely affect the interests of the Owners in the 
determination of the City; 

(3) to modify, amend or supplement the Ordinance in such manner as to permit the 
qualification of the Ordinance under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar 
federal statute hereafter in effect, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may 
be permitted by said act or similar federal statute, and which shall not materially and adversely 
affect the interests of the Owners; 

(4) to provide for the issuance of a Series of Bonds in a Series Ordinance with such 
interest rate, payment, maturity and other terms as the City may deem desirable subject to the 
provisions of the Ordinance; 

(5) if the City has covenanted in a Series Ordinance to maintain the exclusion of 
interest on a Series of Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, to make 
such provisions as are necessary or appropriate to ensure such exclusion; 

(6) to modify any of the provisions of the Ordinance in any other respect whatsoever, 
provided that (A) such modification shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only after all 
Bonds of each Series Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such Series or Supplemental 
Ordinance shall cease to be Outstanding, and (B) such Series or Supplemental Ordinance shall be 
specifically referred to in the text of all Bonds of any Series authenticated and delivered after the 
date of the adoption of such Series Ordinance and of Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in 
place thereof; 

(7) to authorize Subordinated Indebtedness and, in connection therewith, specify and 
determine any matters and things relative to such Subordinated Indebtedness which are not 
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contrary to or inconsistent with the Ordinance as theretofore in effect, or to amend, modity or 
rescind any such authorization, specification or determination at any time prior to the first 
authentication and delivery of such Subordinated Indebtedness; 

(8) to authorize the establishment of such funds or accounts as the City may 
determine to be necessary, desirable, advisable or in the best interests of the City, and, in 
connection therewith, to specity and determine the matters and things referred to in the Ordinance 
or to modity any such matters and things in any other respect whatsoever; or 

(9) for any other purpose which, in the determination of the City, does not materially 
and adversely affect the interests of the Owners of any of the Bonds. 

In making any determination that any modification or amendment does not materially and 
adversely affect the interest of the Owners, the City may rely on an opinion of counsel that may be 
counsel to the City or bond counsel. 

Defeasance 

Except as may be provided in any Series Ordinance creating a Series of Bonds, Bonds of any 
Series may be paid by the City in any of the following ways: 

(a) by paying or causing to be paid the Bond Obligation of and interest on all Bonds 
Outstanding of the Series, as and when the same become due and payable; 

(b) by depositing with the Paying Agent, an escrow agent or other fiduciary, in trust, at or 
before maturity, money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in the Ordinance) to payor 
redeem all Bonds Outstanding of the Series; or 

(c) 
the Series. 

by delivering to the Paying Agent, for cancellation by it, all Bonds then Outstanding of 

Upon the deposit with the Paying Agent, an escrow agent or other fiduciary, in trust, at or before 
maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in the Ordinance) to payor redeem 
any Outstanding Bond (whether upon or prior to its maturity or the redemption date of such Bond), 
provided that, if such Bond is to be redeemed prior to maturity, irrevocable notice of such redemption 
shall have been given as provided in the Ordinance or provision satisfactory to the Registrar and Paying 
Agent shall have been made for the giving of such notice, then all liability of the City in respect of such 
Bond shall cease, terminate and be completely discharged; provided that the Owner thereof shall 
thereafter be entitled to the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on such Bond, 
and the City shall remain liable for such payment, but only out of such money or securities deposited as 
aforesaid for their payment, subject, however, to the provisions of the Ordinance and the continuing 
duties of the Paying Agent and Registrar under the Ordinance. 

Whenever in the Ordinance it is provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust 
by the Paying Agent, an escrow agent or other fiduciary, money or securities in the necessary amount to 
payor redeem any Bonds, the money or securities so to be deposited or held may include money or 
securities held by the Paying Agent in the funds and accounts established pursuant to the Ordinance and 
shall be one or more of the following: 

(1) lawful money of the United States in an amount equal to the Bond Obligation of 
such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of Bonds which 
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are to be redeemed prior to maturity and in respect of which notice of such redemption shall have 
been given as provided in the Ordinance or provision satisfactory to each Fiduciary shall have 
been made for the giving of such notice, the amount to be deposited or held shall be the Bond 
Obligation or Redemption Price of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to the redemption 
date; or 

(2) Federal Securities or Municipal Obligations which are non-callable by the issuer, 
the principal of and interest on which when due will, in the opinion of an independent certified 
public accountant delivered to the Paying Agent for which payment is being made (upon which 
opinion the Paying Agent may conclusively rely), provide money sufficient to pay the Bond 
Obligation or Redemption Price of and all unpaid interest to maturity, or to the redemption date, 
as the case may be, on the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, as such Bond Obligation or Redemption 
Price and interest become due; provided that, in the case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior 
to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given as provided in the 
Ordinance or provision satisfactory to the Registrar shall have been made for the giving of such 
notice; 

provided, in each case, that the Paying Agent shall have been irrevocably instructed (by the terms of the 
Ordinance or by Request of the City) to apply such money to the payment of such Bond Obligation or 
Redemption Price and interest with respect to such Bonds. 

Events of Default; Remedies 

Events of Default. Each of the following events shall be an "Event of Default:" 

(a) Default by the City in the due and punctual payment of the principal, Accreted Value or 
Appreciated Value of, or premium, if any, on any Bond (whether at maturity, by acceleration, call for 
redemption or otherwise); 

(b) Default by the City in the due and punctual payment of the interest on any Bond and such 
default shall continue for a period of 30 days after the due date for the payment of such interest; 

(c) Failure of the City to observe and perform any of its other covenants, conditions or 
agreements under the Ordinance or in the Bonds for a period of 90 days after written notice from the 
Owners of 25% in aggregate amount of the Bond Obligation of the Bonds then outstanding, specilYing 
such failure and requesting that it be remedied, or in the case of any such default that cannot with due 
diligence be cured within such 90 day period, failure of the City to proceed promptly to cure the same and 
thereafter prosecute the curing of such default with due diligence; 

(d) (1) Failure of the City generally to pay its debts as the same become due, 
(2) commencement by the City of a voluntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter 
constituted, or any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, 
(3) consent by the City to the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, 
sequestrator or other similar official for the City, the Enterprise or any substantial part of the City's 
property, or to the taking possession by any such official of the Enterprise or any substantial part of the 
City's property, (4) making by the City of any assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (5) taking of 
corporate action by the City in furtherance of any of the foregoing; 

(e) The entry of any (1) decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction over the City 
or its property in an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, 
or any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, (2) appointment of a 
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receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official for the City, the Enterprise 
or any substantial part of the City's property, or (3) order for the termination or liquidation of the City, the 
Enterprise or the affairs of any of them; or 

(t) Failure of the City within 90 days after the commencement of any proceedings against it 
under the Federal bankruptcy laws prior any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or 
similar law, to have such proceedings dismissed or stayed. 

The provisions of subsection (c) hereof are subject to the limitation that if by reason of force 
majeure the City is unable in whole or in part to observe and perform any of its covenants, conditions or 
agreements under the Ordinance, the City shall not be deemed in default during the continuance of such 
disability. The term "force majeure" as used herein shall include, without limitation, acts of God, strikes, 
lockouts or other industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of 
the United States or of the State or any of their departments, agencies, political subdivisions or officials, 
or any civil or military authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; fires; 
hurricanes; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of government and people; civil 
disturbances; explosions; breakage or accident to machinery, transmission pipes or canals; partial or entire 
failure of utilities; or any other cause or event not reasonably within the control of the City. The City 
shall, however, remedy with all reasonable dispatch the cause or causes preventing it from carrying out its 
agreements, provided that the settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial disturbances shall be 
entirely within the discretion of the City, and the City shall not be required to make settlement of strikes, 
lockouts and other industrial disturbances by acceding to the demands of the opposing party or parties. 

Enforcement of Remedies. Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then 
and in every such case the Owners of not less than 25% of the Bond Obligation may appoint any state 
bank, national bank, trust company or national banking association qualified to transact business in the 
State to serve as trustee for the benefit of the Owners of all Bonds then outstanding (the "Receiver"). 
Notice of such appointment, together with evidence of the requisite signatures of the Owners of 25% of 
the Bond Obligation and the trust instrument under which the Receiver shall have agreed to serve shall be 
filed with the City with a copy to the Receiver and notice of such appointment shall be mailed to the 
Owners of the Bonds. After the appointment of a Receiver under the Ordinance, no further Receivers 
may be appointed; however, the Owners of a majority of the Bond Obligation may remove the Receiver 
initially appointed and appoint a successor and subsequent successors at any time. If the default for 
which the Receiver was appointed is cured or waived pursuant to the Ordinance, the appointment of the 
Receiver shall terminate with respect to such default. 

After a Receiver has been appointed pursuant to the foregoing, the Receiver may proceed, and 
upon the written request of Owners of 25% of the Bond Obligation shall proceed, to protect and enforce 
the rights of the Owners under the laws of the State, including the Act, and under the Ordinance, by such 
suits, actions or special proceedings in equity or at law, or by regulatory or administrative proceedings in 
the office of any board, body or officer having jurisdiction, either for the specific performance of any 
covenant or agreement contained in the Ordinance or in aid of execution of any power granted in the 
Ordinance or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, all as the Receiver, being 
advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce such rights. 

In the enforcement of any remedy against the City, under the Ordinance the Receiver shall be 
entitled to sue for, enforce payment of and receive any and all amounts then or during any default 
becoming, and at any time remaining, due from the City, for principal, interest or other sums due under 
any provisions of the Ordinance or of such Bonds and unpaid, with interest on overdue payments of 
principal and, if permitted by law, at the rate or rates of interest specified in such Bonds, together with 
any and all reasonable costs and expenses of collection and of all proceedings under the Ordinance and 
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under such Bonds without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Receiver or of the Owners, and to 
recover and enforce any judgment or decree against the City, but solely as provided in the Ordinance and 
in such Bonds, for any portion of such amounts remaining unpaid and interest, costs and expenses as 
above provided, and to collect (but solely from money in the Revenue Fund and any other mOlley 
available for such purpose) in any manner provided by law, the money adjudged or decreed to be payable. 

Effect of Discontinuing Proceedings. In case any proceeding taken by the Receiver or any 
Owner on account of any default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have 
been determined adversely to the Receiver or such Owner, then and in every such case the City and the 
Owners shall be restored to their former positions and rights under the Ordinance, respectively, and all 
rights, remedies and powers of the Receiver shall continue as though no such proceeding had been taken. 

Directions to Receiver as to Remedial Proceedings. Anything in the Ordinance to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority of the Bond Obligation shall have the right, by an instrument 
or concurrent instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Receiver, to direct the method and 
place of conducting all remedial proceedings to be taken by the Receiver under the Ordinance, provided 
that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law or the provisions of the Ordinance, 
and that the Receiver shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of 
the Receiver would be unjustly prejudicial to Owners not parties to such direction. 

Pro Rata Application of Funds. (a) Anything in the Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, 
if at any time the money in the Revenue Fund shall not be sufficient to pay the principal, Accreted Value, 
Appreciated Value or Redemption Price of or the interest on the Bonds as the same become due and 
payable, such money, together with any money then available or thereafter becoming available for such 
purpose, whether through the exercise of the remedies provided for in the Ordinance or otherwise, shall 
be applied as follows: 

(1) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such 
money shall be applied (A) to the payment of all installments of interest then due on the Bonds 
then due, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest, to the persons entitled 
thereto, ratable, without any discrimination or preference, and (B) to the payment of all 
installments of principal of Bonds then due. 

(2) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such 
money shall be applied to the payment of the principal, Accreted Value, Appreciated Value or 
Redemption Price or interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority 
of principal over interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment of interest over any 
other installment of interest, or of any Bonds over any other Bonds, ratable, according to the 
amounts due, respectively, for principal or interest to the persons entitled thereto without any 
discrimination or preference except as to any difference in the respective rates of interest 
specified in the Bonds. 

(b) Whenever money are to be applied by the Receiver pursuant to the provisions stated 
above such money shall be applied by the Receiver at such times, and from time to time, as the Receiver 
in its sole discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such money available for 
application and the likelihood of additional money becoming available for such application in the future; 
the setting aside of such money, in trust for the proper purpose, shall constitute proper application by the 
Receiver; and the Receiver shall incur no liability whatsoever to the City, to any Owner or to any other 
person for any delay in applying any such money, so long as the Receiver acts with reasonable diligence, 
having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance with such 
provisions of the Ordinance as may be applicable at the time of application by the Receiver. Whenever 
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the receiver shall exercise such discretion in applying such money, it shall fix the date (which shall be an 
interest Payment Date unless the Receiver shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such 
application is to be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date 
shall cease to accrue, the Accreted Value of Capital Appreciation Bonds shall cease to accrete and the 
Appreciated Value of any Deferred Income Bond. The Receiver shall give such notice as it may deem 
appropriate of the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to the Owner of any 
Bond unless such Bond shall be presented to the Receiver for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation 
if fully paid. 

Restrictions on Actions by Individual Owners. No Owner shall have any right to institute any 
suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the execution of any trust under the Ordinance or for any 
other remedy thereunder unless such Owner previously shall have given to the Receiver written notice of 
the event of default on account of which such suit, action or proceeding is to be taken, and unless the 
Owner of not less than 25% of the Bond Obligation shall have made written request of the Receiver after 
the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the case may be, shall have accrued and shall have 
afforded the Receiver a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers granted by the 
Ordinance or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its or their name, and unless, also, there shall 
have been offered to the Receiver reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and 
liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, including the reasonable fees of its attorneys (including fees 
on appeal), and the Receiver shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a 
reasonable time; and such notification, request and offer of indemnity are declared in every such case, at 
the option of the Receiver, to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts of the 
Ordinance or for any other remedy under the Ordinance. It is understood and intended that no one or 
more Owners of the Bonds secured by the Ordinance shall have any right in any manner whatever by his 
or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Ordinance, or to enforce any right under 
the Ordinance, except in the manner provided in the Ordinance, and that all proceedings at law or in 
equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided in the Ordinance and for the benefit 
of all Owners, and that any individual rights of action or any other right given to one or more of such 
Owners by law are restricted by the Ordinance to the rights and remedies provided in the Ordinance. 

Nothing contained herein, however, shall affect or impair the right of any Owner 
individually, to enforce the payment of the principal of and interest on his Bond or Bonds at and 
after the maturity thereof, at the time, place, from the source and in the manner provided in the 
Ordinance. 

* * * * 
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OMNIBUS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

This OMNIBUS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING dated as of 
March 14,2013 (this "Undertaking"), is executed and delivered by the City of Lincoln, Nebraska (the 
"Issuer"). 

RECITALS 

1. This Undertaking is executed and delivered in connection with the issuance by the Issuer 
of $8,340,000 Solid Waste Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013, pursuant to an 
Ordinance adopted by the governing body of the Issuer (the "Ordinance"). 

2. The Issuer is executing this Undertaking for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners of the 
Bonds and in order to assist each Participating Underwriter in complying with the Rule (as defined in 
Section 1 hereof). The Issuer is the only "obligated person" (as defined by the Rule) with responsibility 
for continuing disclosure hereunder. 

3. This Undertaking shall apply with respect to any series of Bonds issued prior to the 
effective date hereof and subject to the Rule. 

In consideration of the foregoing, the Issuer covenants and agrees as follows: 

Section 1. Definitions. 

In addition to the definitions set forth in the Ordinance, which apply to any capitalized term used 
in this Undertaking unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the 
following meanings: 

"Annual Report" means any Annual Report filed by the Issuer pursuant to, and as described in, 
Section 2 ofthis Undertaking. 

"Beneficial Owner" means, with respect to a series of Bonds, any registered owner of any Bonds 
of such series and any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with 
respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds of such series (including persons holding Bonds 
through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any Bonds of 
such series for federal income tax purposes. 

"Bonds" means all bonds of all series identified on Schedule 1 as such schedule may be 
supplemented and amended and, as context may require, the Bonds of any particular series identified on 
Schedule 1. The Issuer may make future series of Bonds subject to this Undertaking by executing a 
certificate to such effect or by action of the governing body of the Issuer. 

"Business Day" means a day other than (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (b) a day on 
which banks located in any city in which the principal corporate trust office or designated payment office 
of the trustee, any paying agent or a Dissemination Agent for the Bonds, as applicable, is located are 
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required or authorized by law to remain closed, or (c) a day on which the Securities Depository or the 
New York Stock Exchange is closed. 

"EMMA" means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system for municipal secuntles 
disclosures established and maintained by the MSRB, which can be accessed at www.emma.msrb.org. 

"Enterprise" means all properties and assets, and interests in properties and assets, real and 
personal and tangible and intangible, of the Issuer now or hereafter existing used for or pertaining to 
collecting, separating, storing, transporting, transferring, processing, treating, disposing or recycling solid 
waste and shall be broadly construed to encompass and include all Projects, now existing and hereafter 
acquired by lease, contract, purchase or otherwise or constructed by the Issuer, including any interest or 
participation of the Issuer in any such facilities or any rights to the output or capacity thereof, together 
with all additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to such facilities, properties or assets or any 
part thereof hereafter made and together with all lands, easements and rights of way of the Issuer and all 
other works, property or structures of the Issuer and contract rights and other tangible and intangible 
assets of the Issuer used or useful in connection with any of the foregoing. 

"Fiscal Year" means the 12-month period beginning on September 1 and ending on August 31 
or any other 12-month period selected by the Issuer as its fiscal year for financial reporting purposes. 

"Material Events" means any of the events I isted in Section 3 of this Undertaking. 

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor repository 
designated as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the Rule. 

"Participating Underwriter" means each of the original underwriters of a series of Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of Bonds of that series. 

"Prior Undertakings" means the existing continuing disclosure undertakings of the Issuer with 
respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Rule. 

"Rule" means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Comm ission under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Section 2. Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) The Issuer shall not later than 240 days after the end of the Issuer's Fiscal Year, 
commencing with the year ended August 31,2012, file with the MSRB, through EMMA, 
the following financial information and operating data (the "Annual Report "): 

(1) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior Fiscal Year prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. If 
audited financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is 
required to be filed pursuant to this Section, the Annual Report shall contain 
unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial statements 
contained in the final Official Statement relating to the most recent series of 
Bonds, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as 
the Annual Report promptly after they become available. 
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(2) Updates as of the end of the Fiscal Year of certain financial infonnation and 
operating data, as described in Exhibit A, with such modifications to the 
formatting and general presentation thereof as deemed appropriate by the Issuer; 
provided, any substantive change to information provided shall be effected only 
in accordance with Section 6 hereof, which information may be contained in the 
audited financial statements of the Issuer or any schedules supplemental thereto. 

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other 
documents, including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Issuer is 
an "obligated person" (as defined by the Rule), which have been filed with the MSRB. If 
the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from 
the MSRB on EMMA. The Issuer shall clearly identity each such other document so 
included by reference. 

In each case, the Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate 
documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided 
in this Section; provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be 
submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date 
required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not available by that date. If 
the Issuer's Fiscal Year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as 
for a Material Event under Section 3. 

Section 3. Reporting of Material Events. 

No later than 10 Business Days after the occurrence of any of the following events, the Issuer 
shall give, or cause to be given, to the MSRB, through EMMA, notice of the occurrence of any of the 
following events with respect to the Bonds ("Material Events "): 

(I) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
(2) non-payment related defaults, if material; 
(3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
(4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 
(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed 

or final detenninations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-
TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of 
the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

(7) modifications to rights of bondholders, if material; 
(8) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
(9) defeasances; 
(10) release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 

material; 
(II) rating changes; 
(12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; (which shall 

be deemed to occur as provided in the Rule); 
(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Issuer 

or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the 
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake 
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such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such 
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

(14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of the 
trustee, if material. 

If the Issuer has not submitted the Annual Report to the MSRB by the date required in Section 
2(a), the Issuer shall send a notice to the MSRB of the failure of the Issuer to file on a timely basis the 
Annual Report, which notice shall be given by the Issuer in accordance with this Section 3. 

Section 4. Termination of Reporting Obligation. 

The Issuer's obligations under this Undertaking for a particular series of Bonds shall terminate 
upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of that series of Bonds. If the Issuer's 
obligations under this Undertaking are assumed in full by some other entity, such entity shall be 
responsible for compliance with this Undertaking in the same manner as if it were the Issuer, and the 
Issuer shall have no further responsibility hereunder. If such assumption occurs prior to the final maturity 
of such Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such assumption in the same manner as for a Material Event 
under Section 3. 

Section 5. Dissemination Agent. 

The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a dissemination agent to assist it in carrying 
out its obligations under this Undertaking (the "Dissemination Agent"), and may discharge any such 
agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent may resign 
as Dissemination Agent hereunder at any time upon 30 days prior written notice to the Issuer. The 
Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the content of any notice or report 
(including without limitation the Annual Report) prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Undertaking. 

Section 6. Bonds Subject to this Undertaking; Amendment; Waiver. 

(a) All outstanding Bonds as of the date of this Undertaking shown on Schedule 1 are hereby 
made subject to this Undertaking. The Issuer may make any future series of Bonds subject to this 
Undertaking by executing a certificate to such effect or by action of the governing body of the Issuer. 

(b) All references to the "Bonds" in this Undertaking shall apply separately to each series of 
Bonds that are or become subject to this Undertaking, without further amendment hereto. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section or anything else 
contained in this Undertaking to the contrary, in conjunction with the public offering of any series of 
Bonds, the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent, if any, may amend the categories of operating data to be 
updated on an annual basis as set forth on Exhibit A to conform to the operating data included in the final 
official statement for such series of Bonds, in conformance with the requirements and interpretations of 
the Rule as of the date of such final official statement, without further amendment to this Undertaking. 
Thereafter, the annual operating data to be filed by the Issuer with the MSRB with respect to the Bonds 
(and all other series of Bonds then subject to this Undertaking) shall be deemed to be amended to reflect 
the requirements of the revised Exhibit A for the new series of Bonds. 

(d) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (c) of this Section, the Issuer may amend this 
Undertaking and any provision of this Undertaking may be waived, provided that Bond Counselor other 
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counsel experienced in federal securities law matters provides the Issuer with its written opinion that the 
undertaking of the Issuer contained herein, as so amended or after giving effect to such waiver, is in 
compliance with the Rule and all current amendments thereto and interpretations thereof that are 
applicable to this Undertaking; provided, however, that this Undertaking, including Schedule 1 hereto, 
may be amended for the purpose of (i) extending the coverage of this Undertaking to any additional series 
of Bonds, (ii) removing reference to any series of Bonds for which the Issuer's reporting obligations have 
terminated in accordance with Section 4 hereof, each without the provision of a written opinion as 
otherwise required by this paragraph or (iii) conforming to future changes to the Rule or interpretations 
thereof. 

(e) If a provision of this Undertaking is amended or waived with respect to a series of Bonds 
pursuant to subsection (d) of this Section, the Issuer shall describe such amendment or waiver in the next 
Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment 
or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the 
presentation) of financial information or operating data being presented by the Issuer. In addition, if the 
amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (1) 
notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a Material Event under Section 3, and (2) 
the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should present a comparison (in narrative 
form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as prepared on the basis 
ofthe new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. 

Section 7. Additional Information. 

Nothing in this Undertaking shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other 
information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Undertaking or any other means of 
communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a 
Material Event, in addition to that which is required by this Undertaking. If the Issuer chooses to include 
any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in addition to that 
which is specifically required by this Undertaking, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this 
Undertaking to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence 
of a Material Event. 

Section 8. Default. 

If the Issuer fails to comply with any provision of this Undertaking, with respect to a series of 
Bonds, any Participating Underwriter or any Beneficial Owner of the Bonds of such series may take such 
actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by 
court order, to cause the Issuer to comply with its obligations under this Undertaking. A default under this 
Undertaking shall not be deemed an event of default under the Ordinance or the Bonds, and the sole 
remedy under this Undertaking if there is any failure of the Issuer to comply with this Undertaking shall 
be an action to compel performance. 

Section 9. Beneficiaries. 

This Undertaking shall inure solely to the benefit of the Issuer, each Participating Underwriter, 
and Beneficial Owners from time to time with respect to a series of Bonds, and shall create no rights in 
any other person or entity. 
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Section 10. Severability. 

If any provision in this Undertaking, the Ordinance or the Bonds shall be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Undertaking 
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 11. Electronic Transactions. 

The arrangement described herein may be conducted and related documents may be stored by 
electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original 
documents shall be deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all 
purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 

Section 12. Governing Law. 

This Undertaking shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Nebraska 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Undertaking to be executed as of the day 
and year first above written. 

THE CITY OF LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 

By: 
Title: 
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SERIES 2013 BONDS 
Issuer: 
Issue Name: 
Date of Issuance: 

SCHEDULE 1 

THE BONDS 

The City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
Solid Waste Management Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 
March 14,2013 
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EXHIBIT A 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OPERATING DATA TO BE 
INCLUDED IN ANNUAL REPORT 

The financial information and operating data contained under the heading "REVENUE BOND 
COVERAGE LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS - Solid Waste Management" in Appendix A of the Official 
Statement relating to the Issuer's Solid Waste Management Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 
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BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the 
Series 2013 Bonds. The Series 2013 Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the 
name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Series 2013 Bond certificate will be issued for 
each maturity of the Series 2013 Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will 
be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 
New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York 
Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market 
instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. 
DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities 
transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges 
between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust 
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, 
National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are 
registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC 
system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 
trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a 
Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a Standard & Poor's 
rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2013 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Series 2013 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each 
actual purchaser of each Series 2013 Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct 
and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of 
their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing 
details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect 
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership 
interests in the Series 2013 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and 
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive 
certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2013 Bonds, except in the event that use of the 
book-entry system for the Series 2013 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2013 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2013 Bonds with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2013 Bonds; DTC's 
records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 20 I 3 Bonds are 
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credited, which mayor may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will 
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to 
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be 
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in 
effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Series 2013 Bonds may wish to take certain steps to 
augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2013 Bonds, 
such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Series 2013 Bond documents. 
For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2013 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the 
Series 2013 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the 
alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request 
that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2013 Bonds within a maturity are 
being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 
2013 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under 
its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. 
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts Series 2013 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the 
Omnibus Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, principal and interest payments on the Series 2013 Bonds will be made to Cede & 
Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice 
is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the City or the Paying Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective 
holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by 
standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of 
customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant 
and not of DTC, the Paying Agent or the City subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may 
be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to 
Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the 
responsibility of the Paying Agent or the City disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will 
be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2013 Bonds at any 
time by giving reasonable notice to the Paying Agent or the City. Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor depository is not obtained, Series 2013 Bond certificates are required to be printed and 
delivered. 

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a 
successor securities depository). In that event, Series 2013 Bond certificates will be printed and delivered 
to DTC. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from 
DTC. The City and the Underwriter take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
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The information in this Appendix concerning DTC and DTC 's book-entry system has been obtained from 
sources that the City and the Underwriter believe to be reliable, but the City and the Underwriter take no 
responsibility for the accuracy thereof, and neither the DTC Participants nor the Beneficial Owners 
should rely on the foregoing information with respect to such matters but should instead confirm the same 
with DTC or the DTC Participants, as the case may be. 

Neither the City nor the Underwriter will have any responsibility or obligation to any Direct Participants 
or Indirect Participants or the persons for whom they act with respect to (a) the accuracy of any records 
maintained by DTC or any such Direct Participant or Indirect Participant; (b) the payment by any Direct 
Participant or Indirect Participant of any amount due to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the principal 
or redemption price of or interest on the Bonds; (c) the delivery by any such Direct Participant or 
Indirect Participant of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is required or permitted under the terms 
of the Bond Resolution to be given to registered owners of the Bonds; (d) the selection of the Beneficial 
Owners to receive payment in the event of any partial redemption of the Bonds; or (e) any consent given 
or other action taken by DTC as the registered owner of the Bonds. 
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Mayor and City Council 
Lincoln, Nebraska 

Ameritas Investment Corp. 
Lincoln, Nebraska 

March 14,2013 

Re: $8,340,000 The City of Lincoln, Nebraska Solid Waste Management Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by The City of Lincoln, Nebraska 
(the "City"), of the above-captioned bonds (the "Bonds"), pursuant to Ordinance No. 18774 adopted by 
the City on July 31, 2006, as amended and supplemented by Ordinance No. 18775 adopted by the City on 
July 31, 2006 and as further amended and supplemented by Ordinance No. 19825, passed by the Council 
on February 11,2013 and approved by the Mayor on February 14,2013 (collectively, the "Ordinance"). 
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such 
terms in the Ordinance. 

We have examined the law and such certified proceedings and other documents as we deem 
necessary to render this opinion. As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon the 
certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us without undertaking to 
verifY the same by independent investigation. 

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows: 

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the City and are valid 
and legally binding special obligations of the City, payable solely from the net income and revenues 
derived by the City from the operation of the City's solid waste management facilities, after providing for 
the costs of operation and maintenance thereof and on parity with any Additional Bonds or Refunding 
Bonds hereafter issued as provided in the Ordinance. The Bonds do not constitute general obligations of 
the City nor do they constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional or 
statutory provision, limitation or restriction, and the taxing power of the City is not pledged to the 
payment of the Bonds. 
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2. The Ordinance has been duly adopted by the City and constitutes a valid and legally 
binding obligation of the City enforceable against the City. 

3. The interest on the Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an 
owner thereof) is excluded from gross income for federal and Nebraska income tax purposes and is not an 
item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and 
corporations. It should be noted however, that for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax 
imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account 
in determining adjusted current earnings. The opinions set forth in this paragraph are subject to the 
condition that the City comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 
(the "Code"), that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon 
be, or continue to be, excluded from gross income for federal and Nebraska income tax purposes. The 
City has covenanted to comply with each such requirement. Failure to comply with certain of such 
requirements may cause the inclusion of interest on the Bonds in gross income for federal and Nebraska 
income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Bonds have not been 
designated as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" for purposes of Section 265(b) of the Code. We express 
no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. 

We have not been engaged or undertaken to review the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of 
the Official Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds and we express no opinion relating 
thereto. 

The rights of the registered owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the 
Ordinance may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws 
affecting creditors' rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent applicable and their enforcement 
may be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. 

Very truly yours, 
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